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COVER: CARTAGENA, COLOMBIA. A welder examines his work. As part of a $200 million 
industrial credit program financed jointly by the Government of Colombia, the Export-Import Bank 
of Japan and the IDB, Colclincker, S. A. 's cement plant obtained a new furnace, storage silos and 
environmentally beneficial dust-collection equipment, allowing for a 65 percent expansion in 
production. 



THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

The Inter-American Development Bank, the oldest and largest regional multilateral development institution, 
was established in December of 1959 to help accelerate economic and social development in Latin America and 
the Caribbean. 

The Bank was created in response to a longstanding desire on the part of the Latin American nations for a 
development institution that would focus on the pressing problems of the region. A resolution calling for the 
creation of such a bank was adopted at the First International American Conference, held in Washington, D.C. 
in 1890. In 1958 President Juscelino Kubitschek of Brazil proposed that the countries of the Hemisphere em
bark upon a bold cooperative effort to promote the economic and social development of the region. His proposal 
received support from throughout the Hemisphere and shortly thereafter a special committee of the Organiza
tion of American States drafted the Articles of Agreement Establishing the Inter-American Development Bank. 

The Bank's original membership included 19 Latin American and Caribbean countries and the United 
States. Subsequently, eight other Western Hemisphere nations, including Canada, joined the Bank. Belize be
came the most recent member when it joined the Bank in 1992. From the beginning, the Bank developed links 
with many industrialized countries on other continents and in 1974 the Declaration of Madrid was signed to 
formalize their entry into the Bank. Seventeen nonregional countries joined the Bank between 1976 and 1986. 
Today Bank membership totals 45 nations. 

In its 32 years of operations, the Bank has become a major catalyst in mobilizing resources for the region. 
The Bank's Charter states that its principal functions are to utilize its own capital, funds raised by it in financial 
markets, and other available resources, for financing the development of the borrowing member countries; to 
supplement private investment when private capital is not available on reasonable terms and conditions; and to 
provide technical assistance for the preparation, financing, and implementation of development plans and 
projects. 

In carrying out its mission, the Bank has mobilized financing for projects that represent a total investment 
of $157 billion. The Bank's annual lending has grown dramatically from the $294 million in loans approved in 
1961 to over $6 billion in 1992. 

The Bank's operations cover the entire spectrum of economic development, with particular emphasis on 
the productive sectors of agriculture and industry, the physical infrastructure sectors of energy and transporta
tion and the social sectors of environmental and public health, education and urban development. 

During the 1960s and 1970s, the Bank was a pioneer in financing social projects such as health and edu
cation. In fact, the Bank's first loan, approved in February of 1961, was for improving the water and sewage 
system of Arequipa, Peru. Its innovative Small Projects Program seeks to provide small financings to microentre
preneurs and small-scale farmers and since 1990 the Bank has broadened its support to the informal sector. The 
Bank has made an effort to see to it that its lending operations directly benefit low-income populations. In recent 
years, the Bank has financed sector reform loans and debt reduction programs. 

The financial resources of the Bank consist of ordinary capital resources—comprised of subscribed capital, 
reserves and funds raised through borrowings—and Funds in Administration, comprised of contributions made 
by member countries. It should be noted that member countries' subscriptions to the Bank's capital fund consist 
of paid-in and callable capital. A paid-in subscription is in the form of a cash payment and represents a minor 
portion of a member's subscription (under the Seventh General Increase in the Resources of the Bank, the paid-
in portion represents only 2.5 percent of a member's subscription). The major part of a member's subscription is 
in the form of callable capital—or guarantees of the Bank's borrowings in the world's financial markets. The 
Bank also has a Fund for Special Operations for lending on concessional terms for projects in countries classified 
as economically less developed. 

The Bank has borrowed funds for its ordinary operations from the capital markets of Europe, Japan, Latin 
America, the Caribbean and the United States. The Bank's debt is AAA rated by the three major rating services 
in the United States, and is accorded equivalent status in the other major capital markets. 

The Board of Governors is the Bank's highest authority, on which each member country is represented. 
Governors are usually Ministers of Finance, Presidents of Central Banks or officers of comparable rank. The 
Board of Governors has delegated many of its operational powers to the Board of Executive Directors, which is 
responsible for the conduct of the Bank's operations. 

The Bank has Country Offices in each of its regional member countries, as well as in Paris. Headquarters 
are in Washington, D.C. 
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THIRTY-TWO YEARS OF OPERATIONS 

Loans, Technical Cooperation, and Small Projects Lending by Sector 

The Bank has approved 1,987 loans totaling $56.8 billion. 
The total investment in projects financed with the help of 
the Bank is estimated at $157 billion. 

The Bank has committed a total of $1.9 billion for technical 
cooperation. O f this, $987 million has been extended on a 
grant or contingent recovery basis. Another $915 million in 
reimbursable technical cooperation has been extended for 
preinvestment purposes or as additional parts of specific loans 
to ensure the optimal execution of projects. 

A total of $139.1 million has been approved for the financ
ing of Small Projects. 

Resource Mobilization 

The subscribed capital of the Bank totaled $64.0 billion as of 
December 31 , 1992. This includes cumulative subscriptions to 
the ordinary capital of $54.1 billion; contributions totaling $8.7 
billion to the Fund for Special Operations; and $1.2 billion in 
other funds entrusted to the Bank. 

Agriculture and Fisheries: 485 loans for $10.9 billion have 
helped to finance agricultural and fisheries projects costing a 
total of $25.4 billion. 
Energy: 256 loans for $13.0 billion have helped to finance 
$50.0 billion in projects in the energy sector. 
Industry and Mining: 260 loans amounting to $6.3 billion 
for projects whose total cost is $28.9 billion. 
Transportation and Communicat ions: 256 loans with a 
value of $7.7 billion have contributed to the execution of 
projects with a combined cost of $18.0 billion. 
Environmental and Public Health: 265 loans for $6.2 bil
lion as part of projects with a total cost of $12.6 billion. 
Education, Science and Technology: 163 loans for $2.3 bil
lion have financed projects costing $4.5 billion all told. 
Urban Development: 109 loans for $2.6 billion as part of 
financing for projects with a combined worth of $4.7 bil
lion. 

Export Financing: 43 loans for $ 1.1 billion as part of a total 
portfolio of $1.6 billion. 
Tourism and Microenterprise: 28 loans for $728 million 
have helped to finance projects worth $1.6 billion. 
Preinvestment: 81 global preinvestment loans for $399 mil
lion as part of projects with a total cost of $807 million. 
Planning and Reform: 50 loans for $4.7 billion, toward 
projects totaling $7.4 billion. 

Member Countries 

Argentina Belize Colombia El Salvador Guyana 
Austria Bolivia Costa Rica Finland Haiti 
Bahamas Brazil Denmark France Honduras 
Barbados Canada Dominican Republic Germany Israel 
Belgium Chile Ecuador Guatemala Italy 

* Membership status of Yugoslavia and successor republics is under review. 

Jamaica Norway Spain United Kingdom 
Japan Panama Suriname United States 
Mexico Paraguay Sweden Uruguay 
Netherlands Peru Switzerland Venezuela 
Nicaragua Portugal Trinidad and Tobago Yugoslavia* 
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PRESIDENT'S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 

Inter-American Development Bank 
Washington, D.C. 

February 3, 1993 

Mr. Chairman: 

Pursuant to Section 2 of the By-Laws of the Inter-American Development Bank, I transmit to you the Annual Report 
of the Bank for 1992, which the Board of Executive Directors submits to the Board of Governors. 

The Report contains a brief summary of the economic situation of Latin America and a review of the Bank's 
activities in 1992. 

In addition, the Report contains a description on a country-by-country basis and a regional basis of the Bank's 
various operations—loans, financings for small projects and technical cooperation—on behalf of Latin America's 
development; a summary statement of the loans approved in 1992; a series of tables of selected data on the region; 
the financial statements of the Bank; and its general appendices. 

Complying with Article III, Section 3(a), of the Agreement Establishing the Bank, the Report contains separate 
audited financial statements for its various sources of funds. For the ordinary capital resources, these are presented 
pursuant to the provisions of Article VIII, Section 6(a), of the Agreement; for the Fund for Special Operations, in 
accordance with the provisions of Article IV, Section 8(d), of the Agreement; for the Intermediate Financing Facil
ity Account, complying with Section 5(d) of Resolution AG-12/83 of the Board of Governors; for the Social Progress 
Trust Fund, pursuant to Section 5.04 of the Agreement signed between the Government of the United States and 
the Bank; and for the Venezuelan Trust Fund, in accordance with Article VI, Section 24, of the Agreement signed 
between the Government of Venezuela and the Bank. 

Sincerely yours, 

Enrique V. Iglesias 

Chairman, Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 
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TABLE I. TEN YEARS OF OPERATIONS, 1983-92 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

CAPITAL 
Subscriprions (End of Year) 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

BORROWINGS 
Outstanding (End of Year) 
Gross Annual Borrowings 

OPERATIONS 
Loans Authorized (Cumulative) ' 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 
Loans Authorized (Annual) 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 
Loan Disbursement (Annual) 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 
Loan Repayments (Annual) 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 
Loans Outstanding 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 
Nonreimbursable Technical 

Cooperation (Annual) 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
Income 

Loans 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 

Investments 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 

Net Income 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations-

Reserves (End of Period) 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 

ADMINISTRATION 
Administrative Expenses 

Total—All Funds 

1983 

5,180 
1,408 

14,930 
8,809 
1,296 

2,589 
412 

44 

3,045 

1,170 
493 

67 
1,730 

268 
163 
82 

513 

5,250 
4,306 

817 

31 
23 
54 

453 
102 

233 
46 

219 
75 

1,692 
536 

142 

1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 

21,427 24,537 
8,211 8,305 
1,176 1,180 

26,714 
8,362 
1,182 

34,073 
8,420 
1,188 

34,083 
8,476 
1,127 

34,083 
8,458 
1,192 

34,455 40,994 
8,458 8,702 
1,130 1,172 

41,063 
8,704 
1,191 

6,132 
1,763 

17,511 
8,984 
1,277 

9,366 
2,333 

21,056 
9,150 
1,314 

12,115 
1,911 

24,772 
9,354 
1,312 

15,225 
1,115 

28,658 
9,664 
1,369 

14,266 
902 

28,466 
9,733 
1,426 

14,630 
1,984 

30,113 
10,038 
1,448 

17,273 
1,830 

35,021 
10,475 
1,499 

19,656 
3,649 

39,223* 
11,040 
1,556 

3,215 
307 
45 

2,766 
251 
44 

2,706 
292 
39 

1,957 
346 
58 

1,474 
154 
54 

2,235 
342 
41 

3,315 
517 
49 

4,734* 
625 
60 

3,567 3,061 3,037 2,361 1,682 2,618 il 5,419 

1,759 
568 
50 

1,781 
504 
58 

1,742 
478 
45 

1,574 
290 
55 

1,942 
321 
65 

2,193 
311 
45 

2,129 
329 
49 

2,804 
296 
51 

2,377 2,343 2,265 1,919 2,328 2,549 2,507 3,151 

335 
177 
78 

382 
187 
74 

519 
202 
60 

646 
205 
78 

850 
232 
78 

935 
219 
68 

1,069 
229 
77 

1,440 
340 
108 

590 643 781 929 1,160 1,222 1,375 1,888 

6,258 
4,709 
734 

8,586 
5,072 
688 

11,166 
5,359 
632 

14,119 
5,452 
599 

14,342 
5,544 
578 

15,281 
5,631 
534 

17,728 
5,747 
489 

19,260 
5,716 
432 

40 35 
6 

10 
10 

35 
12 

40 
16 17 

48 
9 

99 
41 

48 41 20 47 56 61 57 140 

543 
107 

271 
39 

252 
71 

1,923 
458 

695 
110 

311 
29 

271 
64 

2,207 
471 

945 
114 

367 
40 

286 
79 

2,537 
528 

1,145 
120 

344 
48 

282 
94 

2,882 
567 

1,221 
111 

329 
62 

238 
50 

3,070 
559 

1,165 
103 

370 
73 

221 
48 

3,296 
546 

1,418 
126 

449 
74 

341 
47 

3,711 
539 

1,675 
158 

529 
61 

394 
131 

4,062 
539 

145 155 165 170 171 184 202 220 

1992 

54,174 
8,667 
1,207 

30,814 34,022 36,258 43,681 43,686 43,733 44,043 50,868 50,958 64,048 

21,390 
5,074 

43,818 
11,381 
1,571 

25,035 27,772 31,520 35,438 39,691 39,625 41,599 46,995 51,819 56,770 

5,534 
459 
30 

6,023 

2,781 
387 
27 

3,195 

1,504 
299 
70 

1,873 

20,098 
5,818 
378 

10,373 11,701 14,346 17,157 20,170 20,464 21,446 23,964 25,408 26,294 

41 
24 
65 

1,620 
128 

547 
59 

382 
85 

4,360 
552 

256 
Net of cancellations. 

Income before Technical Cooperation expense. 

* Includes loans totaling $1,711.8 million which were conditionally authorized undet tesolutions which did not enter into effect until Januaty, 1992. 
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LATIN AMERICA 
AND THE CARIBBEAN 

IN 1992 

Latin America and the Caribbean continued their prom
ising economic recovery in 1992 despite continued slow 
growth of the world economy and a further decline in 
the terms of trade. It was a year in which the countries 
of the region further opened their economies to world 
trade and greatly increased their use of world capital 
markets. This was the second consecutive year of rising 
per capita output in the region following almost a de
cade of economic decline and deterioration in social 
conditions. The regional growth rate was 2.6 percent in 
19921, compared with 3.2 percent in 1991- While a 
great deal remains to be accomplished in order to im
prove economic and social conditions throughout the 
region, the outlook for sustained recovery in 1993 and 
beyond remains favorable. 

One important ingredient in the maintenance of 
the recovery has been the continued implementation of 
economic policy reforms designed to accelerate growth. 
The cornerstone of these reforms has been the creation 
of an environment that is conducive to investment and 

All 1992 economic statistics ate preliminary estimates. 

NEUQUEN, ARGENTINA. Water being released 
during construction of the 160-meter high gravity 
dam at the Piedra del Águila hydroelectric project 
on the Limay River in Neuquén province. The 
project is being executed by HIDRONOR, a state 
power agency in northern Patagonia, pursuant to a 
$400 million IDB loan. 

growth through macroeconomic stability. Most coun
tries in the region have made considerable progress in 
stabilizing their economies and in advancing structural 
changes designed to enhance international competitive
ness. 

Economic Growth 

Countries that registered the best economic perfor
mance in the region include Argentina, Belize, Chile, 
Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, Guyana, Panama, 
Uruguay, and Venezuela, with growth rates of more 
than 5 percent in 1992. Most of these countries have 
been successful in advancing stabilization and structural 
adjustment programs. The top performer in the region 
in 1992 was Chile, which has continued the manage
ment of its overall economic policies in a manner con
sistent with the reforms it has implemented in the past. 
The rate of economic growth in that country was 10 
percent in 1992. Brazil was less successful, with a de
cline in GDP of 1.0 percent in 1992. 

Increased investment has been one of the most im
portant features of the recovery process in many Latin 
American and Caribbean economies during the past two 
years. Domestic investment in the region increased by 
6.6 per cent in 1991 and 4.5 percent in 1992. Argen
tina, Chile, El Salvador, Guyana, Panama, Uruguay, 
and Venezuela all had growth rates in investment of 
more than 10 percent in 1992. Investments aimed at 
modernizing plant and equipment are helping to raise 
the international competitiveness of the region. Foreign 
direct investment (FDI) flows to the region surged in 
1992, resulting from favorable investor expectations as-

LATLN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN 



TABLE II. GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT 
(In percent) 

Country 

Proportion of Regional G D P 

Averages 

Real Growth Rates 

Annual Averages Annual 

1970 
1979 

1980 
1989 

1990 
1992 

1960 
1969 

1970 
1979 

1980 
1988 1989 1990 1991 1992p 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

15.2 
0.3 
0.2 

1.0 
33.4 

3.6 
4.4 
0.5 
0.5 
1.3 
1.0 
1.0 
0.1 
0.2 
0.4 
0.6 

18.9 
0.5 
0.6 
0.5 
4.8 
0.2 
0.8 
1.1 
8.9 

11.4 
0.3 
0.2 
0.0 
0.8 

38.0 
3.3 
4.8 
0.5 
0.6 
1.5 
0.6 
0.9 
0.1 
0.2 
0.4 
0.4 

20.9 
0.3 
0.6 
0.7 
4.1 
0.2 
0.8 
1.0 
7.6 

10.3 
0.3 
0.2 
0.0 
0.8 

37.6 
4.0 
5.4 
0.6 
0.5 
1.5 
0.6 
1.0 
0.0 
0.2 
0.5 
0.4 

21.4 
0.2 
0.6 
0.8 
3.3 
0.2 
0.6 
1.0 
8.1 

4.2 

5.1 
6.0 
4.5 
5.2 
5.8 
4.5 
4.7 
5.9 
5.5 
3.4 
0.8 
5.7 
4.7 
7.0 
7.5 
8.0 
4.7 
5.2 
5.8 
5.0 
1.2 
5.9 

2.7 
2.7 
1.5 

4.5 
8.6 
2.0 
5.7 
6.2 
7.0 
9.4 
4.6 
5.9 
1.2 
4.5 
5.9 

-0.2 
6.4 

-0.1 
4.5 
8.5 
3.7 
5.6 
5.3 
2.7 
4.8 

-0.7 
3.2 
1.0 
3.3 

-0.8 
2.0 
1.8 
3.3 
1.9 
2.5 
2.2 

-0.6 
0.2 

-2.5 
-0.7 
2.5 
1.2 
1.1 

-1.4 
0.4 
2.7 
0.8 

-1.2 
-3.4 
0.3 
1.3 

-4.5 
2.0 
3.5 

14.2 
2.8 
3.3 

10.0 
3.4 
5.7 
3.6 
0.3 
1.1 
3.9 

-5.6 
-1.5 
4.3 
4.5 
3.3 

-1.9 
-0.4 
5.8 

-11.7 
4.7 

-2.2 
0.5 

-7.8 

0.4 
1.0 

-3.7 
7.6 
2.6 

-4.4 
2.1 
4.1 
3.6 

-5.7 
2.3 
3.4 
3.1 

-2.8 
-3.0 
0.1 
3.8 
4.4 

-0.7 
4.6 
3.1 

-5.1 
-0.3 
0.5 
0.9 
6.9 

6.0 
-2.0 
-3.8 
5.1 
4.1 
0.9 
6.0 
2.3 
2.1 

-1.0 
4.3 
3.5 
3.3 
6.7 

-4.0 
2.9 
0.5 
3.6 

-0.5 
9.3 
2.5 
2.4 

-2.5 
2.0 
1.9 

10.4 

9.0 
0.0 

-4.6 
6.0 
3.7 

-1.0 
10.0 
2.7 
5.0 
5.0 
3.3 
4.6 
4.2 
5.5 

-10.0 
3.5 
1.0 
2.7 
0.4 
6.2 
1.5 

-2.0 
-1.0 
0.2 
5.5 
9.0 

Latin America 100.0 100.0 100.0 5.6 5.9 1.2 0.9 -0.2 3.2 2.6 

p Preliminary. ... Not available. 

Source: IDB estimates based on official statistics of member countries. 

sociated with the continued success of economic re
forms, lower trade barriers, and a more transparent regu
latory climate affecting FDI. Mexico was a major recipi
ent of new investment by firms positioning themselves 
to take advantage of improved investment opportuni
ties created by the North American Free Trade Agree
ment (NAFTA). 

Inflation 

The trend toward lower rates of inflation in the region 
in 1992 continued to promote a stable environment for 
investment and growth and reduce the disproportion
ate burden on lower income groups associated with ris
ing prices. Nicaragua registered the largest drop in in
flation in the region, lowering its rate from 1,400 
percent in 1991 to 20 percent in 1992. Nicaragua's suc
cess in reducing inflation reflects the government's sta

bilization efforts, which included devaluation of the 
nominal exchange rate, the elimination of Central Bank 
credit to the public sector and the establishment of posi
tive real interest rates. The Dominican Republic, Gua
temala, Guyana, Honduras, Peru, and Uruguay also 
took important steps to stabilize their economies, put
ting themselves in a better position to take advantage of 
investment and growth opportunities. 

Argentina was also successful in stabilizing its 
economy in 1992, with rates of inflation falling from 
173 percent in 1991 to 23 percent in 1992. That 
country's lower inflation can be attributed to tighter fis
cal policy and the government's progress in implement
ing a stabilization program, known as the convertibility 
plan, which limits by law the change in the monetary 
base to an amount equivalent to foreign exchange re
serves. This led to a sharp drop in inflation and interest 
rates, and increased economic growth. 

INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 



Easing of the External Debt Burden 

The more stable macroeconomic and financial environ
ment in the region during 1992 was in part attributable 
to the reduction of the external debt burden to more 
manageable levels in most countries. The ratio of total 
external debt to exports fell from an average annual rate 
of 359 percent between 1984 and 1989 to 290 percent 
in 1991 and 282 percent in 1992. Declining interest 
rates on the region's external debt resulted in more rapid 
progress in reducing the interest service burden. The ra
tio of interest payments to exports fell from 37 percent 
in 1986 to 23 percent in 1991 and 20 percent in 1992, 
marking the lowest interest service burden ratio in a de
cade. 

In 1992, Argentina implemented a restructuring 
agreement under the terms of the Brady Plan, which led 
to the restructuring of $31 billion out of a total exter
nal debt of $65.1 billion. Also in 1992, Brazil success
fully negotiated an agreement in principle to restructure 
its debt under the Brady Plan. With Mexico's earlier 
agreement under the Brady Plan, each of the major 
debtor nations in the region now has completed such 
an agreement or is in the process of doing so. Long-term 
stability and renewed confidence, which are associated 
with a more manageable debt burden, have helped to 
create the conditions necessary for launching new busi
ness ventures. Continued economic growth and further 
expansion of exports by the Latin American and Carib
bean countries will facilitate further reductions in the 
debt burden in coming years. The future performance 
of world interest rates will also be an important factor 
in efforts to reduce the debt burden. 

Current Account 

Most of the region's governments have implemented 
sweeping trade reforms to increase production efficien
cies through greater market competition and to gain ac
cess to foreign products and technologies. Partly as a re
sult of trade reforms that have replaced the 
import-substitution policies of the past, the volume of 
imports increased rapidly in the region—up 15.3 per
cent in 1991 and 16.6 percent in 1992. In Argentina, 
Chile, Costa Rica, Mexico and Venezuela—countries 
where reductions in tariff and non-tariff barriers were 
the most dramatic in recent years—imports grew more 
than 20 percent in 1992. Trade reforms alone, however, 
cannot explain the shatp rise in imports. Currency ap
preciation brought on by rapid inflows of capital and 

strong domestic demand also played a role in the recent 
surge of imports. 

The volume of exports grew a sluggish 1.5 per
cent, compared with an inctease of 4.5 percent in 1991 
and 4.9 percent in 1990. One important factor affect
ing export performance was the slow pace of economic 
growth in the industrialized countries, which reached 
only 0.6 percent in 1991 and about 1.7 percent in 1992. 

Non-fuel primary commodities still comprise 
about 40 percent of the region's total export earnings. 
Thus lower world prices for such goods in 1992, de
spite a modest rebound in the fourth quarter, hurt the 
area's export expansion opportunities. Although still 
low, coffee prices were up almost 50 percent between 
August and December of 1992, helping to lessen the 
adverse impact on the region's trade balance. By con
trast, the average world price of Organization of Petro
leum Exporting Countries crude oil fell from $24 a bar
rel at the end of 1990 to $15 a barrel in 1991 and $18 
a barrel in 1992, depressing the value of exports by re
gional producers such as Colombia, Ecuador, Mexico, 
Trinidad and Tobago and Venezuela in the last two 
years. Overall, the region's terms of trade declined by 
3.4 percent in 1992. The strength of Latin American 
currencies vis-à-vis those of their trading partners also 
contributed to a reduced demand for the region's goods 
in foreign markets. 

The deterioration of the trade balance in 1992 had 
the effect of pushing up the current account deficit from 
$3.5 billion in 1990 to $17.0 billion in 1991 and $26.5 
billion in 1992. While a current account deficit of this 
magnitude is probably not sustainable over the long 
term, it is mainly the product of the region's economic 
recovery and of the increased capital inflows. In fact, the 
increase in the current account deficit was more than 
covered by net capital inflows, with reserves rising to 
the equivalent of over six months of imports. Moreover, 
after experiencing negative flows from 1982 to 1990, 
the region's net transfers showed a surplus of $27 bil
lion in 1992, up from $8 billion in 1991. 

Argentina, Mexico, and Venezuela had the largest 
commercial deficits in the region in 1992. Brazil, by 
contrast, registered a $16 billion trade surplus in 1992. 

Reestablishing Access to World Capital Markets 

One of the most significant developments in Latin 
America and the Caribbean in 1992 was the enormous 
increase in capital inflows into several countries in the 
region. The rapid rise in inflows can be attributed to 
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TABLE III. MACROECONOMIC INDICATORS: LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN, 1986-92 

Real GDP Growth 
Inflation (% change in CPI) 
Gross Domestic Investment 

(% growth in 1988 US$) 
Exports of Goods and Non-factot 

Services (% growth in 1988 US$) 
Imports of Goods and Non-Factot 

Services (% growth in 1988 US$) 
Net Capital Inflows (billions US$) 
Net transfers (billions US$) 
International Reserves (billions US$) 
Ratio of Reserves to Imports 
Debt as % of Exports 
Interest Payments as % of Expotts 

1986 

4.3 
87.7 

2.7 

-0.2 

6.2 
8.8 

-22.6 
33.3 
25.6 

427.0 
36.6 

1987 

3.4 
125.8 

5.4 

8.1 

4.4 
12.5 
-16.1 
38.0 
27.7 

398.0 
30.4 

1988 1989 1990 

0.5 

252.7 

0.3 

8.2 
9.5 
6.1 

-28.7 
30.8 
20.0 

341.0 
29.0 

0.9 
431.0 

-6.5 

5.9 

2.7 
5.3 

-28.0 
33.0 
19.4 

310.0 
28.6 

-0.2 
518.4 

-2.2 

4.9 

8.0 
16.3 
-14.4 
47.8 
26.2 

290.0 
25.3 

1991 

3.2 
135.8 

6.6 

4.5 

15.3 
34.2 
8.4 

65.0 
33.7 

290.0 
22.6 

1992p 

2.6 
147.6 

4.5 

1.5 

16.6 
48.2 
27.4 
80.0 
38.4 

282.0 
19.6 

p Preliminary. 
Source: GDP, Inflation, Investment, Exports, Imports, and Capital Inflows: IDB Country Economics and Statistics and Quantitative Analysis Divisions; Transfers, Debt, and 
Interest Payments: CEPAL, Balance Preliminar de la Economía de América Latina y el Caribe, 1992; International Reserves and Ratio of Reserves to Impotts: IMF, World Eco
nomic Outlook, October 1992. 

the far-reaching shift in economic policy and, as a con
sequence, a significant improvement in economic per
formance. This has been followed by a spectacular re
turn to international capital markets, after a decade of 
absence. Net capital inflows exceeded $48 billion in 
1992, compared with $34 billion in 1991 and $16 bil
lion in 1990. Mexico was the recipient of the largest 
share of these flows, but Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Co
lombia, Peru, and Venezuela also received substantial 
short-term and long-term capital inflows, including 
large volumes of non-debt-creating flows. 

The bulk of these new flows are private, comprised 
of foreign direct investment (FDI), portfolio invest
ment, and borrowing in international capital markets. 
Much of the private sources are return flows of balances 
formerly held abroad. Whereas stock market values 
across Latin America were up dramatically in 1991, per
formance was mixed among countries in the region in 
1992. While regional equity markets remained healthy 
in 1992, they experienced a slowdown in volumes to 
more normal levels. 

Privatization played a key role in the rapid growth 
of FDI in the region. After stagnating during the 1980s, 
FDI reached $16 billion in 1992, up from $14 billion 
in 1991 and $8 billion in 1990. Mexico led the way, 
absorbing more than one-third of the total FDI flows 
to Latin America in recent years. Privatization has also 
played a major role in attracting international investors 

to equity placements by Latin American firms. Such 
programs have involved the issue of shares to nonresi
dent nationals. 

Notwithstanding their easing of foreign exchange 
and savings constraints on growth and the broadening 
of the development policy options they imply for re
gional governments, large, sudden capital inflows have 
also made management of short-term economic policy 
more complex in a number of countries. By destabiliz
ing monetary and real exchange rate effects, such flows 
have in some cases made it more difficult to achieve 
longer-term development objectives. Significantly, capi
tal inflows have led to an appreciation of some coun
tries' currencies, making it more difficult to expand and 
diversify the export base. This surge has also increased 
interdependence with international capital markets and 
heightened vulnerability to external shocks stemming 
from changing macroeconomic conditions in the indus
trialized countries. With renewed upward pressure on 
world interest rates expected in the 1990s, private lend
ing is likely to remain limited and costly. In countries 
where stabilization and structural adjustment programs 
fail to get off the ground or are reversed, acute external 
capital shortages could arise. To the extent that coun
tries in the region are successful in implementing policy 
reforms that aim to further increase their international 
competitiveness, greater access to additional flows 
should continue in 1993 and beyond. 
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EL DIVISADERO, EL SALVADOR. 
Dr. Marta Laso examines Belky 
Arelé Hernández at the Divi-
sadero Health Center. Funds from 
a 1991 loan establishing the 
country's Social Investment Fund 
helped to pay for a new roof and 
floor and repairs to the walls of the 
facility, which had fallen into dis
repair during the 12-year-long 
civil conflict that ended in 1992. 

Progress with Structural Reform 

Most countries in the region continued to implement 
structural adjustment programs in 1992. Successful re
forms that are well advanced in most Latin American 
countries include liberalization of trade regimes, 
privatization, tax reform, reform of social security sys
tems, and streamlining of social service delivery systems. 

Countries in the region that made important ad
vances in privatizing state-owned enterprises in 1992 
include Argentina, Guyana, Jamaica, Peru and Venezu
ela. Governments in these countries furthered their ef
forts to sell off a number of state-run firms, including 
telephone companies, banks, petrochemical operations, 
mines, and railroads. Honduras and Venezuela each 
made extensive progress in implementing reforms to 
improve social service delivery systems, particularly in 

the areas of health and education. Significant tax re
forms focusing on improved equity, economic efficiency 
and administrative simplification were made in the Do
minican Republic, El Salvador, Guyana, and Paraguay 
in 1992. Trade liberalization efforts aimed at lowering 
tariffs and eliminating nontariff barriers were also car
ried out widely in the region in 1992, including reforms 
undertaken in Argentina, Honduras, and Venezuela. 

Trade liberalization has been one of the driving 
forces behind structural change in the region. As a con
sequence of greater openness, the countries in the re
gion are currently experiencing an adjustment in their 
economies. The end result of these trade reforms will 
be improved production efficiencies, greater access to 
low-cost intermediate inputs and technologies, and ex
panded opportunities for the sale of Latin American and 
Caribbean goods abroad. The sustainability of these 
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SANTIAGO, CHILE. Wrapping and bagging pasta 
from the newly installed second production line at 
Luchetti, a beneficiary of the IDB's $360 million 
loan to the Production Development Corporation 
(CORFO). Approved in 1989, the financing is 
aimed at stimulating private sector investment 
throughout the country and developing capital 
markets. 

trade reforms will be greatly facilitated by a reduction 
in protectionism and an acceleration of growth in the 
industrialized countries. 

To shorten the period of adjustment associated 
with trade reforms, Latin American and Caribbean 
countries have stepped up efforts to integrate sub-
regionally and with their North American neighbors. 
The governments of the region have also begun to place 
greater emphasis on improving competitiveness through 

increased investments in plant and equipment, human 
capital, and technological infrastructure. One significant 
development of recent years has been the region's con
siderable progress in diversifying exports into non-tra
ditional manufacturing areas. Manufacturing exports 
now represent over one-third of total exports from the 
region, up from 11 percent in 1970. Automobiles, 
chemicals, plastics, iron and steel, textiles, and footwear 
are among the leading manufactures exported from the 
region today. Further expansion of manufacturing ex
ports will depend on competitive factors, including the 
region's ability to increase its national technological ca
pabilities in the years to come. 

Public-sector reforms were also widely carried out 
in the region in 1992. The objective of these reforms 
was to strengthen public administration, to improve the 
management of public expenditures, and to introduce 
an appropriate regulatory framework to complement 
ongoing privatization programs. Additional public sec-
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tor reforms entailed the modernization of judicial sys
tems, the upgrading of basic support services to enhance 
the efficacy of the legislative process and the strength
ening of the financial viability and efficiency of social 
security systems. These efforts, aimed at improving the 
operation of the machinery of the state, were instrumen
tal in accelerating economic and social development 
across the region. 

Regional Integration 

Latin America and the Caribbean have placed an in
creasing emphasis on regional and subregional initiatives 
throughout 1992. The North American Free Trade 
Agreement (NAFTA), which was signed by the heads 
of the governments of Canada, Mexico, and the United 
States in 1992, would create an integrated market 
larger than the European Community (EC). The 
MERCOSUR members agreed to establish a common 
external tariff of 20 percent for most products as of June 
1993 and made plans to coordinate their macro-
economic policies. The Central American Common 
Market (CACM) countries furthered their economic 
and commercial ties, agreeing to adopt a common ex
ternal tariff ranging between 5 and 20 percent, effective 
in March 1993. The Caribbean Common Market 
(CARICOM) countries agreed to reduce their maxi
mum common external tariff from 45 percent to be
tween 30 and 35 percent and continued negotiations to 
eliminate all non-tariff barriers and adopt a common 
currency. The Group of Three—Colombia, Mexico and 
Venezuela—furthered plans to establish free trade by 
1994, with Colombia and Venezuela reaching a com
mon position with respect to forthcoming negotiations 
with Mexico. The Andean Group continued efforts to 
create a common market by 1996. 

Preliminary talks seeking to build upon the 
NAFTA and aiming at a hemisphere-wide free-trade 
area continued in 1992, with strong support from Latin 
American governments. As countries in the region move 
toward completing reforms aimed at stabilizing and 
opening their economies, they will be in a strong posi
tion to negotiate free trade agreements with the United 
States and Canada. 

Despite the emphasis on integration within the 
Americas, the countries of the Western Hemisphere 
continue to press for a successful conclusion to the cur
rent round of GATT negotiations. There is a wide
spread awareness of the importance of good trade rela
tions with countries outside the Western Hemisphere 

as well as within the region. Trade with Europe, for ex
ample, is more important for the MERCOSUR coun
tries than trade with the United States. So long as the 
countries of the Western Hemisphere continue to lower 
trade barriers and work toward reducing trade diversion, 
none of the proposed regional free trade agreements 
would prove inconsistent with GATT objectives. Glo
bal integration for the countries in the region has been, 
and will likely continue to be, the ultimate goal of trade 
policy. Moreover, the diversification of export markets 
will help to protect against adverse economic conditions 
and renewed protectionist sentiment in any one coun
try or trading bloc—which is key in an export-led 
growth strategy for development. 

Social Agenda and Sustainable Development 

Essential to both economic growth and continued re
covery in Latin America and the Caribbean will be 
greater attention to improving the productivity and so
cial conditions of the region's poor. The economic cri
sis of the 1980s disproportionately affected those most 
in need: poverty levels increased in most countries in 
Latin America during the 1980s. Real wages fell 
throughout the region. While poverty and income in
equality have deep roots in Latin America, going well 
beyond the recent crisis, setbacks during the past decade, 
along with the need to adapt to the demands of a more 
open economy, have propelled the social sectors to the 
forefront of the region's economic agenda. 

Countries throughout the region are recognizing 
the need to make more sustained investments in human 
capital a top priority, so as to improve the ability of 
Latin American and Caribbean workers to compete 
worldwide. Low productivity and limited potential to 
generate income are the central characteristics of pov
erty. Investments in health, education, nutrition, water 
and sanitation, housing, and job training can be targeted 
to improving the productivity of the poor. Most of the 
region's countries have embarked on programs to im
prove nutrition. High priority has been given to open
ing economic opportunities for the region's poor and 
empowering them to become more productive partici
pants in economic growth. Programs targeted to women 
and ethnic minorities, who have sometimes been shut 
out of traditional economic opportunities, have received 
greater attention throughout the region. 

A second priority is social reform. For decades, 
social service institutions in the region have been 
plagued by inefficiencies. Often programs in the region 
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PIE DE CERRO, VENEZUELA. A conveyor belt and 
silo at the Pie de Cerro ore transportation facility, 
managed by C.V.C. Bauxita Venezolana, C.A. As 
the public corporation responsible for developing 
bauxite reserves in the state of Bolivar, the firm re
ceived a $108 million Bank financing for an inte
grated mining project in 1985. 

have not reached those most in need. These programs 
were not well integrated with overall development 
policy; economic and social policy did not complement 
each other. Attention is being given to the need for mak
ing social services more efficient throughout the region, 
improving the targeting of benefits to those most in 
need, and setting programs on a sounder financial ba
sis. Chile has undertaken perhaps the most extensive so
cial service reform by decentralizing the delivery of so
cial services to local municipalities, developing new 

private-sector-based financing of the social security sys
tem and expanding private sector participation in fields 
such as education. Another new effort has come in El 
Salvador's "Educo" program, which introduces new 
forms of education administration for reaching the 
poor. 

While each country's need and type of social re
form will depend on individual circumstances, there are 
a number of areas that are common to the region: the 
strengthening of the state to undertake new responsi
bilities, including the marshalling of the national con
sensus needed to enact social reform; the concrete re
form of current inequitable policies, programs, and 
projects; the adoption of a strategy to reduce poverty; 
and the strengthening of civil society, including differ
ent forms of local and community organization. Social 
reform is essential not only to confront poverty, but also 
to develop human capital and the economy overall. 
Only by addressing its fundamental social needs will de-
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velopment in the region be both sustainable and equi
table. 

Sustainable development also requires further pro
tection of the environment. Considerable efforts have 
been undertaken in recent years to limit environmental 
degradation, although much more remains to be done. 
Several countries, including Barbados, Bolivia, Brazil, 
Guatemala, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua and Venezu
ela, undertook important sanitation, natural-resource 
management or preservation programs in 1992. 

The Earth Summit in Rio de Janeiro in June, 
1992, was a major step toward promoting global aware
ness of environmental problems. In addition to the ef
forts in the region, concerted attention on an interna
tional scale, such as the provision of technical assistance 
for effectively regulating polluters in various industries, 
is needed to combat further degradation. Multilateral 
lending institutions are helping the countries of Latin 
America and the Caribbean in their efforts to protect 
the environment. Access to "clean technologies" devel
oped in the industrialized countries and the develop
ment of local technologies are other important ways for 
the region to better achieve its goal of cleaning up the 
environment and protecting its natural heritage. 

Oudook 

Barring any unexpected deterioration of the world 
economy and increased protectionism, the prospects for 
additional economic growth in Latin America and the 
Caribbean are encouraging—despite the current slug
gishness in the world economy. Continued progress 
with stabilization and structural adjustment programs, 
combined with further integration in the world 
economy through a more open system of international 
trade, will be instrumental in fostering economic growth 
in 1993 and beyond. A rebound in world commodity 
prices in 1993, stemming from a gradual improvement 
in the world economy, would help to push traditional 
exports in the region to higher levels. 

Beyond stabilization and structural adjustment, 
the economic reform process initiated by many coun
tries in the region must be continued, complemented 
by a process of social reform. Economic and social re
forms are mutually reinforcing, ensuring each other's 
sustainability. In particular, reforms are needed to ex
pand national technological capabilities and to provide 
social services that have been deteriorating since the start 
of the debt crises. Governments must move vigorously 
to reduce the widespread poverty in the region. Reforms 

aimed at helping significant segments of the region's 
population to meet minimum food, health, shelter and 
education requirements would serve to raise productiv
ity and allow large numbers of people to share more 
fully in the growth process. 

The external environment poses some potential 
risks to the economic well-being of the region and to its 
ability to carry out further reforms required for sus
tained long-term growth. Continued economic weak
ness in the industrialized countries would make it more 
difficult to penetrate export markets. Continued pro
tectionism and a failure to complete the Uruguay 
Round would also pose threats to the economies of 
Latin America and the Caribbean. Countries in the re
gion can minimize the risk associated with rising cur
rent account deficits by promoting further integration 
at the regional, hemispheric, and multilateral levels. 

The potential for a reduction of external capital 
inflows in the near and medium term, brought on by 
the possibility of higher interest rates in industrialized 
countries, could also have a destabilizing effect on the 
economies of the region. While countries like Chile and 
Mexico experienced a significant increase in foreign di
rect investment in productive capacity, a significant 
share of the region's inflows have come in the form of 
portfolio investment attracted by favorable interest rate 
differentials. In countries where the economic environ
ment supports increased investment and growth accel
erates, substantial capital inflows, which are supportive 
of long-term development, are likely to be sustained. 
Spreading the benefits of renewed economic growth 
more equally among all segments of the population, 
thereby creating broad support for the reform process, 
will be key to ensuring sustainable development. 
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PARTI 

THE BANK 
IN 1992 

ISSUES AND POLICIES 

OVERVIEW 

The Bank in 1992 continued to implement the goals of 
the Seventh Replenishment by contributing to the deep
ening of the structural adjustment process that is laying 
the foundation for the economic recovery and develop
ment of the region. The Bank approved the commit
ment of a record amount of resources for specific in
vestment projects, sector reforms, private investment 
and debt reduction. The Bank's leadership role and ex
perience in helping address the needs of the region have 
begun to set the stage for a vigorous decade of develop
ment and modernization. During the year, the Bank 
approved 90 loans totaling $6,023 million, the highest 
level in the institution's history. 

The Bank used policy-based sector loans for the 
third consecutive year to help countries stabilize their 
economies, reform public sectors, and renew economic 
growth. Sector lending accounted for a quarter of the 
year's lending. This important activity has enabled the 

STATE OF CEARA, BRAZIL. Applying the second 
layer of asphalt to a stretch of the 1,400 km of roads 
in the northeastern state of Ceará between Olho d' 
Agua and Santa Quitéria. An $87.9 million financ
ing provided reconditioning for state roads and 
training in the use of specialized equipment for 
maintenance workers. 

Bank, during the three-year period, to provide the re
sources for nearly every borrowing country to carry out 
reforms in strategic sectors of its economy. It has also 
permitted the Bank to provide resources in the form of 
investment sector loans to improve the domestic and 
foreign investment climate. The Bank approved four of 
these loans in 1992, as well as significant resources for 
the debt-reduction programs of two countries. Sector 
lending is expected to diminish in the future as the Bank 
focuses on other priority areas. 

In a major effort to promote private investment 
in the region, 21 Bank member countries signed an 
agreement in 1992 to establish the Multilateral Invest
ment Fund (MIF). Contributions totaling over $1.2 bil
lion have been pledged by the signatory countries. The 
Fund will be administered by the Bank and will finance 
activities to improve the investment climate, provide 
workforce training, and increase the financing available 
for small businesses in the private sector. The MIF was 
formally established January 11, 1993, after ratification 
by five of the 21 signatory countries. 

The MIF was conceived as a part of the broader 
Enterprise for the Americas Initiative, which calls for 
collaborative efforts among the countries of the West
ern Hemisphere in the areas of trade, debt reduction and 
investment promotion. The IDB has taken a leading 
role in implementing the investment and debt-reduc
tion components of the program. 

The Bank achieved a record amount of bor
rowings in the world's capital markets for a total 
of over $5 billion. In the area of project cofinancing, 
the Bank mobilized additional resources for a variety of 
projects in the region. And several additional non-
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TABLE IV. THE BANK'S YEARLY (1992) AND CUMULATIVE LOANS1 (1961-92) 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

DETAIL BY FUNDS 

Country 

Total Amount Ordinary Capital 

Fund for 
Special 

Operations 

1992 1961-92 1992 1961-92 1992 1961-92 

Funds in 
Administration 

1992 1961-92 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Btazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuadot 
EI Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicatagua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Petu 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

1,061.0 
21.0 
70.6 

107.8 
940.5 
174.5 
535.0 

64.0 
36.4 

193.8 
234.9 

50.7 
23.9 

0.0 
141.6 
39.0 

550.0 
120.7 
129.4 
201.1 
221.8 

0.0 
33.5 

208.7 
596.6 
266.0 

6,135.1 
175.5 
222.5 

1,948.0 
8,724.6 
4,340.5 
5,148.8 
1,564.7 
1,123.0 
2,576.9 
1,483.6 
1,161.9 

428.2 
356.3 

1,452.6 
1,021.9 
7,497.1 

735.3 
987.0 

1,012.3 
2,434.6 

21.4 
479.0 

1,147.7 
2,908.9 
1,682.4 

1,061.0 
21.0 
69.8 

55.0 
816.1 
174.5 
530.0 

52.0 
0.0 

193.8 
215.9 

0.0 
0.0 
0.0 

110.0 
28.0 

550.0 
73.2 

129.4 
129.4 
221.8 

0.0 
31.5 

208.7 
596.6 
266.0 

5,512.0 
173.5 
160.1 

989.1 
7,119.9 
4,094.0 
4,387.5 
1,079.9 

395.0 
1,605.3 

641.8 
520.3 
107.9 

0.0 
584.8 
726.4 

6,903.1 
188.9 
671.0 
462.9 

1,820.3 
18.4 

436.4 
1,001.2 
2,734.6 
1,483.1 

0.0 
0.0 
0.0 

51.6 
124.4 

0.0 
5.0 
0.0 

34.4 
0.0 

19.0 
50.5 
23.4 

0.0 
31.5 

0.0 
0.0 

47.5 
0.0 

71.7 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 

574.0 
0.0 

42.8 

882.2 
1,473.2 

203.3 
698.3 
352.2 
649.5 
882.2 
706.3 
580.3 
311.5 
349.7 
814.2 
167.7 
559.0 
495.5 
282.9 
537.4 
393.1 

3.0 
31.3 

104.7 
101.4 
185.6 

0.0 
0.0 
0.8 

1.2 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 

12.0 
2.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.2 
0.5 
0.0 
0.1 

11.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
2.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 

49.1 
2.0 

19.6 

76.7 
131.5 
43.2 
63.0 

132.6 
78.5 
89.4 

135.5 
61.3 

8.8 
6.6 

53.6 
127.8 
35.0 
50.9 
33.1 
12.0 

221.2 
0.0 

11.3 
41.8 
72.9 
13.7 

TOTAL $6,022.5 $56,769.8 $5,533.7 $43,817.4 $459.0 $11,381.3 $29.8 $1,571.1 

1 After cancellations and exchange adjustments. 

regional member countries established consultancy 
funds for the Bank to administer on their behalf. 

Bank membership in 1992 expanded to 45 coun
tries with the admission of Belize. Located on the Car
ibbean side of Central America, Belize has earned a 
reputation for careful environmental management of its 
natural resources. Belize's membership in the Bank will 
enable the country to participate more fully in the af
fairs of the region. 

The Bank has become a major supporter of envi
ronmental projects and initiatives in the region. In ad
dition to financing large sanitation projects, the Bank 
also approved its first debt-buyback program, as part of 
a loan for environmental protection in Mexico City. 

Also, in collaboration with the Government of Bolivia, 
the Bank helped establish an Indigenous Peoples Fund, 
which will help mobilize resources for programs for in
digenous peoples. 

The Bank recognizes that if the restoration of eco
nomic growth and equilibrium is to prove sustainable, 
there must be a reversal in the region's historic but re
cently aggravated trend toward uneven distribution of 
the benefits of prosperity. In approving a record $1.6 
billion for social projects during 1992, the Bank em
phasized the need to incorporate all sectors of society in 
the process of development. Thus future Bank commit
ments will focus increasingly on the need to create pro
ductive employment—without which there can be no 
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durable solution to social inequalities—in the fields of 
education, health, nutrition, water and sanitation, child 
welfare and housing. In view of its concentration on the 
social sectors, the Bank has planned a forum on social 
reform and poverty for February 10-13, 1993, in Wash
ington, at which leaders from throughout the hemi
sphere would consider ways of revising strategies for ad
dressing issues of poverty and social inequity. 

Lending highlights of the year included the fol
lowing: 

• The Bank approved 90 loans (including in
creases in previously approved export financing credits) 
totaling $6,023 million. Cumulative lending totaled 
$56,770 million. 

• On a broad sectoral basis, 45 percent of the 
loans were approved in the productive sectors; 21 per
cent for the physical infrastructure sectors; and 27 per
cent for the social sectors. 

• $65 million was approved in grant and contin
gent recovery technical cooperation. The 1992 approv
als brought the cumulative total to $987 million. As fot 
reimbursable technical cooperation, $76 million in loans 
or portions of loans was extended, bringing the cumu
lative total to $915 million. 

SOCIAL SECTORS 

The Bank devoted considerable resources to the social 
sectors in 1992 in order to improve living conditions 
and educational opportunities for the region's people. 

In potable water and sanitation, the Bank is fo
cusing on three priority areas: rehabilitating and im
proving the efficiency of existing water supply and sani
tation systems; supporting institutional reform and 
strengthening of water companies; and expanding the 
coverage of liquid and solid waste collection systems and 
treatment facilities. The objective in the third priority 
area is to design integrated urban sanitation programs 
that include sewerage, solid waste and industrial pollu
tion control components. Recent examples of these large 
scale operations include projects for two metropolitan 
areas in Brazil—Fortaleza and São Paulo. 

The Bank's strategy in urban development is to 
help improve delivery of basic urban services, encour
age fiscal decentralization policies, and support broad-
based sector reform programs in the housing sector. In 
1992, the Bank approved loans and technical coopera
tion operations in Colombia and Guatemala to support 
the consolidation of credit mechanisms for financing 
municipal investments and strengthening local institu-

TEGUCIGALPA, HONDURAS. In a pro
gram administered by UNICEF, Betty 
Rodriguez, a "street educator" in the 
Comayaguela section of the capital, 
teaches children the importance of such 
basic hygiene as washing their hands be
fore eating. The program, financed by a $3 
million technical assistance grant, also pro
vides subsidized meals to children whose 
mothers run stalls at the local markets. 
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CASARES, NICARAGUA. Payday for construction 
workers remodeling a primary school in this small 
Pacific Coast fishing village in the Department of 
Carazo. A grant of $23,000, part of a $4 million 
financing for an Emergency Social Investment Fund 
that created employment among the country's low-
income sectors, enabled the school to expand from 
four to seven rooms. 

tions. The Bank also approved housing sector loans for 
Paraguay and Uruguay that will create a greater role for 
nongovernmental institutions supplying and financing 
low-income housing. 

In education and health care, the Bank continued 
to adopt more flexible approaches in project design in 
an effort to address the demand for services and the need 
for greater equity in access to those services. Several 
projects approved during the year focused on the mod
ernization and consolidation of national institutions, 
and the improvement of their capacity to design, plan, 
and implement policies and activities. Many projects 
emphasized administrative decentralization and reorga
nization, community participation and stronger finan
cial policies, including cost-recovery systems based on 
the user's ability to pay for services. 

On a cumulative basis, the Bank has made 520 
loans totaling $11.1 billion for projects in the social sec
tors, representing 20 percent of total Bank lending. 
Lending for social projects in 1992 totaled $1.6 billion, 
27 percent of the Bank's total. 

SECTOR LENDING 

The Bank continued the implementation of the Seventh 
Replenishment guidelines for lending in support of sec
tor and subsector reforms and institutional changes by 
approving 11 fast-disbursing loans totaling $1.5 billion 
to 9 countries. For the most part, policy-based lending 
in 1992 was directed to strengthening and consolidat
ing a more mature phase of the reform process in bor
rowing member countries. In some of the Group C and 
D countries, the lending was directed to the initiation 
or early stages of the reform process. Seven of the sector 
loans approved in 1992 were for smaller Group C and 
D countries. The proportion of such lending directed 
to the latter category of borrowers increased from 24 
percent in 1991 to 33 percent in 1992. 

Two of the reform programs—in Argentina and 
Panama—emphasized public sector reforms (including 
public enterprise and public finance) as the chief means 
of achieving improvements in overall economic effi
ciency. The principal focus of the program in Peru was 
to ensure the solvency and improve the intermediation 
capacity of the financial system. The programs in Hon
duras and Nicaragua sought to establish the policy and 
institutional framework for short- and medium-term 
agricultural growth. 
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ERRATA 

(English) 
On page 14, under SECTOR LENDING, line 4 should read: "...13 fast-disbursing loans totaling $1.8 
billion..." 

In the same paragraph, line 10 should read: "...Eight of the sector loans..." and line 14 should read 
"... to 25 percent in 1992." 

(Español) 
En la página 14, cuarta línea bajo PRESTAMOS SECTORIALES, debería decir "...13 préstamos de 
desembolso rápido por un total de $1.800 millones..." 

En el mismo párrafo, línea 13, debería decir "...Ocho de los préstamos sectoriales...", y en la última línea 
debería decir "... a 25 por ciento en 1992". 

(Français) 
A la page 14, au premier paragaphe sous le titre PRETS SECTORIELS, il faut lire : « [...] en approuvant 
13 prêts à décaissement rapide pour un total de 1,8 milliard de dollars à l'intention de neuf pays. » 

A la dernière ligne du même paragraphe, il faut lire : « [...] s'élevant à 25 % en 1992, contre 24 % en 1991. » 

(Português) 
Na quarta linha do parágrafo da página 14, sob o título EMPRÉSTIMOS SETORIAIS, leia-se: "(...) 
aprovação de 13 empréstimos de rápido desembolso no montante de US$1,8 bilhões (...)" 

Na décima primeira linha do mesmo parágrafo, leia-se: "Oito dos empréstimos setoriais (...)"; e na última 
linha do mesmo parágrafo, leia-se "(...) para 25% em 1992." 



The five reform programs cited above represent 
the standard form of the sector lending modality envis
aged within the Seventh Replenishment guidelines. Of 
these, the loan to Peru also included a component to 
protect the living standards of low-income groups. This 
component was used to capitalize the National Fund for 
Social Compensation and Development. 

Other programs represent innovations in lending 
for adjustment that have been adopted by the Bank 
since its first sector loans were approved in 1990. Four 
of the adjustment loans approved in 1992 were invest
ment sector loans whose goal was improvement in the 
climate for domestic and foreign investment. One of the 
most important characteristics of this form of fast-dis
bursing lending is the flexibility to support a wide vari
ety of reforms that cut across traditional sectoral bound
aries. These loans were for Argentina, El Salvador, 
Paraguay and Uruguay. 

Two loans, one to Argentina and the other to 
Mexico, contributed to the reduction of the public and 
publicly guaranteed debt of the borrower to commer
cial banks. The loan to Argentina directly assisted that 
country in its debt-reduction efforts utilizing the Bank's 
Debt and Debt-Service Reduction Facility. A $400 mil
lion financing was made available in the form of a stand
alone Debt and Debt-Service Reduction loan. 

The primary goal of the $100 million loan to 
Mexico was the restoration and preservation of the Si
erra de Guadalupe and Sierra de Santa Catarina ecologi
cal zones from advancing urbanization and improve
ment in the living and environmental conditions of the 
poor living near those areas. Initially, the loan will be 
used by the borrower to purchase Mexican external debt 
securities that are traded at a discount on the secondary 
market. The Mexican government, through its Public 
Debt-to-Equity Swap Program, will then establish the 
terms on which these bonds will be redeemed in local 
currency, and utilize a portion of the proceeds to finance 
the environmental conservation activities of the project. 

ECONOMIC INTEGRATION 

In 1992, the Latin American and Caribbean countries 
continued to intensify their efforts to open their econo
mies in order to achieve fuller integration into world 
markets. The Bank, for its part, provided tangible sup
port for these efforts on a national and regional basis. It 
approved a loan for strengthening the University of the 

TABLE V. DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Sector 1992 % 1961-92 % 
Productive Sectors 

Agriculture and Fisheries $735 
Industry and Mining 250 
Tourism and Microenterprise 42 

Physical Infrastructure 
Energy 276 
Transportation 

and Communications 994 

Social Sectors 
Environmental 

and Public Health 1,170 
Education, Science 

and Technology 261 
Utban Development 183 

Other 
Planning and Reform 1,679 
Export Financing 30 
Other 403 

12.2 $10,864 
4.2 6,317 
0.7 729 

4.6 13,030 

16.5 7,659 

19.4 

4.3 
3.0 

6,151 

2,301 
2,630 

27.9 4,715 
0.5 1,144 
6.7 1,231 

19.1 
11.1 

1.3 

23.0 

13.5 

10.8 

4.1 
4.6 

8.3 
2.0 
2.2 

TOTAL $6,023 100.0 $56,770 100.0 

West Indies as well as a number of technical coopera
tion operations designed to encourage subregional inte
gration schemes, promote productive enterprises, and 
improve foreign trade information systems. 

Specifically, the Bank provided the following sup
port: 

• A $56 million loan to help the University of 
the West Indies expand its programs in the science and 
technology fields. Resources from the loan will be used 
to strengthen the research and development capabilities 
of the University to enable it to continue to meet the 
subregion's challenges and to increase, diversify and en
hance the University's outreach services. 

• A $2.7 million technical cooperation grant to 
help the Central American countries achieve greater in
tegration of their economies. The project is entitled the 
Regional Program of Support for Central American 
Development and Integration (PRADIC) and will serve 
to design, coordinate and implement economic policies 
that will help the countries improve their international 
competitiveness and attract additional investment to the 
subregión. The Bank also chairs the Regional Consul
tative Group for Central America, which fosters coor-
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BANK GROWTH INDICATORS 

Subscribed capital of the Inter-American 
Development Bank amounts to over 
$64 billion. 

Bank loans surpassed $6 billion in 
1992, reaching a cumulative total of 
more than $56 billion. 

Disbursements of $3.2 billion in 
1992 raised cumulative total to nearly 
$42 billion. 

Technical cooperation approvals— 
both grant and contingent recovery— 
which amounted to $65 million in 1992 
brought the cumulative amount to more 
than $987 million. 

The Bank's cumulative lending 
supports matching funds of about $ 100 
billion in carrying out projects whose 
total cost amounts to $157 billion. 

Ordinary Capital 

Fund for Special Operations 
and Other Resources 

LOANS 1983-92 
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SANTIAGO, CHILE. Recess at the San Fran
cisco de Mostazal secondary school, 
which, along with other educational insti
tutions, health care centers and facilities in 
the sanitation, transportation and electric 
sectors, will undergo improvements stem
ming from a $210 million Bank financing. 
These girls are four of an estimated total of 
nearly 500,000 students who will benefit 
from the Multiple-Investment Local Devel
opment Program, executed by Chile's Inte
rior Ministry and approved in 1989. 

dination of multilateral action and assistance in the mo
bilization of financial resources for the development of 
the region. 

• A $925,000 technical cooperation grant to help 
the Andean Group establish a customs union. The goal 
of the Andean Group, made up of Bolivia, Colombia, 
Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela, is to achieve subregional 
integration and an interim step is the creation of a cus
toms union among its members. The Bank's financing 
will complement the efforts of the technical arm of the 
Group—the Board of the Cartagena Agreement—in 
harmonizing the foreign trade policies of the members 
of the Group. 

• A $4.2 million nonreimbursable technical co
operation that will be used to encourage the technologi
cal development of productive enterprises. The Bolivar-
ENLACE Program, modeled after the European-Eureka 
Programme linking science and industry, will use the 
resources to promote links and technological transfer 
between enterprises and research and development in
stitutions. The mobilization of resources and investment 
will also be encouraged. Linkages will be sought both 

within and outside the region. Enterprises in Argentina, 
Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Mexico, Uruguay 
and Venezuela will participate. 

• A $290,000 technical cooperation financing to 
help the Latin American Integration Association 
(ALADI) strengthen its activities. ALADI, composed of 
11 countries, is seeking to increase trade among its 
member countries by encouraging the negotiation of 
free-trade agreements and facilitating contacts and trade 
information. The Bank's financing will be used to im
prove ALADI's foreign trade information system. 

Institute for Latin American Integration (INTAL) 

Several steps were taken during the year to turn INTAL 
into an autonomous, independent institution. INTAL 
undertook a number of activities during the year, in
cluding support for the MERCOSUR process; techni
cal assistance to the Paraná-Paraguay Waterway project; 
studies on border integration; and a course on integra
tion in Ecuador that attracted participants from 17 
countries. 
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TABLE VI. COFINANCING 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Sources of Finance 

Country Project IDB World Bank Japan Other Funds 

TOTAL $2,252.1 S969.2 

$100.0 ' 

32.0
 d 

250.0h 

32.2h 

12.0 ' 

Argentina Investment Sector $ 350.0 

Barbados South Coast Sewerage System 51.2 

Bolivia PatacamayaTambo Quemado Highway 

Integtation Corridors 95.0 

Brazil BNDES Multisectotal Credit c 

Colombia Transportation Cortidots 300.0 

Financial Assistance to the Electric Sector 150.0 

Costa Rica Water and Sewerage c 

El Salvador Investment Sector 90.0 

Guyana Principal Road Rehabilitation 23.4 24.2 

Honduras Agricultutal Sector Reform 50.0 60.0 

Highway Rehabilitation ' 

Jamaica Improvement of Primary Education II 28.0 

Mexico Montetrey Water Supply and Sewerage 

Potable Water and Sewerage 200.0 300.0 
Nicaragua Rehabilitation of Potable Water and Sewerage System 47.0 

Emetgency Social Investment 16.3 15.0 

Panama Reform of Public Entetprises 129.4 120.0 

Peru Financial Sector Reform 221.8 

Venezuela Roads and Bridges Maintenance 200.0 150.0 
Agricultutal Investment 300.0 300.0 

11.0b 

40.0'+25.0 f+20.0« 

60.0 f 

5.0¡ 

7.0k 

5.0' 

3.6 6+3.5' 

109.0J 

100.0" 

100.0d 

6.4m+5.0> 

$635.2 $191.5 

* ExportImport Bank of Japan. Committed in 1992, to be finalized in 1993. 
b European Investment Bank. 
' Approved prior to 1992. Not added to total. 
J Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund of Japan (OECF). 
■ KfW of Germany. 
' Andean Development Cotpotation (CAF). 
« USAID. 

ExportImport Bank of Japan. 
OECF committed in 1992, to be finalized in 1993. 
OPEC Fund. 
Swiss Government. 
Approved in 1988. Not added to total. 

1 Nordic Development Fund. 
OECF refinancing with IBRD. Not added to total. 

COFINANCING 

In 1992, the Bank mobilized additional resources for 
development in the region by cofinancing projects with 
bilateral and multilateral partners. 

On the bilateral side, Japan continues to be the 
major source of cofinancing, with a total of $635 mil

lion. The ExportImport Bank of Japan cofinanced 
three projects with "untied funds" for $382 million. A 
$250 million cofinancing loan will support Brazil's pri

vate sector productive activities through multisectoral 

credit loans and a $32.2 million operation will help the 
Colombian electric sector. In addition, a $100 million 
loan will cofinance Argentina's investment sector pro

gram, supporting the country's economic reform pro

cess and its debtreduction program. 
Another important source of Japanese cofinancing 

is the Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund of Japan 
(OECF), which provides untied financing on 
concessional terms. In 1992, four Bank projects were 
cofinanced with the OECF for $253 million. Of this, 
$109 million was for Mexico's Monterrey water and 
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SAN JOSE, COSTA RICA. One important compo
nent of a program of irrigation and drainage works 
in the Tempisque River Basin in the northwestern 
portion of the country is the excavation and study 
of archaeological sites. Here, Francisco Corrales, 
Chief of the Anthropology Department at the 
National Museum, restores a ceramic vessel found 
at a burial ground dating from 300-600 A.D. 

sewerage project; $100 million was for Peru's financial 
sector reform program; and $32 million was for high
way improvements in Bolivia. An additional commit
ment of $12 million for cofinancing a water and sewer
age project in Costa Rica was also made during the year. 

Other bilateral cofinancing sources included the 
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KfW) of Germany, 
which will provide a $40 million financing for the 
highway project in Bolivia and a $6 million loan for a 
multisectoral credit program in Uruguay. The 
Government of Switzerland provided a grant of $7 
million to El Salvador for an investment sector loan. 
The U. S. Agency for International Development (AID) 
provided $23.6 million for projects in Bolivia and Ja
maica. 

On the multilateral front, the IDB and the World 
Bank cofinanced 7 projects involving a combined com
mitment of over $1.8 billion. Two of the projects went 
to support sector-reform loans. The Andean Develop
ment Corporation (CAF) provided cofinancing totaling 
$85 million for road projects in Bolivia and Colombia. 
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The European Investment Bank (EIB) cofinanced a 
sanitation project in Barbados for $11 million. The 
Nordic Development Fund (NDF) provided 
concessional funds for $6.4 million for a water project 
in Nicaragua. The Organization of Petroleum Export
ing Countries (OPEC) Fund provided cofinancing 
loans for $5 million each in Costa Rica, Honduras and 
Nicaragua. 

MICROENTERPRISE 

The Bank continued to provide strong support for 
microenterprises by approving $42 million for four glo
bal microenterprise programs and $23 million for 49 
projects under the Small Projects Program. The Bank 
also approved $5.5 million in technical cooperation op
erations to accompany the microenterprise programs 
and $6 million in technical cooperation operations for 
the Small Projects Program. Microenterprises are an 
important source of employment for low-income people 
and provide a significant share of goods and services for 
the national economies. The Bank has been a leader in 
providing resources to these low-income producers. 

Global microenterprise credit programs are mul-
timillion dollar programs, countrywide in scope, that 
benefit tens of thousands of microproducers. Small 
project financings are limited to $500,000 each, are 
targeted to specific geographic areas within a country 
and ordinarily benefit between 300 and 1,000 
microproducers. 

Both the global programs and small projects are 
aimed at microbusinesses engaged in production, 
commerce and services. The global operations are 
executed through a second-tier institution such as a 
central bank, or a development bank, which channels 
the resources to financial intermediaries. Financial in
termediaries lend directly to microenterprises or to 
nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) and coopera
tives that in turn lend the resources to their members 
or clients. The programs include institutional strength
ening enabling the participating institutions to enhance 
their ability to reach the microenterprise market in a 
cost effective and timely fashion. Global programs ap
proved during the year were for Chile, Costa Rica, Gua
temala, and Paraguay. 

Under the Small Projects Program, half of the 
projects approved during the year were for programs in 
urban areas. Many of these were for projects located in 
secondary cities, where it is vital to help develop com

munity-based organizations capable of providing ser
vices to local businesses. Ten of the small projects ap
proved during the year were designed exclusively for 
women beneficiaries and another six were designed pri
marily for women beneficiaries. The Bank has utilized 
the Small Projects Program to help identify and over
come some of the factors that impede the access of low-
income women to credit and other services. 

The Bank entered into agreements during the year 
with the Government of Sweden and the European Eco
nomic Community specifically for the financing of 
small projects. These agreements complement previous 
arrangements with the Governments of Switzerland and 
Norway. 

LOW-INCOME GROUPS 

In the context of the Seventh Replenishment of Re
sources, the Board of Governors maintained the objec
tive established in the Fifth and Sixth Replenishments 
whereby the Bank would do its utmost to ensure that 
50 percent of its lending program would be allocated to 
benefit lower-income groups. 

In 1992, 55.7 percent of the new loans approved 
by the Bank, totaling $3,382 million, were analyzed for 
their distributive impact on low-income groups. Of 
these loans, and setting aside public-sector benefits, it 
is estimated that low-income groups will receive 34.8 
percent of the benefits from these resources. This esti
mate does not reflect the distributive impact of certain 
types of projects where it is either difficult or impos
sible to define low-income beneficiaries as a proportion 
of all beneficiaries of the project. These areas include 
global loans, preinvestment, and sector lending. 

In order to improve compliance with the low-in
come objective, the Bank's management is developing 
a strategy to increase its activities in the social sectors 
and to help reduce poverty. In implementing this strat
egy, the Bank will be guided by three basic principles: 
increasing the focus in the programming process and 
country dialogue on poverty reduction and social policy 
issues; designing and implementing social sector re
forms to increase the scope and efficiency of the delivery 
of social services; and enhancing the poverty-reduction 
impact of Bank operations through the selection and 
appropriate design of all of its projects, including im
proved targeting of benefits to the poor. 
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PAUTE RIVER BASIN, ECUADOR. A barge trails a 
floating sediment-suction pipe across the Amaluza 
Reservoir in the Paute River watershed in the 
south-central section of the country. As one com
ponent of a Bank loan approved in 1989, the sec
ond-stage dredging of the reservoir is intended to 
preserve an area plagued by erosion and harmed 
by inappropriate farming techniques—and at the 
same time to extend the life of the Paute hydro
electric plant, which supplies 30 percent of 
Ecuador's electricity. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

During 1992, the Bank approved 10 loans totaling $1 
billion that were designed to benefit the environment 
or to ensure the conservation and management of natu
ral resources. Several projects were approved to improve 
the urban environment, including an ecological conser
vation project in Mexico City, water and sanitation 
projects in Brazil, Mexico, Nicaragua, and Guatemala; 
and the first stage of a project to decontaminate the 
Tietê River in São Paulo, Brazil. The $450 million Tietê 
River loan is the largest ever approved by the Bank. 

The Bank financed several investments in conser
vation and natural resource management. One example 
was the approval of a watershed conservation and man
agement program in Venezuela. The Bank also provided 
support for Brazil's National Environmental Fund. This 
loan marked the first in which the Bank and a govern
ment have agreed to establish a financial mechanism 
principally for grass-roots and nongovernmental envi
ronmental organizations and small municipalities. 

The Bank also approved technical cooperation 
operations for environmental programs. For example, a 
$3.2 million financing was approved for Bolivia to carry 
out an ecological zoning program which will help guide 
the development of the Amazonian region of the coun
try. Technical cooperation is also being used to 
strengthen environmental institutions in the region's 
countries. The goal of the countries is to strengthen the 
national capacity to manage environmental matters, par
ticularly to increase their capacity to prepare environ
mental impact assessments for prospective projects. 

The Bank supported the region's countries in pre
paring for the United Nations Conference on Environ
ment and Development held in Brazil in June, 1992. 
Together with the United Nations Development 
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Programme, it provided support for the Commission on 
Development and Environment for Latin America and 
the Caribbean, and the Commission on Development 
and Environment for Amazonia. 

WOMEN IN DEVELOPMENT 

In 1992, the Bank made progress in ensuring that 
women are active participants in and direct beneficia
ries of Bank-financed projects. It did so by focusing on 
programming, vocational and technical training, and on 
specific projects designed to improve women's prepara
tion and productivity as they enter the labor force. 

A pilot programming initiative was launched in 
three countries aimed at addressing women in develop
ment (WID) issues throughout the programming pro
cess and in the early stages of project design. In Colom
bia, El Salvador and Trinidad and Tobago, work was 
begun on strategies to identify and address the priority 
concerns of women in those countries and to ensure that 
Bank projects in those countries are conceptualized in a 
way that fully supports the contribution of women. This 
pilot effort will lead to the preparation of guidelines to 
address WID concerns in all Bank programming and 
will be extended to other countries in 1993. 

Among its efforts to promote women's participa
tion in large-scale projects, the Bank approved an inno
vative Basic Job Skills Training Program in Chile. The 
project targets disadvantaged youth and provides them 
with skills and on-the-job training so they can move 
into the economic mainstream. While studies indicate 
that fully one-half of the target population are women, 
existing vocational training programs tend to be ori
ented toward men. In order to reach more women, the 
new program incorporates promotional materials and 
counseling targeted to women and to the firms that will 
provide on-the-job training, expanded access to day-care 
facilities to allow single mothers to participate, and dem
onstration projects to train women in nontraditional 
jobs for which there may be a greater demand in the 
labor market and higher levels of remuneration. 

The global microenterprise credit programs and 
small projects approved during the year will have a sig
nificant impact on women microentrepreneurs. Several 
of the small projects were specifically designed for 
women entrepreneurs. Special attention was also given 
to strengthening women's participation in several social 
projects approved during the year. 

NIEUWNICKERIE, SURINAME. Data entry 
as part of marketing studies undertaken by 
the Multipurpose Corantijn Project in the 
northwest section of the country. Approxi
mately 5,000 farmers have benefitted from 
research on topics involving farming, envi
ronmental protection and irrigation in an 
area encompassing the Nanni Swamp and 
a nearby marine estuary. 

THE BANK IN 1992 

23 



TABLE VII. CAPITAL OF THE BANK 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Subscriptions as of December 31 , 1992 Future Commitments 

Country Paid-in Callable Sub-Total Paid-in Callable Sub-Total Grand Total 

Atgentina 
Austtia 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 

Belizea 

Bolivia 
Btazil 
Canada 
Chile 

El Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 

Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 

Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicaragua 

Norway 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 

Spain 
Suriname 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago 

United Kingdom 
United States 
Utuguay 
Venezuela 
Yugoslavia 

364,894 
2,485 

11,159 
5,404 
6,044 

2,389 
29,278 

364,894 
142,131 
100,126 

5,932,422 
40,521 

110,549 
69,920 
95,867 

21,605 
476,228 

5,932,422 
2,236,403 
1,628,985 

$6,297,316 
43,006 

121,708 
75,324 

101,911 

23,994 
505,506 

6,297,316 
2,378,534 
1,729,111 

19,157 
133 
374 
229 
314 

4,813 
1,532 

19,157 
7,238 
5,260 

747,028 
5,103 

14,440 
8,939 

12,088 

43,212 
59,967 

747,028 
282,152 
205,115 

14,645 
2,485 

30,424 
31,123 
19,532 

7,502 
12,329 
14,645 
2,473 

30,424 

19,532 
33,886 

234,597 
4,584 

14,645 

2,678 
14,645 
14,645 
48,941 

760 

30,424 
5,561 
5,260 
6,743 

14,645 

30,424 
1,090,341 

39,157 
202,919 

2,485 

238,048 
40,521 

493,116 
505,096 
317,812 

86,194 
148,115 
238,048 

39,918 
493,116 

317,812 
550,141 

3,813,408 
75,010 

238,048 

43,126 
238,048 
238,048 
794,908 

13,029 

493,116 
45,805 
83,901 

110,163 
238,048 

493,116 
17,683,230 

635,997 
3,170,934 

40,521 

252,693 
43,006 

523,540 
536,219 
337,344 

93,696 
160,444 
252,693 

42,391 
523,540 

337,344 
584,027 

4,048,005 
79,594 

252,693 

45,804 
252,693 
252,693 
843,849 

13,789 

523,540 
51,366 
89,161 

116,906 
252,693 

523,540 
18,773,571 

675,154 
3,373,853 

43,006 

772 
133 

1,592 
1,629 
1,025 

290 
3,088 

772 
133 

1,592 

1,025 
1,773 

12,317 
241 
772 

145 
772 
772 

2,570 
36 

1,592 
157 
265 
350 
772 

1,592 
59,014 

2,051 
10,266 

133 

29,978 
5,103 

62,103 
63,610 
40,014 

11,110 
119,911 
29,978 

5,030 
62,103 

40,014 
69,280 

480,197 
9,446 

29,978 

5,429 
29,978 
29,978 

100,102 
1,641 

62,103 
6,092 

10,580 
13,873 
29,978 

62,103 
2,301,160 

80,089 
400,228 

5,103 

766,185 
5,236 

14,814 
9,168 

12,402 

48,025 
61,499 

766,185 
289,390 
210,375 

30,750 
5,236 

63,695 
65,239 
41,039 

11,400 
122,999 
30,750 

5,163 
63,695 

41,039 
71,053 

492,514 
9,687 

30,750 

5,574 
30,750 
30,750 

102,672 
1,677 

63,695 
6,249 

10,845 
14,223 
30,750 

63,695 
2,360,174 

82,140 
410,494 

5,236 

; 7,063,501 
48,242 

136,522 
84,492 

114,313 

72,019 
567,005 

7,063,501 
2,667,924 
1,939,486 

Colombia 100,102 1,627,767 1,727,869 5,260 204,970 210,230 1,938,099 
Costa Rica 14,645 238,048 252,693 772 29,978 30,750 283,443 
Denmatk 2,678 43,126 45,804 145 5,429 5,574 51,378 
Dominican Republic 19,532 317,812 337,344 1,025 40,014 41,039 378,383 
Ecuadot 19,532 317,812 337,344 1,025 40,014 41,039 378,383 

283,443 
48,242 

587,235 
601,458 
378,383 

105,096 
283,443 
283,443 

47,554 
587,235 

378,383 
655,080 

4,540,519 
89,281 

283,443 

51,378 
283,443 
283,443 
946,521 

15,466 

587,235 
57,615 
100,006 
131,129 
283,443 

587,235 
21,133,745 

757,294 
3,784,347 

48,242 

T O T A L $3,167,747 $51,005,880 $54,173,627 $174,075 $6,641,769 $6,815,844 $60,989,471 

Admitted per Resolution AG-11/92. 
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FINANCIAL MATTERS 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

The continued improvement of economic conditions 
throughout the region, and a concentrated effort by bor
rowers to meet payment obligations to the Bank, were 
the major factors in the Bank's strong financial perfor
mance during 1992. In fact, when Panama cleared its 
arrearages with the Bank in March, 1992, the Bank's 
ordinary capital loan portfolio became fully performing 
for the first time since 1988. These events, combined 
with other favorable financial results, permitted the 
Bank to reduce its lending spread and other loan charges 
to its borrowers and still maintain a strong financial po
sition. 

Highlights of earnings from the Bank's own re
sources in 1992 are shown below: 

Ordinary Capi ta l Resources: Total income: 
$2,141 million compared with $2,205 million in 1991. 
Net income: $382.1 million compared with $393.6 mil
lion in 1991. Total reserves: $4,360.2 million as of De
cember 31, 1992, compared with $4,062 million at the 
end of 1991. 

Fund for Special Operations: Total income: 
$186.7 million compared with $220 million in 1991. 
Net income: $34.1 million compared with $15.2 mil
lion in 1991. Total reserves: $552.3 million as of De
cember 31, 1992, compared with $539.4 million at the 
end of 1991. 

Intermediate Financing Facility: Total addition of 
$68.7 million in 1992 compared with $36 million in 
1991. Interest paid on behalf of ordinary capital bor
rowers: $21.4 million compared with $19.4 million in 
1991. Fund balance: $311.6 million compared with 
$276.4 million at the end of 1991. 

The audited financial statements of the ordinary 
capital, the Fund for Special Operations, and the Inter
mediate Financing Facility Account, as well as those of 
the Social Progress Trust Fund and the Venezuelan 
Trust Fund, appear on pages 119 through 167. 

TABLE VIII. CONTRIBUTION QUOTAS TO 
THE FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Country 
As of 

December 31, 1992 

1992 Contribution 
Quotas Receivable 

from Members 

Atgentina $481,140 
Austria 14,593 
Bahamas 9,966 
Batbados 1,604 
Belgium 35,482 
Belize 7,200 
Bolivia 46,227 
Brazil 515,925 
Canada 261,598 
Chile 148,435 
Colombia 145,601 
Costa Rica 22,102 
Denmatk 15,313 
Dominican Republic 31,871 
Ecuador 28,681 
ElSalvadot 20,158 
Finland 13,396 
France 171,612 
Germany 180,898 
Guatemala 30,842 
Guyana 7,879 
Haiti 20,600 
Honduras 24,853 
Israel 13,738 
Italy 162,754 
Jamaica 27,264 
Japan 208,042 
Mexico 310,237 
Nethetlands 26,932 
Nicaragua 22,870 
Norway 14,412 
Panama 24,155 
Paraguay 26,788 
Peru 75,402 
Portugal 5,828 
Spain 167,988 
Suriname 5,968 
Sweden 29,141 
Switzetland 39,047 
Trinidad and Tobago 19,730 
United Kingdom 163,620 
United States 4,715,878 
Utuguay 52,839 
Venezuela 298,116 
Yugoslavia 14,501 
Unallocated 5,387 

Total $8,666,613 

$8,514 
331 
249 

17 
795 

4,800 
231 

2,838 
5,193 

798 
798 
114 
177 
155 
311 
229 
115 

1,989 
1,767 
155 
99 
457 
229 
123 

3,212 
311 

4,073 
1,987 
612 
114 
149 
114 
114 
393 
96 

3,508 
132 
531 
427 
114 

3,044 
21,185 

621 
1,987 
141 

$73,349 
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TABLE IX. IDB BORROWINGS1, 
(In millions of currency) 

FISCAL YEAR 1992 

Type Issue Units Amount 
Amount 

(US$ equiv.) 

Japanese yen 

United States dollars 

Swiss francs 

Deutsche marks 

Spanish pesetas 

Netherlands guilders 

Canadian dollars 

Austrian schillings 

5.375% five-year bonds, due 1997 Yen 50,000 $ 397.6 
5.250% three-year Euronotes, due 1995 Yen 50,000 375.4 
6.300% fifteen-year domestic loan, due 2007 Yen 40,000 311.9 
5.750% eighteen-year domestic loan, due 2010 Yen 25,000 209.7 
5.350% ten-year bonds, due 2002 Yen 50,000 401.0 
4.500% five-year Eurobonds, due 1997 Yen 50,000 401.0 

6.750% deferred rate five-year Eurobonds, due 1997 US$ 400 400.0 
6.000% five-year Eurobonds, due 19972 US$ 500 500.0 
6.000% five-year Eurobonds, due 19972 US$ 200 200.0 

7.000% eight-year notes, due 20003 SwF 150 104.6 
7.000% eight-year notes, due 20003 SwF 150 100.1 
6.750% ten-yeat bonds, due 2002 SwF 300 244.0 
6.250% ten-yeat notes, due 2002 SwF 300 207.5 

8.125% ten-year bonds, due 2002 DM 500 310.0 

7.500% ten-year bonds, due 2002 DM 500 312.2 

10.750% five-year notes due 1997 SP 10,000 96.3 

8.375% five-year bonds, due 1997 NG 300 165.3 

9.000% ten-yeat Eurobonds, due 2002 C$ 300 249.0 

7.875% ten-yeat bonds, due 2002 AS 1,000 88.1 
Total Borrowings $5,073.7 

1 Before swaps. 
The second 6% Eurobond issue was a "reopening" of the first issue. 

• The second 7% note issue was a "reopening" of the first issue. 

TABLE X. OUTSTANDING BORROWINGS 
BY CURRENCY AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1992 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Currency * Amount 

Austrian schillings 
Canadian dollats 
Deutsche marks 
European currency units (ECUs) 
Japanese yen 
Nethetlands guildets 
Portuguese escudos 
Pounds sterling 
Spanish pesetas 
Swiss francs 
Trinidad and Tobago dollars 
United States dollats 

88.1 
353.9 

2,875.9 
120.5 

7,535.8 
1,154.9 

78.4 
509.2 
261.2 

3,176.0 
1.9 

5,233.9 

Total $21,389.7 

Before swaps. 
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BORROWINGS 

During 1992, the Bank completed 19 individual bor
rowings in the world's capital markets for a total of 
$5,074 million. This record amount represents a 39 per
cent increase over the $3,649 million borrowed in 1991. 
At the end of 1992, the Bank's outstanding borrowings 
amounted to $21,390 million. 

The Bank continued to expand its presence in a 
range of domestic and international capital markets in 
1992 and to take advantage of arbitrage and other fi
nancing opportunities. A total of 41.3 percent of the 
Bank's borrowings after swaps were denominated in 
Japanese yen, 31.8 percent in U.S. dollars, 14.6 percent 
in Swiss francs, and 12.3 percent in Deutsche marks. 
The Bank completed four currency swap operations for 
an aggregate amount of $601 million and, for the first 
time, issued bonds using a deferred interest rate setting 
mechanism. 

The Bank also introduced modifications in the 
structure of its U.S. dollar, Euroyen and Deutsche mark 
underwriting syndicates in order to streamline their 
composition, to reflect market developments, and to 
make the pricing of the issues more competitive. As part 
of this program, a system of competitive proposals was 
introduced for public U.S. dollar and Euroyen borrow
ings. The Bank's restructured Deutsche mark under
writing syndicate included fewer participant banks and 
increased the share of new issues allocated to foreign in
stitutions. 

FUNDS IN ADMINISTRATION 

Since the Bank's establishment, trust funds have been 
an important source of additional financing for projects, 
particularly projects benefitting low-income people. The 
first trust fund, created in 1961, was entrusted to the 
Bank by the United States. Other funds have been es
tablished by member countries, including the Venezu
elan Trust Fund, the Swedish Fund for Small Projects, 
the Canadian Fund, the United Kingdom Fund, the 
Norwegian Development Fund, the Swiss Fund for 
Technical Cooperation, the Argentine Fund, and the 
European Economic Community Fund. 

Japan has contributed ¥13,500 million (approxi
mately $108 million) to the Japan Special Fund (JSF) 
to finance nonreimbursable technical cooperation, pri
marily for project preparation, small projects and emer
gency assistance to cope with natural disasters. By the 
end of 1992, 33 projects had benefitted from financing 
in the amount of ¥8,240 million (approximately $66 
million). In 1992, the Japanese government committed 
anothet ¥1,000 million (approximately $8 million) to 
the JSF and, as a new form of cooperation, ¥500 mil
lion specifically for environment-related technical assis
tance. 

The Bank established the Inter-American Devel
opment Bank Graduate Scholarship program with grant 
funding from Japan to promote the development of hu
man resources in the region. The program is to offer 
opportunities to selected individuals to undertake fur
ther studies at national or international institutions in 
the social sciences, management and other develop
ment-related fields. The program provided scholarships 
for 24 recipients for the 1992-93 academic year; for 
1993-94, Japan authorized an additional contribution 
of ¥168 million (approximately $1.4 million). The 
Fund's cumulative resources totaled ¥353 million (ap
proximately $2.8 million) as of the end of 1992. 

The Government of Spain established the 
Quincentennial Fund in 1990, making the equivalent 
of $500 million available for cofinancing projects. In 
addition, Spain will provide the equivalent of $150 mil
lion to fund a Special Account which will subsidize in
terest rates on loans from the Quincentennial Fund. 

The Special Technical Cooperation Funds Pro
gram (CT/FONDOS) was created in 1991 with re
sources from Belgium, the European Economic Com
munity (EEC), Italy, Portugal, and Sweden for 
contracting consultants to carry out short-term assign
ments. In 1992, the program was augmented with re
sources from Austria, Germany, Israel, and Italy and 
now totals $20 million. 
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TABLE XI. FUNDS IN ADMINISTRATION 

Name 
Date 

Established 
Entrusted 

By Currency 

Amount 
Contributed* 

(million) 
Sector Concentration 

or Purpose 

Social Progress Trust Fund 1961 

Venezuelan Ttust Fund 1975 

Canadian Fund 1964 

Canadian Project 1974 
Preparation Fund 

Japan Special Fund 1988 

IDB Gtaduate Scholatship 1992 
Program 

Technical Cooperation and 1973 
Small Projects Swiss Fund 

Norwegian Development Fund 1970 

United Kingdom 1966 
Development Fund 

Atgentine Fund 1970 

European Economic 1981 
Community Grant 

Spanish Quincentennial 1990 
Funds 

Fund for Belgian Consultants 1991 

Special Fund for 1991 
Technical 
Consultancy Services 

Italian Fund for 1991 
Consulting Services 

Italian Fund for 1992 
Consulting Firms 

Italian Fund for 1992 
Individual Consultants 

Portuguese 1991 
Technical Cooperation 

Swedish Ttust Fund fot 1991 
Consulting Services 
and Training Activities 

Swedish Fund for the 1992 
Financing of Small Projects 

Austrian Technical 1992 
Cooperation Ttust Fund 

Getman Technical 1992 
Coopetation Fund 

Israeli Consultant Ttust Fund 1992 

USA U.S.$ 525 Agricultute, sanitation, education, social. 

Venezuela U.S.$ 400 Integration, natutal resources, 
Bolivars 430 industry, exports. 

Canada Can$ 73 Physical infrasttucture and othet sectots on 
concessional tetms. 

Canada Can$ 6 Preparation of project—basic studies, feasibility 
and engineering designs. 

Japan ¥ 13,500 Technical assistance, small projects, emetgency 
assistance. 

Japan ¥ 353 Provides scholatships for advanced study. 

Switzetland SwF 45 Projects that benefit low-income groups. 

Norway U.S.$ 2 Loans and small projects, low-income groups, 
health, education, agricultute and small-scale 
industry. 

U.K. £ 8 Concessional loans. 

Argentina Pesos equiv. to Local counterpart financing for IDB projects. 
U.S.$23 

EEC ECU 2 Small projects and technical assistance. 

Spain ECU 490 Technical education, agricultute, health, 
communications, utban development. 

Belgium BF 13 Technical assistance for prepatation of projects 
in productive and private sectors. 

2 Short-term consultancy services to carry out 
studies and ttaining in conjunction with 
the Bank's opetations. 

4,000 Consulting services related to industrial 
reconsttuction. 

2,750 Consulting services for specialized institutions. 

1,250 Individual consultants. 

equivalent Technical assistance, scholatships and 
to U.S.$0.5 traineeships. 

Consulting services and ttaining in social sectots. 

Commission of ECU 
the European 
Communities 

Italy Lire 

Italy Lite 

Italy Lire 

Pottugal Escudos 

Sweden U.S.$ 

Sweden U.S.$ 7 Finances small projects. 

Austria U.S.$ 1 Finance short and long tetm consultancies. 

Germany DM 0.3 Finance short and medium term 
advisory services. 

Israel Shekels equivalent Finance advisory services for projects. 
toU.S.$0.1 

* Figures represent gross contributions and do not reflect balances on hand. 
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INSTITUTIONAL ASPECTS 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

During its April 1992 meeting in Santo Domingo, Do
minican Republic, the Board of Governors approved the 
1991 financial statements of the ordinary capital, the 
Fund for Special Operations, and the Intermediate Fi
nancing Facility Account. At that same meeting, the 
Board entrusted the Committee of the Board of Gover
nors with the task of initiating a review of proposals con
cerning the Eighth General Increase in the Resources of 
the Bank. 

In other actions taken in 1992, the Board 
• appointed an external auditing firm to exam

ine the Bank's financial statements for 1992; 
• directed that $50 million of 1991 net income 

of the Bank's ordinary capital be allocated between the 
Intermediate Financing Facility Account and a separate 
account in the Fund for Special Operations, to provide 
nonreimbursable financing for technical-cooperation 
activities. This first-ever transfer was made possible be
cause of an unusually strong financial performance in 
1991, when two countries emerged from non-accrual 
status; 

• approved conditions for the admission of Belize 
to membership in the Bank; and 

• granted greater flexibility to the Bank's Board 
of Executive Directors to approve sector adjustment 
loans. 

The Committee of the Board of Governors is the 
Board's permanent working arm, made up of 12 of its 
members. The Committee held three meetings in 1992, 
the first during the Thirty-third Annual Meeting of the 
Board of Governors in Santo Domingo. At the second 
and third meetings, which took place in September and 
December at Bank headquarters, the Committee initi
ated a review of proposals concerning the Eighth Gen
eral Increase in the Resources of the Bank, pursuant to 
the mandate received from the Board of Governors. 

BOARD OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

kets, approves the Bank's administrative budget, and 
determines the finance charges and interest rates on its 
loans. 

The Board performs its duties on a full-time basis 
at the Bank's headquarters, and its 12 principal mem
bers are elected or appointed for three-year terms by the 
Governors of the Bank. Each Executive Director may 
appoint an Alternate, who has full power to act when 
the principal is absent. A roster of the Executive Direc
tors and Alternate Executive Directors appears on page 
169. To facilitate its work, the Board has four standing 
committees, each made up of six Executive Directors. 

In addition to the duties described above, the 
Board of Executive Directors in 1992 considered and, 
in many cases, adopted important policies affecting the 
operations and procedures of the Bank, including the 
following: 

• Financial Policies. In order to continue to 
maintain the capability of the Fund for Special Opera
tions (FSO) to meet its commitments, the Board ap
proved the immediate collection of all of the 
unencashed balances corresponding to the Fifth Increase 
of Resources for the FSO. 

• General Conditions for Loan Contracts. The 
Board approved a revision of the covenants included in 
loan contracts executed by the Bank with its borrowers. 

• Agreement on the Administration of the Mul
tilateral Investment Fund. The Board authorized man
agement to conclude the necessary agreements with the 
Multilateral Investment Fund donor countries for the 
Bank's administration of the Fund. 

• Procurement Policy. In March, the Board ap
proved a revision of the Bank's procurement policy, 
which outlines the rules and procedures to be followed 
by the borrowers when purchasing goods and contract
ing services. 

• New Operations Evaluation Unit. In Novem
ber, the Board approved the merging into one unit of 
the previously two separate evaluation units. 

• Allocation of Administrative Expenses. The 
Board approved a revision of the formula for allocating 
the Bank's administrative expenses between the ordinary 
capital and the Fund for Special Operations. 

The Board of Executive Directors is responsible for the 
operations of the Bank. It establishes the institution's 
operational policies, approves loan and technical-coop
eration proposals submitted by the President of the 
Bank, authorizes Bank borrowings on the capital mar-

PROGRAMMING ACTIVITIES 

The Bank employs a variety of tools in designing the 
country and subregional lending strategies with which 
it supports the agreed development priorities of its bor-
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rowers. Programming missions and policy dialogue with 
the Bank's borrowing members are important steps in 
this exercise. They are the core elements of the program
ming process by which the Bank works with the relevant 
institutions in each borrowing member country or sub-
region in order to reach agreement on an appropriate 
policy framework, and on the selection of priority 
projects. 

Seven Country Programming Papers (CPPs) and 
one Regional Programming Paper (RPP) were prepared 
in 1992. CPPs outline the Bank's focus on priority areas 
for future lending in a specific country, based on an 
analysis of key macroeconomic and sectoral policy is
sues, the country's developmental priorities and the 
Bank's own operational experience. RPPs highlight a 
lending strategy for a sub-region, based on an analysis 
of key regional, economic, trade and developmental 
challenges which could best be addressed by common 
efforts within a specific grouping of countries. This re
gional perspective complements Bank actions in each 
country within that sub-region. 

The Bank also carried out a regional programming 
mission during which discussions were held with key 
subregional institutions on policy and operational issues 
in the member countries of the Caribbean Community 
(CARICOM). 

In 1992, thirteen programming missions were car
ried out. Through these missions the Bank discusses its 
lending strategy and agrees on a loan and technical co
operation pipeline of projects for a period of three years. 

One other programming activity that was under
taken in 1992 and that contributed significantly to the 
quality of the Bank's analysis of key macroeconomic and 
sectoral issues was the preparation of private sector di
agnostics in a number of countries. These diagnostics 
identify constraints to private sector investment, con
tribute to the design of the Bank's country lending strat
egies, and form the foundation for policy reforms pro
posed in investment sector loans. 

1992, a number of ORE's evaluations were published, 
among them "Identification of Bottlenecks in the IDB's 
National Technical Cooperation Program," "The 
Bank's Experience in the Area of Procurement of Civil 
Works, Goods and Services," and "The Promotion and 
Financing of Exports." 

Internal review of the quality of the Bank's opera
tions has been provided by the Office of the Controller 
through its Operations Evaluation Office (OEO). OEO 
has been the primary source of ex ante information in 
the formulation of new projects. In 1992, it also pro
duced several evaluation case studies and two in-depth 
sector evaluations. The Controller's office—through the 
Organization and Management Services Office—carried 
out studies of the Legal and Secretariat Departments 
and the External Relations Office. Other areas analyzed 
included regulations pertaining to the processing of loan 
operations, the procurement of goods and services, and 
the administration of sector loans. In addition, the per
formance of the Bank's management information sys
tems program was reviewed. 

At the end of the year, the Board of Executive Di
rectors decided to merge ORE and OEO into a single 
unit answerable to the Board of Executive Directors. 

The Office of the Auditor General performs in
dependent audit reviews of Bank financial, operational 
and administrative activities to ensure effectiveness of 
controls and resource utilization. During 1992, the 
work of the office, coordinated with the Bank's exter
nal auditors, addressed decentralization issues and in
cluded related audit visits to the Country Offices, as well 
as reviews of headquarters restructuring, the system for 
auditing borrowers' financial statements, proposed per
sonnel policy revisions, and several computer applica
tions. 

The Bank's financial statements are examined by 
a firm of independent auditors selected every year by 
the Board of Governors. 

AUDITING AND EVALUATION 

The operations of the Bank have been subject to both 
internal and external audit and evaluation systems. 

The Board of Executive Directors has relied on a 
system independent of management—the Office of Ex
ternal Review and Evaluation (ORE)—to assess the re
sults and effectiveness of the Bank's operations and to 
ensure that the Bank is fulfilling its purpose. During 

MEETINGS AND CONFERENCES 

Over the course of the year, the Bank organized high-
level conferences in Washington, the region, Europe 
and Japan. Several of the meetings focused on the tech
nical and theoretical aspects of development on a re
gional basis; others grew out of Bank financings for 
activities in specific sectors or sub-regions. In addition 
to the conferences, colloquia and seminars staged in 
1992, the Bank's Department of Economic and Social 
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SALVADOR, BAHIA, BRAZIL. 
Castro Alves, an employee of 
COLEBA, the State of Bahia Elec
tric Company, putting finishing 
touches on transmission lines at a 
new substation. An IDB financing 
led to the connection of 600 pre
viously unserved towns to the 
state distribution system and ex
panded coverage to approxi
mately two-thirds of Bahia's 
population. 

Development (DES) held a weekly series of morning 
lectures on timely topics, both general and specialized. 
Highlights of the year's approximately 75 major events 
included 

• a two-day seminar at Bank headquarters in Sep
tember at which the 12-member West Indian Commis
sion, partially funded through a 1991 IDB technical 
cooperation grant, discussed the findings of their report 
on the C A R I C O M member nations' prospects for fur
ther economic and political integration with prominent 
members of the West Indian diaspora and representa
tives of international agencies; 

• "The Social Dimension of Economic Restruc
turing in Latin America and the Caribbean," a confer
ence organized jointly with the American Institute for 
Free Labor Development (AIFLD), an arm of the AFL-
C I O , and the Interamerican Regional Organization of 
Workers (Organización Regional Interamericana de 
Trabajadores, ORIT) that brought together 75 labor 
leaders from 23 countries, along with representatives of 

the IDB, World Bank and IMF, to discuss social issues 
within the context of structural reforms; 

• working meetings in San Salvador of officials 
from the Bank and the Central America region involved 
with the Regional Program of Suppor t for Central 
American Development and Integration (PRADIC), an 
initiative established by means of a Bank technical co
operation; 

• an inaugural meeting of the contracting parties 
to the new Indigenous Peoples' Fund (Fondo Indígena) 
featuring addresses by Bolivian President Jaime Paz 
Zamora, Mr. Luis Macas, President of the Confedera
tion of Indigenous Peoples of Ecuador, and the Bank's 
president; and 

• "Stabilization, Economic Development and 
Growth," a conference held on December 17-18, co-
sponsored by the National Bureau of Economic Re
search (NBER), and including the presentation of 12 
papers on topics such as trade policy, foreign invest
ment, privatization, deregulation and tax reform. 
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TABLE XII. CONSOLIDATED ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
(In thousands of U.S. 

Category 
1990 

Actual 
1991 

Actual 
19921 

Actual 

Board of Governors 
Annual Meeting 
Other Expenses 

Board of Executive Directors 
Petsonnel Costs 
Consulting and Business Ttavel 
External Review and Evaluation Office 

Headquarters and Country Offices 
Personnel Costs 
Consulting and Business Ttavel 
General Administtative Costs 

TOTAL BEFORE REIMBURSEMENT 

Reimbursement from Funds 
under Administration and IIC 

661.1 
63.5 

6,250.1 
937.3 

1,232.7 

132,952.6 
24,181.9 
29,103.2 

195,382.4 

(6,448.0) 

966.5 
444.2 

7,197.3 
1,001.5 
1,282.7 

157,370.3 
22,316.3 
31,035.4 

221,614.2 

(3,984.4) 

631.0 
343.5 

8,088.1 
1,250.1 
1,319.0 

168,256.4 
29,606.3 
35,828.7 

245,323.1 

(3,559.6) 

TOTAL $188,934.4 $217,629.8 $241,763.5 

Excludes approximately $11.9 million related to special tetmination program expenses. 

ROLE OF COUNTRY OFFICES 

The Bank has a Country Office in each of the borrow
ing member countries to provide support in project de
velopment and execution. Most Country Offices are 
staffed with a Representative, a Deputy Representative, 
and professionals who possess the technical skills needed 
to administer the Bank's portfolio of projects in each 
country. 

Increasingly, the Country Offices have assumed a 
more vital role in areas such as project identification, 
loan administration, technical cooperation and small 
projects. The Offices have responsibility for preparing 
and approving intraregional technical assistance opera
tions and technical assistance operations in response to 
emergencies caused by natural disasters. They also have 
primary responsibility for short-term missions relating 
to operations administration. 

Special missions from headquarters are carried out 
every year to help strengthen the activities of the Coun
try Offices. In 1992, nine missions were undertaken to 
train Country Office staff on new guidelines related to 
the procurement of goods and services. Other supervi

sory missions were carried out during the year to help 
improve the activities of these offices. 

Special Office in Europe 

The Bank's Special Office in Europe (SOE) plays a key 
role in promoting cooperation between the Bank and 
its nonregional member countries. 

In 1992, SOE organized a number of high-profile 
European conferences and meetings. The Fourth IDB-
International Herald Tribune Latin America Confer
ence was held in Madrid on the eve of the Ibero-Ameri-
can summit in that city. The theme of the conference 
was "Latin America: the New Economic Climate." The 
third IDB-OECD Development Center Forum on 
Latin American Perspectives entitled "Mobilizing Inter
national Investment in Latin America" was held in Paris 
in November. 

The third annual consultation between the presi
dent of the Bank and representatives of the nonregional 
governments was held in Brussels prior to the Bank's 
1992 annual meeting. The president also addressed sev
eral meetings aimed at encouraging direct investment 
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in Latin America and the Caribbean, including meet
ings in Austria, the Netherlands, Sweden and Switzer
land. SOE also organized a series of fora at which se
nior Bank officials made presentations on economic 
subjects to business, academic and government audi
ences in Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany and the 
UK. 

total of 1,785 staff members—1,110 professionals and 
675 administrative—employed at the end of 1991. By 
the end of 1992, 294 women occupied professional level 
positions at the Bank. 

COOPERATION WITH OTHER 
ORGANIZATIONS 

ADMINISTRATION 

Several steps were taken in 1992 to improve human re
sources administration and the budgeting process. Job 
descriptions were written for all professional positions 
under a new job grading and classification system. A 
similar exercise will be undertaken for administrative 
staff in 1993. New policies governing external assign
ments and Country Office allowances were introduced. 
Training programs and seminars were held at Bank 
headquarters. Activities included a seminar on manage
ment development and programs for Country Office 
staff and Country and Project Teams. An employment 
termination program concluded in 1992 created the 
flexibility to bring new skills into the organization. 

The preparation and execution of the program-
based administrative budget is now a fully computer
ized function. A Time Management Reporting System 
collects data on the time dedicated to major programs 
by professional staff. This information is then used dur
ing the annual budget exercise and contributes to the 
planning and execution of the Bank's programs. 

The Bank's Administrative Budget for 1993 was 
authorized at $260.8 million net of projected overhead 
reimbursements of $3.9 million, an increase of $18.8 
million or 7.7 percent (2.3 percent in real terms) com
pared with the $242.0 million approved for 1992, net 
of projected overhead reimbursements of $3.6 million. 
This percent increase, in real terms, is required in order 
to fulfill the ambitious operational program set forth in 
the Seventh Replenishment Agreement. Total expendi
tures in 1991 and 1992, as well as the 1993 Adminis
trative Budget, are shown in Table XII. In 1992, total 
expenditures of $241.8 million represented 99.9 percent 
of the approved budget of $242 million. 

At the close of 1992, the Bank's staff (excluding 
the Board of Executive Directors and the External Re
view and Evaluation Office and their staff) totaled 
1,791, of whom 1,120 were professionals and 671 were 
administrative. Of these, 457 employees were assigned 
to the Country Offices. These figures compare with a 

Largely as a result of the new framework for coopera
tion between the two organizations that became opera
tive in 1991, 1992 was a year of fruitful collaboration 
between the Bank and the United Nations Develop
ment Programme (UNDP). One of the important re
sults of that collaboration was the joint sponsorship of 
Amazonia Without Myths, a report containing proposals 
developed by the Commission on Development and 
Environment for Latin America and the Caribbean in 
an earlier document, Our Own Agenda. The report on 
Amazonia served as a contribution to the United Na
tions Conference on Environment and Development 
(UNCED 1992). 

One other priority of the IDB/UNDP partnership 
was a joint study of social reform and the alleviation of 
poverty. This collaboration produced a draft report sub
sequently reviewed in a meeting of leaders of the region. 
The ultimate goal of the exercise is agreement on a set 
of principles to inform a dialogue on public policy and 
social reform that would lead to investment and the 
adoption of policies by the countries of the region. 

IDB/UNDP collaboration at the country level in 
1992 was evident in projects throughout the region. 
UNDP support included the funding of preparatory 
missions, the cofinancing of projects, assisting borrow
ers in project processing and implementation, and the 
provision of management services. 

The fourth in a series of formal agreements under 
which a range of technical assistance activities are pro
vided to the Bank by the Pan American Health Organi
zation (PAHO) was completed in 1992. The agreement 
permitted the two institutions to collaborate in the ex
ecution of programs in the areas of environmental sani
tation, nutrition and health, and animal inspection and 
quarantine. Between 1989 and 1992 activities involv
ing pre-investment analyses and studies for 29 loans 
were executed throughout Latin America and the Car
ibbean. 

In keeping with the Bank's commitment to 
streamline and improve the effectiveness of its relation
ships with the specialized agencies of the United Na-

THE BANK IN 1992 

33 



tions and other development organizations, an indepen
dent evaluation of the agreement with PAHO was con
ducted. The suggestions and recommendations incor
porated in the ensuing report are being studied in order 
to develop guidelines that would lead to improvement 
in the quality and cost-effectiveness of the IDB/PAHO 
agreement and other collaborative projects. 

A number of studies leading to loans were com
pleted under the Bank's agreement with the Inter-
American Institute for Cooperation in Agriculture 
(IICA). In fact, the agreement was extended beyond its 
provisional final date of July, 1992, to permit comple
tion of studies in progress. 

The third funding period of the Caribbean/Cen
tral American Business Advisory Service (BAS) came to 
an end on December 31, 1992. BAS was established as 
a UNDP project, with the International Finance Cor
poration (IFC) as the executing agency, to assist spon
sors of private-sector projects to evaluate operations and, 
where appropriate, to help them obtain financing from 
local, regional and international institutions. From the 
inception, the Bank has been a major source of finan
cial support for the BAS. 

As is customary at the time of the World Bank/ 

KINGSTON, JAMAICA. Paul Gunther, an em
ployee at Caribbean Products Ltd.'s margarine and 
cooking oil plant, assembling cartons for supply to 
the domestic market. The company purchased a 
new "chilling" machine for the production of bulk 
margarine after receiving a credit for $288,000 
through the National Development Bank of 
Jamaica. 

International Monetary Fund annual meetings in Wash
ington, D .C , the IDB hosted a meeting of the heads of 
multilateral financial institutions (MFIs). The agenda 
for the 1992 gathering was devoted to discussion of the 
problems encountered in lending to the social sectors 
and for the alleviation of poverty. 

INTER-AMERICAN INVESTMENT 
CORPORATION 

The Inter-American Investment Corporation (IIC) en
courages the establishment, expansion, and moderniza
tion of private enterprises, preferably those that are small 
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and medium scale. While affiliated with the Bank, the 
IIC is a legally autonomous multilateral investment cor
poration with resources and management separate from 
the IDB. The IIC works directly with the private sector 
and neither seeks nor requires government guarantees. 
Enterprises with partial share participation by govern
ment or other public entities whose activities strengthen 
the private sector of the economy are eligible for financ
ing by the Corporation. 

The IIC concluded its third full year of operations 
in 1992 by approving equity investments and loans to
taling $158 million for 30 private sector projects in 15 
of 24 borrowing member countries. Among the re
sources committed, a total of 93 percent took the form 
of loans and 7 percent was in the form of equity invest
ments. Sixteen of the projects for which the IIC ap
proved financing were located in the Corporation's 
higher-income countries, and 14 were located in the 
lower-income countries. Projects were financed in the 
agroindustrial, mining, financial, manufacturing, com
munications and transportation sectors, and for the es
tablishment of free-trade zones and warehousing. The 
1992 approvals compare with 26 operations totaling 
$101.7 million approved in 1991. In order to furthet 
support the activities of the IIC, the IDB Board of Ex
ecutive Directors approved a $210 million loan to the 
Corporation in December. 

A more detailed review of the Corporation's ac
tivities in 1992 appears in its Seventh Annual Report, 
which is published separately. 
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PART II 

LOANS AND 
TECHNICAL 

COOPERATION 

Part II contains a description of the terms and condi
tions for Bank lending; a summary of the year's lending 
and technical cooperation activities; procurement statis
tics; and country chapters that include a brief statement 
on the lending program in each borrowing country and 
a description of the loans, small projects, and technical 
cooperation authorized by the Bank in 1992. Part II 
concludes with the Statement of Approved Loans and 
eight statistical tables on Latin America and the Carib
bean. 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

The Bank's pool-based variable lending rate methodol
ogy (adopted in December 1989) uniformly adjusts the 
lending rate applicable to the outstanding balances of 
all loans approved since January 1, 1990. Thus, consis
tent with the cooperative nature of the institution, all 
borrowers share equally the costs and benefits of changes 
in the lending rate. The lending rate derived by means 
of the fixed-at-disbursement methodology will continue 
to be applied to future disbursements of those loans ap-

EL CARAO, EL SALVADOR. A series of irrigation 
ditches will allow for the cultivation of two crops 
annually on 68 hectares of land located 8 km east of 
Usulatán. Financing for the project was provided as 
part of a $33 million loan for a Social Investment 
Fund in 1991. 

proved before January 1, 1990. Both rates, however, in
clude the same spread over the relevant cost of borrow
ing. 

New borrowings are assigned to fund disburse
ments of loans approved under either one of the two 
types of lending rates. The cost of borrowing for the 
fixed-at-disbursement lending rate is the weighted aver
age cost of those new borrowings during the previous 
12 months assigned to fund loans approved before Janu
ary 1, 1990. The cost of borrowing for the variable lend
ing rate is the weighted average cost for the previous 6 
months of the outstanding borrowings assigned to the 
pool which funds loans approved since January 1, 1990. 

The lending rate for new disbursements of fixed-
rate loans was 7.94 percent duting the first six months 
of 1992 and 7.07 percent during the last six months of 
the year. The lending rate applicable to outstanding bal
ances of variable-rate loans was 7.92 percent during the 
first six months of 1992 and 7.23 percent during the 
last six months of the year. 

Loans made from the ordinary capital in a mem
ber country's own currency carried an interest rate of 1 
to 4 percent, depending on the nature of the project. 
Loans extended from the ordinary capital during 1992 
were made for terms ranging from 15 to 25 years. 

The rates of interest charged on loans extended 
from the Fund for Special Operations varied from 1 to 
4 percent, depending on the stage of development of 
the country and the nature of the project, with grace 
periods ranging from 5 to 10 years. For the less devel
oped member countries, the rate of interest was 1 per
cent during the first 10 years and 2 percent subse
quently. Maturities varied from 25 to 40 years. 
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TABLE XIII. YEARLY (1992) AND CUMULATIVE (1961-92) TOTAL COST OF PROJECTS 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Total Cost Bank's Loans Latin America's Contributions 

Country 1992 1961-92 1992 1961-92 1992 1961-92 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

1,061.0 
30.0 
98.4 

212.0 
1,709.0 

343.9 
2,217.9 

86.3 
40.7 

232.0 
351.4 

57.7 
26.5 

0.0 
160.1 
46.9 

1,100.0 
190.4 
132.4 
223.8 
229.0 

0.0 
47.0 

275.3 
1,934.5 

710.0 

16,212.2 
274.3 
371.0 

3,281.2 
40,167.8 

9,396.2 
13,667.1 
2,591.7 
1,703.8 
5,241.8 
2,246.2 
2,284.4 

549.6 
509.9 

2,913.0 
1,570.4 

23,428.8 
1,404.4 
1,769.7 
1,452.2 
5,002.3 

29.7 
685.3 

2,176.2 
8,927.1 
9,072.9 

$1,061.0 
21.0 
70.6 

107.8 
940.5 
174.5 
535.0 

64.0 
36.4 

193.8 
234.9 

50.7 
23.9 

0.0 
141.6 
39.0 

550.0 
120.7 
129.4 
201.1 
221.8 

0.0 
33.5 

208.7 
596.6 
266.0 

$ 6,135.1 
175.5 
222.5 

1,948.0 
8,724.5 
4,340.5 
5,148.8 
1,564.7 
1,123.0 
2,576.9 
1,483.6 
1,161.9 

428.2 
356.3 

1,452.6 
1,021.9 
7,497.1 

735.3 
987.1 

1,012.3 
2,434.6 

21.3 
479.0 

1,147.7 
2,908.9 
1,682.4 

$ 0.0 
9.0 

27.8 

104.2 
768.5 
169.4 

1,682.9 
22.3 

4.3 
38.2 

116.5 
7.0 
2.6 
0.0 

18.5 
7.9 

550.0 
69.8 

3.0 
22.7 

7.2 
0.0 

13.5 
66.6 

1,337.9 
444.0 

$ 10,077.1 
98.8 

148.5 

1,333.2 
31,443.2 

5,055.7 
8,518.3 
1,027.0 

580.8 
2,664.9 

762.6 
1,122.5 

121.4 
153.6 

1,460.4 
548.5 

15,931.7 
669.1 
782.6 
439.9 

2,567.7 
8.4 

206.3 
1,028.5 
6,018.2 
7,390.5 

TOTAL $11,516.2 $156,929.2 $6,022.5 $56,769.8 $5,493.8 $100,159.4 

Cumulative loans after cancellations and exchange adjustments 

TABLE XTV. YEARLY (1992) AND CUMULATIVE DISBURSEMENTS (1961-92) 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

DETAIL BY FUNDS 

Total Amount Ordinary Capital Fund for Special Operations Funds in Administration 

Country 1992 1961-92 1992 1961-92 1992 1961-92 1992 1961-92 

Argentina $ 210.3 $ 4,101.3 $ 195.0 $ 3,550.3 $ 15.3 $ 501.9 $ 0.0 $ 49.1 
Bahamas 27.6 111.2 27.6 109.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 
Barbados 5.3 143.4 4.2 82.5 0.0 42.8 1.1 18.1 
Belize 
Bolivia 162.7 1,427.5 135.8 647.5 26.4 708.4 0.5 71.6 
Brazil 328.5 6,606.1 302.8 5,297.9 25.7 1,176.7 0.0 131.5 
Chile 279.9 3,530.1 279.9 3,283.6 0.0 203.3 0.0 43.2 
Colombia 433.7 3,951.9 416.7 3,234.9 17.0 654.0 0.0 63.0 
Costa Rica 89.1 1,035.8 80.6 558.9 0.4 348.1 8.1 128.8 
Dominican Republic 26.3 866.8 21.2 257.9 3.0 531.8 2.1 77.1 
Ecuador 110.8 1,865.3 76.9 1,127.9 33.9 648.0 0.0 89.4 
El Salvador 62.8 965.7 11.0 297.7 51.8 532.5 0.0 135.5 
Guatemala 20.2 979.8 10.1 472.4 10.1 447.1 0.0 60.3 
Guyana 29.9 252.4 3.1 107.4 26.5 138.2 0.3 6.8 
Haiti 0.4 224.1 0.0 0.0 0.4 217.5 0.0 6.6 
Honduras 111.1 1,019.2 35.5 340.8 75.5 626.8 0.1 51.6 
Jamaica 70.9 754.7 59.4 464.2 0.5 162.7 11.0 127.8 
Mexico 401.4 6,212.9 397.3 5,620.6 4.1 557.3 0.0 35.0 
Nicaragua 81.3 619.6 28.4 134.2 52.9 434.5 0.0 50.9 
Panama 55.1 765.0 54.1 466.0 1.0 265.8 0.0 33.2 
Paraguay 37.5 573.6 2.4 160.1 35.1 401.5 0.0 12.0 
Peru 90.2 1,959.8 87.9 1,345.4 0.3 393.1 2.0 221.3 
Suriname 2.5 13.7 2.4 12.9 0.1 0.8 0.0 0.0 
Trinidad and Tobago 58.1 155.5 53.9 120.6 2.2 23.6 2.0 11.3 
Uruguay 36.6 681.2 32.2 539.0 4.4 100.4 0.0 41.8 
Venezuela 418.1 1,553.7 418.1 1,379.4 0.0 101.4 0.0 72.9 
Regional 44.7 1,349.5 44.0 1,157.5 0.7 178.2 0.0 13.8 

TOTAL $3,195.0 $41,719.8 $2,780.5 $30,768.8 $387.3 $9,396.4 $27.2 $1,554.6 



In addition to the interest rate on loans, the Bank 
charges a 0.75 percent commitment fee (1.25 percent 
on loans approved before January 1, 1989) for loans 
made from the ordinary capital, a 0.50 percent com
mitment fee for loans made from the Fund for Special 
Operations, and a one-time inspection and supervision 
fee of 1 percent on all loans. 

Because of the strong financial performance of the 
Bank in 1992 (including Panama's emergence from 
non-accrual status), the Bank was able to waive the com
mitment fee as well as the inspection and supervision 
fee for the ordinary capital in 1992. 

Loans not extended directly to the governments 
of the member countries or to inter-governmental de
velopment institutions carry guarantees of the govern
ment or a governmental agency. The financings for 
small projects described in this section, which need not 
be guaranteed, were extended in local currency for up 
to 40 years, with grace periods of up to 10 years, and 
carried a commission of 1 percent. Technical coopera
tion is extended on a grant, contingent recovery, or re
imbursable basis. Contingent repayment technical co
operation, which represents a small amount of the total, 
is subject to repayment only if, as a result of the coop
eration, a loan is subsequently made by the Bank or an
other external financial institution for the execution of 
a project or program. 

THE YEAR'S LENDING 

The loans authorized by the Bank in 1992 came from 
the following sources: 

Ordinary Capital Resources: 68 loans for $5,534 
million brought the cumulative total of loans, less can
cellations, to 907 for $43,817 million as of December 
31,1992. 

Fund for Special Operations: 22 loans totaling 
$459 million brought the cumulative total to 881 loans, 
less cancellations, for $11,381 million as of December 
31, 1992. 

Other Funds: Increases in previously approved ex
port financing credits from the Venezuelan Trust Fund 
for $30 million brought the cumulative total to 199 
loans, less cancellations, for $1,571 million as of De
cember 31, 1992. 

The Bank agreed to partially defray up to 5 per
cent of the interest on 20 loans for $344.6 million ap
proved in 1992 from the ordinary capital resources, with 

funds from the Intermediate Financing Facility (IFF) 
created under the Sixth General Increase of Resources. 

Tables IV and V on pages 12 and 15 show the 
Bank's cumulative lending and a breakdown by sectors. 

Total Cost of Projects 

The $6,023 million in Bank-financed loans help to fi
nance projects involving a total investment of about 
$11,516 million. The Bank's loans cover only a part of 
the total cost of the projects being carried out by the 
Latin American and Caribbean countries. The balance 
over and above the Bank's contribution comes from the 
Latin American countries themselves and, in some cases, 
other sources of financing. A country-by-country break
down of this relationship is shown in Table XIII. 

Disbursements 

The Bank's disbursements on previously authorized 
loans amounted to $3,195 million in 1992, compared 
with $3,151 million in 1991. 

As of December 31, 1992, cumulative disburse
ments, including exchange adjustments, totaled 
$41,719 million, or 76 percent of the loans authorized 
by the Bank. The 1992 disbursements and cumulative 
totals by funds include: 

Ordinary Capital Resources: $2,780 million, 
bringing the cumulative total to $30,768 million as of 
December 31, 1992. 

Fund for Special Operations: $387 million, bring
ing the cumulative total to $9,396 million as of Decem
ber 31, 1992. 

Other Funds: $27 million, bringing the cumula
tive total from funds administered by the Bank to 
$1,554 million as of December 31, 1992. 

The distribution of 1992 and cumulative disburse
ments by country appears in Table XIV. 

Repayments 

Loan repayments amounted to $1,873 million in 1992. 
Cumulative repayments as of December 31, 1992, were 
$14,738 million. 

Repayments received by the Bank during the year, 
identified by sources of loan funds, were: 

Ordinary Capital Resources: $1,504 million, 
bringing the cumulative total, before repayments to par
ticipants, to $10,100 million as of December 31, 1992. 
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TABLE XV. DISTRIBUTION OF NONREIM
BURSABLE TECHNICAL COOPERATION 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Country 1992 1961-92 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Batbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuadot 
El Salvadot 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Utuguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

$ 351 
1,431 

759 

3,661 
3,070 

432 
534 

2,451 
1,042 
1,129 

291 
3,388 
1,086 

0 
493 

1,730 
195 

3,927 
2,486 
4,558 
2,369 

38 
180 

1,643 
226 

27,922 

$ 24,596 
12,299 
18,627 

50,376 
67,707 

2,606 
22,497 
28,153 
28,818 
34,047 
27,834 
22,593 
29,530 
28,042 
24,567 
22,187 

2,977 
29,720 
21,489 
26,510 
43,060 
10,209 
15,230 
20,201 

3,553 
369,870 

TOTAL $65,392 $987,299 

Fund for Special Operations: $299 million for a 
cumulative total of $3,331 million as of December 31, 
1992. 

Other Funds: $70 million, bringing the cumula
tive total to $1,307 million as of December 31, 1992. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

During 1992, the Bank approved 221 nonreimbursable 
technical cooperation operations totaling $65.4 million. 
Institutional strengthening was the main priority of the 
technical cooperation program, providing the borrow
ers with the technical skills needed to prepare and imple
ment national and regional development programs and 
projects. 

During 1992, 17 projects totaling $2.4 million 
were approved on a nonreimbursable basis with re
sources from the Project Preparation Facility (PPF). The 
PPF was established in 1989 to accelerate the prepara
tion of projects. 

Technical cooperation funding was also used to 
hire consultants for short-term missions to prepare pre
feasibility studies for projects. During 1992, $1.9 mil
lion was approved for these operations. The Bank also 
approved 29 intra-regional technical cooperation ex
changes for a value of $305,000. These operations fi
nanced the transfer of technical expertise among bor
rowing member countries. The year's nonreimbursable 
and contingent repayment technical cooperation 
brought the cumulative total as of December 31,1992 
to $987.3 million. 

The year 1992 was also the first full year of opera
tions for the CT/FONDOS Program. The program 
provides nonreimbursable financing for short and me
dium term consultancies, scholarships and fellowships, 
and seminars. During 1992, ten operations totaling $1.4 
million were approved. 

By year's end, the CT/FONDOS Program had 
expanded to ten funds, with resources totaling $20 mil
lion. During the year, five new funds were established, 
as follows: 

• The Austrian Technical Cooperation Trust 
Fund was established in order to finance short- and 
long-term consultancies by both individual and consult
ing firms for the preparation, execution and supervision 
of Bank-financed projects. The fund was endowed with 
$1 million. 

• The Technical Cooperation Trust Fund, cre
ated by Germany with a contribution of DM 300,000, 
was established in order to provide short- and medium-
term advisory services. 

• The Israeli Consultant Trust Fund, established 
with an initial contribution equivalent to $100,000, will 
be used in hiring Israeli consultants to provide advisory 
services on projects. 

• Two separate trust funds set up by the Govern
ment of Italy, the first of which, for 2.75 billion Italian 
Lire, will finance the services of Italian consulting firms 
and specialized institutions; the second, for 1.25 billion 
Italian Lire, will finance Italian individual consultants. 

The Bank also supports a major program of tech
nical cooperation approved on a regional or subregional 
basis. In 1992, the Bank approved projects in the social 
and productive sectors, including public sector modern
ization, integration and trade, environment and natural 
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TABLE XVI. DISBURSEMENTS FOR PURCHASE OF GOODS AND SERVICES BY COUNTRY OF ORIGIN 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Local Purchases Exports Total Local Purchases Exports Total 
Cumulative 1961-91 1961-91 1992 1992 1992 

Amount Amount Amount Amount % Amount % Amount 

BORROWING COUNTRIES 

Argentina $ 795.2 8.5 $ 425.7 2.8 $ 
Bahamas 0.7 0.0 2.7 0.0 
Batbados 23.3 0.3 2.0 0.0 
Belize 
Bolivia 261.8 2.8 1.3 0.0 
Brazil 1,686.9 18.1 907.4 5.9 
Chile 1,327.2 14.3 63.6 0.4 
Colombia 652.0 7.0 99.4 0.6 
Costa Rica 194.3 2.1 101.8 0.7 
Dominican Republic 188.9 2.0 6.0 0.0 
Ecuadot 464.9 5.0 55.6 0.4 
El Salvador 88.3 0.9 16.5 0.1 
Guatemala 152.2 1.6 26.4 0.2 
Guyana 5.6 0.1 1.2 0.0 
Haiti 42.2 0.5 0.6 0.0 
Hondutas 149.5 1.6 17.1 0.1 
Jamaica 124.8 1.3 36.6 0.2 
Mexico 1,977.4 21.2 514.4 3.3 
Nicaragua 70.4 0.8 18.2 0.1 
Panama 171.3 1.8 31.0 0.2 
Paraguay 139.5 1.5 39.5 0.3 
Peru 343.6 3.7 52.0 0.3 
Suriname 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Trinidad and Tobago 26.5 0.3 9.5 0.1 
Uruguay 187.5 2.0 30.3 0.2 
Venezuela 234.3 2.5 140.6 0.9 

1,220.9 
3.4 

25.3 

263.1 
,594.3 
,390.8 
751.4 
296.1 
194.9 
520.5 
104.8 
178.6 

6.8 
42.8 

166.6 
161.4 

,491.8 
88.6 

202.3 
179.0 
395.6 

0.6 
36.0 

217.8 
374.9 

4.9 
0.0 
0.1 

1.1 
10.5 
5.6 
3.0 
1.2 
0.8 
2.1 
0.4 
0.7 
0.0 
0.2 
0.7 
0.7 

10.1 
0.4 
0.8 
0.7 
1.6 
0.0 
0.1 
0.9 
1.5 

68.8 
0.0 
1.3 

54.5 
173.0 
163.7 
81.5 
27.9 
16.2 
83.9 
15.9 
9.6 
1.0 
0.0 

14.1 
2.1 

184.0 
0.1 
4.1 

25.2 
6.1 
0.0 

20.7 
20.4 
38.8 

6.8 
0.0 
0.1 

5.4 
17.1 
16.2 
8.0 
2.8 
1.6 
8.3 
1.6 
0.9 
0.1 
0.0 
1.4 
0.2 

18.2 
0.0 
0.4 
2.5 
0.6 
0.0 
2.0 
2.0 
3.8 

83.8 
0.1 
0.3 

0.5 
129.6 

12.0 
8.7 

18.8 
0.2 

34.1 
4.2 
7.9 
0.1 
0.0 
1.0 
4.2 

74.8 
0.2 

10.9 
0.2 

19.4 
0.0 

10.2 
5.5 

100.2 

4.8 
0.0 
0.0 

0.0 
7.5 
0.7 
0.5 
1.1 
0.0 
2.0 
0.2 
0.5 
0.0 
0.0 
0.1 
0.2 
4.3 
0.0 
0.6 
0.0 
1.1 
0.0 
0.6 
0.3 
5.8 

152.6 
0.1 
1.6 

55.0 
302.6 
1757 
90.2 
46.7 
16.4 

118.0 
20.1 
17.5 

1.1 
0.0 

15.1 
6.3 

258.8 
0.3 

15.0 
25.4 
25.5 

0.0 
30.9 
25.9 

139.0 

5.6 
0.0 
0.1 

2.0 
11.0 
6.4 
3.3 
1.7 
0.6 
4.3 
0.7 
0.6 
0.0 
0.0 
0.6 
0.2 
9.4 
0.0 
0.5 
0.9 
0.9 
0.0 
1.1 
0.9 
5.1 

Total Borrowers $9,308.9 100.0 $ 2,599.4 16.9 $11,908.3 48.2 $1,012.9 100.0 $ 5 2 6 . 9 30.4 $1,539.8 56.1 

NONBORROWING COUNTRIES 

Austria 
Belgium 
Canada 
Denmark 
Finland 
Ftance 
Getmany 
Israel 
Italy 
Japan 
Netherlands 
Norway 
Portugal 
Spain 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
United Kingdom 
United States 
Yugoslavia 

Total Nonborrowers 

53.7 
76.0 

279.2 
68.4 
24.1 

1,185.2 
1,124.0 

36.6 
1,361.7 
1,103.7 

164.9 
18.5 
5.0 

478.3 
272.9 
403.5 
384.8 

5,727.1 
10.3 

0.3 
0.5 
1.8 
0.4 
0.2 
7.7 
7.3 
0.2 
8.9 
7.2 
1.1 
0.1 
0.0 
3.1 
1.8 
2.6 
2.5 

37.2 
0.1 

53.7 
76.0 

279.2 
68.4 
24.1 

1,185.2 
1,124.0 

36.6 
1,361.7 
1,103.7 

164.9 
18.5 
5.0 

478.3 
272.9 
403.5 
384.8 

5,727.1 
10.3 

0.2 
0.3 
1.1 
0.3 
0.1 
4.8 
4.6 
0.1 
5.5 
4.5 
0.7 
0.1 
0.0 
1.9 
1.1 
1.6 
1.6 

23.2 
0.0 

8.5 
24.0 
44.9 
17.1 
4.2 

52.3 
132.6 

6.5 
65.1 
77.5 
32.7 

4.4 
3.8 

27.2 
26.3 
45.2 
51.9 

576.7 
3.7 

0.5 
1.4 
2.6 
1.0 
0.2 
3.0 
7.7 
0.4 
3.8 
4.5 
1.9 
0.3 
0.2 
1.6 
1.5 
2.6 
3.0 

33.3 
0.2 

8.5 
24.0 
44.9 
17.1 
4.2 

52.3 
132.6 

6.5 
65.1 
77.5 
32.7 

4.4 
3.8 

27.2 
26.3 
45.2 
51.9 

576.7 
3.7 

0.3 
0.9 
1.6 
0.6 
0.2 
1.9 
4.8 
0.2 
2.4 
2.8 
1.2 
0.2 
0.1 
1.0 
1.0 
1.6 
1.9 

21.0 
0.1 

12,777.9 83.1 12,777.9 51.8 1,204.6 69.6 1,204.6 43.9 

TOTAL $9,308.9 100.0 $15,377.3 100.0 $24,686.2 100.0 $1,012.9 100.0 $1,731.5 100.0 $2,744.4 100.0 
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resources, and women in development. These projects 
range from training and institutional strengthening to 
applied research and technological development and 
support to productive enterprises. During the year, 34 
regional or subregional technical cooperation operations 
totaling $27.7 million were approved. 

PROCUREMENT 

Bank loan contracts require the Bank's public sector 
borrowers to procure goods and services through open 
international competitive bidding in order to ensure the 
economic and efficient use of Bank resources. In 1992, 
the Board of Executive Directors approved modifica
tions to the Bank's procurement policy. Among other 
changes, the Board set higher threshold amounts that 
govern international competitive bidding and publicity 
for all acquisitions of goods and services. The new 
thresholds are $1 million for civil works and construc
tion services, and $250,000 for goods. The thresholds 
can be applied retroactively to all investment loans ap
proved with funds from the Seventh Replenishment. 
The contracting of consultant services also requires the 
open and competitive selection process. 

Disbursements of convertible currencies for the 
purchase of goods and services totaled $2,744 million 
in 1992. Borrowing member countries received $1,540 
million, or 56 percent of this value. Local purchases of 
goods and services for projects in the borrowing coun
tries totaled $1,013 million, and exports of borrowing 
countries to other borrowing countries amounted to 
$527 million. Nonborrowing member countries pro
vided goods and services totaling $1,204 million in 
1992. A detailed breakdown of local purchases and ex
ports of goods and services by Bank member countries 
is shown in Table XVI, "Disbursements for Purchases 
of Goods and Services by Country of Origin." These 
disbursement figures reflect only the initial round of 
procurement traced by actual disbursements and do not 
measure amounts received by subcontractors. 

KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS USED 
IN PROJECT DESCRIPTIONS 

The following abbreviations are used in the country-by-country descrip
tions of loans, small project financings, and technical cooperation op
erations. 

OC Ordinary Capital 
FSO Fund for Special Operations 
IFF Intermediate Financing Facility 
TC Technical Cooperation 

All figures, including the number of loans, total lending and disburse
ments in the introductory paragraphs for each country, are as of Decem
ber 31 , 1992. Cumulative loan totals are net of cancellations and ex
change adjustments. 
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ARGENTINA 

The Government of Argentina and the Bank assigned a 
high priority in 1992 to policy-oriented lending in sup
port of that country's medium-term reform program. 
Two of the main goals of the lending program were con
solidation of reforms in the public sector and the im
provement of competitiveness of the private sector. The 
Bank also provided assistance to the debt and debt-ser
vice reduction efforts of the country. In the medium and 
longer term, the Bank hopes to shift the focus of its as
sistance to: (i) support for improving the level, quality, 
and targeting of social services and (ii) investment in di
rectly productive activities that would assure the inter
national competitiveness of the economy. The Bank has 
made 142 loans totaling $6,135 million to Argentina. 
Cumulative disbursements total $4,101 million. In 
1992, the Bank approved four loans, one of them a ma
jor technical cooperation. 

LOANS 

Debt and Debt-Service Reduction 

Financing 

Executing 
Agency: 

$400 million from the O C , with 
cofinancing of $745 million from the 
World Bank, $945 million from the Inter
national Monetary Fund and $800 mil
lion from the Export-Import Bank of Ja
pan 

Ministry of the Economy {Ministerio de 
Economía y Obras y Servicios Públicos) 

This operation represents the larger portion of the IDB's 
commitment to participate in a debt rescheduling plan 
and is undertaken in concert with several other princi
pal donors. As part of the agreement, Bank funds will 
be used as guarantees against the payment of interest 
and principal pursuant to the issuance of par and dis
count bonds. An additional Bank commitment for $75 
million is included as a sub-program to finance the re
purchase of zero-coupon bond guarantees within the 
Investment Sector Program operation approved sepa
rately (see below). In sum, the workout proposal aims 
at an overall reduction of $3.3 billion in Argentina's 
medium- and long-term commercial debt and a restruc

turing of some $29 billion in external public debt, in
cluding $8 billion in interest past due. The Bank's fi
nancing, authorized under the Debt and Debt-Service 
Reduction Facility created in 1990, is to be disbursed 
in a single tranche effective with the formal signing of 
the comprehensive accord. 

The recent successes of the Government of 
Argentina's macroeconomic stabilization program are 
illustrated by estimates that place GDP growth for 1992 
at 9 percent, with inflation down to 23 percent from 
more than 1,000 percent in 1990. At the same time, as 
the central government and international capital mar
kets have recognized, Argentina's continued access to 
the financial resources needed to underpin its process 
of policy reform and modernization of the public sector 
must be assured. 

Investment Sector Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$350 million from the O C , with 
cofinancing of $100 million from the 
Export-Import Bank of Japan 

Ministry of the Economy (Ministerio de 
Economía y Obras y Servicios Públicos) 

This rapid-disbursement loan is intended to address two 
broad, major areas of the Argentine economy: the need 
to stimulate longer-term investment activity within the 
country's private sector and ongoing efforts to reduce 
or eliminate structural deficits in the finances of the pro
vincial governments. Much of the reform to be under
taken by the national government will focus on the fi
nancial sector; outside that realm, the relevant ministries 
will initiate reform programs in the areas of labor-man
agement relations, guarantees for foreign investors, in
tellectual property rights protection, reduction in trans
portation costs within the national boundaries, and 
liberalization of the regulations governing foreign trade. 
As a policy-based operation, Bank resources will be 
channeled through the Ministry of the Economy in 
three tranches, scheduled within 18 months of the sign
ing of the loan contract. 

The program recognizes that the deficit of the cen
tral government will continue to be intractable as long 
as the finances of the politically autonomous provinces 
are not improved. Accordingly, policy measures have 
been designed as conditions to be met prior to the dis
bursement of the second and third tranches of the 
loan—for restraining spending at the provincial level, 
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reforming the activities of provincial banks, and reform
ing pension systems. In this regard, performance varies 
considerably among provinces and among the corre
sponding provincial banks. One portion of the loan— 
up to $75 million—will be devoted exclusively to debt 
and debt-service reduction. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

I Lending ^ — Disbursements 

National Electric Power Companies 
Reform Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$300 million from the OC and a $10 
million reimbursable technical coopera
tion, also from the OC 

Energy Secretariat of the Ministry of the 
Economy 

Argentina's national electricity companies (exclud
ing the bi-national Yacyretá and Salto Grande hydro
electric power plants) have in the past accounted for as 
much as 50 percent of the fiscal imbalance of 
Argentina's state-owned enterprises. The aim of this 
loan, and the parallel technical cooperation (TC), is 
ultimately to reduce the contributions of Argentina's 
Treasury to the electricity sector, and to ensure an 
adequate supply of electric power to meet projected 
future demand. The TC component will allow for the 
contracting of consultant services to study the availabil
ity of private investment capital and to advise and 
support the government on the large-scale privatization. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Planning and Reform 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 
Transportation and Communications 
Education, Science and Technology 
Urban Development 
Export Financing 
Tourism 
Preinvestment 
Total 

81,888,083 
1,579,817 
728,595 
489,476 
457,957 
347,985 
270,866 
164,984 
158,938 
45,000 
3,304 

$ 4,914,093 
2,285,000 
3,247,701 
1,440,758 
2,011,538 
941,904 
673,641 
401,000 
227,055 
60,000 
9,473 

$6,135,005 $16,212,163 

This operation will facilitate the privatization of 
Argentina's three national electric power companies, 
defining the terms under which the private sector may 
participate in the sector. The fast-disbursing loan will 
address the restructuring of the companies and, by re
vamping arrangements for the generation, transmission 
and distribution of power, will simultaneously contrib
ute to the reduction of the country's public-sector defi
cit. In addition to the reorganization of the companies, 
the restructuring will entail an adjustment of rate struc
tures and a re-allocation of their revenues according to 
regional demand. Bank financing is intended to support 
the privatization of the electric power sector and the 
implementation of a new regulatory framework adopted 
by the federal Electric Energy Secretariat. 
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THE BAHAMAS 

The Government of The Bahamas and the Bank 
agreed that, in spite of the recent slackening in the pace 
of growth of the tourism sector, there was little alter
native to this sector as the engine of growth of the 
Bahamian economy. As a result, the Bank's program fo
cuses on increasing the competitiveness of tourism, en
couraging diversification of tourism opportunities 
throughout the islands, and encouraging the develop
ment of a national environmental policy to protect the 
natural resource base that is so vital to the sustainabil-
ity of growth in the country. The Bank has made 6 
loans totaling $176 million to the Bahamas. Cumula
tive disbursements total $111 million. In 1992, the 
Bank approved two loans, one Small Project financing, 
and one major technical cooperation. 

LOANS 

Multisector Credit Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

one loan for $14 million from the OC, 
and a second, for $7 million, from the 
same source, with a portion of the interest 
on the former to be paid by the IFF 

Bahamas Development Bank (BDB) 

These loans will be used to establish a credit facility to 
be drawn upon by the Bahamian private sector. The fi
nancing features a variety of technical assistance com
ponents at the level of the executing agency, financial 
intermediaries, and borrowers. Project lending will be 
carried out by the Bahamas Development Bank (BDB), 
working both independently as a source of funds for 
private domestic borrowers, and in concert with the 
country's Central Bank as a source of capital for quali
fying financial intermediaries, private commercial 
banks, and second-tier financings in the productive sec
tors. The Central Bank will administer periodic auctions 
as a means of allocating funds to these intermediaries. 

The financing has two main objectives: the devel
opment of reliable capital markets for long-term lend
ing through the Bahamian private sector and the gen
eration of a series of new project initiatives by the 
country's small and medium-sized businesses. The pro

gram includes a technical assistance component provid
ing for the training of both intermediaries and the end-
users of funds in various aspects of entrepreneurship— 
marketing, financial planning, and the administration 
of joint ventures, among others. Among the unique as
pects of the TC is the creation of a fund whose resources 
would enable the BDB and intermediary lenders to im
prove their capacity to conduct environmental assess
ments and to underwrite the cost of a study leading to 
the formation of a private-sector Bahamian venture 
capital firm, to serve in turn as a source of equity in
vestment for future development projects. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

120 

80 

40 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

I Lending ^™ Disbursements 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for the Hopedale Foundation 

This financing for $400,000 from the Swedish Trust 
Fund for the Financing of Small Projects, supplemented 
by a technical cooperation for the equivalent of 
$220,000 from the same source, will assist this non
profit organization in its mission of aiding the handi
capped through education, technical training and job 
creation. The funding will be used to develop a profes
sional skills curriculum at the Hopedale Centre facility; 
to upgrade the physical plant and institutional resources 
of the Foundation; and to set up a small revolving credit 
fund for already-trained members of the physically chal
lenged community to improve their prospects for em
ployment. In all, an estimated 260 disabled persons will 
benefit from the program during a three-year period of 
operation. 

LOANS AND TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

45 



CLIFTON PIER, BAHAMAS. Local and inter
national contractors discuss plans for the 
expansion of two thermal generation plants 
and construction of a new 5.3 MW Diesel 
Power Station. The new facility, to be 
complemented by transmission lines and 
substations, is being financed by a $109 
million Bank loan approved in 1988. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Master Road Plan for New Providence 

This nonreimbursable T C for the equivalent of 
$650,000 from the Canadian Fund for the Preparation 
of Development Projects will finance feasibility studies 
for high-priority investment projects and sectoral ini
tiatives to be undertaken in conjunction with a ten-year 
master road and traffic plan for Nassau and the rest of 
New Providence Island. Topics to be studied will in
clude alternatives for improving rush-hour traffic in and 
around Nassau, the design of an investment program 
for road construction, and a thorough assessment of the 
shortcomings of the present primary and secondary road 
system throughout the island. Projects will be examined, 
in particular, for their potential impact on tourism and 
related activities, which serve as the area's principal 
sources of income. 

D I S T R I B U T I O N O F L O A N S 1 9 7 7 - 1 9 9 2 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Industry and Mining 
Other 

Total 

$142,773 
8,184 
2,046 

22,536 

$175,539 

$227,136 
11,365 
3,330 

32,51)0 

$274,331 
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BARBADOS 

The primary focus of the Bank's activities in Barbados 
in 1992 was assisting in the design of adjustment mea
sures to restore growth and improve the export com
petitiveness of the leading sectors of the economy. The 
Bank and the Government also accorded a high prior
ity to the social sectors and to the strengthening of the 
institutional capabilities of public agencies to enhance 
policy design and execution, as well as overall govern
ment administration. Because deterioration in the 
country's fragile ecosystem, both marine and land, 
threatens the foundation of the tourism and agriculture 
sectors, programs to protect these systems and to im
prove natural resource management were also approved. 
The Bank has made 31 loans totaling $223 million to 
Barbados. Cumulative disbursements total $143 mil
lion. In 1992, the Bank approved four loans and one 
major technical cooperation. 

LOANS 

South Coast Sewerage Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

two loans, one for $28 million from the 
OC, and a second for $23.2 million, from 
the same source, with partial payment of 
interest charges on the former to be paid 
by the IFF, and with cofinancing of $11 
million from the European Investment 
Bank 

Ministry of Health 

The primary objective of this project is to improve the 
waters off the south coast of the country by preventing 
further deterioration of nearby reefs, beaches and ma
rine life. The loan will also assist Barbados' important 
tourism industry and will improve the sanitary condi
tions affecting thousands of local residents in the capi
tal, Bridgetown, and its environs. The project will also 
contribute to improving the operation and maintenance 
of the existing Bridgetown sewage system and will 
strengthen the financial and administrative capacity of 
the Barbados Water Authority (BWA). 

Specific works include the construction of a sew
erage collection system, the building of a sewage treat

ment plant and main pumping station, and in-house 
connections for properties throughout the project area. 
The program will be supplemented by the implementa
tion of a plan to provide operating assistance for the 
wastewater treatment facility for two years after its ini
tial construction and the maintenance of a system for 
monitoring water quality throughout the south coast 
region for ten years following the completion of the 
physical works. The program has been designed to mini
mize wherever possible the erosion and accretion that 
have been degrading the country's coastline in recent 
years. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

80 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

Lending Disbursements 

Primary Education Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$11.6 million from the OC, with partial 
payment of interest costs to be borne by 
the IFF 

Ministry of Education 

This project seeks to improve the basic content of pri
mary education across-the-board, thus preparing the 
way for a better-trained and more literate work force. 
One significant dimension of the operation will focus 
on improving the work of the Ministry of Education, 
which finances a system of free and mandatory public 
education for students to the age of sixteen. Institu
tional strengthening of the agency will focus on assess
ment of student achievement, curriculum development, 
and the acquisition of an improved management infor
mation system. 

As part of the program, the Ministry will combine 
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eight of the present 86 public primary schools into four 
new ones, each better equipped and financed than its 
predecessors, improving the quality of the education for 
over 1,800 beneficiaries. Bank funds will also be used 
for the purchase of approximately 114,000 textbooks 
and other instructional materials (including 200 refer
ence manuals) to assist classroom teachers. In each phase 
of the operation, emphasis will be placed on improving 
the benefit-per-pupil for public expenses in the primary 
education sector. The four new schools to be con
structed with funds lent by the Bank (two of them to 
be located in the northern part of the country and one 
each in the east and south) will serve as models for 
schools to be built in the future, based on criteria such 
as cost-effectiveness in budgetary and social terms. 

Multisectoral Preinvestment Program 

nnancing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$7 million from the OC, with partial 
payment of interest on the loan from the 
IFF 

Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs 

The purpose of this loan is to strengthen investment 
programming and project management in the Barba
dian public sector. Preinvestment studies to be con
ducted by the executing agency will concentrate on ini
tiatives identified by the country's public sector 
investment program (PSIP), which includes the 
government's five-year planning effort for capital spend
ing in economic and social activities not undertaken by 
the private sector—including the building of roads, port 
facilities, schools and hospitals. 

The financing will lead to the preparation of three 
specific preinvestment studies and two general studies 
on a sector-wide basis (water resources management and 
water distribution systems), as well as institutional 
strengthening for the Ministry of Finance and Eco
nomic Affairs and its Public Investment Unit (PIU). In 
recognition of the importance of the PIU as the office 
charged with assessing the financial and budgetary im
plications of putting the nation's development pro
gram into practice—and as the point of contact for ex
ternal loans and grants—its personnel will receive 
training in project appraisal and in the use of various 
automated techniques for project tracking and evalua
tion. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Preparation of a National Transport Plan 

This nonreimbursable financing of $610,500 from the 
FSO will enable the country's Ministry of Public 
Works, Communications and Transportation to design 
an updated National Transport Plan for the strategic 
development of roads, public transportation, the airport 
and port facilities. Barbados has an extensive network 
of nationally constructed and maintained roadways; its 
port and airport, located in and near the capital of 
Bridgetown, respectively, are of vital importance to the 
nation's economy given its reliance on tourism and ex
ternal trade. The issue of cost recovery of subsidies pro
vided to the state-owned bus fleet will also be studied as 
part of the plan. Policies in each of the subsectors will 
be studied by consultants so as to be coordinated within 
the context of a comprehensive plan. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1969-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Environmental and Public Health 
Education, Science and Technology 
Transportation and Communications 
Export Financing 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Preinvestment 
Tourism 
Industry and Mining 

Total 

$78,091 
47,549 
36,280 
17,896 
16,836 
11,710 
7,847 
6,307 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

5117,737 
86,262 
69,697 
25,566 
26,975 
17,300 
14,813 
12,613 

$222,516 $370,963 
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BELIZE BOLIVIA 

Belize joined the Bank in 1992. The Bank and Belize 
are developing a lending strategy that will focus on the 
physical and social infrastructure sectors. 

With a population of 190,000 and an area of 
23,000 km2, Belize is one of the most sparsely popu
lated countries in the world. This favorable land/popu
lation ratio has spared Belize from the ecological and 
social problems of other countries of the region, and 
largely accounts for the fact that much of the land that 
is usable for agricultural production has remained un
der natural vegetation. The relatively undisturbed state 
of the natural environment has paid direct dividends in 
the form of tourists visiting Belize's jungles, Mayan ru
ins, and coastal and recreational resources. This has cre
ated a strong constituency for maintaining an appropri
ate balance between activities which threaten to alter the 
natural landscape and those that benefit from its pres
ervation. 

Thanks to the boom in exports and earnings from 
tourism, Belize was able to emerge from a balance of 
payments crisis that had arisen in the 1980s chiefly be
cause of the collapse of sugar prices. Growth in GDP 
since 1987 has exceeded 6 percent per annum, with a 
four-year average (1987-1990) of 11 percent. 

Agriculture, forestry and fishing generate the larg
est percentage of GDP in terms of sectoral origin. Not 
surprisingly, the Government has afforded agro-indus
try for export the highest priority in its overall develop
ment strategy, taking into account the need for greater 
domestic food production and the sustainable develop
ment of natural resources. While economic infrastruc
ture continues to command a strong allocation of re
sources over the next several years in terms of the 
sectoral distribution of ongoing and new development 
projects undertaken by the government, social services 
will receive the highest percentage of public investment 
in 1993 and 1994. 

According to the Government Development Plan, 
the bulk of expenditure under the heading of economic 
infrastructure will be directed toward the transportation 
sector, and in particular, the rehabilitation of highways, 
rural roads and bridges in the southern portion of the 
country. Under Social Services, primary education and 
health care delivery are key areas of government activ
ity, especially given recent drops in their once-favorable 
indicators. 

The Government of Bolivia and the Bank agreed that 
the Bank would continue to be a critical source of sup
port for ongoing efforts to diversify and improve the ef
ficiency of the country's productive capacity, improve 
its social conditions, and strengthen the implementation 
and policy formulation capacity of the public sector. In 
order to insure the continuity and sustainability of this 
role, efforts to improve the export capacity of the coun
try, to actively seek cofinancing from concessional 
sources, and to maintain a close dialogue on external 
debt management policy need to be continued. The 
Bank has made 104 loans totaling $1,948 million to Bo
livia. Cumulative disbursements total $1,428 million. 
In 1992, the Bank approved six loans, one Small Project 
financing, and two major nonreimbursable technical 
cooperations. 

LOANS 

Road Construction along the 
Beni-La Paz-Peruvian Border Corridor 

Financing: two loans, of $55 million from the OC 
and $40 million from the FSO, with 
cofinancing of $40 million from the 
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau (German 
foreign assistance agency), $25 million 
from the Andean Development Corpora
tion, and $20 million from the U. S. 
Agency for International Development 

Executing 
Agency: National Highway Administrat ion 

(Servido Nacional de Caminos, SNC) 

These loans will finance approximately half of an esti
mated $ 197 million road building program intended to 
integrate sections of the country's northeastern lowlands 
and Andean highlands with major commercial centers 
and with other trunk roads, in Peru, leading to Pacific 
coast ports and metropolitan areas. Construction along 
the corridor leading to the Peruvian border will stimu
late exports of non-traditional goods and will lower dis
tribution costs domestically for such commodities as 
meat, rice, soybeans, corn, bananas, coffee, cocoa and 
tropical fruits. 
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Financing for the public works components of the 
program will be dedicated to two distinct stretches of 
roadway: construction of a 49-km mountainous route 
from Cotapata to Santa Bárbara and improvements to 
a second section, of approximately 95 km, from Rio 
Seco to Desaguadero. In addition, truck weigh stations 
will be built, along with a customs facility at the bor
der. The program has been designed to devote particu
lar attention to the environmental aspects of construc
tion, including the designation of protected areas and 
actions to safeguard archaeological sites. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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I Lending — Disbursements 

Multisector Preinvestment Program 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$6.4 million from the FSO 

Ministry of Planning and Coordination 
(Ministerio de Planeamiento y Coordi
nación, MPC) 

This loan will support a series of general and specific 
preinvestment studies for Bolivia's public sector, em
phasizing projects which have been assigned priority by 
that country's authorities, specifically by its National 
Public Investment System and the Under Secretariat for 
Public Investment and International Cooperation. In 
keeping with the development strategy outlined above, 
preinvestment studies undertaken with the aid of Bank 
financing will be concentrated on efforts to improve the 
country's productive and social infrastructure, to ex
pand the agricultural sector and develop water re
sources, diversify and increase exports, provide basic ser
vices to all elements of the country's population and 

integrate depressed rural areas with the more modern 
urban population and consumer centers. Environmen
tal impact assessment studies will be done during project 
formulation. 

Already-identified specific studies include a pro
posed Santa Cruz subregión program in the energy sec
tor and an investigation of the feasibility of building lo
cal roads in Chuquisaca and north-central Potosí and 
export corridors from Riberalta to Guayaramerin and 
from Santa Cruz to Puerto Suárez. Proposed general 
studies include an outline for the Toro-Toro National 
Reserve, whose 16,000 hectares encompass archaeologi
cal and paleontological sites, wildlife and natural scenic 
attractions. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Microentrepreneurial Support in Santa Cruz, 
La Paz and El Alto 

Financings of $450,000 to FUNBODEM, the Boliv
ian Foundation for Women's Development (from the 
EC's Special Fund for Small Productive Projects) and 
$500,000 to PRO-CREDITO, the Pro-Credit Associa
tion (from the income of the Fund for Special Opera
tions), will be directed toward efforts to improve the 
living conditions of low-income microentrepre
neurs—men and women—in three major urban areas 
and their surroundings. Technical cooperation grants of 
$120,000 and $12,000 will provide administrative, fi
nancial and technical support for the agencies. 

FUNBODEM, founded in 1987 in Santa Cruz to 
serve the 49 percent of the informal sector in Bolivia 
who are women, will establish a revolving credit fund 
for loans to an estimated 450 women microentrepre
neurs, and will receive financing for training in the 
administration of that fund. The PRO-CREDITO pro
gram will be used to allow up to 700 microentre
preneurs and small family-run businesses in La Paz and 
El Alto to meet their needs for working capital and for 
basic tools and equipment. Technical cooperation for 
PRO-CREDITO will be used to complement addi
tional funding to be made available by the German 
agency GTZ, which helped to found the organization 
and which is currently helping it to plan for the open
ing of another seven branches. 
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TECHNICAL COOPERATION Land Management in the Amazon 

Restructuring of Customs Operations 

A TC loan for $1 million, drawn from the FSO, will 
lead to increased efficiency in the processing of claims 
arising from foreign trade, specifically in the area of col
lecting tariffs assessed on imported goods. As executor 
of the project, the country's Ministry of Finance and its 
General Customs Directorate (Ministerio de Finanzas 
and Dirección General de Aduanas, DGA) will contract 
out for the construction and administration of new cus
toms posts along Bolivia's commercial ports of entry and 
will prepare a simplified and more consistent system of 
regulations and procedures with respect to customs op
erations in general. Automated information systems will 
assist the Directorate's employees in applying Customs 
Code regulations affecting local brokers and importers. 
Bank funds will also help to train up to 125 inspectors 
and other technical personnel in agency procedures. In 
each of its aspects, the program has been designed so as 
to be congruent with initiatives ongoing within the 
framework of multilateral trading arrangements set forth 
in Andean Group agreements. 

Strengthening the National Public 
Investment System 

This TC loan of $2.5 million from the Fund for Spe
cial Operations is to be channeled through the Minis
try of Planning and Coordination, and will decentralize 
the operations of the National Public Investment Sys
tem (Sistema Nacional de Inversiones Públicas, SNIP) 
among various federal ministries and regional develop
ment corporations. The ministries and other executing 
agencies will receive training in the use of types of analy
sis formerly used exclusively at the centralized level of 
SNIP, particularly involving macroeconomic impact, 
budgeting, project evaluation and environmental assess
ment. One component of SNIP operations, in particu
lar, will be recast and expanded in light of the need to 
integrate it into the operations and portfolios of addi
tional users—the Computerized Investment Informa
tion System (Sistema Computarizado de Información, 
SISIN), which covers the entire project cycle for devel
opment initiatives. SISIN's database will be enhanced 
and upgraded both at the central, administrative level, 
where project monitoring will be emphasized, and re
gionally, where adaptation to distinctive requirements 
will be needed. 

The Ministry of Planning and Coordination, acting 
through the National Environmental Secretariat, will 
take the lead role in implementing a series of initiatives, 
chief among them a land management program concen
trated in the La Paz, Beni and Cochabamba depart
ments of the country, relying upon a $3.2 million 
nonreimbursable TC from the income of the FSO. Pi
lot projects in targeted areas will complement several 
IDB-financed investment programs, and will inaugurate 
a planning effort for the Bolivian Amazon region as a 
whole. Specific activities will include the definition of a 
land-use policy for the Bolivian Amazon; the identifica
tion of potential zoning patterns for portions of the re
gion; the design and implementation of a land manage
ment program agreeable to the parties involved; training 
of personnel to be assigned to the National Environ
mental Secretariat and the three Departmental Environ
mental Secretariats; and the identification of future in
vestment projects within the region. 

Public Sector Reform 

This reimbursable financing for $1.7 million from the 
FSO will help Bolivia's Ministry of Planning and Co
ordination to continue its redefinition of the role of the 
state in entrepreneurial activity. Among the initiatives 
are the negotiation of and/or follow-up on performance 
contracts {contratos de rendimiento) for 12 public com
panies, in such important sectors of the national 
economy as mining, energy, transportation and water 
and sewerage. A second principal activity will consist of 
coordinating the privatization of four mixed-economy 
firms. In the case of both reorganizations and 
privatizations, particular emphasis will be placed on the 
environmental aspects of the firm's operations. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Transportation and Communications 
Energy 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Industry and Mining 
Environmental and Public Health 
Planning and Reform 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 
Tourism 
Education, Science & Technology 
Urban Development 
Other 
Total 

$ 570,814 
503,615 
239,922 
182,475 
157,999 
143,930 
29,478 
20,440 
18,197 
11,928 
11,428 
57,768 

I 999,792 
839,208 
365,450 
381,523 
221,068 
225,855 

42,112 
31,604 
28,354 
23,533 
19,164 

103,540 

$1,947,994 $3,281,203 
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BRAZIL 

In order to maximize the impact of its lending, the Bank 
and Brazil agreed to focus on three areas in 1992: (i) 
environmental development, with emphasis on sus
tainable watershed management, (ii) basic sanitation 
and drainage in large cities, and (iii) programs to reha
bilitate and maintain transport corridors. The Bank also 
carried out a preliminary assessment of the scope for a 
fast-disbursing loan to support Brazil's recent debt and 
debt-service reduction efforts with commercial banks. 
The Bank has made 214 loans totaling $8,725 million 
to Brazil. Cumulative disbursements total $6,606 mil
lion. In 1992, the Bank approved nine loans, one Small 
Project financing, and three major nonreimbursable 
technical cooperations. 

LOANS 

Decontamination of the Rio Tietê 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

one loan of $400 million from the OC and 
a second of $50 million from the FSO 

State of São Paulo Basic Sanitation Com
pany (Companhia de Saneamento Básico 
do Estado de São Paulo, SABESP) 

These loans, comprising the largest single operation in 
the Bank's history, will initiate the long-term cleaning-
up of the Rio Tietê, which flows through the São Paulo 
metropolitan area. Bank funds will be applied in this 
first phase of a multi-stage program for a variety of ac
tivities, among them the construction of 1,500 km of 
new sewer lines and hook-ups to 248,000 previously 
unserved households; construction of pumping stations, 
treatment plants and landfill areas; and the conduct of 
specific cost studies on revised industrial tariff sched
ules for SABESP, the public state sanitation utility, on 
the appropriate scope and budgets for follow-on phases 
of the entire decontamination effort; and a survey of al
ternative uses for the water resources in the Upper Tietê 
watershed. A relatively small but important component 
of the program will provide training and support in the 
form of institutional strengthening for the State of São 
Paulo's environmental protection agency, CETESB, 
which is charged with regulating the activities of 1,250 

firms in the area that are responsible for the production 
of 90 percent of the industrial waste discharged into the 
river. 

The eventual aim of this program is to provide 
better quality water to the residents of the entire metro
politan area; the new sewer connections will immedi
ately benefit 1.5 million residents, the large majority of 
them with low incomes. In geographic terms, the reach 
of the Rio Tietê is extensive, running through 97 km of 
the metropolitan area and affecting the daily lives of 20 
million people who live along the banks of one of its 
five major tributaries. Because of the scope of the prob
lems involved and the inherent complexity of undertak
ing civil works in a region so densely industrialized and 
inhabited, initial operations will focus on the collection 
and treatment of wastewater, both domestic and indus
trial, with concentration on the broader watershed fol
lowing in future stages. 

Basic Sanitation Infrastructure in Fortaleza 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

two loans—one of $159.3 million from 
the OC and a second, for the equivalent 
of up to $39.9 million, from the FSO 

Secretariat of Urban Development and 
Environmental Protection (Secretaria de 
Desenvolvimento Urbano e Meio Ambien
te, S DU) 

These two loans are aimed at improving the sanitary 
conditions of densely populated neighborhoods in this 
city of 2.3 million inhabitants in the northeastern state 
of Ceará. The public works program to be undertaken 
includes the construction of a network of new sewers, 
lateral hookups and pumping stations, along with re
pairs to existing facilities for pretreatment and disposal; 
of drains for the collection of surface water and for chan
neling the overflow from streams and small rivers sub
ject to seasonal flooding; and of landfills, transfer/recy
cling stations, an incinerator for hospital waste, and a 
system for the collection and disposal of solid waste. A 
fourth component of the project will address issues such 
as the installation of metering devices for water supply, 
industrial pollution control, public awareness campaigns 
regarding the environment, resettlement of 2,900 fami
lies from river banks to adequate housing, and the 
strengthening of state and municipal entities responsible 
for the administration of water and sewerage services 
and environmental control programs. 
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Beneficiaries are located in seven municipalities 
within metropolitan Fortaleza. The majority of them are 
low-income families who will gain access to basic sani
tation systems for the first time. Besides providing a 
measure of flood control—and with it, improved de
fense against contamination and water-borne diseases— 
urban residents will benefit from the clean-up of nearby 
beaches and the establishment of parks and recreation 
areas. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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Lending Disbursements 

Corridor Roads in Santa Catarina 

Financing: $102.5 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Department of Highways (Departamento 

de Estradas de Rodagem, DER/SC) 

By reducing the costs associated with transportation 
throughout the southern state of Santa Catarina, this 
financing will stimulate an increase in the level of local 
and regional economic activity. Approximately 640 km 
(out of a total program of 1,350 km) of corridor high
ways and their main access roads will be improved and 
paved as a result of the loan. 

One of the obstacles to economic expansion in 
Santa Catarina, as elsewhere in Brazil and throughout 
the region, has been the relative inaccessibility of rural 
producers to market centers and the risk aversion on the 
part of those producers when faced with delays, bottle
necks and transport-related expenses that drive up the 
relative cost of their goods and drive down their com
petitiveness in domestic and international markets. In 
undertaking a variety of upgrading, rehabilitation and 

maintenance activities and increasing safety and reliabil
ity, the program will bring key roads up to standards 
accommodating increasing volumes of traffic. Civil 
works to be carried out will adhere to a series of envi
ronmental protection safeguards agreed upon by the ex
ecuting agency and required of all contractors. 

Corridor Roads in Paraná 

Financing: 
Executin 
Agency: 

g: $86.8 million from the OC 

Department of Highways (Departamento 
de Estradas de Rodagem, DER/PR) 

This program in the state of Paraná will consist of a se
ries of public works initiatives—the repair of some 
1,300 km of state roads that are overdue for upgrading, 
the resealing of 1,000 additional km of paved roads, and 
the establishment within the Paraná office of the High
way Department of a Pavement Administration System 
to assure proper use of budgetary resources for road 
maintenance. An additional component will help the 
local highway police to improve their operations in traf
fic control, assistance in the event of accidents, and 
highway safety. 

Parana's highway system, which constitutes just 
over 12,000 km out of a total of paved and non-paved 
roads of approximately 140,000 km throughout the 
state, includes important links connecting agricultural 
areas to the port of Paranaguá, the country's largest for 
cereal grain exports, and major trunk roads to São 
Paulo, Rio de Janeiro, the state capital of Curitiba, and 
Uruguay and Argentina. The state highways have been 
selected for their immediate impact on the costs and 
competitiveness of the products from the primary, in
dustrial and services sectors in Brazil's center-south re-

Modernization of Agricultural Technology in the 
Center-South Region (PROMOAGRO) 

Hinancing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

One loan of $67.5 million from the OC 
and a second, of $12.5 million, from the 
FSO 

Brazilian Agricultural Research Corpora
tion (Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa 
Agropecuaria, EMBRAPA) 

Together, these loans will finance the execution of a 
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broad-based, multi-crop research program, designed to 
lead to sustainable agricultural production systems. The 
four major components of the project are a) research in 
specialized technologies involving "instrumenta-
lization," information systems, and biotechnology; b) 
applied and specific second-generation research in the 
areas of soil conservation, plant protection, irrigation, 
agroclimatology and seed technology, among others; c) 
commercialization and transfer of technology; and d) 
institutional development for EMBRAPA. 

Brazil's Center-South region, where most of the 
activities financed by the loans will be focused, com
prises nearly two-fifths of the country's land area and is 
home to two-thirds (93 million inhabitants) of its popu
lation—it produces approximately three-quarters of the 
agricultural products consumed in Brazil and a similar 
proportion of its agricultural exports. As a new, com
prehensive research program, PROMOAGRO is de
signed to combine increased productivity with the de
velopment of new technologies and new plant varieties 
that are environmentally sound and sustainable. The 
loan's specialized technology component will provide 
EMBRAPA with expertise in biotechnology for the cre
ation of new and better products; modern computer 
equipment to increase efficiency; and laboratory and 
field instruments to generate advanced technologies. 
The second-generation technology component will help 
sustain yields achieved through earlier research by fo
cusing on natural resources, the environment, and on 
production-related problems. 

Support Program for the National Environmental 
Fund (Fundo Nacional do Meio Ambiente, FNMA) 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$22 million from the FSO 

Coordinating Office of the Environment, 
Secretariat of the Office of the President 
of the Republic (SEMAM/PR) 

A first-of-its-kind operation, this loan will promote the 
conservation and sustainable use of natural resources 
and improve environmental quality in Brazil by passing 
along funds for the execution of specific projects by lo
cal nongovernmental and grass-roots organizations, 
municipalities and universities. The financing will 
complement previous IDB operations, including the 
Environment and Indigenous Communities Program 
(PMACI) and a sanitation sector project in Belém. 

Unlike previous IDB investment loans in behalf 
of environmental projects in Brazil, this financing will 
emphasize smaller-scale operations under the headings 
of sustainable management of natural resources, inno
vative environmental control, and the application of 
technologies appropriate to local cultures and needs. 
Project selection will also be in keeping with guidelines 
established and maintained by Brazil's National Envi
ronmental Fund (FNMA), which emphasize high-pri
ority, rapidly-disbursed funding in areas such as sustain
able resource management, ecosystem protection, 
protection of endangered species, environmental edu
cation, and institutional strengthening. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Small Farming and Fishing 
Communities 

Two reimbursable operations, each for the equivalent 
of up to $500,000 from the income of the Fund for Spe
cial Operations, and two nonreimbursable technical co
operation financings, each for the equivalent of 
$140,000 from the same source, will be channeled 
through two non-profit, intermediary institutions, the 
Museum of American Man Foundation (FUMDHAM) 
in the state of Piauí and the Artisenal Fishing Commu
nities Development Foundation (FUNDIPESCA) in 
the state of Bahía. In the case of FUMDHAM, IDB fi
nancing will assist 250 low-income families living on the 
edge of the Serra de Capivara National Park to estab
lish three beekeeping businesses, producing serum, pol
len and honey for domestic markets. In Bahía, 
FUNDIPESCA will help a similar number of families 
to start up and run five community-based businesses, 
combining traditional crops, fish farming and the rais
ing of swine. In each project, the nonreimbursable funds 
will be reserved for institutional strengthening of the 
intermediary agencies. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Support for Extractive Reserves 

This $1 million, nonreimbursable financing from the 
Social Progress Trust Fund will establish a pilot program 
to promote sustainable development in each of four "re-
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source-development" reserves in the state of Acre. The 
state government will channel funds through the 
Technology Foundation (Fundação de Tecnologia, 
FUNTAC), which will administer the program together 
with the Center for Workers of Amazonia (Centro de 
Trabalhadores da Amazonia, CTA), and the National 
Rubber-Tappers Council (Conselho Nacional de Seren-
gueiros, CNS). The program is designed to improve the 
management of natural resources in the areas of envi
ronmental protection, health, education, diversification 
of subsistence farming techniques and production, and 
community organization. An estimated 440 low-in
come families will benefit from the operations, the ma
jority of them involved, as settlers in these areas have 
often been, in rubber extraction and the harvesting of 
Brazil nuts. The program will also contribute to im
provements in the environmental quality of the sur
rounding area by following up on a federal program of 
land surveying and the control of forest-burning. 

Educational and Social Development 
in Porto Alegre 

This TC grant of $550,000 from the Social Progress 
Trust Fund will enable the Father Landell de Moura 
Educational and Cultural Foundation (Fundação 
Educativa e Cultural Padre Landell de Moura, FEPLAM) 
to offer opportunities to low-income adolescents and 
adults in the city of Porto Alegre and its surrounding 
area to complete their basic education and to obtain job 
skills training. FEPLAM's programs will concentrate on 
three fundamental areas, depending upon the nature of 
the needs of particular segments of the beneficiary popu
lation: basic education, including literacy training and 
instruction for parents with children at either the pre
school, primary or secondary level; civics courses, in
volving instruction in cultural and community affairs, 
as well as environmental awareness; and vocational-tech
nical training in areas such as automotive and electric 
appliance repair. In aiming its programs at the low-in
come population, the Foundation hopes to lower drop
out rates and to broaden accessibility to secondary edu
cation for up to 80,000 inhabitants in a metropolitan 
area of 2.5 million. Bank funds will be directed in par
ticular toward the purchase of instructional supplies and 
equipment (books, videotapes) and the hiring of con
sultants to help with the administration of the overall 
program. 

Expansion and Consolidation of the Instituto 
Materno-Infantil de Pernambuco 

Nonreimbursable funding equivalent to $1,150,000 
from the Social Progress Trust Fund will be devoted to 
efforts to improve the health of mothers and their chil
dren in the northeastern city of Recife and its environs. 
The project is specifically intended to expand the deliv
ery of primary care to expectant mothers, women in 
childbirth and to children under the age of twelve, with 
emphasis on at-risk elements of the population in five 
slum areas. A series of numerical goals has been estab
lished to gauge the effectiveness of the funding; outpa
tient care in obstetrics, gynecology and pediatrics should 
increase by 20 percent over the next two years, consul
tations and home visits under the Institutos Primary 
Health Care Program should double over the same pe
riod, and the number of patients given dental care 
should increase by 150 percent, again in the first 24 
months of funding availability. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Transportation and Communications 
Industry and Mining 
Environmental and Public Health 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Education, Science and Technology 
Urban Development 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 

Total 

$1,887,441 
1,615,614 
1,507,689 
1,429,318 

954,002 
500,701 
487,232 
266,477 

76,103 

$12,426,241 
4,066,505 

15,780,030 
3,186,832 
2,124,042 
1,171,469 

881,619 
380,683 
150,377 

$8,724,577 $40,167,798 
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CHILE 

The Government of Chile and the Bank agreed that the 
Bank would concentrate on the following areas: con
tinued support for consolidating private sector activi
ties and aid in efforts to reduce poverty by both im
proving the productive capacity of low-income groups 
and by increasing the efficiency of social service deliv
ery systems. The Bank has made 111 loans totaling 
$4,341 million to Chile. Cumulative disbursements to
tal $3,530 million. In 1992, the Bank approved four 
loans and one Small Project financing. 

LOANS 

seeks to build upon levels of economic productivity in 
Chile that are relatively high in the context of Latin 
America and the Caribbean. Sample activities to be fi
nanced by each of the funds include the equipping and 
upgrading of university laboratories by FONDEF; high-
level research in science and engineering fields by 
FONDECYT; and the raising of adequate capital for 
technology infrastructure investment projects, including 
training for private sector researchers and the genera
tion and adaptation of technology suitable for further 
enhancing the productivity of the private sector by 
FONTEC. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

800 

Science and Technology Program 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$94 million from the OC 

Ministry of the Economy {Ministerio de 
Economía, Fomento y Reconstrucción) 

In this project, Bank resources will be channeled 
through three separate national development funds in 
an effort to bolster Chile's national science and tech
nology system. Each of the three facilities has been de
signed to operate with distinct methodologies and to 
serve separate needs and sectors. The National Science 
and Technology Development Fund (FONDECYT) 
will fund research on a project-by-project basis, regard
less of discipline. The Science and Technology Devel
opment Promotion Fund (FONDEF) will finance 
projects originating in the country's universities and in
stitutes of technology, thereby strengthening the capac
ity of the institutions involved to pursue goals associ
ated with previously established national development 
goals. A third facility, the National Technology and Pro
duction Development Fund (FONTEC), will focus ex
clusively on development projects conducted by the pri
vate sector, serving as a source of credit for various types 
of technology projects and as a source of loans for busi
nesses interested in setting up new research and devel
opment initiatives. 

In focusing on issues such as postgraduate train
ing in technology-related fields and the implications of 
the limited number of extant research and development 
facilities operating in the private sector, this program 

600 

400 

200 
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Lending Disbursements 

Basic Job Skills Training Program 

Financin 
Executin 
Agency: 

g: $40 million from the OC 

Ministry of Labor and Social Welfare 
(Ministerio de Trabajo) 

This loan will establish a four-year program to train 
nearly 90,000 young men and women who have had 
difficulties in entering Chile's work force, particularly 
"at risk" populations from low-income families and in
dividuals who may not have benefitted from adequate 
education. In responding directly to the needs of Chile's 
private sector demand for labor in specific fields, the 
operation is the first of its kind for the Bank. In keep
ing with the Chilean government's economic program, 
begun in 1990, and its strategy of improving the earn
ing capacity of the poor, this loan addresses the labor 
requirements of the country's productive sector in the 
context of a market-oriented economy—and does so 
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SANTIAGO, CHILE. Dust collection facility at the 
ELECMETAL steel foundry helps to reduce air pollu

tion. The firm, established in 1917, melts down 
scrap metal for the manufacture of 8,000 different 
parts employed in construction, mining and logging. 
ELECMETAL used funds provided in a 1985 loan to 
purchase equipment from the U. S., Brazil and 
Europe to improve productive efficiency and create 
new jobs. 

while attending to the social problems of Chile's lower

income population. 
The training program is to consist of four ele

ments, each aimed at a particular segment of the 
country's unemployed. One subprogram will seek to 
develop job skills by temporarily placing beneficiaries 
or interns in companies once they have completed a pre

paratory classroom course in a given occupation. Par

ticipating firms have most of the cost of their onthe

job training defrayed through direct allowances. A sec

ond initiative will combine academic instruction with 
apprenticeships in actual firms. The third category in

volves training for selfemployment, generally geared 
toward funding the establishment of a new micro

enterprise. The fourth is aimed expressly at younger, less 
well educated entrants to the labor force. 

Modernization of the Agricultural Sector 

Financing: $28.5 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Ministry of Agriculture (Ministerio de 

Agricultura) 

This operation consists of three separate but interrelated 
subprograms which in concert are aimed at bringing the 
country's agriculture and forestry sectors to a position 
where they may increase their contribution to Chile's 
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overall economic growth. The focus of the first compo
nent, modernization of the agroforestry sanitary protec
tion system, will be on establishing or improving ani
mal, crop and plant quarantine and border checkpoint 
systems and on strengthening laboratories and other fa
cilities and training and education services. The second 
area of concentration will be the enhancement of agri
cultural research and the capacity for technology trans
fer. The third subprogram will enable the executing 
agency's Research and Budget Division to set up and 
operate information systems accounting for varying geo
graphical needs and for the development and dissemi
nation of a variety of policies throughout the agricul
tural sector. 

With nearly 85 percent of its population inhabit
ing urban areas, there is a continual need for Chile's ru
ral-based agricultural sector to improve its productiv
ity—and to do so along the entire length of its 13 
administrative regions, stretching from the arid north 
to the Mediterranean-like center-south, which features 
considerable rainfall, forestry and a variety of livestock 
and food crops. IDB financing will be used to assist 
small farmers, who supply the bulk of their production 
to the domestic market, in identifying and adapting 
technology and increasing environmental awareness. A 
second imperative for the sector will be to continue to 
improve its export performance. The value of agricul
ture and forestry exports has nearly doubled over the 
past five years and constitutes more than 40 percent of 
the sector's earnings overall. Bank funds will finance ef
forts to improve the quality (through an enhanced sani
tary inspection system) and diversity (through applied 
research) of products tailored for foreign markets. 

Global Credit for Microenterprises 

microenterprises themselves, generally at the lower end 
of the socioeconomic scale and located in impoverished 
rural areas and marginal urban sectors, and at "techni
cal support units" established to assist the informal sec
tor. 

In making credit available at market rates, the loan 
will stimulate employment among disadvantaged seg
ments of the Chilean population, generating increased 
productivity and higher incomes in the informal sector 
at the same time. CORFO will rely on a variety of in
termediary institutions, including commercial banks, fi
nance and leasing companies, and nongovernmental or
ganizations, in processing and administering individual 
loans. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Marketing of Textile Products 

A loan of $500,000 from the income of the Fund for 
Special Operations, along with a technical cooperation 
grant of an additional $140,000, will allow an interme
diary organization, the Social Progress Corporation 
(Corporación de Promoción Social, CPS) in the province 
of Valdivia, to work toward the improvement of socio
economic conditions affecting that area's poor. The pri
mary beneficiaries of the program will be women, most 
of them from indigenous populations in both rural and 
urban areas. Bank funds will be used to organize, train 
and equip program participants in producing wool tex
tile products, and for the establishment of a facility to 
process raw materials and a showroom and central of
fices for the CPS. 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$12 million from OC 

Solidarity and Social Investment Fund 
(Fondo de Solidaridad e Inversión Social, 
FOSIS) 

This loan is intended to provide credit to small-scale 
producers and microenterprises. Credits for individual 
microentrepreneurs and firms will be provided through 
a second-tier institution, the Production Development 
Corporation, CORFO, in an effort to improve their 
profitability and enhance their prospects for self-suffi
ciency. A technical cooperation component made up of 
local counterpart funds will be directed both at the 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Energy 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Transportation and Communications 
Industry and Mining 
Urban Development 
Environmental and Public Health 
Education, Science and Technology 
Planning and Reform 
Tourism 
Preinvestment 
Export Financing 
Total 

$1,009,358 
742,156 
698,029 
650,392 
573,168 
290,625 
161,934 
149,565 
48,453 
12,991 
3,857 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$2,838,121 
1,460,133 
1,745,575 
1,263,845 

981,203 
529,474 
338,667 
150,008 
57,158 
26,514 

5,510 
$4,340,528 $9,396,208 
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COLOMBIA 

The Government of Colombia and the Bank agreed that 
the medium term perspective of the Bank would be sup

port for the process of economic transition that the 
country is currently undergoing—particularly in efforts 
to improve access to social services and provide eco

nomic opportunities for the lower income groups. In 
1992, the Bank continued its role as a major source of 
financing for the ongoing process of modernization, 
with special emphasis on improving the human and 
physical resource capabilities of the country. The Bank 
has made 146 loans totaling $5,149 million to Colom

bia. Cumulative disbursements total $3,952 million. In 
1992, the Bank approved five loans, one of them a ma

jor technical cooperation, and one Small Project financ

ing. 

LOANS 

Transportation Corridors Program 

Financing 

Executing 
Agency: 

$300 million from the O C , with 
cofinancing of $60 million from the 
Andean Development Corporation 

Ministry of Public Works and Transpor

tation (Ministerio de Obras Públicas y 
Transportes, MOPT) and the Colombian 
Railway Corporation (Empresa Colom

biana de Vías Férreas, FERROVIAS) 

This loan, composed of two separate subprograms for 
rail transportation and roadways, will help the Colom

bian government to modernize its economy and con

tribute to increasing competition and selfsufficiency by 
financing an extensive series of improvement and main

tenance projects throughout the principal stretches of 
the national road and rail systems. More immediately, 
each of the subprograms will contribute to decreasing 
the costs and risks associated with transportation 
throughout the country while improving the capacity 
of the executing agency to refine construction and plan

ning techniques. 
As part of the activities financed by the IDB loan 

in the road component of the operation, the Govern

ment of Colombia has identified 800 km of highways 

on the principal northsouth and eastwest trunk roads 
and 50 bridges as needing rehabilitation. Bank funds 
will cover the cost of paving 200 km of presently un

paved roads and periodic maintenance work on an ad

ditional 400 km. The rail component will finance the 
overhaul of 739 km of track presently in use. Loan re

sources will be applied to discrete projects across sectors 
and across different geographical regions throughout the 
fouryear life of the program. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

■ Lending — Disbursements 

Electric Sector Support Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$150 million from the O C , with 
cofinancing of $32.2 million from the 
ExportImport Bank of Japan 

Bogotá Energy Company (Empresa de 
Energía de Bogotá, EEB) and Interconexión 
Eléctrica S.A. (ISA) 

This loan will assist the Colombian government in the 
financial reform and reorganization of the electric sec

tor, help with the completion of projects to generate and 
transmit electricity, and underwrite the cost of new, 
highpriority transmission projects identified by EEB 
and ISA. In meeting these objectives, the financing will 
also seek to help provide additional income for the 
country's power companies. 

Priority will be assigned to the completion of the 
Guavio Hydroelectric Project, previously funded by the 
IDB, to a threepronged "supplementary transmission 
project," and to the program of new works. The Guavio 
Project, the total cost of which exceeds $2.4 billion, is 
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CARTAGENA, COLOMBIA. Work
ers at a plant owned by Biofilm 
adjust machinery during a trial run. 
The firm makes polypropylene 
plastic film used in packaging and 
expects to produce 4,655 metric 
tons of the product by 1995, 40 
percent for the domestic market 
and 60 percent for export. 

managed by EEB and is located on the eastern slope of 
the eastern range of the Andes approximately 70 km east 
of the capital. The program will also provide for the de
velopment and implementation of comprehensive en
vironmental impact mitigation plans. The sectoral re
organization program will emphasize initiatives designed 
to provide a steady source of operating income for the 
power companies. It will also seek to improve the com
panies' cash flow by limiting future investments and 
capitalizing present debt liabilities. 

Credit for Regional and Municipal Development 

Financing: $40 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Regional Development Finance Corpora

tion (Financiera de Desarrollo Territorial, 
S.A., FINDETER) 

IDB financing will pave the way for the establishment 
of a rediscount facility, to be administered by 
FINDETER, the country's largest financier of invest
ment in municipal development projects. Qualifying 
intermediary financial institutions (IFIs) will make the 
rediscounted funds available to local entities for projects 
under a variety of sectoral headings, among them roads, 
local telephone service, bus terminals, and parks and rec

reation facilities. The beneficiaries will also be able to 
use FINDETER-provided funds for institutional 
strengthening, particularly in areas such as budget man
agement, tax collection, and project preparation. 

With nearly 70 percent of its population living in 
urban areas as of the beginning of the present decade, 
Colombia has undergone a significant shift in terms of 
needing to concentrate greater shares of budgetary re
sources on municipal infrastructure projects. Shortfalls 
in the delivery of services have been evident in such ar
eas as street paving, the lack of safe sources of drinking 
water and sewerage, and solid waste disposal. The re
sources to be authorized for on-lending by FINDETER 
will not only build upon the strengthened institutional 
capacity of that agency (see Technical Cooperation de
scription, below), but will also continue the Colombian 
government's strategic emphasis on decentralization, 
begun nearly a decade ago with Bank support. 

Health Services Improvement 

Financing: $40 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Ministry of Health (Ministerio de Salud) 

This loan will continue the restructuring of the public 
health sector, emphasizing the ongoing decentralization 
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of responsibility for the administration of facilities and 
the delivery of primary and secondary care. The pro
gram will also carry out preinvestment studies on the 
infrastructural needs of the Colombian health care sys
tem, the organization of a health insurance program, 
compilation of a health care map, and improvements to 
a health care referral system. 

In seeking to improve the efficiency with which 
scarce resources are allocated within the national health 
care system, the borrowing agency will reach a popula
tion of beneficiaries who are primarily in the low-in
come range. Notably, the program does not encompass 
lending for the actual construction of new hospitals or 
clinics. Instead, the emphasis is consistently placed on 
preinvestment and on a series of measures designed to 
implement the country's ambitious Public Law 10, en
acted in 1990, which undertook a comprehensive reor
ganization of the health care sector, and the new Con
stitution of 1991, which seeks to decentralize the 
administration and delivery of health care throughout 
the country. In the "official" subsector, providing care 
to those who, by virtue of their socioeconomic status, 
are not eligible for Social Security benefits and lack ac
cess to private clinics or hospitals, the project seeks to 
strengthen the activities of two important subagencies, 
the National Hospital Fund (Fondo Nacional Hos
pitalario) and the National Health Superintendency 
(Superintendencia Nacional de Salud), which serves as the 
technical and oversight authority for the entire national 
health care system. 

will be strengthened so as to be able to serve a greater 
number of women in the informal sector and to locate 
employment prospects for the homeless. Staff from each 
of the agencies will receive training in administrative 
and financial fields through the program's TC compo
nent. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Institutional Strengthening of FINDETER 

A reimbursable TC financing of $5 million from the 
FSO will enable the Government of Colombia to make 
a series of improvements in the organization and effec
tive operations of FINDETER (Financiera de Desarrollo 
Territorial), the country's principal national develop
ment financing entity. As a financial entity governed 
by national banking laws, FINDETER serves to chan
nel credit and specialized technical assistance into local 
government investment projects. The agency also assists 
municipalities and local utility companies with financ
ing in its own right. Bank resources are to be used for 
helping FINDETER to fulfill more effectively its role 
in evaluating projects in its pipeline and to provide ex
pertise to smaller and less capable municipalities in pre
paring loan applications, until such time as authorities 
at the decentralized level of departments or administra
tive regions have obtained the ability to advise them di
rectly. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Credit and Training for the Informal Sector 

Six loans, each for $500,000, from the income of the 
Fund for Special Operations, and five nonreimbursable 
technical cooperation financings totaling $370,000 will 
provide a source of job creation for low-income mi
croentrepreneurs in Colombia's growing informal sec
tor. IDB resources will be used to bolster 13 separate 
credit programs in cities throughout the country, four 
in the form of direct financing, five through the Asso
ciation of Solidarity Groups of Colombia (Asociación 
Grupos Solidarios de Colombia), and four through 
ACTUAR-Bogotá (Corporación Acción por Bogotá), 
ACTUAR-Tolima (located in the city of Ibaguéj, 
ACTUAR-Caldas fin ManizalesJ, and ACTUAR-
Quindio (In Armenia,). In each case, the intermediary 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Transportation and Communications 
Environmental and Public Health 
Planning and Reform 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Urban Development 
Industry and Mining 
Education, Science and Technology 
Preinvestment 
Tourism 

Total 

$2,135,759 $5,267,994 
601,340 2,496,955 
538,807 1,463,712 
515,145 819,117 
457,096 1,229,481 
376,256 759,835 
317,444 1,188,938 
153,461 324,906 
39,520 94,160 
14,000 22,000 

$5,148,828 $13,667,098 
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COSTA RICA 

It was agreed that the focus of Bank lending in 1992 
would be the strengthening of public sector decentrali

zation, the rationalization of public investment priori

ties and the channelling of resources to productive sec

tors—including microenterprises—through a newly 
modernized and more competitive financial sector. The 
Bank has made 83 loans totaling $1,565 million to 
Costa Rica. Cumulative disbursements total $1,036 mil

lion. In 1992, the Bank approved three loans and one 
major technical cooperation. 

LOANS 

Health Services Sector Program 

Financing 

Executing 
Agency: 

two loans from the OC, of $28 million 
and $14 million, with partial payment of 
the interest charges on the former by the 
IFF 

Costa Rican Social Security Fund (Caja 
Costarricense de Seguro Social, CCSS) and 
the Ministry of Health (Ministerio de 
Salud) 

As the means by which the Government of Costa Rica, 
operating through two federal agencies, will undertake 
a series of improvements in the country's public health 
sector, these two loans will focus on making the avail

ability and delivery of care more efficient and afford

able. The program will begin by making the Ministry 
of Health the lead agency responsible for the effective 
operation of the nation's health care system as a whole, 
empowering it to eliminate duplicative or wasteful pro

grams and institutions and to concentrate on expand

ing the coverage of primary care throughout the popu

lation. Ministry officials will also be charged with 
ensuring that lowincome beneficiaries are given prior

ity in the reorganization of any such programs. 
Specific initiatives to be financed by the IDB loans 

include the transfer of responsibility for the function

ing of all of the country's 89 health centers and 419 clin

ics to the Costa Rican Social Security Fund, complet

ing the integration of CCSS with the Ministry of Health 
that was begun in 1986. The program will also allow 

for the construction of a 365bed replacement hospital, 
newly equipped, at Alajuela, located northwest of San 
José. Construction of the new facility is expected to be 
completed by the end of 1996 and will respond to the 
unmet demand for care (based in part on the damaging 
1990 earthquakes and on a general increase in the local 
population). Loan resources will focus additionally on 
the need to place the finances of the CCSS on a better 
footing, beginning with the transfer of some of the debt 
obligations of each of its two component insurance pro

grams, covering illhealth and maternity on the one 
hand and longterm illness, old age and death on the 
other, to the federal government. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

■ Lending — Disbursements 

Credit for Microenterprise and Small Business 

Financing: $10 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Central Bank of Costa Rica (Banco Cen

tral de Costa Rica) 

In establishing greater access by small businesses and 
microenterprises to sources of credit, this program is in

tended to benefit lowincome population groups work

ing in the country's informal sector. The Central Bank 
will make credit available to small businesses and mi

croentrepreneurs for working capital and fixed assets 
through an array of intermediary financial institutions 
(IFIs), which will in turn obtain funds through a redis

count mechanism. Up to 80 loan officers in the IFIs will 
receive training in methods to improve the channeling 
of resources to groups, including women microentrepre

neurs, who historically have had little access to financ
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SAN JOSE, COSTA RICA. Swedish consult
ants confer with local experts on the instal
lation of updated computer equipment to 
be used in Costa Rica's new integrated 
taxation system. IDB technical cooperation 
financings in 1983 and 1988 facilitated the 
hiring of a team of 36 international pro
grammers, analysts and administrative 
personnel to help implement a series of 
comprehensive tax reforms. 

ing. The program will promote efficiency in the selec
tion of investment projects, highlighting energy conser
vation and the participation of women in the national 
economy, and will foster the development of environ
mental awareness among small businesses and microen
trepreneurs. 

Studies indicate that there are over 60,000 small 
businesses and microenterprises throughout the coun
try, and that 23 percent of Costa Rica's population de
pends upon the sector as its principal source of income. 
Traditionally, the assets of the family-based businesses 
that constitute the microenterprise sector consist of 
small-scale tools and equipment. Sales for the sector as 
a whole average no more than $500 per month. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Strengthening of the Conservation Areas 

Costa Rica and will help to pay for financial feasibility 
studies on topics such as the advisability of further pro
moting ecological tourism. An additional component of 
the financing would provide training for forest rangers, 
tour guides and leaders in communities situated in en
vironmentally sensitive areas. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Environmental and Public Health 
Transportation and Communications 
Education, Science and Technology 
Export Financing 
Industry and Mining 
Urban Development 
Preinvestment 
Tourism 
Total 

$ 630,903 
275,143 
160,052 
150,043 
102,734 
102,000 
89,608 
28,051 
16,137 
10,000 

51,097,011 
424,600 
245,637 
269,014 
185,258 
145,714 
133,953 
49,205 
27,039 
14,300 

$1,564,671 $2,591,731 

This nonreimbursable funding in the amount of 
$1,937,000, from the Japan Special Fund, will be ap
plied to assist the Ministry of Natural Resources, En
ergy and Mines (MIRENEM) in developing the eco
nomic self-sufficiency of conservation areas. Funds will 
be provided for institutional strengthening of the Of
fice of the Director of the National Park Service of 
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DOMINICAN 
REPUBLIC 

The Government of the Dominican Republic and the 
Bank assigned the highest priority to increasing the hard 
currency earnings of the country and efforts to reduce 
poverty and create employment. It was agreed that the 
Bank would support the Government 's macroeconomic 
program by helping design and implement the much-
needed reform of the financial sector. Investment lend
ing would focus on several critical areas, including the 
rehabilitation and modernization of the electric sector; 
the enhancement of agricultural infrastructure—espe
cially irrigation systems and rural roads; providing 
multisector credit loans designed to stimulate private 
sector production and productivity; and programs to 
improve the delivery of social services. The Bank has 
made 58 loans totaling $1,123 million to the Domini
can Republic. Cumulat ive disbursements total $867 
million. In 1992, the Bank approved one loan and two 
Small Project financings. 

LOAN 

Rural Road Maintenance and Repair 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$34.4 million from the FSO 

State Secretariat of Public Works and 
Communications (Secretaría de Estado de 
Obras Públicas y Comunicaciones, SEOPC) 

Following on an earlier Bank loan, this program will 
improve or repair the principal components of part of 
the country's rural road system. At the same time, a pro
gram designed to place planning and coordination of 
road maintenance on a more permanent footing within 
S E O P C will ensure that investments in the sector are 
carried out and prove lasting and more efficient. 

The public works aspects of the project will in
clude the repair of approximately 500 km of the largest 
of the Dominican Republic's rural roads, as well as spe
cific improvements along stretches of secondary and ac
cess roads (an additional 600 km of roadways) that are 
of particular importance to commercial traffic. Among 
the beneficiaries targeted in the project are agricultural 

producers in rural areas, whose products will reach ur
ban markets more rapidly and who stand to gain access 
to needed basic inputs more predictably and less expen
sively. The institutional strengthening of the Domini
can government's road transport sector will focus on ef
forts in two areas: design and supervision of the works 
identified for execution in the present project and cre
ation of a permanent system for the management of 
road maintenance. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

250 

200 

150 

100 
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Lending Disb ursements 

F I N A N C I N G F O R SMALL P R O J E C T S 

Support for Low-Income Urban 
Microentrepreneurs 

These two loans of $500,000, channeled through the 
D o m i n i c a n Ins t i tu t e for In tegra ted D e v e l o p m e n t 
(Instituto Dominicano de Desarrollo Integral, IDDI) and 
the Dominican Association for Women 's Development 
(Asociación Dominicana pa ra el Desarrollo de la Mujer, 
ADOPEM), will facilitate the delivery of credits and 
loans to low-income microentrepreneurs in the metro
politan areas of Santo Domingo, Santiago, La Vega, San 
Pedro de Macon's, San Cristóbal and Moca. The un
derlying purpose of both the loans and two accompa
nying TCs of $120,000 and $115,000 is to increase in
come levels and standards of living, creating new jobs, 
strengthening existing ones and furnishing beneficiaries 
basic information on environmental protection. Both 
I D D I and A D O P E M have been active in making small 
loans to family businesses and to the informal sector of 
the Dominican economy in general. Founded in 1984 
and 1982, respectively, each has focused on the most 
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disadvantaged sectors of the Dominican economy, seek
ing to build up businesses which in turn can supply in
puts to the larger, more formal business sector in Santo 
Domingo and the other five named urban areas. 

The loans each organization makes are typically 
small in scale, are disbursed quickly, and are often re
paid within one year. The informal sector has been 
growing rapidly in recent years. Among low-income sec
tors of the population in Santo Domingo and Santiago, 
for instance, one out of every four households operates 
a microenterprise. An estimated 2,100 microentrepre
neurs will benefit from the programs run by the two or
ganizations, two-thirds of them women, most of whom 
lack access to conventional sources of credit. Examples 
of specific trades and crafts in which the beneficiaries 
are engaged include dressmaking, ceramics and the sale 
of fresh fruits and vegetables. 

Support for Low-Income Farmers 

problems. In all the loans are aimed at assisting some 
9,900 low-income individuals. One segment of the tar
geted beneficiaries is made up of the 20 percent of the 
country's farm families headed by women. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Agriculture and Fisheries 
Energy 
Transportation and Communications 
Industry and Mining 
Education, Science and Technology 
Environmental and Public Health 
Tourism 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 
Urban Development 
Other 

Total 

$ 359,477 
267,552 
169,795 
85,571 
69,705 
53,080 
41,796 
11,967 
4,706 
3,479 

55,887 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$613 ,115 
365,184 
262,795 
120,198 
103,764 
79,155 
71,430 
17,096 
6,897 
6,375 

57,764 
$1,123,015 $1,703,773 

These five loans (four of $500,000 and one of 
$250,000) and corresponding nonreimbursable techni
cal cooperation operations from the income of the FSO 
will improve and expand the ability of intermediary 
agencies to generate employment for low-income farm
ers in central and eastern Cibao, the border region and 
the southern portion of the country. The recipient or
ganizations are the Community Development Founda
tion (Fundación para el Desarrollo Comunitario, Inc., 
FUDECO), the Enterprise Foundation for Develop
ment and Services (Fundación Empresarial para el 
Desarrollo y Servicios, FUNDESER), the San José de 
Ocoa Development Association, Inc. (Asociación para el 
Desarrollo de San José de Ocoa Inc., ADSJO), the Do
minican Development Foundation (Fundación 
Dominicana de Desarrollo, FDD), and Floresta, Inc. The 
financing is also intended to provide institutional 
strengthening for each of the intermediaries, enabling 
them to pass along increased credit, training in environ
mental protection and natural resource conservation and 
technical assistance to their client populations. 

Each of these operations is intended to address at 
least one of the various basic problems that beset the 
Dominican Republic's agricultural sector, among them 
the lack of farm infrastructure, absence of marketing 
knowhow and outlets, the fragmentation of land in ru
ral areas, chronic low productivity and lack of access to 
credit. Four out of five farms measure less than five hect
ares. Many such plots are located on the sides of moun
tains, where soil erosion and deforestation are perennial 
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ECUADOR Regional Development in Western Pichincha 

High priority was attached in 1992 to continuing 
support for policy reforms designed to reactivate the 
productive sectors and improve access to social services, 
especially for the marginally poor. The Bank has made 
114 loans totaling $2,577 million to Ecuador. Cumu
lative disbursements total $1,865 million. In 1992, the 
Bank approved two loans and one Small Project financ
ing. 

LOANS 

National Road Program 

Financin 
Executin 
Agency: 

g: $120 million from the OC 

Ministry of Public Works and Commu
nications (Ministerio de Obras Públicas y 
Comunicaciones, MOP) 

This loan will finance the cost of the executing agency's 
Multiyear Investment and Maintenance Program, effec
tive from 1993 through 1997. The operation includes 
both routine and periodic maintenance; a plan to es
tablish and operate six permanent and four mobile 
weigh scales; and training and studies at the MOP. 
Much of Ecuador's principal highway system has been 
built within the past 30 years—along the coast, in the 
high sierra, or in the eastern forested areas; estimates are 
that as much as 80 percent of the system is in either 
"bad" or "fair" condition, or has reached the limit of its 
usefulness. 

One important by-product of the operation will 
be the normalizing of budgetary procedures within the 
General Directorate of Public Works, a sub-unit of the 
executing ministry, allowing for the allocation of funds 
based on priorities (thus ensuring a better balance be
tween new construction and maintenance projects) and 
the assessment of the environmental impact of all 
planned works. The overall objective of the financing, 
as with similar programs in other countries, is to reduce 
transportation costs—and thus to reduce product costs 
where transportation constitutes a significant input in 
price formation—throughout the national economy. 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$73.8 million from the OC 

Provincial Council of Pichincha (Honor
able Consejo Provincial de Pichincha) 

This loan is designed to improve the standard of living 
of up to 130,000 residents of western Pichincha prov
ince, concentrating on increases in the profitability of 
economic activity, principally in agriculture, and on ef
forts to improve the delivery of basic social services to 
local populations. The financing includes important 
components focusing on linking the target area to the 
rest of the country, and to metropolitan Quito in par
ticular, through the integration of markets and the 
building of roads, and on environmental protection, 
chiefly in the form of efforts to combat deforestation 
and in resource conservation. 

Through four distinct components, the Provincial 
Council of Pichincha, as the project's executing agency, 
will subcontract for the execution of programs in the 
areas of production support in agriculture (including the 
raising of livestock); the building, repair and mainte
nance of roads; land registration and basic 
infrastructural consolidation (including the establish
ment of community centers, sanitation systems and ini
tiatives suited to the needs of indigenous peoples) of 
newly incorporated towns and communities; and a se
ries of land management and reforestation subprojects. 
A major aspect of each separate area of activity is com
munity participation, at both the provincial and the 
town level. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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GUAYAQUIL, ECUADOR. As part of an 
$80 million loan for an industrial recovery 
program approved in 1985, PIPSA, a manu
facturer of housewares and home appli
ances, received $1.4 million for the expan
sion of its facilities, purchase of new 
equipment and working capital. This plant, 
one of Ecuador's largest, produces 300 dif
ferent articles, many of them for export to 
other countries of the region. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for the Production and Marketing of 
Microproducers' Goods 

Three loans of $500,000 from the income of the FSO, 
and a fourth for the same amount from the Swiss Fund 
for Technical Cooperation and Small Projects, will as
sist microentrepreneurs in production and marketing 
aspects of their businesses. Together with four non
reimbursable technical cooperation fundings, the loans 
will be channeled through the following nongovern
mental organizations: the Fundación Ecuatoriana de 
Desarrollo (FED), the Corporación Feminina Ecuatoriana 
(CORFEC), the Fundación Vicente Rocafuerte (EVR) and 
the Instituto de Investigaciones Socio-Económicas y 
Tecnológicas (INSOTEC). Approximately 6,400 low-in
come microentrepreneurs, the majority of them women, 
will be aided through the financings. Resources will be 
used for the construction of production facilities and 
warehouses, as well as improvements in the means for 
marketing both raw materials and finished goods. The 

intended beneficiaries live in disadvantaged neighbor
hoods and are engaged in producing textiles, metal 
goods, food and beverages, and handicrafts, among 
other items. The operations also contain credit compo
nents designed to help microentrepreneurs in urban and 
rural areas who have encountered obstacles in obtain
ing seed money or operating capital from commercial 
banks and other conventional lenders. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries 
Energy 
Industry and Mining 
Transportation and Communications 
Environmental and Public Health 
Education, Science and Technology 
Urban Development 
Tourism 
Preinvestment 
Total 

$815,547 
502,308 
387,839 
338,189 
199,348 
167,535 
131,508 
18,311 
16,204 

$1,254,412 
1,623,193 
752,465 
716,476 
328,987 
213,628 
293,310 
25,278 
34,083 

$2,576,789 $5,241,832 
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EL SALVADOR 

There was mutual agreement by the Government of El 
Salvador and the Bank that the focus of Bank assistance 
and lending in 1992 would be on providing support 
for improving the private sector investment climate; so
cial and infrastructure rehabilitation; and recuperation 
of energy generation capacity. The Bank has made 68 
loans totaling $1,484 million to El Salvador. Cumula
tive disbursements total $966 million. In 1992, the 
Bank approved three loans. 

LOANS 

Electricity Sector Program 

Financing: $125.9 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Rio Lempa Hydroelectricry Commission 

(Comisión Ejecutiva Hidroeléctrica del Rio 
Lempa, CEI) 

This first part of a multi-phase program, designed as 
one segment in the country's National Reconstruction 
Plan, will begin the process of rehabilitating and ex
panding El Salvador's electricity sector, leading to an 
increase in the reliability and affordability of that source 
of energy for beneficiaries throughout the country. Spe
cific projects include the construction of a 33-MW 
combined-cycle steam unit; the repair of units #1 and 
#2 at Acajutla, on the southwest coast; a feasibility study 
for a geothermal facility in San Vicente; and bringing 
on-line a third wellhead for the geothermal field in 
Usulatan department, east of the capital city of San Sal
vador. The project will address all aspects of the sector, 
including the generation, transmission and distribution 
of electricity, as well as the organization, management 
and ownership of the distribution system per se. 

These investments will be complemented by ele
ments of institutional strengthening for the CEL, as ex
ecutor of the program. The IDB financing will also help 
with the replacement of the system operations center's 
outmoded computer equipment. Other concurrent-cost 
expenses entailed in the project include the fees for the 
engineering, design and drawing up of technical speci
fications for the follow-on phases of the program; the 
expansion of CEL's activities in the development of geo

thermal sources of energy; the preparation of planning 
studies and methodological improvements for CEL; and 
training and laboratory equipment for improved envi
ronmental impact assessment. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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Investment Sector Reform Program 

Financing 

Executing 
Agency: 

$90 million from the OC, with non
reimbursable cofinancing of $7 million 
from the Government of Switzerland 

Ministry of Planning (Ministerio de Pla
nificación) and the Central Reserve Bank 
(Banco Central de Reserva) 

Building upon the recent accomplishments of the Gov
ernment of El Salvador in liberalizing the regulatory 
climate governing both domestic and foreign private in
vestment and reintroducing stability to the national 
economy as a whole after a violent and disruptive civil 
conflict, this loan will secure a series of reform measures 
aimed at raising the international competitiveness of the 
country. Intended as a complement to the National Re
construction Plan, the operation is designed to stimu
late growth throughout the productive sectors and to 
finance urgent infrastructural and social sector spend
ing by reorganizing the country's financial system. 

A series of financial measures undertaken with the 
assistance of the program will include the continuation 
of efforts to remove bottlenecks from the banking sec
tor, the maintenance of sound monetary policy, and the 
shoring up of the regulatory framework for state-run de
velopment institutions and the contractual savings sec-
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tor. Specific objectives in terms of infrastructure include 
the development of a general plan for improving the 
nation's surface transportation network and a redesign 
of its telecommunications sector strategy. In the broad 
context of judicial and legislative reform, the loan will 
clear the way for a strengthening of El Salvador's sys
tem of intellectual property rights protection and the 
establishment of more streamlined and centralized 
procedures for the registration of foreign firms doing 
business in the country. 

Water and Sewerage Rehabilitation Program 

to the obvious positive impact of the project in terms of 
improved sanitary and health conditions, the financing 
will contribute to an improvement in the quality of life 
among the affected communities through the initiation 
of an environmental education campaign, to include an 
emphasis on techniques for conserving drinking water 
supplies and in developing small-scale systems for the 
disposal of solid waste. A separate technical assistance 
component of the project will focus on improving 
ANDA's budgeting and accounting procedures and the 
agency's supervisory capacity regarding the execution of 
public works projects. 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$19 million from the FSO 

National Water and Sewerage Adminis
tration (Administración Nacional de Acue
ductos y Alcantarillado, ANDA) 

As part of the National Plan for Reconstruction, the re
sources of this loan will be applied to improving and 
re-establishing the supply of potable water and sanitary 
sewerage systems for cities in the interior of the country 
over the next four years. In all, approximately 130 towns 
and cities (none with more than 30,000 inhabitants) are 
to be served, many in the form of multiple public-works 
projects. The loan will also serve to improve the finan
cial status of ANDA, the executing agency, by establish
ing a schedule for future tariff restructuring and by pro
viding the resources with which the utility may 
implement a revised financial plan covering all aspects 
of its operations. 

The beneficiaries of the loan will consist princi
pally of families returning to their former homes—or 
in the process of rebuilding their communities—in the 
wake of the armed conflict in the country. In addition 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Environmental and Public Health 
Ttansportation and Communications 
Planning and Reform 
Agricultute and Fisheries 
Industry and Mining 
Export Financing 
Urban Development 
Education, Science and Technology 
Preinvestment 

Total 

$ 334,273 
286,164 
221,031 
182,926 
174,340 
130,931 
79,823 
31,208 
25,149 
17,767 

$ 630,284 
414,536 
336,757 
211,700 
278,751 
144,593 
114,033 
59,255 
31,344 
24,980 

$1,483,612 $2,246,233 
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GUATEMALA 

The primary focus of the Bank's activities in Guatemala 
in 1992 was the pursuit of institutional reforms in the 
financial sector designed to improve the competitiveness 
and efficiency of the private sector in general, and the 
provision of credit designed to improve the productiv
ity of small enterprises in particular. As a complement 
to these broader goals, the Bank continued its support 
for programs that would remove the limitations im
posed by infrastructure bottlenecks and improve the 
coverage of social services at the local level. The Bank 
has made 68 loans totaling $1,162 million to Guate
mala. Cumulative disbursements total $980 million. In 
1992, the Bank approved two loans, one of which was 
accompanied by a major nonreimbursable technical co
operation. 

ters. In addition to their economic benefits, many of 
these projects will have a positive impact on health con
ditions in the communities they serve. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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LOANS 

Municipal Development Program—Phase II 

Financing: $40.5 million from the FSO 
Executing 
Agency: Institute for Urban Development (Instituto 

de Fomento Municipal, INFOM) 

Building upon the progress achieved through two ear
lier Bank loans that financed the first phase of this pro
gram, funds will be directed towards i) investments in 
physical infrastructure to improve the level of public ser
vices provided in medium-sized cities throughout Gua
temala; ii) institutional strengthening of participating 
municipalities and INFOM, the national organization 
formed in 1957 to promote municipal development in 
areas other than metropolitan Guatemala City; and iii) 
studies and designs of projects for additional stages of 
the program. 

Physical works and institutional strengthening will 
benefit the approximately one-third of Guatemala's 
population residing in the country's 330 municipal cen
ters, notably "intermediary" cities—among them Mo
rales, Chiquimula, Retalhuleu, Coatepeque, Salami, 
Antigua Guatemala, Tiquisate and Parramos. Bank 
funds will be used specifically to finance priority invest
ments in areas such as water supply, sewerage, street pav
ing, retail and terminal markets and community cen-

Microenterprise and Small Business 
Global Credit Program 

Financing 

Executing 
Agency: 

$10 million from the FSO and a non
reimbursable technical cooperation op
eration of $3 million ($2.4 million from 
the FSO and $600,000 from the Swiss 
Fund for Small Projects and Technical 
Cooperation) 

Bank of Guatemala (Banco de Guatemala) 

These resources will serve to improve the access to credit 
of small entrepreneurs throughout the country and will 
provide technical assistance to a variety of intermediary 
financial institutions, enabling them to provide instruc
tion in environmental protection and to make loans in 
the sector in accord with market-based rates and prin
ciples. Short- and medium-term credit (for periods from 
two months to four years) will be provided to eligible 
borrowers within the community of small businessmen 
and microentrepreneurs in Guatemala's urban areas. In
dividual subloans will be limited to no more than the 
equivalent of $5,000 in the case of microenterprises and 
$15,000 in the case of small businesses. 

Estimates are that the number of enterprises in 
both categories in Guatemala is as high as 150,000. The 
contribution in terms of employment is approximately 
500,000, amid a total labor force of 2.5 million. Because 
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GUATEMALA CITY, GUATEMALA. Taxpayer 
assistance being rendered at the Inter-American 
Center for Tax Administration (CIAT) in coordina
tion with the Ministry of Public Finance. Computer 
equipment acquired in part due to a technical coop
eration grant for $1.3 million helped government 
officials consolidate a series of reforms in the 
country's integrated tax system. 

the sector has had historic difficulties in obtaining credit 
from formal financial institutions, the Bank's technical 
cooperation will permit financial intermediaries to im
prove mechanisms and reduce costs related to lending 
to small businesses and microenterprises. These steps, 
together with a general liberalization of credit, will 
stimulate lending to any small business that gives prom
ise of becoming self-sustaining and profitable. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Transportation and Communications 
Urban Development 
Education, Science and Technology 
Tourism 
Export Financing 
Total 

$ 296,235 
209,397 
195,718 
148,593 
146,505 
119,312 
28,268 
15,109 
2,764 

$ 978,427 
325,506 
194,683 
255,671 
271,780 
172,439 
62,472 
19,471 
3,948 

$1,161,901 $2,284,397 
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GUYANA 

The Government of Guyana and the Bank assigned the 
highest priority to the rehabilitation and maintenance 
of the existing capital stock, rather than to the creation 
of new production capacity. Bank-supported operations 
accordingly include rehabilitation of seawall defenses, 
main road arteries, electricity generation, and water sup
ply. The Bank's program also attaches high priority to 
addressing the pressing social needs of the country. The 
Bank has made 21 loans totaling $428 million to 
Guyana. Cumulative disbursements total $252 million. 
In 1992, the Bank approved one loan and one major 
technical cooperation. 

LOAN 

Main Road Rehabilitation Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$23.4 million from the FSO, with 
cofinancing of $24.2 million from the 
World Bank 

Ministry of Public Works, Communica
tions and Regional Development 

This loan will finance resurfacing and improvements to 
a total of 146 km of two of Guyana's principal thor

oughfares, the East Bank Demerara and East Coast 
Roads. The repairs will improve the country's produc
tive capacity by decreasing transit time on the three 
most heavily travelled sections of the country's highway 
network and reducing transportation costs and acci
dents; it will also improve accessibility to the capital and 
port facilities at Georgetown from the country's main 
productive centers. Particular emphasis will be placed 
upon the need for mitigating any environmental impact 
associated with excavation, paving, and any other as
pects of project execution. A previously approved 
technical cooperation (see below) will assist with the de
velopment of a system for routine and periodic mainte
nance of the roadways. 

The Bank's loan will also provide for the institu
tional strengthening of the executing agency's Roads 
Administration Division. In addition to allowing for the 
hiring of professionals and engineers to staff the Divi
sion, the Ministry will contract private consultants to 
assist in establishing a Project Coordinating Unit, which 
will be charged with administering, coordinating and 
exercising technical supervision over the works. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Program 

This nonreimbursable TC of approximately $1.08 mil
lion (the equivalent of $780,000 from the Japan Spe
cial Fund and $300,000 from the FSO) will help de-

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1976-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries $237,909 $316,350 
Education, Science and Technology 60,800 67,600 
Environmental and Public Health 36,382 42,900 
Industry and Mining 34,548 42,300 
Energy 32,385 50,400 
Transportation and Communications 23,400 26,000 
Export Financing 2,797 3,995 

Total $428,221 $549,545 
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velop the institutional capability within the Ministry of 
Public Works, Communications and Regional Devel
opment to eventually implement a multi-year rehabili
tation program for up to approximately 400 km of the 
country's national road system. Consultants hired by the 
Ministry will conduct an inventory and classification of 
existing roads, evaluating their condition and assessing 
the need for repairs to bridges and other road segments. 
The operation will evaluate the resources available for 
road rehabilitation and upkeep—including personnel, 
equipment, materials and financing. The consultants 
will establish a training program and prepare manuals 
to develop a comprehensive system for road mainte
nance. 

ONVERWAGT, GUYANA. Laboratory technicians 
Alycia Lewis (left) and Claire Nicholson analyze 
chlorine content of water samples as part of the 
environmental component of an agriculture pro
gram south of Georgetown. Using a magnetic stirrer 
and pH meter imported from the United Kingdom, 
the women are testing drainage and irrigation ca
nals in the area known as Guyana's "rice bowl" for 
acidity and salinity. 
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HAITI 

International sanctions and payments arrears prevented 
the Bank from carrying out an active assistance program 
to Haiti in 1992. As soon as circumstances permit, the 
Bank envisages two possible lending scenarios. The first 
is a Core Program that would target the poor by deliv
ering services such as nutrition, child care, potable wa
ter, and primary health care. The second, more ambi
tious, Full Program would require commitment to 
reform of the public sector and to institutional strength
ening. It would also provide resources for large social 
and economic projects, vocational education, rural 
roads, energy management, and tourism development. 
The Bank has made 34 loans totaling $356 million to 
Haiti. Cumulative disbursements total $224 million. In 
1992, the Bank made no loans. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Transportation and Communications 
Environmental and Public Health 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Education, Science and Technology 
Industry and Mining 
Planning and Reform 
Export Financing 
Other 

Total 

$119,717 $167,694 
115,474 145,015 
65,300 106,447 
17,311 28,700 
15,328 24,950 
12,400 23,935 
3,117 4,453 
",6' ;s 8,700 

$356,345 $509,894 

TROU CAIMAN, HAITI. One of seven water 
fountains constructed in this community of ap
proximately 400 families, located 25 km northeast 
of Port-au-Prince. A $4.1 million financing, along 
with additional resources from the European Eco
nomic Community, helped to build 70 potable 
water systems in 100 rural communities. 
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HONDURAS 

The Government of Honduras and the Bank agreed 
that in 1992 high priority would be attached to con
tinuing support for structural adjustment efforts in the 
agricultural sector. The goal of this program was im
provement in the climate for investment and in the 
prospects for export diversification. Emphasis was also 
placed on support for the Government's poverty alle
viation program. The Bank has made 82 loans totaling 
$1,453 million to Honduras. Cumulative disbursements 
total $1,019 million. In 1992, the Bank approved three 
loans and one Small Project financing. 

LOANS 

Multisectoral Global Credit Program 

Financing: $60 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Central Bank of Honduras (Banco Central 

de Honduras, BCH) 

The principal aim of this program, in supporting the 
Government of Honduras' package of economic and 
financial reforms, is to provide a source of investment 
financing for the domestic private sector for medium-
and long-term development projects. In so doing, the 
program will also help to modernize the country's 
financial sector, principally through the creation of an 
auction system governing the allocation of funds 
through financial intermediaries in the private sector. 
As the executor of the project, the Central Bank of Hon
duras will provide funds at auction to intermediary 
financial institutions (IFIs) certified by the country's Su-
perintendency of Banking and Insurance (Su
perintendencia de Bancos y Seguros, SBS). The SBS, in 
turn, will benefit from a series of institutional-strength
ening measures in such crucial areas as enhanced pru
dential and reserve regulations. By employing an auc
tion to determine the placement of credit, the BCH will 
encourage competition for funding projects promising 
the greatest potential rates of return; the agency will also 
insist that bidding IFIs agree to participate in any fi
nancing for a minimum of three years. 

At present, the Honduran financial system is com
posed of some 15 private banks, two government-owned 

banks, and an additional 500 or so "nonbank lenders" 
subject to few controls or requirements imposed by the 
central government. In working towards the develop
ment of an increasingly sophisticated and flexible capi
tal market and a more competitive financial system in 
general, the IDB financing will enable the Government 
of Honduras to proceed with the liberalization of vari
ous sectors of the national economy, notably the export 
sectors, while providing training for Central Bank offi
cials in the administration of the auction mechanism 
and the environmental review of projects that are can
didates for receiving credit through the IFIs. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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Agricultural Sector Adjustment Program 

Financing: $50 million from the OC, with cofinanc
ing of $60 million from the World Bank 

Executing 
Agency: Ministry of Natural Resources (Ministerio 

de Recursos Naturales) 

As the cornerstone of its agricultural sector reform pro
gram, the Government of Honduras enacted an Agri
cultural Development and Modernization Law in 
March, 1992. This IDB financing will support initia
tives undertaken in conjunction with the implementa
tion of that legislation, including the sustainable devel
opment of the country's forestry sector, a series of 
reforms in land tenancy and titling, restructuring of the 
rural financial sector (begun under Phase I of the 
present program), and, in a broader context, reform in 
Honduras' public administration, particularly in terms 
of planning public investment spending. 
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SAVA, HONDURAS. This banana plantation in 
the agriculturally rich Aguan River Valley is gener

ating additional export earnings as a result of the 
improvement and paving of a 138 kmlong high

way to the country's Atlantic coast ports and the 
market center of San Pedro Sula. The highway, 
which has cut travel time and lowered costs for 
producers and shippers, was financed by a $31 
million loan approved in 1985. 

restructuring of the National Agricultural Institute 
(Instituto Nacional Agrario, INA), the country's two 
principal state agencies involved with land reform; and 
the drawing up of a plan of action for development of 
the forestry sector, with particular attention to the en

vironmental and commercial implications of timbering. 
To ensure the viability of the newly registered small 
farms, the program will emphasize the importance of 
providing tenants and owners with access to seed capi

tal and sources of technical assistance. 

Given agriculture's importance as by far the larg

est contributor to the country's GDP, the largest source 
of employment, and largest generator of export earnings, 
growth and greater efficiency in the sector are impera

tives for increased levels of prosperity for Honduras as a 
whole. Among the specific aspects of the major subpro

grams named above are the definition of implementing 
regulations for the registration of parcels of land and the 
adjudication of land ownership disputes; the divestment 
of the National Agricultural Development Bank (Banco 
Nacional de Desarrollo Agrícola, BANADESA) and the 

Social Investment Fund 

Financing: $31.5 million from the FSO 
Executing 
Agency: Honduran Social Investment Fund (Fondo 

Hondureno de Inversión Social, FHIS) 

The purpose of this loan is to mitigate the adverse ef

fects on Honduras' lowincome population of the 
country's economic stabilization and adjustment pro

gram. IDB financing will be used to execute smallscale 
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infrastructural works within the social sector, especially 
for the rehabilitation and expansion of primary schools 
and health centers. The IDB loan will permit the pur
chase of school furniture and the construction of la
trines. The Fund will also provide for training in the 
use and maintenance of sanitation facilities to benefit 
approximately 46,000 families in disadvantaged rural 
and urban areas; this component will emphasize the par
ticipation of women as trained community health work
ers and child-care providers. The construction work on 
schools (an estimated 460 small works) and health cen
ters (70 works) is expected to generate significant em
ployment among the target population in the short 
term. 

FHIS projects will continue to provide a benefit 
after the harshest effects of the macroeconomic stabili
zation program have passed, particularly in the training 
provided for family health and through efforts to im
prove educational opportunities for children at the 
grassroots level. In the Fund's first two years of opera
tion (from 1990 to 1992), the average execution time 
for projects was less than four months; costs were mini
mized by adherence to established unit cost thresholds 
and beneficiaries were identified in advance as coming 
from the neediest sectors of the country's population. 
This loan will further these patterns and contribute to 
an improvement in the quality of life for residents in a 
variety of urban and rural settings. 

vide working capital, tools and other equipment. The 
nonreimbursable component of the operation will as
sist ODEF and FUNHDEMU in strengthening mana
gerial, financial and technical aspects of their credit 
programs. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Transportation and Communications 
Environmental and Public Health 
Utban Development 
Education, Science and Technology 
Industry and Mining 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 
Other 

Total 

$340 ,566 $1,041,145 
331,638 585,790 
313,389 521,944 
172,883 275,173 
75,092 97,731 
73,244 101,151 
68,059 191,842 
8,853 12,647 
8,776 10,533 
60,000 75,000 

$1,452,500 $2,912,956 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Low-Income Women 
Microentrepreneurs 

Two loans for technical cooperation from the Norwe
gian Development Fund, each for the equivalent of 
$500,000, and two nonreimbursable operations—for 
$146,000 and $128,000, respectively—will be directed 
to the Organization for the Development of Women's 
Entrepreneurship (Organización de Desarrollo Empre
sarial Femenino, ODEF) and the Honduran Fund for 
Women's Development (Fundación Hondurena para el 
Desarrollo de la Mujer, FUNHDEMU), to improve the 
socioeconomic conditions of low-income women mi
croentrepreneurs. Approximately 2,100 women work
ing either in urban Tegucigalpa or in the rural areas of 
Cortés, Santa Bárbara and Yoro, will benefit from Bank 
financing designed to expand credit programs, admin
istered by these two intermediary institutions, to pro-
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JAMAICA LOAN 

Improvements in Primary Education—Phase II 

Policy reforms undertaken with the help of Bank sec
tor loans enabled the Government of Jamaica to remove 
obstacles to efficient export-oriented growth and to 
make the business environment more conducive to pri
vate sector development. Current lending activities 
place high priority on complementing these reforms 
with traditional investment loans for supportive infra
structure and for multisector credit geared to enhanc
ing the capacity of the economy to respond to the new 
policy framework. In the social sectors, the Bank's lend
ing program places emphasis on improving the quality, 
efficiency, and sustainability of social service delivery. 
The Bank has made 55 loans totaling $1,022 million 
to Jamaica. Cumulative disbursements total $755 mil
lion. In 1992, the Bank approved one loan and one 
major nonreimbursable technical cooperation. 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$28 million from the OC, with cofinanc
ing of $3.6 million from the U. S. Agency 
for International Development and $3.5 
million from OPEC, and with partial 
payment of interest charges by the IFF 

Ministry of Education 

By financing a series of measures involving both con
struction and institutional strengthening, this loan will 
help to improve the overall quality of primary educa
tion in schools throughout the country. The project is 
designed to focus attention on the needs of schools 
whose enrollment is drawn largely from disadvantaged 
sectors of the population. The implementation of stan
dardized testing for students in grades three and six will 

KINGSTON, JAMAICA. Maxine Davis 
(left), a chemist, ànd Ghislaine Ho-Yorck-
Krui, a botanist, change filters at one of the 
University of the West Indies' (UWI) high-
volume air particle samplers. The U.S.-
manufactured equipment was obtained as 
part of a 1989 financing, undertaken jointly 
with the Jamaican government, on behalf 
of UWTs Centre for Nuclear Sciences. 
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enable Jamaican authorities to assess educational attain
ment levels in the country and subsequently undertake 
a variety of measures, jointly comprising a National As
sessment Programme, to determine the capacities and 
needs of teachers and professional staff in the Ministry 
of Education. 

Additional aspects of the program will include the 
provision of materials and training for teachers to com
bat illiteracy among students graduating to secondary 
levels of education; the acquisition of 195,000 new 
books for school libraries, including the start-up of new 
collections in 120 schools; construction programs for 44 
separate schools, 17 of them designed to replace sub
standard facilities; and studies of the links between nu
trition and performance among the student population 
and the need for improved accounting systems within 
the Ministry of Education. Taken as a whole, the vari
ous components are intended to redress needs arising as 
a consequence of education budgets that have declined, 
in real terms, at both the primary and secondary levels 
in recent years—despite the maintenance of a constant 
share among total spending and the traditionally high 
importance assigned to this sector by the Jamaican gov
ernment. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Port Antonio Sanitation Program—Design and 
Feasibility Studies 

Jamaica's Urban Development Corporation will draw 
up a technical and financial planning document to im
prove and expand the water supply, sewerage, drainage 
and solid waste disposal systems for Port Antonio, de
signed to meet the long-term needs of this resort desti
nation through the year 2020. The Bank's financing 
amounts to a nonreimbursable operation for the equiva
lent of $1.7 million from the Japan Special Fund. 

In concert with the Jamaican Government's Tour
ism Development Programme, the study will start with 
a basic plan, subject to the approval of the National 
Water Commission, and will proceed to an assessment 
of the need for financing for the execution of the first-
stage investment program for the public works envis
aged in that plan. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
160 

120 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

I Lending — Disbursements 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1969-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Industty and Mining 
Export Financing 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Energy 
Urban Development 
Environmental and Public Health 
Education, Science and Technology 
Planning and Reform 
Transportation and Communications 
Tourism 
Preinvestment 
Total 

$ 188,303 
158,999 
129,551 
123,221 
103,543 
92,172 
77,378 
75,951 
55,304 
11,546 
5,947 

$ 254,995 
227,142 
321,635 
176,900 
140,000 
137,126 
110,400 
76,790 
87,150 
26,410 
11,900 

$1,021,915 $1,570,448 
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MEXICO 

The Bank's lending program for 1992 was directed fun
damentally at supporting initiatives and projects in
tended to improve the environment, as well as at reac
tivating and promoting the productive sectors through 
the rehabilitation and modernization of infrastructure 
designed to strengthen the development of the 
country's small and medium-sized businesses. The Bank 
has made 139 loans totaling $7,497 million to Mexico. 
Cumulative disbursements total $6,213 million. In 
1992, the Bank approved three loans. 

LOANS 

Global Credit Program for Small and 
Medium-sized Businesses 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$250 million from the OC 

National Finance Corporation (Nacional 
Financiera, S.N.C., NAFIN) 

The purpose of this loan is to provide financing for 
fixed assets, working capital and technical expertise for 
a range of small and medium-sized firms in the Mexi
can private sector. Credit and technical assistance will 
be extended to these firms through a network of inter
mediary financial institutions (IFIs) and other private 
entities. In addition, the IDB funding will contribute 
to consolidating a series of reforms already underway 
in the organization and programs of NAFIN, continu
ing the shift away from the historic trend of concen
trating lending among public enterprises, and moving 
toward a more diversified role as a second-tier source 
of financial and technical expertise for new businesses 
throughout the country. 

In planning to reach a target of 160,000 separate 
small and medium-sized businesses over the next three 
years, NAFIN will continue to rely upon a network of 
intermediary financial institutions whose number has 
risen to 334 following the reorientation of the agency's 
activities in recent years. Additionally, NAFIN will ex
pand the variety of services it offers to small and new 
businesses, such as programs to ensure adequate envi

ronmental control. Loan resources will also fund the 
establishment of integrated training centers for techni
cal and managerial support and will help to finance the 
start-up expenses of other entities, such as chambers of 
commerce, trade associations and research centers, en
gaged in the same sorts of activities. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

1000 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

g Lending — Disbursements 

Water and Sewerage Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agencies: 

$200 million from the OC, with cofi
nancing of $300 million from the World 
Bank 

National Bank of Public Works and Ser
vices (Banco Nacional de Obras y Servicios 
Públicos, BANOBRAS) and the National 
Water Commission (Comisión Nacional 
de Agua, CNA) 

Based upon the Mexican federal government's far-reach
ing structural reforms in the water and sanitation sec
tors, already underway, this operation will support a 
comprehensive public works program and the institu
tional strengthening of the principal executing agency, 
BANOBRAS. IDB financing will be aimed at improv
ing the quality and coverage of potable water supply and 
sewerage treatment and will lead to the eventual imple
mentation of a revised rate schedule, with adequate cost 
recovery. In contributing to this ambitious program, the 
Bank will also be working to lessen the Mexican 
government's participation in the financing of invest-
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ments in the sector and improving environmental con
ditions throughout the country. 

Public works—principally repairs of existing wa
ter and sewerage systems, the expansion of systems al
ready in place, and the construction of new wastewater 
treatment facilities—will be partially financed by means 
of a line of credit extended to agencies and firms en
gaged in the sector on the national, state or municipal 
levels. At the same time, these agencies and firms will 
be eligible for up to $1 million each in credit for 
strengthening of their internal organization and human 
resource training and improvement, with particular em
phasis on long-term, comprehensive planning on behalf 
of the geographic areas in which they operate. Invest
ment projects are identified and coordinated through 
state-level Development Planning Committees 
(COPLADEs) and sectoral subcommittees involved in 
potable water and sewerage treatment planning. The 
component of the program benefitting BANOBRAS per 
se will enable it to establish eleven regional technical as
sistance centers, hire international consultants and pur
chase computer equipment. 

Ecological Conservation Project for the Mexico 
City Metropolitan Area 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$100 million from the OC 

Coordinating Commission for Rural 
Development in the Federal District De
partment (Comisión Coordinadora para el 
Desarrollo Rural del DDF, COCODER) 
and the Department of Agricultural 
Development for the State of Mexico 
(Secretaría de Desarrollo Agropecuario, 
SED AGRO) 

This operation, the Bank's first involving a special mo
dality for environmental projects that incorporates the 
use of a debt-repurchase mechanism, has as its objec
tive the preservation and restoration of two ecological 
zones in the Mexico City Metropolitan Area—the Si
erra de Guadalupe and Sierra de Santa Catarina. The 
loan will also provide for a reforestation and revegeta-
tion program in and around Mexico City and will un
derwrite training, public-information and research ac
tivities associated with ecological preservation. 
Resources from the single-tranche credit operation will 

allow for the purchase of Mexican external debt securi
ties on the secondary market. Local currency earnings 
from those transactions, complemented by local coun
terpart funding, will then be applied to the ecological 
project, ensuring a total of $200 million for relief of air 
pollution in one of the most heavily populated urban 
areas in the world. 

Mexico's 1990 Census established the population 
of Metropolitan Mexico City at 15 million, more than 
half in the Federal District and the remainder in outly
ing municipalities within the State of Mexico. Within 
the Valley of Mexico, which comprises both areas, there 
are roughly 30,000 industries and 12,000 service estab
lishments that use combustion processes. The aim of 
this financing and other related programs is to recon
cile the region's need for continued economic growth 
with restraint in the spread of the urban population to 
new areas and the enforcement of the central gov
ernment's Campaign Against Air Pollution in Metro
politan Mexico City (PICCA), among other initiatives. 
Part of the activities of the latter program include the 
effort to create a "green belt" around the capital, the fo
cus of the efforts here. The PICCA initiative, which is 
being cofinanced by the World Bank, the Overseas Eco
nomic cooperation Fund and Export-Import Bank of 
Japan, includes re-equipping existing oil refineries to 
produce lead-free gasoline, retrofitting of taxis and buses 
with catalytic converters, and closing of an oil refinery 
presently located within city limits. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 
Transportation and Communications 
Tourism 
Energy 
Education, Science and Technology 
Export Financing 
Urban Development 
Preinvestment 
Other 
Total 

$3,295,589 
1,093,042 
1,056,290 

712,638 
348,870 
328,191 
148,739 

97,151 
95,520 
72,043 

248,995 

$ 8,420,814 
2,129,370 
3,348,217 
1,424,047 

928,167 
5,880,000 

264,377 
138,787 
196,305 
148,740 
550,000 

$7,497,068 $23,428,824 
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NICARAGUA 

The Government of Nicaragua and the Bank agreed in 
1992 on a multifaceted program that would establish 
short- and medium-term agricultural growth; rehabili
tate infrastructure in order to foster recovery in the pro
ductive sectors and the delivery of basic services; and 
support implementation of a social program that would 
provide emergency relief to vulnerable groups that were 
adversely affected by economic stabilization and adjust
ment. The Bank has made 57 loans totaling $735 mil
lion to Nicaragua. Cumulative disbursements total $620 
million. In 1992, the Bank approved eight loans (three 
of them major technical cooperations), two Small 
Project financings, and one major nonreimbursable 
technical cooperation. 

LOANS 

Agricultural Reform Program 

Agrarian Reform (Instituto Nacional de Reforma 
Agraria), and the Natural Resources Institute (Instituto 
de Recursos Naturales). 

The loans will be rapidly disbursed, and their ef
fect is meant to be felt immediately. In terms of increas
ing productivity, the need for better supplies of food in 
local markets, at more rational prices, is evident 
throughout the country's rural population, which con
stitutes nearly 40 percent of the nation as a whole, as 
well as in urban centers. In the area of land tenancy, 
the IDB financing will make it possible for the govern
ment to complete a land titling and assignation pro
gram begun in previous years. The natural resource con
servation component is aimed at encouraging patterns 
of sustainable development, so as to make the reforms 
undertaken more than a one-time stabilization adjust
ment. By normalizing access to financial credit, the pro
gram should make it easier for rural producers to ob
tain needed supplies of inputs such as gas and oil 
products, fertilizers, pesticides, electricity, and feed 
grains. 

Water and Sewer System Rehabilitation Program 

Financing 

Executing 
Agency: 

two loans, for $37 million from the OC 
and for $13 million from the FSO, with 
partial defrayment of the interest charges 
on the former assumed by the IFF; and 
two reimbursable TC operations from 
the OC of $2.6 million and $2.25 mil
lion, each with partial interest payment by 
the IFF 

Ministry of Finance (Ministerio de 
Finanzas) 

Financing 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans—one from the FSO for $32 
million and a second from the OC for 
$15 million—with partial payment of 
interest costs on the latter by the IFF and 
with cofinancing of $6.4 million from 
the Nordic Development Fund and $5 
million from OPEC 

Nicaraguan Water and Sewerage Institute 
(Instituto Nicaragüense de Acueductos y 
Alcantarillados, INAA) 

These policy-based loans are intended to help the Gov
ernment of Nicaragua put into place a series of reform 
measures geared to generating growth in the country's 
agricultural sector in the short and medium term. In 
general, the sectoral adjustment program, implemented 
with the help of Bank financing, will consist of six dis
tinct areas of concentration: institutional arrangements 
throughout the sector; the generation and transfer of 
technology; land tenure; the mechanics of trade and 
pricing; the administration of natural resources; and the 
rural financial sector. The reform policies that underlie 
the process of sectoral reform will be managed by 
Nicaragua's Agriculture Ministry (Ministerio de 
Agricultura y Ganadería), the National Institute for 

These loans will improve the quality of water and sew
erage services in the city of Managua and in 27 locali
ties in the interior and will strengthen the INAA's ef
forts to achieve financial self-sufficiency. They will also 
make possible the preparation of designs of future in
vestments in the urban sector and the expansion of the 
Managua sewerage system. 

The operation will provide financing for the reha
bilitation of water services in the Managua system, 
which encompasses 50 percent of Nicaragua's urban 
population and 30 percent of the country's inhabitants 
overall. Current water supply systems in Managua, as 
well as in the interior cities, have deteriorated prema
turely and water treatment plants are sporadically main-
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tained. Financing will also address the need for basic im
provements in sewerage systems, which at present serve 
32 percent of the country's population, and which are 
characterized by improper ly ma in ta ined p u m p i n g 
equ ipment and substandard stabilization ponds for 
wastewater treatment, in particular. Studies financed 
through the program will update Managua's compre
hensive plan for sewerage, including collection, treat
ment, and proper disposal of the effluent and will be 
used to establish a priority ranking methodology for the 
national water and sewerage system in urban areas. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

160 

120 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

Lending Disbursements 

Emergency Social Investment Fund 

F i inancing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$16.3 million from the O C , with partial 
payment of interest charges by the IFF, 
and with cofinancing of $15 million from 
the World Bank 

Emergency Social Investment Fund (Fondo 
de Inversión Social de Emergencia, FISE) 

This program is exclusively aimed at addressing the so
cial needs of the most vulnerable segments of the Nica-
raguan population while the national government con
tinues to implement its economic stabilization plan. 
Specific components include the financing of small-
scale infrastructural projects at the communi ty level; 
technical training for the staff of the Emergency Social 
Investment Fund, allowing the agency to hire qualified 
specialists and to acquire other inputs it may need to 
implement the program; and institutional strengthen
ing for the Ministries of Education and Health, to help 

t hem formulate and evaluate projects to meet the 
country's pressing needs in the social sectors. 

The infrastructural projects are characteristic of 
the work needed to be done in Nicaragua to forestall a 
drop-off in the already infrequent delivery of some ba
sic social services. IDB financing will be used in the 
three general areas of sanitation, health and education; 
in each instance, the projects themselves will be de
signed by either a municipality, a community-based or 
o ther nongovernmenta l organizat ion ( N G O ) , or a 
"line" institution. Works will include the repair or re
placement of schools, the establishment and equipping 
of primary health care clinics, and a variety of commu
nity-centered activities designed to promote greater par
ticipation by the Nicaraguan private sector in ensuring 
the availability of drinking water and sewerage services. 
The technical assistance aspect of the loan, which ac
counts for a higher percentage of resources than is gen
erally the case with Bank financings, will allow the FISE 
to review and implement what is already a substantial 
list of prospective projects. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Small Businesses 

T w o nonprofit, nongovernmental organizations, the 
Mechanical and Metallurgical Cooperative of Nicaragua 
(Cooperativa de Mecánicos y Metalúrgicos de Nicaragua, 
COPEMENIC) and the Association of Consultants for 
the Development of Small and Medium-sized Busi
nesses (Asociación de Consultores para el Desarrollo de la 
Pequeña y Mediana Empresa, ACODEP) will receive the 
equivalent of $500,000 each in financing from the Swiss 
Fund for Technical Cooperation and Small Projects— 
and nonreimbursable funding amount ing to approxi
mately $138,000 each for technical cooperation, from 
the same source. Both organizations will be better able 
to direct credit to the informal sector, thereby contrib
uting to improving both the level of expertise of the 
microenterprises they serve and the standard of living 
for low-income families tied to the informal sector. Each 
will provide credits for working capital, for job creation, 
and for enhancing productive techniques, managerial 
capacity and overall efficiency of operations. The T C 
portion of the operations will enhance the quality of 
training provided by the N G O s and enable them to be
come self-sufficient in terms of budgeting and adminis
tration. 
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Credit and Training for Small Agricultural 
Producers 

Three grants totaling $1.5 million from the European 
Community's Special Fund for the Financing of Small 
Productive Projects—together with three parallel tech
nical cooperation grants totaling an additional 
$360,000—will enable agricultural cooperatives in the 
departments of Chinandega, Granada and León to ex
pand their agro-processing facilities, training programs 
and lending activities in behalf of farmers and their 
families. The three intermediaries, Cooperativa 
Agropecuaria de Servicios de Chinandega "Santa Ana, " 
Cooperativa Agropecuaria de Servicios "Esquipulas" de 
León and Cooperativa de Ahorro y Crédito "La Armonía, " 
will channel credit for working capital and fixed assets 
in the form of tools and equipment. The cooperatives 
will obtain financing for fixed investments and for the 
initial capitalization of their revolving credit funds. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Institutional Strengthening of the 
Agricultural Sector 

Intended as a means of assisting ongoing efforts to re
structure the country's agricultural sector, this 
nonreimbursable TC for the equivalent of $2.8 million 
from the Japan Special Fund (with cofinancing in the 
amount of $430,000 from the United Nations Devel
opment Programme) will furnish the Government of 
Nicaragua with resources to reorient and reform poli
cies governing many facets of that sector and to plan 
sector improvement programs. Bank funds will allow 
Nicaragua's National Agricultural Commission 
(CONAGRO) to contract consultants for a period of 
up to three years to make recommendations concern
ing commodity pricing, credit, land-use management, 
development for small and medium-sized producers, 
food supply to at-risk segments of the population and 
environmental protection safeguards, among other 
topics. 

duce a broad-based tax reform program. The IDB fi
nancing will also contribute to the modernization of the 
executing agency, with training for personnel in criti
cal areas such as monitoring of compliance with tax 
laws, auditing and data processing provided by the In
ter-American Center for Tax Administration (CIAT) 
and the consultants it hires in connection with the 
project. By the end of the four-year life of the program, 
Nicaraguan authorities hope to complete drafting of a 
comprehensive tax code; in the near term, emphasis will 
be placed on the promulgation of rules and regulations 
needed to implement the tax reform package. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries 
Planning and Reform 
Environmental and Public Health 
Energy 
Transportation and Communications 
Industry and Mining 
Utban Development 
Education, Science and Technology 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 
Other 
Total 

$242,386 $ 544,843 
153,159 265,950 
100,236 153,250 
74,325 168,840 
63,724 115,469 
42,645 76,453 
22,514 39,496 
9,250 10,925 
1,826 2,609 
148 398 

25,118 26,137 
$735,331 $1,404,370 

Strengthening of the Department of Revenue 

A loan for $2.5 million from the FSO will enable the 
Nicaraguan Ministry of Finance, acting through its 
General Revenue Department, to implement a short-
term plan designed to increase tax receipts and intro-
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PANAMA 

The Government of Panama and the Bank agreed to 
support public sector restructuring and privatization of 
public services in order to foster competition and 
promote the mobilization of private sector savings. Em
phasis was also placed on the rehabilitation of infra
structure in the economic and social sectors. The Bank 
has made 79 loans totaling $987 million in Panama. 
Cumulative disbursements total $765 million. In 1992, 
the Bank approved three loans and one major non
reimbursable technical cooperation. 

LOANS 

Public Enterprise Reform Program 

Financing;: 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans from the OC, of $80 million 
and $40 million, with interest on the 
smaller loan partially defrayed by the 
IFF, and with cofinancing of $120 mil
lion from the World Bank and $100 mil
lion from the Overseas Economic Coop
eration Fund of Japan; and two technical 
cooperation operations, one reimbursable 
of $9.4 million from the OC and one 
nonreimbursable of $2.4 million from 
the Social Progress Trust Fund 

Ministry of Planning and Economic 
Policy (Ministerio de Planificación y 
Política Económica) 

Taken in conjunction, these financings will contribute 
to a comprehensive restructuring of four of the largest 
firms in Panama's public sector, through several distinct 
approaches. The financing will facilitate the reorgani
zation of the National Ports Authority (APN) (includ
ing public bidding for freight handling and related ser
vices and the construction of new ports by private 
contractors) and the privatization of the National Tele
communications Institute (INTEL). The loans will also 
enable the executing agency to design and execute fi
nancial recovery programs (including plans to increase 
receipts, increase efficiency and lower payroll costs) for 
the Hydroelectric Resources Institute (IRHE) and the 
National Water and Sewerage Institute (IDAAN). The 

scope and complexity of the operations entail the pro
vision of sizable resources for technical assistance to be 
rendered to the Government of Panama. 

Within the APN reforms, the funding will lead to 
savings from lowered direct costs assessed on port users 
and the granting of concessions in seven locations in 
Cristóbal and Balboa, and the development of new and 
additional terminals as part of the Puerto Central con
struction project. The privatization of the telecommu
nications sector has as its principal objectives the lower
ing of rates to consumers, especially for international 
calls, and the expansion of the system throughout rural 
areas. Both the TC and lending components of the 
Bank financing for IRHE are aimed at improving its 
administrative practices and cutting waste in the gen
eration and distribution of electricity. In the water and 
sewerage sector, emphasis will be placed on restructur
ing the commercial rate schedule and contracting with 
private firms for auxiliary services such as maintenance 
of its fleet of vehicles and well-drilling. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

160 

120 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

Lending Disbursements 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Transpottation and Communications 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Planning and Reform 
Education, Science and Technology 
Urban Development 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 
Preinvestment 
Tourism 
Other 

Total 

$283,336 $ 597,272 
180,377 395,304 
145,815 236,662 
127,570 132,400 
70,106 108,500 
52,549 82,420 
44,874 72,157 
33,026 61,694 
20,806 41,460 
20,253 41,822 

8,340 8,340 

$987,052 $1,769,691 
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PARAGUAY 

The Government of Paraguay and the Bank assigned the 
highest priority to support for a program of structural 
change — already under way — which would integrate 
Paraguay into the world economy and MERCOSUR. 
This strategy also seeks to complement economic trans
formation with projects and programs of a social nature, 
aimed at improving the quality of life for the low-in
come population. The Bank has made 67 loans totaling 
$1,012 million to Paraguay. Cumulative disbursements 
total $574 million. In 1992, the Bank approved seven 
loans (one of them a technical cooperation), one Small 
Project financing, and two major nonreimbursable tech
nical cooperations. 

LOANS 

Investment Sector Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$70 million from the OC, with an ac
companying reimbursable technical co-
operation for $11.5 million from the 
same source 

National Economic Council (Equipo 
Económico Nacional) 

These loans will serve as the underpinning for an ex
tensive program undertaken by the Government of 
Paraguay to increase national savings, increase the effi
ciency and solvency of the financial sector, and promote 
foreign investment. The initiatives are being imple
mented to ease the integration of the economy into 
world markets and in anticipation of the country's en
trance into MERCOSUR. Among the principal areas 
of emphasis are regulatory reform (including intellec
tual property protection, the elimination of barriers to 
imports and the simplification of procedures for incor
porating a business); trade and tariff reform; 
privatization of public enterprises; creation of a capital 
market; consolidation of tax reform; restructuring of the 
financial and banking systems; and an overhaul of the 
social security system. 

The decision of the Government of Paraguay to 
undertake such a broad-based program recognizes the 
limitations inherent in a development model predicated 

on agricultural expansion and the sale of hydroelectric 
power from the Itaipu and Yacyretá power plants. In 
refining its economic development model, the country 
has sought to modernize its economic institutions, to 
redefine the role of the state in the economy, and to put 
into practice a regulatory framework that will encour
age competitiveness and that will lead to the develop
ment of a sound and transparent system of financial 
intermediation and smoothly functioning capital mar
kets. The TC component of the operation will finance 
a far-reaching set of initiatives involving, among other 
activities, specialized training for Paraguayan economic 
officials, sectoral evaluation plans, and the acquisition 
of equipment needed to carry out the planned reforms. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
250 
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Lending Disb tirsemeius 

Consolidation of Rural Settlements 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

two loans, one of $30 million from the 
FSO and the other of $25.6 million from 
theOC 

Ministry of Agriculture (Ministerio de 
Agricultura y Ganadería) 

These loans have as their overall objective progress to
ward sustainable agricultural development in Paraguay's 
small farm sector. Operations will be concentrated in 
two "corridors" located primarily in the departments of 
Concepción, Amambay, and Caaguazu. In seeking to 
increase the yields of a significant proportion of the in
dividual producers located in those areas—while at the 
same time promoting better use of natural resources and 
preservation of the environment—the project will con-
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sist of three main components. 
One subproject is aimed at improving productiv

ity and will focus on the introduction of new and lo
cally appropriate technologies, along with improved soil 
use patterns and the titling of lots belonging to up to 
5,500 campesinos living in 41 separate communities 
throughout the target region. A second part of the pro
gram will improve the market access and profitability 
of regionally grown goods through a program intended 
to develop farm-to-market roads, training for produc
ers, and the use of preinvestment funds for studies lead
ing to increased investment in agriculture. A third and 
more broadly based "social support" plan will introduce 
sources of drinking water to 8,500 families; set up basic 
sanitary facilities for the benefit of 30,000 residents of 
the region; and construct, equip and upgrade health 
units and primary schools throughout the area. In ad
dition, this final subprogram will include land acquisi
tion and titling for seven colonies of indigenous peoples 
among the Ache and Mbya Guarani ethnic groups liv
ing in the region. 

Housing Sector Reform Program 

Financing: two loans, one of $12.3 million from the 
OC and the other of $41.7 million from 
the FSO 

Executing 
Agency: National Housing Council (Consejo 

Nacional de la Vivienda, CON A VI) and 
the National Savings and Loan Bank for 
Housing (Banco Nacional de Ahorro y 
Préstamo para la Vivienda, BNV) 

These loans are designed to help the Government of 
Paraguay to undertake a thorough restructuring of the 
national housing system, increasing the supply—and 
reducing the cost—of housing for the general popula
tion. IDB funds will facilitate the establishment of a 
credit program that will address Paraguay's shortage of 
affordable mortgage financing. The loans will also be 
used to pay for a direct housing subsidy for approxi
mately 12,500 low-income families, helping them to 
make down payments on houses they will purchase from 
the private sector. The subsidies will be administered by 
CONAVI, the National Housing Council; the program 
will also finance extensive institutional strengthening for 
CONAVI, including the reorganization needed to set 
up a mortgage discount system, to manage the direct 
subsidy operation, and to undertake environmental pro

tection activities and extension work in the social sec
tor. 

Global Credit for Microenterprise 

Financing: $10 million from the OC, with a non
reimbursable technical cooperation from 
two sources, $1.8 million from the FSO 
and $700,000 from the Swiss Fund for 
Technical Cooperat ion and Small 
Projects 

Executing 
Agency: Central Bank of Paraguay {Banco Central 

del Paraguay) 

Bank funds will be used to increase the flow of afford
able credit to microenterprises by means of funds chan
neled through intermediary financial institutions (IFIs) 
based on market principles and regulations. At the same 
time, the loan and TC grant will strengthen the diag
nostic and technical abilities of the IFIs themselves and 
the regulatory agencies charged with supervising them, 
enabling each to better serve and understand the uni
verse of small firms that constitute the country's infor
mal sector. 

The principal component of the loan will allow 
for the establishment of a rediscount window at the 
Central Bank from which eligible IFIs will draw funds 
for second-tier lending to microenterprises. Interest rates 
for the subloans will be determined by the IFIs them
selves, subject to supervision by the executing agency; 
the IFIs are to assume any risk associated with their 
lending activities. Two aspects of the program in par
ticular deserve mention: the emphasis on ensuring the 
availability of "appropriate financial technology" for a 
sector whose share of GDP has been growing through
out the country, and the attention paid to the environ
mental implications of all loan operations, at all levels— 
Central Bank, IFIs and borrowers. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Credit for Rural Farmers and Microentrepreneurs 

Two loans, one for $500,000 to the Redemptorist 
Foundation for Social Work and Education of Pilar 
(Fundación Redentorista de Obras Sociales y Educacio
nales del Pilar, FROSEP) and the other, for $250,000 
for the Friendship Foundation (Fundación Amistad, 
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FUNDAMISTAD), each from the income of the Fund 
for Special Operations, will assist small-scale farmers and 
microentrepreneurs in the rural zones of Pilar, Piribebuy 
and Valenzuela to gain access to credit. In turn, the 
credit will allow for the purchase of animals, farm equip
ment, and other agricultural inputs such as seeds. In the 
case of microentrepreneurs, on-lent IDB funds will be 
used for the acquisition of goods such as sewing ma
chines and fabric or for food-processing equipment. 
Two parallel technical cooperation operations, for the 
equivalent of $107,000 for FROSEP and $154,000 for 
FUNDAMISTAD, will provide a source of funds for 
training, the purchase of equipment and general insti
tutional strengthening. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Energy 
Agricultute and Fisheties 
Transportation and Communications 
Environmental and Public Health 
Planning and Reform 
Urban Development 
Education, Science and Technology 
Industry and Mining 
Tourism 
Preinvestment 
Other 

Total 

$ 277,990 
194,309 
156,628 
101,658 
81,500 
64,769 
59,706 
55,279 
14,579 

436 
5,503 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

: 414,012 
296,511 
221,931 
171,017 
89,500 
76,273 
84,280 
79,513 
18,608 

582 
5,503 

$1,012,357 $1,452,227 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Support for Women in Development 

Paraguay's Dirección de Beneficiencia y Ayuda Social 
(DIBEN), through its Human Development Program, 
will receive a grant of $1,370,000 from the FSO and 
the Social Progress Trust Fund to finance programs pro
moting the role of women in development and improv
ing their socioeconomic status. Approximately 8,000 
people in rural and marginal urban areas will benefit 
from the financing. The financing is also aimed at in
stitutionally strengthening DIBEN and other nongov
ernmental organizations working with the least-
advantaged sectors of the country's population. Women 
will receive training in productive activities characteris
tic of their communities, including agriculture, sewing 
and handicrafts; they will also be given instruction in 
the means of addressing ecological problems and in es
tablishing child-care facilities. A series of project effec
tiveness studies will be published as a means of provid
ing data and analysis on topics where little information 
is currently available. Project activities will be concen
trated in ten departments in the eastern portion of the 
country. 
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PERU 

Bank support for consolidation of structural reforms 
highlighted efforts in 1992. Despite disruption caused 
by the uncertainties of the political environment, a dia
logue was maintained with the authorities which re
sulted in a program to permit a resumption of the criti
cal role the Bank has been playing in the reform and 
restructuring of the economy of the country, and re
storing basic services and infrastructure. The Bank has 
made 114 loans totaling $2,435 million to Peru. 
Cumulative disbursements total $1,960 million. In 
1992, the Bank approved two loans, one of them a ma
jor technical cooperation, and five Small Project 
financings. 

LOAN 

Finance Sector Loan 

Executing 
Agency: 

$200 million from the OC and a $21.8 
million reimbursable technical coopera
tion, also from the O C , and with 
cofinancing of $100 million from the 
Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund of 
Japan 

Ministry of Economy and Finance 
(Ministerio de Economía y Finanzas) 

The goal of this fast-disbursing loan, in the short term, 
is to consolidate Peru's macroeconomic stabilization, 
thereby contributing to the country's efforts to reinte
grate itself into the international financial community. 
In the longer term, the loan will finance a program con
sisting of four main parts: (i) a reduction of the state's 
role in commercial banking; (ii) a thorough redesign of 
the nation's development banking system, including the 
Financial Development Corporation (COFIDE), and 
the Banco de la Nación; (iii) reorganization of the Cen
tral Bank and its charter—assuring its independence and 
autonomy, prohibiting its direct lending to state enter
prises and/or the Treasury; and (iv) reform of financial 
prudential regulations. A fifth element of the program, 
the initial capitalization of the National Fund for So
cial Compensation and Development (FONCODES), 
will take place as soon as that organization, established 

pursuant to a 1991 IDB Trade Sector loan, has met cer
tain start-up criteria. One important aim of the IDB 
program is to contribute to the effort to reduce the in
flation rate, which constitutes a regressive "tax" on the 
lower-income sectors of the population. 

The technical cooperation will provide advisory 
services, training and equipment for officials at the Cen
tral Reserve Bank of Peru involved with the reorganiza
tion of that institution and the restructuring of Peru's 
development banks, and for program officials at the 
Ministry of Economy and Finance associated with man
agement of the budget and social security reform. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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Lendii Disbursements 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for a Beekeeping Program 

This $500,000 loan to the Fundación para el Desarrollo 
Nacional (FDN), in tandem with a technical coopera
tion for $ 140,000, complements the first stage of a pro
gram begun with Bank financing in 1982. This second 
installment of IDB financing is intended to improve the 
incomes of approximately 500 small, low-income farm
ers in Lambayeque Department, 500 miles northwest 
of Lima on the coast of the Pacific Ocean. Women are 
explicitly targeted as beneficiaries of the project. To the 
extent that increased yields of honey, beeswax, pollen 
and other goods permit it, the program will examine the 
possibility of production for export. 

Beneficiaries of the operation, many of them with 
no clear title to their land, lack not only access to con
ventional sources of credit but also to irrigation water, 
so that they are limited in terms of the crops they can 
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grow and when they can grow them. The twin goals of 
the operation, accordingly, are diversification of the pro
duction of these small-scale holdings according to prin
ciples of sustainable agriculture, and the strengthening 
of FDN, enabling it to serve as a source of credit and 
training for the residents of pueblos throughout the 
Department's Chancay, La Leche and Zana valleys. 

Microenterprise Credit and Institutional 
Strengthening for Six Chambers of Commerce 

Six loans totaling $2,750,000 and six nonreimbursable 
technical cooperation operations will be used by non
profit chambers of commerce located in different parts 
of the country. Together, the financings will benefit a 
total of approximately 7,250 entrepreneurs, an esti
mated one-third of whom are women. In each case, IDB 
funds will help to establish credit programs for 
microenterprises in the informal sector of the urban area 
in which the intermediary institution is located. The 
accompanying technical cooperation funds will be dedi
cated to the administration of the credit programs and 
to underwriting the cost of training for microentrepre
neurs. 

Loans will be made to finance working capital and 
small-scale fixed assets (tools, equipment and machin
ery). In some instances, individual microentrepreneurs 
will be trained in production and marketing techniques, 
and will be offered instruction in accounting and envi
ronmental conservation. Each of the chambers has ex
isted as a private organization promoting development 
and local enterprises for at least 90 years. The oldest, in 
Arequipa, was founded in 1877. Acción Comunitaria del 
Peru, as the supervisor of the training component of the 
six individual programs, will provide consulting services 
for institution-building based on its own successful 
record in behalf of other nongovernmental organiza
tions throughout the country. 

Support for Low-Income Microentrepreneurs 

Two loans of $500,000 and two nonreimbursable tech
nical cooperation operations totaling $400,000 to the 
nonprofit organizations Habitat Perú Siglo XXI and 
Habitat Trujillo Siglo XXITrom the income of the FSO 
will support microenterprise development. Habitat Perú 
will establish revolving credit funds for the benefit of 
microentrepreneurs in the areas served by three of its 

affiliates in the cities of Arequipa, Tacna and Cuzco. 
Habitat Trujillo will provide the identical benefits and 
services for microentrepreneurs located in Trujillo. 

Research indicates that the growth of the infor
mal, microentrepreneurial sector in Peru's intermediate-
sized cities has been extremely rapid in recent years, with 
many microproducers earning relatively low incomes in 
service-based activities and up to 70 percent of the sec
tor engaged in work classifiable as "trading." These loans 
are intended to inculcate managerial skills among ben
eficiaries—and to lend solidity to these small-scale en
terprises in order to stem migration to Lima. In addi
tion to setting up the revolving credit funds in each of 
the four locations, the IDB share of financing for these 
small projects will serve to generate approximately 500 
new jobs in each city during the life of the project and 
provide training in management and the fundamentals 
of environmental protection, as well as technical assis
tance to approximately 1,000 producers and 500 ven
dors in each location. The TC component of this op
eration will allow for institutional strengthening of the 
intermediaries, enabling them to serve more micro-
producers in the future. 

Help for Marginal Populations 

By directing credit through three intermediaries in dif
ferent parts of the country, these three loans from the 
income of the Fund for Special Operations, for a total 
of $1.3 million, will help to create jobs for three dis
tinct groups of low-income Peruvians. Three technical 
cooperation grants totaling $330,000 will permit pri
vate nonprofit, nongovernmental organizations in the 
capital, the northern province of Cajamarca and areas 
in and around Cuzco, to provide training to beneficia
ries in the use of appropriate technology. The interme
diaries—United Christian Action for Development 
(Acción Cristiana Unida para el Desarrollo, ACUDE), 
Intermediate Technology Development Group 
(ITDG), and the Low-Income Rural Marketing Devel
opment Institute (Instituto de Fomento a la Comer
cialización Campesina, IFOCC)—will target their ser
vices to unemployed young people in Lima, to 
small-scale agricultural and commercial producers lack
ing access to sources of energy (via small-scale hydro
electric facilities to be designed by ITDG), and to in
digenous groups needing training in marketing and 
technologies aimed at increased productivity. 
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Support for Low-Income Women 
Microentrepreneurs 

Four grants amount ing to a combined total of 
$1,650,000 from the Swedish Fund for Small Projects, 
and $600,000 in technical cooperation grants from the 
same source, will assist four private, nonprofit associa
tions to make credit available, over the next three years, 
to women in various parts of the country through a va
riety of mechanisms. One intermediary, the Woman's 
Association of Peru (Associación Perú Mujer, ARM) will 
provide equipment for a facility, located in the Andean 
community of Chinchero, in which women refine and 
market grains, and will help to put in place a produc
ers' cooperative for women who knit sweaters and other 
articles out of alpaca wool. A second, Marketing and 
Rural Assistance Education Services (Servicios Educativos 
Promoción y Apoyo Rural, SEPAR), will receive financ
ing for a pilot program in the processing of basic foods 
in Matahuasi and for a revolving credit fund to benefit 
up to 1,550 women microentrepreneurs. Two other 
NGOs, the Manuela Ramos Movement (Movimiento 
Manuela Ramos, MMR) and Woman and Society 
(Mujery Sociedad) will provide integrated training and 
access to financing in the form of a credit fund and a 
vocational-technical school, respectively, for low-in
come beneficiaries in different parts of greater Lima. 
The TC will provide institutional strengthening for 
each of the intermediaries. 

SURINAME 

The activities of the Bank in Suriname are currently cir
cumscribed by the macroeconomic framework and pos
sible disbursements of grant money by the government 
of The Netherlands. The Bank's lending program 
places high priority on providing technical assistance for 
institutional strengthening in the public sector and on 
the efficient provision of basic services. The Bank is also 
prepared to complement the adoption of an appropri
ate macroeconomic framework with projects that would 
contribute to the goal of export expansion and diversi
fication, and that would support the efforts of the gov
ernment to mitigate any negative social impact of the 
economic adjustment program. The Bank has made 5 
loans totaling $21 million to Suriname. Cumulative 
disbursements total $14 million. In 1992, the Bank 
made no loans. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1980-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Education, Science and Technology 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 

Total 

$ 8,094 
7,731 
5,545 

$21,370 

$10,000 
9,700 
10,000 

$29,700 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Planning and Reform 
Agricultute and Fisheries 
Industry and Mining 
Transportation and Communications 
Export Financing 
Enetgy 
Environmental and Public Health 
Urban Development 
Tourism 
Preinvestment 
Education, Science and Technology 
Total 

$ 659,025 
437,201 
412,879 
364,188 
176,756 
190,658 

88,065 
56,520 
30,839 

9,491 
9,028 

$ 672,292 
1,167,038 
1,170,542 

608,001 
252,509 
684,505 
221,312 
105,773 
71,400 
27,071 
21,869 

$2,434,650 $5,002,312 
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TRINIDAD AND 
TOBAGO 

The lending program agreed upon by the Bank and 
Trinidad and Tobago calls for support for the gov
ernment's program of liberalization of the economy and 
diversification away from excessive dependence on oil. 
In addition to direct support for the reform program, 
in which the restructuring of public sector activities is 
an integral component, priority is being given to im
provements in physical infrastructure, natural resource 
management, and to the efficient delivery of educa
tional, health, and sanitation services. The Bank has 
made 22 loans totaling $479 million to Trinidad and 
Tobago. Cumulative disbursements total $156 million. 
In 1992, the Bank approved one loan. 

LOAN 

Bridge and Access Roads Repair Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$31.5 million from the OC, with partial 
defrayment of interest charges by the re
sources of the IFF 

Ministry of Works and Transport 

This operation has two principal goals: the improve
ment of access roads in agricultural regions of the coun
try and the reduction of transportation costs of users of 
the national road system through the reconstruction of 
deteriorated bridges located on both main and second
ary highways. The first objective will serve to improve 
the income-generating capacity of rural agricultural pro
ducers, allowing them to expand the amount of land 
under cultivation and to bring crops to both domestic 
and international markets in better condition. The re
placement of dilapidated bridge facilities will help spur 
commerce throughout Trinidad and Tobago. An addi
tional component of the program will preserve and 
enhance investments already made in the sector by 
establishing a coordinated system for appropriating 
funds for the maintenance of access roads. 

The access-roads portion of the program will in
volve the repair of approximately 150 km of roadway, 

in stretches averaging no more than 2-3 km, which will 
directly link producing areas with trunk roads and other 
arteries in the national system. As a consequence of the 
financing of the bridge-building component, up to 30 
spans will undergo repairs or be replaced. The institu
tional strengthening aspect of the financing will offer 
the country a means of identifying funding for and pro
viding training in the critical area of road maintenance, 
with particular emphasis on the monitoring of the en
vironmental impact of future projects. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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Lending Disbursements 

D I S T R I B U T I O N O F LOANS 1967-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy $259,922 
Urban Development 70,113 
Transportation and Communications 49,521 
Education, Science and Technology 40,640 
Agriculture and Fisheries 29,174 
Environmental and Public Health 12,395 
Export Financing 11,320 
Preinvestment 5,998 

Total $479,083 

$335,000 
97,240 

104,398 
55,219 
42,898 
25,160 
16,171 
9,239 

$685,325 
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URUGUAY 

The Government of Uruguay and the Bank agreed that 
in 1992 Bank lending would continue to support the 
efforts of the country to revitalize private investment 
and to modernize its productive sectors. To this end, 
the Bank supported financial sector reforms and a broad 
multisector credit operation. In the social sectors, the 
Bank's strategy emphasized structural reforms in the 
provision of services and improvements in the efficiency 
and equity of social spending. The Bank has made 70 
loans totaling $1,148 million to Uruguay. Cumulative 
disbursements total $681 million. In 1992, the Bank 
approved six loans (two of them technical cooperations), 
one Small Project financing, and two major 
nonreimbursable technical cooperations. 

LOANS 

Multisectoral Global Credit Program 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$90 million from the OC 

Central Bank of Uruguay (Banco Central 
del Uruguay) 

This program will serve the basic objective of financing 
economically viable investment projects in both the 
medium and long term through a specially created re
discount facility at the country's Central Bank. The fa
cility will make funds available to qualifying intermedi
ary financial institutions (IFIs), including public and 
private commercial banks, investment banks, and sav
ings and loan cooperatives, so that they may in turn 
channel credit to private sector firms across all sectors 
of the Uruguayan economy as it prepares for integra
tion into MERCOSUR. 

Among the major elements of Uruguay's eco
nomic stabilization program that are the focus of this 
operation, the development of an active and reliable fi
nancial intermediation market, with a variety of instru
ments at its disposal, is particularly timely. IDB financ
ing will enable IFIs to syndicate loans and to place 
equity and debt issues in private capital markets over 
the medium and long term. Throughout the design of 
the program, particular emphasis has been placed on is
sues of environmental protection; all projects to be fi

nanced shall be subject to prior review by the National 
Environmental Authority (Dirección Nacional de Medio 
Ambiente, DINAMA). 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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Lending Disbursements 

Investment Sector Reform Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$65 million from the OC and a reimburs
able technical cooperation of $3.8 million, 
from the same source 

Ministry of the Economy and Finance 
(Ministerio de Economía y Finanzas) 

Based on the support of this loan and accompanying 
TC, the government of Uruguay has determined to 
implement a series of major policy changes aimed at at
tracting additional private investment. The policies 
themselves are to be grouped around four principal 
strategies: i) efforts to increase the supply of investment 
funds through broadened access to capital markets, 
long-term bank credit, and incentives for improving 
contractual savings; ii) a privatization program involv
ing firms, assets and public services designed to provide 
private capital new areas in which to invest; iii) reforms 
in administrative justice and intellectual property pro
tection and the elimination of unnecessary bureaucratic 
and regulatory obstacles to investment; and iv) increases 
in Uruguay's domestic and international competitive
ness through increased efficiency in state firms supply
ing basic goods and services, a modernization of the 
labor market and efforts to bring about greater indus
trial productivity. 

The program takes into account Uruguay's par-
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ticipation in MERCOSUR's common market begin
ning in 1994 and is designed to allow the country to 
meet the conditions required for ace :ss to the resources 
of the Multilateral Investment Fund. In seeking to im
prove institutional savings mechaniims from the fiscal 
and consumer standpoints, the program anticipates 
broad-based reform in the country s insurance, social 
security and pension systems. Reforms in the bond, 
money, credit and capital markets w 11 depend upon an 
extensive series of regulatory and 1 ;gislative revisions 
pertaining to accounting standards, infrastructure and 
tax incentives, many of which are alieady in place. The 
privatization component of the program will build upon 
the recent opening of the telecomrr unications and air 
transport sectors to non-state participation, initiating 
the use of natural gas as an alternat s source of energy 
and exploring the letting of concessic >ns for administra
tion of the country's port facilities. 

Housing Sector Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

two loans, of $32 millit >n and $ 16 million, 
each from the OC, witl partial payment of 
interest charges accruir g on the latter to be 
paid by the IFF 

Ministry of Housing, ^and Management 
and the Environment {Ministerio de Vi
vienda, Ordenamiento Territorial y Medio 
Ambiente, MVOTMA) 

These loans will facilitate an in-deptl 
the public housing sector in Urugui 
nance the construction of approxii 
housing units for low-income resi< 
country's National Fund for Housii 
velopment (Fondo Nacional de Vivier. 
FNVU). An important aspect of the ] 
stitutional strengthening for the exec 
Bank's resources will permit MVOl 
23 local consultants and eight intern 
for periods of up to thirty months e 
tise in such areas as the identificatic 
mension in housing programs; the k 
struction, tenancy and housing finar 
assessments for new construction and 
information processing at the mini 
field offices. 

The new housing units consi 
sites, equipped with sources of drink 

i reorganization of 
y and will help fi-
nately 7,700 new 
lents through the 
ig and Urban De-
day Urbanización, 
>roject involves in-
uting agency—the 
MA to hire up to 
itional consultants 
ich to lend exper-
n of the social di-
gal aspects of con-
ce; environmental 
rehabilitation; and 
stries' central and 

¡t of 150 m2-area 
ng water and elec

tric power and access to sanitary sewers. The executing 
agency will be responsible for contracting for the 
construction and will also determine the eligibility of 
applicants for residency grants in the units based on 
monthly family incomes up to $300. After the initial 
construction contracting, MVOTMA will turn over re
sponsibility for monitoring the expansion of the core 
units and for the general management of the sites in the 
community setting to qualifying NGOs. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Future Farmers 

This loan for the equivalent of up to $500,000 from 
the Special Fund for the Financing of Small Productive 
Projects, established by the European Economic Com
munity, will permit the Young Farmers' Movement 
(Movimiento de la Juventud Agraria, MJA) to establish a 
revolving credit and business development fund admin
istered through a network of Young Farmers' Clubs 
throughout the country. A nonreimbursable technical 
cooperation operation for the equivalent of $150,000 
will provide the means for institutional strengthening 
of the MJA and its beneficiaries' clubs and will include 
an environmental education component that empha
sizes soil erosion control and appropriate use of agro-
chemicals. In all, approximately 520 young people, 
nearly half of them women, will obtain access to financ
ing for working capital and fixed assets. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Support for Integration into MERCOSUR 

This TC operation consists of two parts, one a loan of 
$1.4 million from the OC (with defrayment of interest 
charges from the Intermediate Financing Facility) and 
the other a grant of $600,000 from the EC's Special 
Fund for Technical Consultant Services. The financings 
will fund a series of studies, involving both the Uru
guayan private and public sectors, into the competitive
ness of various sectors of the national economy. A ma
jor objective of the operation will be to strengthen the 
role of the country's Sectoral Commission for 
MERCOSUR, known as COMISEC, both as the coor
dinator of the studies to be undertaken within this 
project and as the principal focus of efforts to restruc-
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MONTEVIDEO, URUGUAY. Using credit 
extended through FUNDASOL, a founda
tion providing small loans to low-income 
microentrepreneurs and their families, 
Jorge Coaik undertook a series of improve
ments to his battery repair shop. 

ture and modernize the productive sectors of the na
tional economy. Among COMISEC's many areas of ac
tivity will be a public information campaign (in the 
form of seminars, publications and other initiatives) to 
convey the effects and opportunities represented by 
MERCOSUR to departmental authorities throughout 
the country and efforts to provide the Ministry of La
bor with up-to-date information on trends associated 
with regional integration and the implementation of the 
trade agreement itself. 

Modernization of the Escuela de Lechería de 
Colonia Suiza 

A nonreimbursable TC of SwF 850,000 ($582,000) 
from the Swiss Fund for Technical Cooperation and 
Small Projects will enable this dairy institute, founded 
in 1930, to modernize its curriculum, incorporating the 
views and participation of the local private sector in fos
tering business management criteria as part of instruc
tion in dairy techniques; in methods for bringing new 
products and processes to the marketplace; and in mar
keting. By strengthening the quality of instruction at the 

school in a variety of specialties, the project will con
tribute to greater profitability for the goods produced 
at the school itself and will instruct small dairy farmers 
in rural areas, and their families, through outreach and 
training activities. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Ptojects 

Planning and Reform 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Transportation and Communications 
Environmental and Public Health 
Urban Development 
Energy 
Education, Science and Technology 
Industry and Mining 
Export Financing 
Tourism 
Preinvestment 
Other 
Total 

256,357 
170,611 
194,885 
134,912 
125,031 
62,114 
39,516 
34,530 

8,940 
8,692 
7,761 

104,400 

$486 ,196 
265,245 
454,759 
203,112 
173,301 
162,009 
104,186 
138,536 

12,771 
17,091 
13,204 

145,811 

$1,147,749 $2,176,221 
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VENEZUELA 

The Government of Venezuela and the Bank assigned 
the highest priority to consolidation of the structural 
reforms begun in 1989 and to reduction in the level— 
as well as the degree of regional disparity—of poverty. 
The Bank's support for the reform program emphasized 
decentralization of public services, diversification of pro

duction, and a more balanced regional development. 
The Bank has made 53 loans totaling $2,909 million to 
Venezuela. Cumulative disbursements total $1,554 mil

lion. In 1992, the Bank approved four loans. 

LOANS 

Agricultural Sector Loan 

Executing 
Agency: 

$300 million from the OC, with cofi

nancing of $300 million from the World 
Bank 

Ministry of Agriculture (Ministerio de 
Agricultura y Cría, MAC) 

This loan will help increase the overall efficiency of the 
Venezuelan agricultural sector and help create condi

tions for sustained agricultural growth. These goals will 
be pursued through three main components—a public 
investment program to finance the infrastructure needs 
identified as necessary to reduce production costs and 
improve the quality and quantity of exports; a credit 
program to enable producers at the farm level to bring 
their operations into line with new price structures; and 
a series of measures aimed at strengthening institutions 
involved with the planning and execution of programs 
and projects at the national level. 

The program will include a thorough survey and 
review of landuse and landownership patterns 
throughout the country, as well as improvements in ani

mal and plant health inspection services and improve

ments in productive infrastructure such as rural roads, 
electrification and drainage. A restructured Agricul

tural Credit Fund will supervise the credit component 
of the program, making funds available as a secondtier 
lender to intermediary financial institutions. The insti

tutionstrengthening activities will include training in 
both policy development and project implementation 

at the field level for officials at public entities at work in 
the sector, principally the Ministry of Agriculture, and 
improvements in the environmental impact assessment 
system in the Ministry of Environment and Renewable 
Natural Resources (MARNR). 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
1000 

83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 

■ Lending — Disbursements 

Management of the Primary Roads System 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$200 million from the OC, with cofi

nancing of $ 150 million from the World 
Bank 

Ministry of Transport and Communica

tions (Ministerio de Transporte y Comuni

caciones, MTC) 

This financing will support the borrower's efforts to en

sure the installation of an adequate system for manag

ing the country's network of primary roads. Its objec

tive is the reduction of transportation costs through the 
design and implementation of policy reforms in the 
sector and through institutional strengthening for the 
executing agency and participating state governments, 
allowing them to consolidate their technical, adminis

trative and financial capacity in the context of a 
Multiyear Investment Plan. 

Components of the program will assist the MTC 
with the reestablishment of activities to conserve the 
road system, focusing on a balanced distribution of 
funds between investment and maintenance; establish

ment of a maintenance management system covering 
the country's entire road system; accelerating the pro

cess of rehabilitating highways, bridges and tunnels; 
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solving traffic congestion and safety problems by means 
of periodic maintenance; agreeing on policies to con
trol cargo loads on highways, mainly through the build
ing of 16 weigh stations; and reorganizing the MTC to 
enable it to assume its new responsibilities. The financ
ing will also serve to design cost-recovery plans sufficient 
to ensure highway maintenance, help with the 
privatization and/or letting of concessions for various 
multi-lane highways, and to set up an Environmental 
Unit within the agency to monitor the use of safeguards 
during project execution. 

Agricultural Technology Development Program— 
Phase II 

Financin 
Executin 
Agency: 

g: $64.5 million from the OC 

National Agricultural Research Council 
(Fondo Nacional de Investigaciones Agro
pecuarias, FONAIAP) 

The primary purpose of this loan is to strengthen and 
broaden the quality of agricultural extension services 
and research throughout the country, thereby respond
ing to changing needs in the sector and to the 
government's efforts to achieve durable macroeconomic 
stability. The financing will help increase productivity 
by better management of natural resources and the in
troduction of updated productive technologies—such as 
genetic improvements and integrated pest control 
(IPC)—intended to contribute to the protection of the 
environment and to an improvement in the quality of 
life for Venezuela's population as a whole. 

The program has three main components: re
search, the spread of technology and the institutional 
strengthening of FONAIAP. Under the first of these, 
projects will be undertaken in disciplines involving a 
variety of crops, animals and fisheries. Projects will be 
selected based on their demonstrable productive effi
ciency, the competitiveness of the resulting products 
and commodities on domestic and world markets, con
servation of natural resources, and on filling research 
needs not currently met by the local private sector, 
among other factors. In the second component, re
searchers, technology suppliers and producers will be 
encouraged to work jointly on developing appropriate 
solutions to problems at the field level. Building upon 
the IDB Phase I financing that helped to establish 
FONAIAP in 1983, the training component will pro
vide master's and doctoral level fellowships for study in 

specific areas suited to local needs and conditions and 
to specialties in which experts are lacking. 

Watershed Conservation and 
Management Program 

Financin 
Executin 
Agency: 

g: $32.1 million from the OC 

Ministry of the Environment and Renew
able Natural Resources (Ministerio del 
Medio Ambiente y de los Recursos Natu
rales Renovables, MARNR) 

This project constitutes the initial phase of a country
wide program involving the comprehensive manage
ment of the renewable resources of watersheds. The 
present operation focuses on three areas—the upper ba
sins of the Boconó and Tocuyo Rivers, and the upper 
and middle Yaracuy River. Together, the projects will 
encompass an area comprising just under 50,000 hectares. 

The principal components of the project will con
sist of extension activities, the transfer of technology for 
soil conservation by small-scale producers in selected 
critical areas, and small civil works in riverbeds within 
the watersheds to control erosion. The program also in
cludes the reforestation of up to 5,000 hectares in the 
Tocuyo River basin (and subsequent management of the 
planted area) and a flood control project, encompassing 
the construction of two longitudinal dikes at points 
where the river flows through the city of Boconó. Two 
important components of the program are the launch
ing of an environmental awareness program, featuring 
training of personnel, education, and the dissemination 
of conservation information by mass media and local 
groups throughout the affected areas, and the monitor
ing and evaluation of the impact of conservation prac
tices and erosion control works. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Planning and Reform 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Energy 
Transportation and Communications 
Industry and Mining 
Envitonmental and Public Health 
Education, Science and Technology 
Tourism 
Urban Development 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 

Total 

: 698,259 
654,546 
394,243 
391,648 
299,414 
258,951 

81,608 
75,000 
31,871 

1,404 
21,901 

$1,415,000 
1,803,075 
1,901,500 
1,490,600 
1,176,594 

651,596 
197,626 
150,000 
94,450 

2,006 
44,694 

$2,908,845 $8,927,141 
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REGIONAL 

The Bank has made 44 loans totaling $1,682 million 
for regional projects. Cumulative disbursements total 
$1,350 million. In 1992, the Bank approved four loans 
and 13 major technical cooperations. 

LOANS 

Multisector Credit Program 
(Inter-American Investment Corporation) 

Financing: $210 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Inter-American Investment Corporation 

(IIC) 

This loan to the Bank's sister institution will enable the 
latter to continue to build upon its record in the area of 
equity investments and loans to the private sector 
throughout Latin America and the Caribbean. Together 
with resources raised through the capital subscriptions 
of IIC member countries and by the Corporation itself, 
the total funding of $630 million will allow the organi
zation to meet a larger share of the pending requests 
from firms in the region for inclusion in its portfolio. 
As the need to stimulate private-sector development in 
the region as a complement to its own activities became 
more and more evident to the Bank in the 1980s, when 
joint ventures and the formation of new businesses were 
suffering as a consequence of the relative scarcity of di
rect private foreign investment, the Corporation was 
created to meet an urgent need. 

Having begun operations in 1989, the IIC's cur
rently active operations have generated an estimated 
60,000 jobs throughout the region, and have created 
$350 million worth of exports and an aggregate value 
of $460 million. Because the amortization of most of 
the Corporation's loans has not yet begun, it has sought 
this additional financing in order to make further me
dium- and long-term credits and investment capital 
available to prospective beneficiaries. In practice, the 
IDB financing will function similarly to other regional 
and country-specific multisectoral lines of credit, allow
ing borrowers and beneficiaries, mostly small and me
dium-sized firms, to obtain technical assistance and in
puts badly needed for productive activities, and to 

leverage funds from other sources, both domestic and 
foreign. 

Support for the University of the West Indies 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

three loans from the OC, for a total of $56 
million, with a portion of the interest costs 
on each to be assumed by the IFF, and 
cofinancing of $10 million from the 
Caribbean Development Bank (CDB) 

University of the West Indies (UWI) 

The immediate goal of these loans is to expand and im
prove the University's programs and facilities in the 
fields of science and technology. Pursuant to the 
University's Ten-Year Development Plan, the IDB fi
nancing constitutes the first phase of a higher educa
tion program aimed at increasing the enrollment and 
number of graduates on all campuses, improving the 
quality of instruction and increasing the research capa
bilities of the University. In making loan funds avail
able, the Bank was guided in part by the consensus on 
the part of a number of regional organizations, includ
ing CARICOM and the Organization of Eastern Car
ibbean States (OECS), that increased emphasis should 
be placed on the natural sciences, engineering and agri
culture. 

Specifically, funds from these financings will be 
used to improve operations at the University's three 
campuses as follows: i) through investments of $11.5 
million for the Cave Hill campus in Barbados, $15.1 
million for the Mona campus in Jamaica, and $16.3 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
300 

200 

100 
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million for the St. Augustine campus in Trinidad and 
Tobago and ii) through regional institutional develop
ment activities, including $13.1 million for fellowships 
for UWI faculty members, visiting professors and the 
establishment of a research and development fund. The 
fund in turn will strengthen the University's capacity to 
provide research and technical services to the region in 
natural-resource, environmental and agro-industrial ac
tivities, in science and technology, and in social sector 
development. Additional program goals include 
strengthening the University's ties to industry, the 
private sector, and other research and post-secondary in
stitutions throughout the English-speaking Caribbean; 
broadening its continuing education and extension ac
tivities; and designing and establishing new programs 
for non-campus countries. UWI's enrollment is pro
jected to increase from a current total of approximately 
3,400 students to over 5,200 by the end of the decade. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Expansion of the Bolivar Program 

This nonreimbursable TC financing of $4.2 million, 
supplemented by $1.1 million from the Government of 
Venezuela and $2 million from private and public in
stitutions in seven other Latin American countries, will 
establish a new facility, to be known as ENLACE, 
within the context of the Bolivar Program, a two year-
old initiative promoting regional technical integration, 
innovation and industrial competitiveness. ENLACE, 
the Entidad Latinoamericana Científico-Empresarial, will 
act as a mechanism to identify potential international 
business partners and to facilitate the development, fi
nancing and execution of joint projects involving tech
nological innovation by businesses, research institutes, 
professional associations, consultants and financial in
stitutions, among others. The Bolivar Program, estab
lished by Venezuela, is active in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, 
Colombia, Costa Rica, Mexico and Uruguay as well, 
focusing on efforts to fund research and projects in the 
productive sectors with partners from at least two of the 
participating countries in order to qualify for funding. 

Postgraduate Training in Public Policy 

A grant of $4,150,000 from the income of the Fund 
for Special Operations to the Torcuato Di Telia Insti
tute in Buenos Aires will provide in-depth training for 

promising professionals—academics and government 
officials—from a variety of countries in the region. The 
fields of study will involve topics related to international 
trade and the reform of the state (and its dealings with 
the private sector). Over a ten-year period approxi
mately 200 students will study at the university for two 
years each. The course of study for each of the subtop
ics, trade and state reform, will be made up of a core 
curriculum and a period of specialization, followed by a 
workshop focusing on a problem or topic in the indi
vidual participant's country of origin. 

Training and Research in Project Evaluation 

A grant of $4,150,000 to the University of the Andes 
in Colombia will provide training for an estimated 850 
professionals in the area of project analysis for programs 
throughout the region over a 12-year period. Specific 
fields of concentration will include socioeconomic ap
praisal of projects and the formulation and evaluation 
of policies in the areas of resource allocation in envi
ronmental protection and social investment. The con
centration in these areas will serve to train a cadre of 
academic specialists in project evaluation, ensuring a 
multiplier effect in the countries of origin of candidates 
qualifying for these courses; it will also serve to reexam
ine curricula used throughout Latin America and the 
Caribbean in these disciplines. The university profes
sors' focus, in particular, will be on topics such as project 
cycle management, the definition of standards for so
cioeconomic project evaluation, economic theory and 
methodology, case study research, and curriculum de
sign. 

PROANDES—Phase II 

A combined TC grant of $3.1 million from the Social 
Progress Trust Fund and $900,000 from the FSO will 
enable the United Nations' Children's Fund (UNICEF) 
to carry out the second phase of the Andean Subregional 
Basic Anti-Poverty Services Program, known as 
PROANDES. The follow-on phase of the program will 
concentrate on four projects to be carried out in behalf 
of all of the countries of the subregión jointly (Bolivia, 
Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela) and 15 sepa
rate projects divided among the beneficiary countries 
and carried out at the national level. In all of 
PROANDES' activities, there is a pronounced empha
sis on community participation, whether in behalf of 
indigenous peoples, or in strengthening NGOs work-

LOANS AND TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

99 



ing in the fight against poverty. Many of the individual 
projects are aimed at increasing the income of benefi
ciaries, particularly those involved with food produc
tion—and even more specifically, among women in
volved in agriculture. Priority is also given to projects 
focusing on improved nutrition, education, child devel
opment and environmental protection. 

Regional Program of Support for Central American 
Development and Integration (PRADIC) 

This nonreimbursable funding of $2,736,000 will fi
nance the work of several subregional integration insti
tutions—the Secretariat of the Central American Mon
etary Council (SCMCA), the General Secretariat of the 
Treaty for Central American Economic Integration 
(SIECA), and the Federation of Private Entities of Cen
tral America and Panama (FEDEPRICAP). The prin
cipal activity of each group is the harmonization of eco
nomic, trade and competitiveness policies throughout 

BA TAN, MEXICO. A technical cooperation grant 
for $ 11.5 million in 1989 has financed research 
in three facilities of the Consultative Group on 
International Agricultural Research (CCIAR). 
Technician Jorge Zarco of the International 
Center for the Improvement of Maize and Wheat 
(CIMMYT) is engaged in studying the effects of 
fungicides on different varieties of bread wheat. 

the isthmus, in keeping with the Plan of Economic Ac
tion for Central America (PAECA), adopted by the 
presidents of Central America in 1990. A second com
ponent of the PRADIC grant will be administered di
rectly by the IDB, coordinating activities of the 
organization's Regional Consultative Group for Central 
America and sponsoring a conference, under the aegis 
of the Inter-American Investment Corporation, of lead
ing private-sector entrepreneurs from the six member 
countries. 
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Graduate Study Grants for Professionals 
Specializing in Social Policy 

This project will be executed and administered through 
the Latin American Institute for Learning and Social 
Studies (Instituto Latinoamericano de Doctrina y Estudios 
Sociales, ILADES), a nonprofit foundation located in 
Santiago, Chile, and will offer participants from borrow
ing member countries of the Bank an opportunity to 
study economics at the master's level and beyond, with 
emphasis on the social sectors in the region. Preference 
will be given to professionals and academicians from the 
least developed and smallest of the region's countries; 
in all, an estimated 45 students will be trained pursuant 
to the grant of $1.45 million from the income of the 
FSO, with each course lasting a total of two years. 
ILADES will provide progress reports on the program 
in midstream; analyses of the effectiveness of the 
coursework will be provided by consultants hired for 
that purpose with IDB funds. 

Support for Women in Agriculture 

This nonreimbursable funding of $1.2 million from the 
Fund for Special Operations, cofinanced with an addi
tional $90,000 from the Inter-American Institute for 
Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA), will serve to im
prove working conditions for women engaged in agri
culture in 12 Latin American and Caribbean countries. 
This project, promoted jointly by the First Ladies of the 
beneficiary countries, should lead to the reorientation 
of agricultural policies in the Andean region, the South
ern Cone and the Caribbean in recognition of the in
creasing role of women as producers in the sector. It will 
also address the need for furthering productive effi
ciency, in an effort to support both the competitiveness 
of the region's goods in the international marketplace, 
and to increase their cleanliness and nutritive value. The 
IICA will serve as executing agency for the project 
through its regional offices. 

Program to Support Demographic Analysis in 
Investment Project Planning 

This grant of $ 1,150,000 from the Social Progress Trust 
Fund will be administered by the Latin American De
mographic Center (CELADE) and its parent organiza
tion, the United Nations' Economic Commission for 
Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC/CEPAL) in 
accordance with CELADE's four basic functional ar

eas—demography, population and development, infor
mation and information management, and instruction. 
In addition to the staff at its headquarters in Santiago, 
Chile, the agency will assign staff specialists from either 
of its regional offices in San José, Costa Rica or Port-of-
Spain, Trinidad, depending upon the location of spe
cific projects. Studies will be conducted to help identify 
and prepare investment projects and to evaluate their 
impact on local populations and the environment. Con
sultants retained by the agency will furnish the Bank 
with their case studies, once they have been reviewed 
by CELADE's own project coordinators, within 30 days 
of their completion. Additional components of the op
eration will provide training for public sector officials 
throughout the region in the use of demographic infor
mation and population studies in economic planning 
and the publication of a report on regional demographic 
trends, with country-specific applications. 

Support for Andean Group Trade Integration 

This nonreimbursable T C for the equivalent of 
$925,000 from the income of the Fund for Special Op
erations will permit the signatory countries of the 
Cartagena Accord to pursue the harmonization of poli
cies, rules and procedures governing foreign trade, cul
minating in the implementation of an Andean Customs 
Union. The three principal components of the program 
are i) development of transparency in subregional trade, 
ii) harmonization, streamlining and automating of cus
toms operations and iii) the preparation of future Bank 
TC operations in the Andean Group countries, in par
ticular involving the coordination of macroeconomic 
and sectoral policies among the five parties to the agree
ment. 

Training for the Administration of Microenterprise 
Support Programs 

A TC grant of $647,000 to the Cali, Colombia-based 
Fundación Carvajal from the income of the Fund for 
Special Operations will finance the operation of a three-
year program to provide private and governmental in
stitutions working with the informal sector in countries 
throughout the region a source of specialized training 
and support. Particular emphasis will be placed on de
veloping methodologies whereby both public and pri
vate sector intermediaries will be able to work with lo
cal financial sectors in making credit available to 
qualifying microenterprises; on cost-based accounting 
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techniques designed to encourage eventual self-suffi
ciency on the part of the beneficiary firms; and on man
agement training for the administrative agencies, par
ticularly with regard to their credit programs. The 
project will strengthen the Foundation's own activities 
in the fields of research and training, broadening its 
effectiveness among such important target groups as the 
populations of the countries of the English-speaking 
Caribbean and the vast numbers of women working in 
the informal sector throughout the region. 

Support for the Center for Latin American 
Monetary Studies 

This nonreimbursable technical cooperation for 
$613,500 from the Fund for Special Operations will 
enable the Center for Latin American Monetary Stud
ies (Centro de Estudios Monetarios Latinoamericanos, 
CEMLA) to provide advanced training in policy-mak
ing for high-level officials within the central banks of 
the region. Activities to be financed include research and 
technical training in areas such as foreign and domestic 
indebtedness; restructuring of financial systems; and sav
ings, investment and structural adjustment. 

Integrated Training Program in Energy Planning 
and Economics 

A $605,000 nonreimbursable operation from the FSO, 
when matched with counterpart funding from the 
Instituto de Economía Energética (IDEE) and the 
Fundación Bariloche, will cover the costs of travel and 
tuition for comprehensive training in energy econom
ics, planning and policy studies for professionals from 
the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean. Each 
of these professionals, in turn, must be engaged in ac
tivities involving planning, teaching or research in an 
energy-related field. The program documents stipulate 
that special attention be given to classroom training in 
the evaluation of projects, the calculation of prices and 
rates, and estimations of the demand for energy. One 
component of the financing will permit continued 
publication of the IDEE's newsletter and will help to 
update and expand that organization's library facilities. 

Training in Microenterprise Development 

The Norwegian Development Fund will provide 
$500,000, on a nonreimbursable basis, to as many as 
50 nongovernmental organizations affiliated with 
ACCIÓN International, a private nonprofit institution 
founded in 1961. Eligible administrators of credit pro
grams in 14 countries—an estimated 800 participants 
from ACCIÓN affiliates and an additional number 
from other NGOs—will receive training from consult
ants hired with resources from the project. Other forms 
of institutional strengthening will be made available 
through four distinct component activities: staff train
ing, technical support at the field level, an exchange pro
gram between organizations administered by the 
ACCIÓN affiliate in Colombia, and regional confer
ences featuring representatives of governments and in
ternational donor agencies, as well as the affiliates them
selves. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1992 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Enetgy 
Transpottation and Communications 
Planning and Reform 
Education, Science and Technology 
Industry and Mining 
Preinvestment 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Urban Development 
Other 

Total 

$1,064,267 $7,228,418 
137,873 218,216 
79,379 515,000 
65,902 105,410 
56,834 211,615 
27,275 58,752 
10,308 49,430 

5,465 10,000 
235,134 675,999 

$1,682,437 $9,072,840 
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STATEMENT OF APPROVED LOANS, 1992 ' 
Ordinary Capital 

Country PROJECT (Sector) 

Amount 
(Expressed in 

Date Millions of 
Approved U.S. Dollars) 

ARGENTINA DEBT AND DEBT-SERVICE REDUCTION (Planning and Reform) 

INVESTMENT SECTOR PROGRAM (Planning and Reform) 

ELECTRIC POWER COMPANIES REFORM (Energy) 

12/18/92 

12/16/92 

3/25/92 

400.0 

350.0 

300.0 

BAHAMAS MULTISECTOR CREDIT PROGRAM (2 loans) (Industry) 12/9/92 14.02&7.0 

BARBADOS SOUTH COAST SEWERAGE PROGRAM (2 loans) (Sanitation) 

PRIMARY EDUCATION PROGRAM (Education) 

MULTISECTORAL PREINVESTMENT PROGRAM (Industry) 

11/25/92 28.02&23.2 

11/18/92 11.62 

12/2/92 7.02 

BOLIVIA ROAD CONSTRUCTION ALONG THE BENI-LA PAZ-PERUV1AN 
BORDER CORRIDOR (Ttansportation) 10/14/92 55.0 

BRAZIL DECONTAMINATION OF THE RIO TIETE (Sanitation) 

BASIC SANITATION IN FORTALEZA (Sanitation) 

CORRIDOR ROADS IN SANTA CATARINA (Transportation) 

CORRIDOR ROADS IN PARANA (Transportation) 

MODERNIZATION OF AGRICULTURAL TECHNOLOGY IN 
THE CENTER-SOUTH (Agriculture) 

11/25/92 

9/30/92 

12/2/92 

12/9/92 

1/15/92 

400.0 

159.3 

102.5 

86.8 

67.5 

CHILE SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY PROGRAM (Science and Technology) 

BASIC JOB SKILLS TRAINING (Planning and Reform) 

AGRICULTURAL SECTOR MODERNIZATION (Agriculture) 

GLOBAL CREDIT FOR MICROENTERPRISES (Industry) 

1/22/92 

6/17/92 

1/22/92 

3/18/92 

94.0 

40.0 

28.5 

12.0 

COLOMBIA TRANSPORTATION CORRIDORS PROGRAM (Transportation) 

ELECTRIC SECTOR SUPPORT PROGRAM (Energy) 

REGIONAL AND MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT (Planning and Reform) 

HEALTH SERVICES IMPROVEMENT (Health) 

11/18/92 

7/1/92 

12/2/92 

12/2/92 

300.0 

150.0 

40.0 

40.0 

COSTA RICA HEALTH SERVICES SECTOR PROGRAM (2 loans) (Health) 

MICROENTERPRISE AND SMALL BUSINESS (Industry) 

EL SALVADOR ELECTRICITY SECTOR PROGRAM (Energy) 

INVESTMENT SECTOR REFORM PROGRAM (Planning and Reform) 

11/25/92 28.02&14.0 

11/4/92 10.0 

ECUADOR NATIONAL ROAD PROGRAM (Transportation) 12/9/92 120.0 

REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT IN WESTERN PICHINCHA (Planning and Reform) 2/5/92 73.8 

12/16/92 

11/25/92 

125.9 

90.0 

HONDURAS MULTISECTORAL GLOBAL CREDIT PROGRAM (Industry) 

AGRICULTURAL SECTOR ADJUSTMENT—PHASE II (Agriculture) 

12/16/92 

12/18/92 

60.0 

50.0 

JAMAICA IMPROVEMENTS IN PRIMARY EDUCATION—PHASE II (Education) 10/7/92 28.02 

Variable interest rate on outstanding balance is established semi-annually. 
2 Interest rate charges partially defrayed by Intermediate Financing Facility. 
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STATEMENT OF APPROVED LOANS, 1992 ' 
Ordinary Capital (continued) 

Country PROJECT (Sector) 
Date 

Approved 

Amount 
(Expressed in 
Millions of 

U.S. Dollars) 

MEXICO GLOBAL CREDIT FOR SMALL AND MEDIUM-SIZED BUSINESSES (Industry) 8/19/92 250.0 

WATER AND SEWERAGE PROGRAM (Sanitation) 1 /8/92 200.0 

ECOLOGICAL CONSERVATION FOR METROPOLITAN MEXICO CITY (Environment) 5/27/92 100.0 

NICARAGUA AGRICULTURAL REFORM PROGRAM (Agriculture) 

EMERGENCY SOCIAL INVESTMENT FUND (Planning and Reform) 

WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REHABILITATION (Sanitation) 

12/9/92 

12/9/92 

3/11/92 

37.02 

16.32 

15.02 

PANAMA PUBLIC ENTERPRISE REFORM PROGRAM (2 loans) (Planning and Reform) 8/5/92 80.0&40.02 

PARAGUAY INVESTMENT SECTOR PROGRAM (Planning and Reform) 

CONSOLIDATION OF RURAL SETTLEMENTS (Urban Development) 

HOUSING SECTOR REFORM PROGRAM (Housing) 

GLOBAL CREDIT FOR MICROENTERPRISE (Industry) 

12/9/92 

9/23/92 

3/25/92 

11/18/92 

70.0 

25.6 

12.3 

10.0 

PERU FINANCE SECTOR REFORM (Planning and Reform) 3/18/92 200.0 

TRINIDAD 
AND TOBAGO 

BRIDGE AND ACCESS ROADS REPAIR (Transportation) 10/28/92 31.52 

URUGUAY MULTISECTORAL GLOBAL CREDIT (Industry) 

INVESTMENT SECTOR REFORM (Planning and Reform) 

HOUSING SECTOR PROGRAM (2 loans) (Housing) 

11/11/92 90.0 

11/11/92 65.0 

12/18/92 32.0&16.02 

VENEZUELA AGRICULTURAL SECTOR PROGRAM (Agricultute) 

PRIMARY ROADS SYSTEM MANAGEMENT (Transportation) 

AGRICULTURAL TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT—PHASE II (Agriculture) 

WATERSHED CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT (Environment) 

9/30/92 

12/16/92 

8/19/92 

10/28/92 

300.0 

200.0 

64.5 

32.1 

REGIONAL MULTISECTOR CREDIT PROGRAM—INTER-AMERICAN 
INVESTMENT CORP. (Industry) 

UNIVERSITY OF THE WEST INDIES (3 loans) (Education) 

12/16/92 

3/25/92 

210.0 

13.02&20.12 

&22.92 

1 Variable interest rate on outstanding balance is established semi-annually. 
Interest rate charges partially defrayed by Intermediate Financing Facility. 
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STATEMENT OF APPROVED LOANS, 1992 ■* 
Fund for Special Operations 

Country PROJECT (Sector) 
Date 

Approved 

Amount 
(Expressed in 
Millions of 

U.S. Dollars) 

BOLIVIA ROAD CONSTRUCTION ALONG THE BENI-LA PAZ-PERUV1AN 
BORDER CORRIDOR (Ttanspottation) 

MULTISECTOR PREINVESTMENT PROGRAM (Preinvestment) 

10/14/92 

7/29/92 

40.0 
6.4 

BRAZIL DECONTAMINATION OF THE RIO TIETE (Sanitation) 

BASIC SANITATION IN FORTALEZA (Sanitation) 

MODERNIZATION OF AGRICULTURAL TECHNOLOGY IN 
THE CENTER-SOUTH (Agricultute) 

SUPPORT FOR THE NATIONAL ENVIRONMENT FUND (Environment) 

11/25/92 

9/30/92 

1/15/92 

3/25/92 

50.0 

39.9 

12.5 

22.0 

DOMINICAN 
REPUBLIC LOCAL ROAD MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR (Ttanspottation) 10/28/92 34.4 

EL SALVADOR WATER AND SEWERAGE REHABILITATION (Sanitation) 12/16/92 

GUYANA MAIN ROAD REHABILITATION PROGRAM (Ttanspottation) 9/16/92 

19.0 

GUATEMALA MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM—PHASE II (Planning and Reform) 3/25/92 40.5 

MICROENTERPRISE AND SMALL BUSINESS GLOBAL CREDIT PROGRAM (Industry) 5/6/92 10.0 

23.4 

HONDURAS SOCIAL INVESTMENT FUND (Planning and Reform) 7/29/92 31.5 

NICARAGUA AGRICULTURAL REFORM PROGRAM (Agriculture) 

WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REHABILITATION (Sanitation) 

12/9/92 

3/11/92 

13.0 

32.0 

PARAGUAY CONSOLIDATION OF RURAL SETTLEMENTS (Urban Development) 

HOUSING SECTOR REFORM PROGRAM (Housing) 

9/23/92 

3/25/92 

30.0 

41.7 

•s Interest rates on Fund for Special Operations loans vary from I to 4 percent, depending on the stage of development of the country and the nature of the project. 
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SELECTED DATA ON LATIN AMERICA 
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SANTO DOMINGO, DOMINICAN REPUBLIC. 
Worker adjusts motor at Metalúrgica L'Antigua, a 
recipient of a Small Project financing administered 
by the Association for the Development of 
Microenterprise (ADEMI). ADEMI supports microen
trepreneurs by providing working capital for pur
chasing raw materials and basic tools and equip
ment. 

LIMA, PERU. Rosario Falcon, a research assistant, 
and Jim Bryan, a seed specialist, study potato seed
ling at the International Potato Center (CIP). Seeds 
developed in CIP greenhouses are far easier to plant 
than tubular varieties and have been distributed to 7 2 
countries. 
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POPULATION AND GROWTH RATES, 1960-91 TABLE 1 

Countrv 

1960 1970 1980 1985 1988 1989 1990 

(In thousands) 

1991 

Avetage Annual Growth Rates 

1971-80 1981-90 1990-91 

(In percent) 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

20,616 
113 
231 

91 
3,428 

72,594 

23,962 
171 
239 
120 

4,325 
95,847 

28,237 
210 
249 
146 

5,570 
121,286 

30,331 
232 
253 
166 

6,371 
135,564 

31,534 
246 
254 
178 

6,918 
144,428 

31,929 
250 
254 
183 

7,113 
147,404 

32,322 
255 
255 
187 

7,314 
150,368 

32,712 
260 
255 
191 

7,521 
153,330 

1.7 
2.1 
0.4 
2.0 
2.6 
2.4 

1.4 
1.9 
0.2 
2.5 
2.8 
2.2 

1.2 
2.0 
0.0 
2.0 
2.8 
2.0 

Chile 7,690 9,369 11,104 12,122 12,748 12,961 13,173 13,385 1.7 1.7 1.6 
Colombia 15,939 21,360 26,906 29,879 31,725 32,349 32,978 33,613 2.3 2.1 1.9 
Costa Rica 1,236 1,731 2,284 2,642 2,866 2,941 3,015 3,088 2.8 2.8 2.4 
Dominican Republic 3,231 4,423 5,697 6,416 6,867 7,019 7,170 7,321 2.6 2.3 2.1 
Ecuador 4,413 6,051 8,123 9,317 10,070 10,327 10,587 10,851 3.0 2.7 2.5 

El Salvador 2,570 3,588 4,525 4,768 5,032 5,138 5,252 5,376 2.3 1.5 2.4 
Guatemala 3,964 5,246 6,917 7,963 8,681 8,935 9,197 9,467 2.8 2.9 2.9 
Guyana 569 730 758 757 755 755 755 759 0.4 0.0 0.5 
Haiti 3,675 4,535 5,370 5,889 6,253 6,381 6,513 6,647 1.7 1.9 2.1 
Honduras 1,935 2,627 3,662 4,383 4,829 4,982 5,138 5,298 3.4 3.4 3.1 

Jamaica 1,629 1,869 2,173 2,336 2,446 2,483 2,521 2,551 1.5 1.5 1.2 
Mexico 35,130 48,400 64,478 72,689 77,789 79,515 81,250 82,997 2.9 2.3 2.2 
Nicaragua 1,493 2,053 2,771 3,272 3,622 3,745 3,871 4,000 3.0 3.4 3.3 
Panama1 1,105 1,487 1,956 2,180 2,322 2,370 2,418 2,466 2.8 2.1 2.0 
Paraguay 1,773 2,351 3,147 3,693 4,039 4,158 4,277 4,397 3.0 3.1 2.8 

Peru 9,931 13,193 17,295 19,417 20,684 21,113 21,550 21,996 2.7 2.2 2.1 
Suriname 290 369 352 353 359 362 364 370 -0.5 0.3 1.7 
Trinidad and Tobago 843 899 1,099 1,178 1,240 1,261 1,281 1,300 2.0 1.5 1.5 
Uruguay 2,538 2,808 2,914 3,008 3,060 3,077 3,094 3,112 0.4 0.6 0.6 
Venezuela 7,502 10,604 15,024 17,317 18,757 19,246 19,735 20,227 3.5 2.8 2.5 

Latin America 204,529 268,356 342,253 382,496 407,702 416,251 424,839 433,489 2.5 2.2 2.0 

Source: Latin American Demographic Center, Santiago, Chile, United Nations Population Division and IDB estimates. 
1 Panama includes the former Canal Zone, from 1980. 
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GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT PER CAPITA1 TABLE 2 

(In 1988 U.S. dollars) (As a percent of OECD J) 

Country 1960 1970 1980 1989 1990 1991 1970 1980 1989 1990 1991 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

2,476 

3,279 

799 
937 

3,256 
8,980 
5,997 

1,010 
1,289 

3,535 
9,564 
5,821 
1,526 
1,159 
2,385 

Chile 1,718 2,086 2,303 
Colombia 737 909 1,253 
Costa Rica 1,087 1,384 1,778 
Dominican Republic 390 470 713 
Ecuador 660 791 1,377 

El Salvador 986 1,238 1,267 
Guatemala 647 836 1,098 
Guyana 623 714 724 
Haiti 288 262 352 
Honduras 537 679 843 

2,715 
10,496 
6,214 
1,781 

912 
2,377 

2,519 
1,431 
1,665 

733 
1,261 

1,048 
900 
513 
276 
^85 

2,672 
10,419 

5,895 
1,871 

910 
2,233 

2,527 
1,455 
1,679 

671 
1,255 

1,059 
901 
494 
263 
^62 

2,798 
10,035 

5,703 
1,918 

929 
2,210 

2,637 
1,461 
1,671 

650 
1,277 

1,077 
904 
534 
247 
758 

28.6 
79.0 
52.8 

8.9 
11.3 

18.4 
8.0 

12.2 
4.1 
7.0 

10.9 
7.4 
6.3 
2.3 
6.0 

24.9 
67.5 
41.1 
10.8 
8.2 

16.8 

16.2 
8.8 

12.5 
5.0 
9.7 

8.9 
- .8 
5.1 
2Ñ 
6.0 

15.6 
60.3 
35.7 
10.2 
5.2 

13.6 

14.5 
8.2 
9 6 
4.2 
7.2 

6.0 
5.2 
2.9 
1.6 
4.5 

15.1 
59.0 
33.4 
10.6 

5.2 
12.7 

14.3 
8.2 
9.5 
3.8 
7.1 

6.0 
5.1 
2. H 
1.5 
4.3 

16.2 
58.0 
33.0 
11.1 

5.4 
12.8 

15.2 
8.4 
9.7 
3.8 
7.4 

6.2 
5.2 
3.1 
1.4 
4 4 

Jamaica 1,276 1,835 1,365 1,434 1,489 1,472 16.1 9.6 8.2 8.4 8.5 
Mexico 1,167 1,703 2,439 2,212 2,266 2,299 15.0 17.2 12.7 12.8 13.3 
Nicaragua 828 1,166 845 563 540 522 10.3 6.0 3 2 3.1 3.0 
Panama 1,158 1,850 2,306 1,938 1,992 2,127 16.3 16.3 11.1 11.3 12.3 
Paraguay 772 910 1,560 1,554 1,557 1,550 8.0 11.0 8.9 8.8 9.0 

Peru 1,041 1,725 1,877 1,436 1,341 1,353 15.2 13.2 8.2 7.6 7.8 
Suriname 2,040 2,647 4,331 3,180 3,088 2,954 23.3 30.6 18.3 17.5 17.1 
Trinidad and Tobago 3,063 4,038 6,251 4,052 4,006 4,104 35.5 44.1 23.3 22.7 23.7 
Uruguay 2,087 2,200 2,849 2,750 2,755 2,787 19.4 20.1 15.8 15.6 16.1 
Venezuela 2,912 3,787 4,082 3,282 3,407 3,682 3 3 3 28.8 18.8 1 9 3 21.3 

Latin America 1,214 , 6 2 7 2 , 2 7 8 2 ,091 2 , 0 4 8 2,073 14.3 16.1 12.0 11 .6 12 .0 

Sources: For countries in Latin America. IDB estimates based on official statistics; and for Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 
countries, OECD Main Economic Indicators, October 1992. 

1 See Economie a n a Social Progress in Latin America, 1992 report. Statistical Appendix, Methodological Notes for Tables B-l to B-17. 
- Due to differences in the methodology used by the IDB and the OECD for conversion of national accounts to a common currency, the data are not strictly 
comparable to those published in previous issues of the Annual Report The per capita GDP of OECD countries in constant 1988 U.S. dollars was estimated at 
$11.366 for 1970, Í14,170 for 1980, Í 17,4 19 for 1989, S 17,649 for 1990 and 117,301 for 1991. 
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GROWTH OF GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT BY SECTOR OF ORIGIN, 198891 
(Average annual growth rates in percent) 

T A B L E 3 

Country 1988 

Agriculture1 

1989 1990 1991 1988 

Industrv

1989 1990 1991 1988 

Services* 

1989 1990 1991 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

0.0 

5 .9 
1 .6 

2.4 
0.8 

2 .9 

9 .0 
7.5 

1.3 
2.9 

9.8 

8.5 
12.4 

- 2 . 0 
- 3 . 7 

1 o 

4.6 
0.7 
7.2 
2.6 

- 5 . 4 

6.9 
6.5 

11.2 
 2 . 6 

 8 . 8 

5.5 
18.8 
8.1 
2.9 

 5 . 4 

 4 . 4 
8.9 
6.1 

 8 . 0 

5.0 
3.8 
5.7 

0.9 

1.9 

3.4 
9.4 

1.3 
2.1 

4.¿ 
15.0 

1.1 
3.5 

0.6 

3.7 
7.6 
2.3 

1.1 

3.5 
5.7 
2.2 
1.6 

Chile 5.3 4.8 3.3 1.8 7.4 9.4 0.4 5.5 7.6 11.0 
Colombia 2.8 4.3 6.6 4.9 4.5 4.1 0.9 0.7 4.8 2.3 
Costa Rica 4.6 7.4 2.6 5.6 2.0 4.6 2.4 0.8 3.3 5.0 
Dominican Republic  1 . 3 2.3  6 . 3 2.4  1 . 8 4.7  1 2 . 4  4 . 4 4.0 3.5 
Ecuador 7.7 2.5 3.0 6.4 16.0  5 . 0  2 . 9 3.0 2.7 3.7 

2.8 
4.3 
4.3 

2.2 
4.9 

6.9 
2.3 
1.5 

0.1 
4.3 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

1 .0 
4.5 

8 .6 
1.3 
0.5 

0.5 
3 1 

 2 . 9 
 1 . 1 
10.0 

7.4 
4.1 

■13.8 
 3 . 7 

1.1 

 0 . 1 
2.9 

12.1 
 4 . 0 

5.4 

3.5 
4.2 

2.5 
1.0 

9.1 

2.5 
3.5 

■12.5 
 0 . 4 

6.5 

1.0 
1.4 

0.4 
7.3 
0.6 

5.7 
2.4 

12.0 
 5 . 0 

2.6 

1.4 
3.5 
0.1 

 1 . 9 
5.4 

1.5 
4.5 

3.5 
2.3 
2.3 

2M 
3.2 
0.0 

0.3 
1.1 

4.0 
3.8 
4.2 

3 .6 
0.2 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

 5 . 5 
 3 8 
 8 . 6 
 5 . 2 
12.1 

4.2 
3.8 
7.9 
3.7 
7.7 

11.8 
6.1 

 1 . 7 
3.0 
2.2 

0.4 
0.5 

-2.7 
6.6 

0 .6 

VI 
2.6 

21.8 
28.1 

5.5 

16.7 
5.9 

 2 . 6 
 3 . 6 

5 2 

6.9 
5.6 

 2 . 8 
11.7 
3.0 

 0 . 1 
3.3 
4.1 

22.4 
2.5 

1.0 
1.4 

•10.9 
■14.1 

3.8 

1.8 
3.2 

3 .6 
0.2 

5.0 

2.0 
3.9 
0.0 
3.8 
3.6 

0.3 
4.4 
0.2 
6.5 
4.2 

Peru 7.8  4 . 8  8 . 2 1.1  1 0 . 4  1 4 . 7  4 . 4 3 5  1 0 . 2  1 2 . 9  4 . 2 2.8 
Suriname  0 . 5  2 . 4 0.3 ... 17.5  1 7 . 4 18.7 ... 4.2 9.4  2 . 1 
Ttinidad and Tobago  2 . 8 6.0 18.6  9 . 7  1 . 5  0 . 9 1.0 7.1  6 . 1  4 . 6  1 . 5 1.8 
Uruguay  1 . 6 1.5 1.9  0 . 4 0.6  0 . 7  1 . 0 0.3  0 . 1 1.1 1.5 3.2 
Venezuela 4.6  5 . 1  1 . 5 3.1 6.6  1 0 . 9 9.7 1 3 3 6.1  7 . 1 4.7 9.3 

Latin America 0.8 0.6 1.4 2.1 0.5 0.5 -2.2 2.6 1.4 1.3 1.4 3.6 

.Source: IDB estimates based on official statistics of member countries, 
1 Agriculture includes agriculture and livestock production, hunting and fishing, and forestry. 
1 Industry includes mining and quarrying, manufacturing, electricity, gas and water, and construction. 
■1 Services includes commerce, transport and communications, financial services, government, and other services. 
... Not available. 
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GROWTH OF GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT BY TYPE OF EXPENDITURE1, 1988-91 
(Average annual growth rates in percent) 

TABLE 4 

Consumption Investment Exports2 Imports2 

1988 1989 1990 1991 1988 1989 1990 1991 1988 1989 1990 1991 1988 1989 1990 1991 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

3.8 
10.9 
3.9 

- 0 . 4 

-4.3 

8.0 
8.1 
3.0 
4.0 

-4.9 
4.6 
2.6 

-1.9 

8.4 

0.6 
-0.2 

2.1 
2.1 

■10.8 -30.6 

2.1 12.9 
33.2 43.0 

-24.3 - 1 0 . 0 
- 4 . 8 1.2 

-6.4 

-4.5 
-6.4 
-6.4 
-8.1 

30.0 

- 1 . 8 
15.9 
46.5 

- 4 . 1 

18.6 

2.2 
10.4 
6.3 

131 

18.1 0.0 ■11.5 

- 8 . 8 - 4 . 6 - 1 1 . 2 2.0 
10.8 10.3 5.9 20.5 
12.2 14.9 3 0 - 1 5 . 0 

5.1 - 4 . 9 6.6 - 1 . 1 

•17.3 

2.2 
16.4 
4.8 
8.9 

0.1 

- 4 . 5 
0.2 
9.4 

10.1 

50.0 

- 3 . 9 
5.6 

13.8 
10.1 

Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican 

Republic-

Ecuador 

8.7 
4.6 
2.9 

3.7 
2.0 

7.3 
4.2 
5.2 

11.2 
1.2 

0.8 
3.6 
4.1 

9.1 
3.3 

5.3 
2.0 
2.6 

3.5 
0.9 

9.2 
8.0 

-7 .0 

-8.1 
-4 .0 

28.9 
- 7 . 3 

9.6 

7.4 
3.3 

- 3 . 0 
- 3 . 1 

5.0 

- 2 8 . 4 
- 7 . 2 

1.9 
- 1 0 . 8 
- 1 9 . 2 

- 1 3 . 8 
20.6 

6.1 
0.3 
7.4 

3.6 
31.1 

15.7 
8.4 

16.1 

1.2 
- 1 . 8 

7.6 
16.7 
9.1 

7.2 
5.6 

12.8 
5.8 
8.9 

- 1 . 0 
10.6 

12.1 
6.6 

- 0 .9 

0.3 
-10.0 

25.3 

18.1 

17.4 
5.1 

0.6 
10.8 
10.8 

- 1 4 . 9 
0.3 

8.6 
-11.2 
- 3 . 0 

0.0 
16.5 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

1.7 
4.3 

-6.7 
-1 .4 

3.2 

2.4 
3.3 

-6 .6 
-0 .3 

1.1 
2.1 

- 0 . 3 
- 1 . 5 
-2 .1 

3.0 
3.7 
3.7 

-0.9 
0.8 

15.4 26.1 
- 1 . 0 0.4 

3.5 - 5 . 0 
-14.1 2.4 
28.6 - 1 . 5 

-29.2 
- 1 . 3 
18.2 
0.9 
6.9 

22.5 
18.9 

1.0 
-11.0 

18.5 

-9.4 
5.6 
0.0 
3.5 

-0.9 

-13.5 
13.3 
2.9 

- 1 . 8 
3.9 

44.1 
6.5 

- 4 . 0 
1.2 

- 0 . 6 

- 1 . 6 
- 4 . 8 
13.0 

- 9 . 9 
- 6 . 0 

-0.5 
3.8 

-2.4 
-3.9 

_ .5 

6.1 
5.9 
3.3 
3.7 
2 8 

0.4 
-0.7 

6.2 
5.9 

-2 .5 

4.2 
7.0 
4.0 

-1.0 
0.3 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

10.6 
3.2 
1.1 

-18.6 
8.1 

8.0 
6.6 

-8.4 
9.4 
2 . 4 

-0.1 
6.2 

- 4 . 0 
-1 .6 
-0.3 

- 1 . 5 
5.6 
6.2 

15.1 
5.4 

16.8 
14.4 

-29.4 
-63.6 

3.9 

18.9 
5.8 

-18.5 
-43.5 

10.1 

2.6 
11.2 

- 1 1 . 0 
317.8 

9.2 

6.0 
6.9 

10.8 
2.9 

11.6 

-3.8 
4.9 
1.7 
2.6 
6.0 

0.3 
2.5 

28.4 
- 4 . 6 
25.1 

13.6 
3.5 

15.6 
10.6 
9.3 

6.1 
5.1 

•12.4 
4.6 

- 9 . 1 

16.2 
44.4 
18.3 

-34.1 
8.7 

6.3 
21.3 

-22.3 
16.3 
14.0 

4.5 
18.8 

- 6 . 7 
34.0 

4.3 

7.3 
16.6 
16.2 
17.8 
11.4 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and 

Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

- 9 . 1 
12.7 

-3 .2 
-1 .0 

6.1 

■12.6 
- 6 . 1 

- 6 . 8 
0.1 

- 4 . 3 
12.4 

- 1 . 6 
- 1 . 5 

3.9 

0.0 
- 6 . 4 

13.4 
6.0 

- 9 . 4 
- 2 8 . 8 

- 3 6 . 3 
- 7 . 2 
15.2 

17.7 
-11.8 

3.0 
0.0 

- 4 . 5 
- 2 . 8 

19.8 
15.2 

14.6 
16.8 

'.6 81.3 

-7 .2 
4.0 

10.3 
9.1 

18.7 - 5 . 2 
34.9 - 2 5 . 2 

-3.3 
9.8 
5.5 

13.0 
6.5 

14.5 

-4.6 - 9 . 0 
-2.7 4.9 

-3.6 
-8.0 

5.0 

- 8 . 1 
0.0 

19.0 

-25.3 
19.6 

- 5 . 3 
0.6 

-32.5 

12.5 
- 1 . 5 

6.3 
0.2 

8.1 24.4 
-4.5 18.6 
-7.9 46.0 

Latin 
America 0.5 2.3 0.6 4 .2 0.3 - 6 . 5 - 2 . 2 6 .6 8.2 5.9 4 .9 4.5 9.5 2.7 8.0 15 .3 

Source: IDB estimates based on official statistics of member countries. 
1 Gross domestic product is equal to consumption plus investment plus exports minus imports. 
1 Goods and non-factor services. 
... Not available. 
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DISBURSED TOTAL EXTERNAL DEBT OUTSTANDING1, 1982-91 TABLE 5 
(In millions of U. S. dollars) 

Country 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 

Argentina 43,634 45,920 48,857 50,946 52,450 58,461 58,738 65,027 61,928 63,707 
Bahamas 228 234 213 193 216 193 171 220 268 392 
Barbados 236 302 391 457 580 577 703 644 683 652 
Belize 70 100 97 118 121 137 139 144 151 167 
Bolivia 3,329 4,069 4,317 4,805 5,575 5,836 4,901 4,136 4,269 4,075 
Brazil 92,903 98,269 105,424 106,148 113,735 123,864 115,727 111,379 116,417 116,514 

Chile 17,315 17,928 19,737 20,384 21,144 21,489 19,593 18,032 19,132 17,902 
Colombia 10,306 11,412 12,039 14,246 15,362 17,008 16,995 16,878 17,241 17,369 
Costa Rica 3,641 4,177 3,991 4,401 4,577 4,721 4,544 4,603 3,772 4,043 
Dominican Republic 2,519 2,928 3,112 3,502 3,688 3,924 3,992 4,104 4,395 4,492 
Ecuador 7,705 7,595 8,306 8,703 9,334 10,474 10,745 11,317 12,109 12,469 

El Salvador 1,443 1,740 1,826 1,854 1,851 1,975 1,987 2,070 2,133 2,172 
Guatemala 1,537 1,799 2,353 2,654 2,768 2,769 2,605 2,594 2,777 2,704 
Guyana 956 1,206 1,268 1,485 1,618 1,719 1,722 1,862 1,960 1,898 
Haiti 536 569 664 713 710 840 818 802 883 747 
Honduras 1,842 2,125 2,284 2,728 2,973 3,298 3,307 3,336 3,525 3,177 

Jamaica 2,846 3,412 3,566 4,068 4,187 4,696 4,532 4,537 4,598 4,456 
Mexico 86,019 92,966 94,822 96,867 100,881 109,460 100,781 95,446 97,357 101,737 
Nicaragua 2,913 4,059 4,748 5,728 6,727 7,922 8,608 9,653 10,623 10,446 
Panama 3,923 4,389 4,365 4,755 4,898 5,630 6,067 6,318 6,679 6,791 
Paraguay 1,296 1,414 1,470 1,817 2,087 2,520 2,352 2,384 2,128 2,177 

Peru 12,305 12,061 12,157 12,884 14,887 17,491 17,971 18,250 19,429 20,708 
Suriname 25 26 38 52 70 85 95 123 123 
Trinidad and Tobago 1,203 1,438 1,222 1,448 1,855 1,802 2,141 2,187 2,310 2,332 
Uruguay 2,647 3,292 3,271 3,919 3,906 4,271 3,821 4,205 4,335 4,189 
Venezuela 32,153 38,297 36,881 35,334 34,340 34,680 34,845 32,478 33,273 34,372 

Latin America 333,528 361,727 377,418 390,209 410,539 445,842 427,899 422,729 432,497 439,688 

Sources: World Bank, World Debt Tables, 1991-92 and 1992-93; and IDB estimates. 
1 Total external debt is the sum of long-term and short-term external debt (including interest arrears), and use of IMF credit. Long-term external debt is made up 
of public and publicly guaranteed debt and private non-guaranteed debt. Short-term externa! debt is debt with an original maturity of one year or less and could 
be either public or private. The use of IMF credit denotes repurchase obligations to the IMF with respect to all uses of IMF resources, excluding those resulting 
from drawings in the reserve tranche and the IMF Trust Fund. 
... Not available. 
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ANNUAL AVERAGE GROWTH OF CONSUMER PRICE INDEX ' ,1971-91 
(In percent) 

TABLE 6 

Country 19"1-80 1981-90 1981-85 1986-91 1980 1985 198" 1988 1989 1990 1991 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

".5 
14.3 

19.6 
35.6 

437.7 
5.5 
5.7 
4.1 

220.0 
337.0 

322.8 
5.9 
7.7 
6.0 

598.8 
148.7 

486.7 
5.5 
4.2 
2.8 

42.0 
624.1 

100.0 
12.1 
14.4 

50.0 
84.2 

672.2 
4.6 
4.0 
3.6 

11,804.8 
226.9 

1313 
5.8 
3.4 
2.0 

14.6 
229.7 

343.0 
4.4 
4.9 
3.2 

16.0 
682.3 

3,079.2 
5.4 
6.2 
2.1 

15.2 
1,287.0 

2,314.0 
4.6 
3.1 
3.0 

17.1 
2,938.0 

172.8 
7.1 
6.2 
5.5 

21.4 
440.8 

Chile ... 20.3 21.4 19.7 35.7 29.9 20.2 14.7 17.1 26.0 21.8 
Colombia 21.1 23.7 1 1 5 25.9 26.5 24.0 23.3 28.1 25.8 29.1 30.4 
Costa Rica 10.9 25.6 34.8 18.9 18.4 15.1 16.9 20.8 16.5 19.0 28.7 
Dominican Republic 10.4 24.6 16.2 36.8 16.8 37.6 16.0 44.4 45.4 59.5 5 3 9 
Ecuador 12.5 36.4 27.6 46.2 13.0 28.0 29.5 58.3 75.6 48.5 48.7 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

10.7 
9.5 

10.2 
10.7 
8.1 

19.0 
14.4 
31.0 

6.7 
7.8 

14.7 
7.5 

19.6 
9.1 
6.9 

22.0 
23.6 
49.1 

6.1 
12.5 

17.2 
10.8 
14.1 
17.6 
18.2 

22.4 
18.6 
15.0 
10.6 
3.4 

24.9 
12.3 
28.7 

(11.4) 

19.8 
10.9 
3 9 9 

4.0 
4.6 

17.6 
11.4 
90.0 

6.9 
9.8 

24.0 
41.2 
65.0 
21.5 
23.3 

14.4 
33.2 
80.0 
15.4 
33.9 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

18.1 
16.6 
19.6 
7.1 

13-1 

14.8 
65.2 

618.9 
1.8 

21.7 

16.6 
60.8 
54.4 

3.2 
15.8 

18.7 
60.7 

2,828.5 
0.6 

2 " . 4 

27.3 
25.7 
35.3 
1 3 8 
22.4 

25.7 
57.7 

219.5 
1.1 

25.2 

6.6 
131.8 
911.9 

1.0 
21.9 

8.3 
114.2 

14,295.3 
0.6 

22.7 

14.3 
20.0 

770.4 
0.1 

26.2 

22.0 
26.7 

7,485.2 
0.8 

38.2 

51.1 
22.7 

1,400.0 
1 3 

24.3 

Peru 30.3 332.0 102.0 736.6 59.7 163.4 85.8 667.1 3,398.7 " ,482.6 409.5 
Suriname 9.8 1-4.2 7.1 22.6 I4.2 11.3 5 3 3 8.0 15.0 19.5 26.5 
Trinidad and Tobago 1.3.0 11.0 12.4 S."7 17.5 7.6 10.8 7.7 11.4 11.0 3.8 
Uruguay ... 60.3 44.3 81.9 60.0 72.4 64.2 61.9 80.3 112.6 102.0 
Venezuela 8.4 23.3 11.1 36.4 21.4 11.4 28.2 29.5 84.3 40.8 34.2 

Source: International Monetary Fund. International Financial Statistics and IDB estimates 
1 Annual averages of monthly Consumer Price Indexes. 
... Not available. 
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BALANCE OF PAYMENTS SUMMARY1, 1987-91 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

1987 

Balance on 

Metchandi.se 
Trade 

Current 
Account 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items2 

1988 

Balance on 

Merchandise 
Trade 

Current 
Account 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items2 

1 9 8 9 

Balance on 

Merchandise Current 
Trade Account 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

1,017 
- 8 8 1 
- 3 2 7 

- 2 4 
- 1 2 7 

11,158 

-4,235 
- 1 6 6 

-5.3 
9 

- 4 2 2 
-1,450 

2,430 
- 1 8 
101 

2 
199 

4,417 

1,917 
59 
-6 

- i l 
48 

2,165 

4,242 
- 7 8 5 
- 3 7 3 

- 4 1 
- 4 8 

19,168 

-1,572 
- 1 2 8 

2 
- 2 

- 2 5 5 
4,159 

3,595 
64 
41 
27 

165 
- 1 , 6 2 1 

•1,858 
0 

- 3 8 
- 2 1 

43 
-1,711 

5,709 
-944 
-452 

- 6 4 
- 6 

16,112 

-1,305 
- 1 5 7 

- 2 
- 1 9 

- 2 6 3 
1,025 

Chile 1,2.30 - 8 0 8 1,021 -1.35 2,219 - 1 6 7 
Colombia 1,868 3.36 - 1 - 4 0 2 827 - 2 1 6 
CostaRica -1.38 - 2 5 6 162 - .37 - 9 7 - 1 7 8 
Dominican Republic - 8 8 0 - 3 6 4 - 3 1 146 - 7 1 8 - 1 8 
Ecuador - 3 3 - 1 , 1 2 4 1,246 99 619 - 5 3 6 

,102 
939 
196 
175 
699 

- 8 2 6 
-19.3 
- 2 4 2 
- 1 1 0 

- 1 8 

1,578 
1,474 
- 2 3 8 
1,039 

661 

- 7 6 7 
- 2 0 1 
- 4 1 4 
- 1 9 8 
- 5 1 4 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

-349 
-.355 

2 
-101 

19 

1.35 
-442 
-109 
- 3 1 
-150 

- 6 0 
462 

36 
54 

261 

-81 
53 
"5 

- 5 
-64 

-355 
-339 

18 
-103 

4 

25 
-414 
-9.3 
- 4 0 
-175 

61 
275 

50 
55 

218 

19 
141 
32 

- 2 5 
- 1 4 

-591 
-358 

11 
-111 

48 

- 1 7 3 
- 3 6 7 
- 1 1 3 

- 6 2 
- 1 9 7 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

-356 
3,433 
- 4 3 9 
- 8 1 0 
- 3 2 1 

- 1 3 6 
.3,968 
- 6 7 8 

64 
- 4 8 9 

215 
-1,003 

763 
277 
189 

-161 
-5,570 

- 6 
37 

-.37 

- 3 5 7 
1,668 
- 4 8 2 
- 4 2 7 
- 1 5 9 

31 
-2,443 

- 7 1 5 
392 

- 2 1 0 

us 
1,355 

707 
439 

- 1 5 6 

- 1 3 5 
6,638 

- 4 3 
5 

168 

- 6 0 6 
- 6 4 5 
- 2 2 8 
- 5 6 9 

226 

- 2 9 7 
- 3 , 9 5 8 

- 3 6 1 
- 9 0 
.317 

Peru - 5 2 1 - 1 , 4 8 1 867 668 - 9 9 - 1 , 0 9 1 1,215 - 1 0 1,197 362 
Suriname 64 74 - 5 0 9 118 62 - 6 5 5 218 162 
Trinidad and Tobago 339 - 2 3 9 78 255 389 - 1 0 9 - 5 4 142 489 - 5 5 
Uruguay 102 - 1 3 4 333 - 8 2 292 34 241 - 1 8 462 155 
Venezuela 1,567 - 1 , 3 9 0 520 1,357 - 1 . 9 9 8 - 5 , 8 0 9 - 1 , 0 2 7 3,731 5,6.32 2,161 

Latin America 20,135 -9,573 12,474 -4,041 23,179 -9,468 6,138 5,659 27,965 -5,337 

Source: International Monetary Fund, Balance of Payments (tape), December 1992: and IDB estimates. 
1 Merchandise trade is equal to exports of goods minus imports of goods valued at f.o.b. prices. Current account is equal to trade plus services plus unrequited 
transfers. Capital account is the net result of capital inflows and outflows of the monetary and nonmonetary sectors. Reserves and related items include the 
changes in monetary gold, special drawing rights, reserve position in the IMF, foreign exchange and use of IMF credit. The table excludes errors and omissions. 
2 According to conventional usage, a minus ( — ) means an increase. 
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TABLE 7 

1 9 8 9 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items2 

1 9 9 0 

Balance on 

Merchandise 
Trade 

Current 
Account 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items2 

1991 

Balance on 

Merchandise 
Trade 

Current 
Account 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items2 

Country 

206 
96 

0 
25 

191 
1,495 

1,348 
1.3 
42 

- 1 5 
104 

- 1 , 7 0 1 

8,628 
- 9 2 1 
- 4 7 1 

- 5 9 
55 

10,747 

1,903 
- 1 8 0 

- 1 6 
15 

- 1 9 1 
-3,788 

761 
68 
45 
25 

221 
5,330 

■3,379 
- 1 1 

36 
- 1 5 
- 1 8 

1.24(1 

4,572 
- 8 3 4 
- 4 7 4 
- 1 0 3 

- 4 3 
10,620 

-2,8.32 
- 1 8 0 

- 2 9 
- 4 9 

-262 
-.377 

5.803 
176 

0 
14 

231 
512 

2,630 
- 1 0 

39 
20 

— 11 
- 2 2 1 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

1,408 
478 
351 
.389 
6.36 

- 5 " 0 
*-434 
- 1 4 5 

2 
- 1 8 8 

1,273 
1.9" 1 
- 4 4 2 

- 1 , 0 5 8 
1.003 

-598 3,255 -2.3.31 1.5""5 142 942 - 1 . 2 4 5 Chile 
542 - 2 - 6 1 0 2,959 2,349 - 7 8 3 -1,8.36 Colombia 

-424 170 197 - 2 0 7 - 8 1 3 1 " - .348 CostaRica 
- 8 144 - 7 - 1 , 0 7 0 - 5 8 111 - 3 4 1 Dominican Republic 

-166 318 - 2 " ' 6 644 - 4 6 7 448 - 1 6 3 Ecuador 

150 
384 

82 
69 

280 

■103 
- 7 1 

29 
- 1 
i s 

- 5 9 9 
- 2 1 6 

-2.3 
- 8 7 
- 2 1 

-136 
-212 
-147 
- 3 8 

-109 

20 
146 
164 

17 
155 

T 5 3 
29 

- 1 8 
- 2 6 
- 2 4 

- 7 0 6 
-443 

9 
-1.37 

- 5 5 

- 1 6 7 
- 1 8 3 
-1.35 

- 1 0 
- 2 1 9 

- 2 8 
654 
166 
31 
93 

70 El Salvador 
- 5 5 4 Guatemala 
- 4 0 Guyana 

21 Haiti 
- 6 5 Honduras 

3.38 
1,362 

495 
- 3 4 
- 1 9 

5 ,314 

- 4 6 
- 1 7 9 

- 6 4 
- 5 0 

- 1 4 5 

- 3 , 0 5 9 

- 5 2 2 
-4.4.3 3 

- 2 3 7 
- 9 6 5 

- 9 7 

-.328 
M l " 
-305 
-284 

4 

412 
8,530 

447 
- 5 4 " 

8 

- 1 0 5 
-2,303 

39 
- 2 9 5 
- 2 1 9 

- 4 0 6 
■ 11,063 

- 4 1 9 
- 1 , 1 3 6 

- 4 1 2 

- 1 9 8 
■13,282 

- 4 
- 4 3 2 
- 3 2 2 

182 
20,403 

6 
524 
163 

110 Jamaica 
,992 Mexico 

Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

- 8 6 
- 9 2 
■298 

447 - 5 9 5 340 - 9 4 9 547 - 2 8 4 - 1 6 5 - 1 , 8 7 1 1,525 - 1 , 3 7 6 Peru 
- 1 7 2 0 91 31 - 1 5 - 1 0 1 - 3 4 10 5.3 Suriname 

77 - 6 7 987 439 -2.31 - 9 6 541 - 1 6 - 1 0 4 153 Trinidad and Tobago 
23 - 1 1 6 426 2.36 - 6 9 - 2 8 1 61 105 - 3 5 6 - 1 4 5 Uruguay 

-3,447 - 1 3 2 10,6.37 8,279 -.3,594 -2,94.3 4,791 1,663 3,128 - 2 , 3 6 9 Venezuela 

2 6 , 0 0 3 - 3 , 5 4 9 1 6 , 3 3 0 1 4 , 3 5 4 8 , 0 9 6 16 ,958 3 4 , 1 7 3 1 9 , 3 6 9 Latin America 
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SELECTED SOCIAL INDICATORS' 

Vital Statistics Health 

Country 

Crude Birth Crude Death 
Rate Rate 

(Pet 1,000 Population) 

Infant Mortality 
(Pet 1,000 
Live Births) 

1970 LAE2 19̂ 0 LAE 1970 LAE 

Life Expectancy 
at Bitth 
(Years) 

1970 LAE 

Population per 
Physician 
(Persons) 

1970 LAE 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

23.1 
25.3 
20.6 

45.5 
34.8 

20.1 
24.1 
15.9 
.36.2 
36.0 
26.7 

9.0 
6.2 
8.7 

19.5 
10.2 

8.5 
6.0 
8.7 
6.5 
9.7 
7.3 

51.8 
35.0 
38.2 

15.3.4 
94.6 

29.1 
23.3 
10.4 
44.6 
91.9 
57.5 

66.8 
64.9 
68.7 

46.1 
59.0 

71.2 
68.0 
75.1 
67.9 
60.0 
66.2 

529 
1,315 
1,914 

2,018 
2,029 

374 

1,123 
2,216 
1,534 
1,080 

Chile 29.2 21.9 9.5 6.3 80.0 16.5 62.4 72.0 2,160 1,2.30 
Colombia 37.1 24.1 9.3 5.8 76.6 37.4 61.0 68.8 2,256 1,228 
CostaRica 33.4 25.6 6.7 3.8 61.5 16.5 67.1 75.2 1,619 957 
Dominican Republic 41.2 27.4 10.8 6.2 98.4 55.9 58.7 67.0 2,299 1,765 
Ecuador 42.5 29.7 11.8 6.7 99.8 54.8 58.1 66.1 2,909 815 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Hondutas 

43.9 
45.0 
339 
40.7 
49.3 

32.9 
38.9 
25.6 
36.2 
38.3 

11.6 
14.4 
6.9 

17.9 
14.7 

8.0 
7.8 

1.3.2 
7.3 

103.0 
100.2 
80.2 

161.8 
115.2 

52.9 
62.1 
51.0 
94.7 
64.3 

57.6 
52.5 
59.7 
47.6 
52.7 

63.6 
63.2 
64.2 
54.4 
64.9 

4,101 
.3,656 
4,012 

12,465 
3,774 

2,830 
2,184 
6,220 
7,136 
1,513 

lamaica 34.4 24.3 8.3 6.5 39.6 15.7 67.7 73.2 2,632 2,044 
Mexico 4.3.4 27.4 9.4 5.4 73.0 39.2 61.7 69.7 1,553 1,243 
Nicaragua 47.4 39.7 1.3.5 6.9 106.0 55.1 53.5 64.7 2,136 1,564 
Panama 37.1 25.5 7.7 5.1 46.6 21.4 65.5 72.6 1,657 1,000 
Paraguay 37.7 35.4 7.3 6.1 58.6 315 65.3 67.3 2,298 1,458 

Peru 40.8 .30.3 13.9 8.3 116.4 69.3 539 62.7 1,920 1,041 
Suriname 35.7 30.6 7.6 6.6 532 38.7 63.8 67.9 2,150 1,264 
Trinidad and Tobago 27.4 24.3 7.3 6.3 34.4 25.0 66.2 71.0 2,245 943 
Uruguay 20.9 16.6 9.8 9.6 46.4 20.6 68.8 73.0 915 513 
Venezuela 37.9 287 7.0 5.2 53.4 .33.9 65.2 70.1 1,120 701 

Sources: Statistical Yearbooks of F.CLAC; Unesco, United Nations Statistical Office, various issues; PAHO, Health Conditions in the Americas, 1990 Edition; and 
the World Bank, Social Indicators of Development. 1992. 
1 Social Indicators are collected by countries through censuses and surveys taken, in many cases, infrequently and on other than an annual basis. Therefore, the 
data for 1970 are for years as close to 1970 as possible and in no case earlier than 1970 nor later than 1979. Data for the latest available estimate (LAE) are in no 
case prior to 1980 and for many of the indicators refer to the latter half of the decade. Users should be aware that the concepts, definitions and methodologies 
employed in the collection of such indicators vary from country to country and often vary over time within countries. 
2 Latest Available Estimate. 
... Not available. 
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TABLE 8 

Health 

Population 
per Hospital 

Bed 
(Persons) 

1970 LAE 

Access to 
Sate Water 

(In Percent) 

1970 LAE 

Illiteracy 
Rate1 ' 

(In Percent) 

1970 LAE 

Education 

Enrollment Ratios 

Primary and 
Secondary ' 
(In Percent) 

19"() LAE 

Post-Secondary' 
(In Percent) 

1970 I.AF. Country 

179 
196 
98 

442 
271 

1 17 
301 

56 
65 
98 

33 
55 

100 
7.3 
53 
87 

0.7 

36.8 
33.8 

4 . . 
3.0 
0.5 

8.8 
22.5 
18.9 

S 5 

54 
65 

96 

101 

76 
87 

14.2 

3.9 

8.7 
5.3 

40.8 

19.4 

17.7 
10.9 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

265 294 56 87 11.0 6.6 87 92 9.4 17.8 Chile 
451 596 63 ... 19.2 1.3..3 64 8.3 4.7 1.3.9 Colombia 
252 293 74 9.3 11.6 7.2 76 76 24.3 24..3 CostaRica 
379 ... 37 67 3.3.0 16." 65 92 6.5 18.6 Dominican Republic 
432 ... 34 55 25.8 14.2 66 89 7.6 29.3 Ecuador 

524 
461 
198 

1,270 
578 

1,390 
600 
300 

1,390 
800 

40 
38 
75 
12 
.34 

47 
61 
79 
41 
64 

42.9 
54.0 

8.4 
78.7 
4.31 

27.0 
44.9 

.3.6 
47.0 
26.9 

62 
.36 
79 
25 
57 

69 
52 
70 
52 
"5 

3.3 
3.4 
1.9 
0.4 
2.1 

16.8 
8.6 
3.4 
1.2 
8.8 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

244 
843 
424 
.342 
614 

460 
176 
202 
169 

2,898 

.300 

517 
300 

590 
112 
196 
308 

2,700 

62 
5 I 

35 
69 
l l 

35 

96 
92 
" 5 

70 
54 
82 
32 

53 
98 
96 

80 

.3.9 
25.8 
42.5 
21.7 
19.9 

7.8 
6.1 

23.5 

1.6 81 82 5.4 4.2 Jamaica 
12.7 68 84 6.1 15.2 Mexico 
13.0 54 76 5.7 8.4 Nicaragua 
10.7 75 83 6.6 28.2 Panama 
9.9 67 69 4.3 8.8 Paraguay 

14.9 ^2 98 10.8 25.5 Peru 
5.1 90 84 1.2 7.7 Suriname 
3.9 73 9.3 2.9 4.7 Trinidad and Tobago 
4.7 82 9.3 9.9 47.8 Uruguay 

11.9 71 84 11.7 26.5 Venezuela 

1 Proportion of the population 15 vcars of age and older who cannot, with understanding, read and write a short simple statement on everyday life. 
* Gross enrollment of all ages at primary and secondary levels as a percentage of school-age children as defined by the country. Gross enrollment can be more 
than 100 percent if some pupils are younger than six or older than 1" years of age. 
, Calculated as above with an age group of 20 to 24. 
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PARTIU 

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

SUBSCRIPTIONS TO CAPITAL STOCK AND VOTING POWER 

Under the Agreement Establishing the Bank (Agree
ment), each member country shall have 135 votes 
plus one vote for each share of Ordinary Capital 
stock held by that country. The Agreement also pro
vides that no increase in the subscription of any 
member to the Ordinary Capital stock shall become 
effective which would have the effect of reducing 
the voting power of the regional developing mem
bers below 5 3 5 % , of the United States below 
34.5%, and of Canada below 4.0% of the total vot
ing power. 

In making decisions concerning operations of 
the Fund for Special Operations, the number of 
votes and percent of total voting power for each 
member country are the same as determined by the 
provisions of the Agreement referred to above. 

Subscriptions to shares of Ordinary Capital 
stock, and the voting power of the member coun
tries, are listed on the following page. 

CHICHICASTENANGO, GUATEMALA. Foreign 
shoppers merge with local merchants and artisans 
in this market town in the country's central high
lands. A Bank loan for global microenterprise credit 
in 1992 will enable small producers throughout the 
country to bring goods such as clothing and textiles 
to market and to ready them for sale abroad. 
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STATEMENT OF SUBSCRIPTIONS TO CAPITAL STOCK AND VOTING POWER 
December 31, 1992 

Member countries 

Regional developing members 
Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Total regional developing members 

United States 

Canada 

Subscribed 
shares 

522,017 
10,089 
6,244 
1,989 

41,904 
522,017 
143,335 
143,232 
20,947 
27,964 
27,964 
20,947 
27,964 

7,767 
13,300 
20,947 
27,964 

335,560 
20,947 
20,947 
20,947 
69,951 

4,258 
20,947 
55,967 

279,676 
2,415,791 

1,556,238 

197,169 

Number 
of votes 

522,152 
10,224 
6,379 
2,124 

42.039 
522,152 
143,470 
143,367 
21,082 
28,099 
28,099 
21,082 
28,099 

7,902 
13,435 
21,082 
28,099 

335,695 
21,082 
21,082 
21,082 
70,086 

4,393 
21,082 
56,102 

279,811 
2,419,301 

1,556,373 

197,304 

Percentage 
of total 

number of 
votes' 

11.61 
0.23 
0.14 
0.05 
0.93 

11.61 
3.19 
3.19 
0.47 
0.62 
0.62 
0.47 
0.62 
0.18 
0.30 
0.47 
0.62 
7.47 
0.47 
0.47 
0.47 
1.56 
0.10 
0.47 
1.25 
6.22 

53.80 

34.61 

4.39 

Nonregional members 
Austria 
Belgium 
Denmark 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Israel 
Italy 
Japan 
Netherlands 
Norway 
Portugal 
Spain 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
United Kingdom 
Yugoslavia 
Total nonregional members 

GRAND TOTAL 

3,565 
8,448 
3,797 
3,565 

43,399 
44,450 

3,514 
43,399 
48,413 

6,598 
3,797 
1,143 

43,399 
7,391 
9,691 

43,399 
3,565 

321,533 
4,490,731 

3,700 
8,583 
3,932 
3,700 

43,534 
44,585 

3,649 
43,534 
48,548 

6,733 
3,932 
1,278 

43,534 
7,526 
9,826 

43,534 
3,700 

323,828 
4,496,806 

0.08 
0.19 
0:09 
0.08 
0.97 
0.99 
0.08 
0.97 
1.08 
0.15 
0.09 
0.03 
0.97 
0.17 
0.22 
0.97 
0.08 
7.20 

100.00 

'Data are rounded to the nearest one hundredth of one percent; detail may not add to subtotals and grand total because of rounding. 
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ORDINARY 
CAPITAL 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 122 through 135 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Inter-American Development Bank—Ordinary Capital at December 31, 
1992 and 1991, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's man
agement; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 8, 1993 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

December 31 , 

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash 
Investments 

Loans ou t s t and ing 
Allowance for loan losses 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On investments 
On loans 

Receivable from members 
Capital subscriptions 
Non-negotiable, non-interest bearing 

demand obligations 
Amounts required to maintain value of 

currency holdings 

Other assets 
Property 
Unamortized borrowing costs 
Miscellaneous 

Special Reserve assets 

Total assets 

1992 

t 223 ,644 
7,080,392 

20 ,098 ,065 
(614,150) 

71,637 
377,703 

68 ,436 

509,191 

5,664 

251 ,929 
180,795 

38,501 

$ 7 ,304,036 

19,483,915 

449 ,340 

583,291 

471,225 

1,401,661 

$29,693,468 

1991 

S 212,967 
5,708,435 

19,260,389 
(552,150) 

98,686 
418,817 

2,654 

444,596 

5,664 

249,310 
157,546 
20,317 

$ 5,921,402 

18,708,239 

517,503 

452,914 

427,173 

1,197,239 

«27,224,470 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

December 31 , 
1992 1991 

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL 

Liabilities 
Borrowings $21,389,659 $19,655,933 

Plus unamortized premium/(discount) . . 41 ,156 (2,274) 
21 ,430 ,815 19,653,659 

Accrued interest on borrowings 554,907 498,600 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .. 179,639 121,940 
Advance payments of capital 

subscriptions 145 $22 ,165 ,506 579 $20,274,778 

Capital 
Capital Stock 

Subscribed 4,490,731 shares 
(1991—3,403,953) 54,173,630 41,063,356 
Less callable portion (51,005,881) (38,225,241) 

3 ,167,749 2,838,115 
General Reserve 2,958,552 2,864,338 
Special Reserve 1,401,661 1,197,239 
Unallocated net income — 7,527,962 50,000 6,949,692 

Total l iabili t ies and capital $29 ,693 ,468 $27,224,470 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND GENERAL RESERVE 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31 , 

Income 
Loans 

Interest 
Credit commissions 
Special commissions 
Supervision and inspection fees 

Investments 
Other 

Total income 

1992 

$1,413,302 
11,312 

195,101 
22 

1,619,737 
547,386 
(25,818) 

2 ,141,305 

1991 

$1,430,846 
41,304 

193,210 
9,793 

1,675,153 
528,928 

1,348 
2,205,429 

Expenses 
Borrowing expenses .. . 
Provision for loan losses 
Administrative expenses 

Total expenses . . . . 

Net Income 
Allocation to Special Reserve 
Unallocated net income . . . . 
Addition to General Reserve for the year 

General Reserve beginning of year 
Translation adjustments 

General Reserve end of year 

1,545,245 
62 ,000 

151,913 
1,759,158 

382,147 
(195,101) 

187,046 

2 ,864,338 
(92,832) 

$2,958,552 

1,378,444 
304,250 
129,144 

1,811,838 

393,591 
(193,210) 

(50,000) 
150,381 

2,708,050 
5,907 

$2,864,338 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Borrowings: 

Gross proceeds from borrowings 
Repayment of borrowings 

Participations: 
Sales of loans to participants 
Repayments to participants 

Capital: 
Collections of receivables from members 

Net cash provided by financing activities . . 
Cash f lows from investing activities 

Lending: 
Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 
Net cash used for lending activities 

Purchase of property 
Investments of the Special Reserve . . 
Miscellaneous assets and liabilities . . . 
Net cash used for investing activities 

Cash f lows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Interest and other costs of borrowings 
Income from investments 
Other income 
Administrative expenses 
Net cash provided by operating activities 

Allocation to other funds 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and investments 
Net increase in cash and investments 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by 
operating activities: 
Net income 
Difference between amounts accrued and amounts 

paid or collected for: 
Loan income 
Investment income 
Other income 
Interest and other costs of borrowings 
Administrative expenses, including depreciation 

Provision for loan losses 
Net cash provided by operating activities 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities 
Increase resulting from exchange rate fluctuations: 

Borrowings 
Loans outstanding 

Years ended December 31 , 
1992 1991 

$ 5,294,812 
(2,908,251) 

(64,891) 

198,823 
2,520,493 

(2,780,352) 
1,504,329 

(1,276,023) 
(13,964) 

(194,342) 
(33,686) 

(1,518,015) 

1,624,414 
(1,492,911) 

575,656 
(51) 

(147,008) 
560,100 
(50,000) 

(129,944) 
$ 1,382,634 

$ 382,147 

4,677 
28 ,270 
25,767 
52,334 

4,905 
62 ,000 

560,100 

$ (652,835) 
(505,665) 

$ 3,427,888 
(1,292,377) 

48,496 
(89,141) 

105,704 
2,200,570 

(2,804,073) 
1,440,198 

(1,363,875) 
(12,728) 

(191,343) 
7,734 

(1,560,212) 

1,669,036 
(1,318,540) 

501,521 
1,718 

(219,728) 
634,007 

59,175 
$ 1,333,540 

$ 393,591 

(6,117) 
(27,407) 

60,274 
(90,584) 
304,250 

S 634,007 

247,054 
126,049 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

N o t e A — S u m m a r y o f S igni f icant A c c o u n t i n g P o l i c i e s 

Translation of currencies 

The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars; 
however, the Inter-American Development Bank (Bank) conducts 
its operations in the cutrencies of all of its members. Such curren
cies have been derived from capital and borrowed sources includ
ing earnings from each. Assets and liabilities denominated in cur
rencies other than the United States dollar are generally translated 
at approximate market rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of 
the financial statements. Income and expenses in such currencies 
are generally translated at the approximate market rates of 
exchange prevailing during each month. Fluctuations of rates of 
exchange of currencies received from capital subscriptions do not 
have any effect on the United States dollar equivalent of such 
currencies because of the maintenance of value provisions 
described in Note B. The Bank generally follows the policy of 
holding, investing and lending the proceeds of borrowings in the 
currencies borrowed. 

The adjustments resulting from the translation into United 
States dollars of assets and liabilities denominated in borrowed 
currencies are shown in the Statement of Income and General 
Reserve as translation adjustments affecting the General Reserve 
directly. 

Exchange gains of losses realized upon conversion of one 
borrowed currency into anothet are generally insignificant and 
are recorded in other income. 

No representation is made that any currency held in the Ordi
nary Capital is convertible into any other currency at any rate or 
rates. 

Fair values of financial instruments 

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Bank 
in estimating its fait value disclosures for financial instruments: 

Cash: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for 
cash approximates fair values. 

Inves tmen t s : Fair values for investment securities are based 
on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted market 
prices are not available, fair values are based on quoted mar
ket prices of comparable instruments. 

Loans : The Bank is one of very few lenders of development 
and structural adjustment loans to Latin American countties. 
Thete is no secondary market for development loans. The 
Bank has three categories of loans: (a) variable-rate loans; (b) 
fixed-at-disbursement-tate loans; and (c) fixed-rate loans. The 
interest rate on variable-rate loans is reset semiannually. For 
all loans and related commitments, the Bank is of the opinion 
that due to its unique position in its lending opetations and 
the absence of a secondary market, it is not practicable to 
estimate a fair value for the Bank's lending portfolio at this 
time. 

Off-balance-sbeet i n s t r u m e n t s : Fait values for the Bank's 
off-balance-sheet instruments (interest and currency swaps) 
are based on pricing models. 

B o r r o w i n g s : The fair values of the Bank's borrowings ate 
based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted 
market prices are not available, fair values are based on 
quoted market prices of comparable instruments. 

Loans 

The Bank makes loans to its developing members, agencies or 
political subdivisions of such members or to private enterprises 
located in their territories. In the case of loans to borrowers other 
than national governments, central banks or other governmental 
or inter-governmental entities, including the Inter-American 
Investment Corporation (IIC), the Bank has followed the general 
policy since 1967 of requiring that the government, or an entity 
thereof engaging the full faith and credit of the government, guar
antee the loan. Under the loan contracts with the borrowers, the 
Bank may sell participations in the loans to commercial banks or 
other public or private organizations, but it reserves to itself the 
administtation of the loans. The principal amount of loans is 
repayable in the currencies lent. For loans approved on or after 
July 1982, the repayment obligations of borrowers in various cur
rencies are determined on the basis of an Exchange Risk Sharing 
System (Currency Pooling System), which is designed to equalize 
exchange risks among borrowers. Interest on loans is accrued in 
the currencies lent. 

The Bank has a policy of not rescheduling loan repayments. 
The Bank follows the policy of reviewing the collectibility of 
loans on a continuous basis and records provisions for loan losses 
in accordance with its determination of collectibility risk of the 
total loan pottfolio. The Bank ceases to accrue income under all 
loans in a country when service under any loan to or guaranteed 
by a borrower in such country, made from any fund owned or 
administered by the Bank, is overdue for more than 180 days; 
income is recorded thereafter only as it is collected, until loan 
setvice is current under all loans. 

Direct costs associated with originating loans are considered 
immaterial and are expensed as incurred. 

Property 

Property is recorded at cost. Majot improvements are capitalized 
while routine replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged 
to expense. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method 
over estimated useful lives (30 to 40 years for buildings and 3 to 7 
years for equipment). 

Administrative expenses 

Substantially all administrative expenses of the Bank, including 
depreciation, are allocated to the funds pursuant to an allocation 
method approved by the Board of Executive Directors. During 
1992 such expenses were charged 59.9% to the Otdinary Capital 

INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

126 



ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

and 40.1% to the Fund for Special Operations (1991—59.3% and 
40.7%, respectively). 

Interest rate and currency swaps 

The difference to be paid or received for interest on interest rate 
and currency swaps is recorded as part of borrowing expense 
over the life of the respective agreements. The net asset or liability 
relating to swap transactions is shown in the Balance Sheet under 
Other assets—Miscellaneous or Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses. 

N o t e B — M a i n t e n a n c e o f Value 

In accordance with the Agreement Establishing the Bank (Agree
ment), each member is required to maintain the value of its cur
rency held in the Ordinary Capital, except for currency derived 
from borrowings. Likewise, the Bank is required to return to a 
membet an amount of its currency equal to any significant 
increase in value of such member's currency which is held in the 
Ordinary Capital, except for currency derived from borrowings. 
The standard of value for these purposes is the United States dol
lar of the weight and fineness in effect on January 1, 1959 (see 
Note J). 

N o t e C — R e s t r i c t e d C u r r e n c i e s 

Cash includes $198,554,000 (1991—$194,839,000) in the non-
convertible currencies of regional borrowing members, of which 
$78,210,000 (1991—$75,341,000) has been restricted by one of 
the members, in accordance with the provisions of the Agree
ment, to be used for making payments for goods and services 
produced in its territory. 

N o t e D — I n v e s t m e n t s 

The investments of the Bank—Ordinary Capital—are stated at 
amottized cost which approximates market and consist of the 
following (in thousands): 

December 31, 

1992 1991 

Obligations of governments or 
United States Government 
corporations and agencies $3,609,212 $1,602,585 

Time deposits and other obligations 
of banks 3,471,180 4,105,850 

$7,080,392 $5,708,435 

The avetage return on investments was 6.90% in 1992 and 
8.44% in 1991. 

The amortized cost and estimated market values of invest
ments in debt securities and bankers' acceptances, including those 
of the Special Reserve (see Note G), are as follows (in thousands): 

December 31,1992 

Gross Gross Estimated 
Amortized unrealized unrealized market 

cast gains losses value 

Obligations of 
United States 
Government and 
its corporations 
andagencies $3,369,230 «16,709 $(4,416) $3,381,523 

Obligations of other 
governments 1,574,165 12,646 (1,694) 1,585,117 

Bankers' 
acceptances 43,547 8 — 43,555 

$4,986,942 Î29.363 1(6,110) $5,010,195 

December 31. 1991 
Amortized 

cost 

Gross Gross 
unrealized unrealized 

gains lusses 
Obligations of 

United States 
Government and 
its corporations 
andagencies $2,200,502 $51,925 

Obligations of other 
governments 541,924 6,089 

Bankers' 
acceptances 3,441 — 

(214) 

(5) 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$2,252,427 

547,799 

3,436 
$2,745,867 $58,014 $ (219) $2,803,662 

The amortized cost and estimated market value of the above 
securities by contractual maturity, are as follows (in thousands): 

December 31, 1992 December 31, 1991 
Estimated Estimated 

Amortized market Amortized market 
cost value cost value 

Due in one year 
orless $2,319,953 $2,321,598 $ 870,144 $ 874,071 

Due after one 
year through 
five years . . . . . 2,547,499 2,568,926 1,739,978 1,788,169 

Due after five 
years 119,490 119,671 135,745 141,422 

$4,986,942 $5,010,195 $2,745,867 $2,803,662 

Proceeds from sales of investments in debt securities were 
$31,465,071,000 during 1992 and $21,526,725,000 during 1991. 
Gross gains of $84,997,000 and gross losses of $22,082,000 were 
realized in those sales in 1992 (1991—$49,984,000 and 
$5,000,000, respectively). 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

The Bank limits its activities of investing in securities to a list 
of authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict credit limits have 
been established for each counterparty by type of instrument and 
maturity category. 

N o t e E—Loans O u t s t a n d i n g 

Approved loans are disbursed to borrowers in accordance with 
the requirements of the project being financed; however, dis
bursements do not begin until the borrower and guarantor, if any, 
take certain actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. Of 
the undisbursed balances, the Bank has entered into irrevocable 
commitments to disburse approximately $69,488,000 at Decem-
ber31 , 1992. 

In 1992, the Bank approved a loan to the IIC, in the amount 
of $210,000,000, which, for putposes of presentation in the Sum-
maty Statement of Loans (see Appendix 1-1), has been included 
under "Regional". No amounts have been disbutsed under this 
loan as of December 31,1992. 

The Intermediate Financing Facility Account (IFF) was estab
lished in 1983 by the Board of Governors of the Bank for the 
purpose of providing to certain borrowers part of the interest 
payments for which they ate liable on loans from the capital 
resources of the Bank. During 1992 the IFF paid $21,364,000 
(1991—$19,434,000) of such interest on behalf of the borrowers. 
The IFF is funded primarily from the General Reserve of the 
Bank's Fund for Special Operations. 

At December 31, 1992, there are no countries in nonaccrual 
status in the Ordinary Capital of the Bank. In March 1992, the 
Bank received payment of all amounts overdue on loans to bor
rowers in Panama, which came out of nonaccrual status. As a 
result, income from loans for the year ended December 31, 1992, 
increased by $23,500,000 corresponding to income that would 
have been accrued in previous years. For the year ended Decem
ber 31, 1991, the increase in loan income due to loans to countries 
coming out of nonaccrual status during that year was 
$178,634,000. 

Changes to the accumulated allowance for loan losses were as 
follows (in thousands): 

December 31, 

Balance at January 1, 
Provision for loan losses 

Balance at December 31, $614,150 $552,150 

1992 

$552,150 
62,000 

1991 

$247,900 
304,250 

The average interest rate earned on loans outstanding, which 
includes the special commission (see Note G), was 8.25% in 1992 
and 9.30% in 1991. In addition to the interest rate, the Bank 
charges a credit commission of .75% (1.25% on loans approved 
prior to January 1, 1989) per annum on the undisbursed convert
ible currency portion of loans, and a one-time inspection and 
supervision fee of 1 % on the principal amount of the loans, which 

is capitalized into the loan balance in installments during the dis
bursement period of the loan. On July 10, 1991 and January 22, 
1992, the Board of Executive Directots approved waivers of the 
amount of inspection and supervision fees accrued during the 
periods July 1 to December 31, 1991 and January 1 to June 30, 
1992, respectively, and the amount of credit commissions in 
excess of .25% during the same periods. On September 30, 1992, 
the Board of Executive Directors approved a six-month waivet of 
all of the amount of inspection and supervision fees accrued dur
ing the period July 1 to December 31,1992 and all of the amount 
of credit commissions during the same period. The average return 
on loans outstanding was 8.31% in 1992 and 9.59% in 1991. 

The avetage interest rate on outstanding and acctuing loans 
was 7.14% in 1992 and 8.27% in 1991; the average return on 
outstanding and accruing loans was 8.19% in 1992 and 8.57% in 
1991. 

The average maturity for loans undisbursed and outstanding 
and the average interest rates for loans outstanding at December 
31, 1992, are as follows (in thousands): 

Loans at: 

Fixed rate 
Fixed-at-disbursement 

rate 
Variable rate 

Total 

Outstanding 
balance1 

$5,614,249 

11,152,961 
3,330,855 

$20,098,065 

Average 
maturity 
(years) 

4.06 

7.21 
12.41 
8.80 

Average 
interest 
rate(%) 

8.67% 

8 .10% 
7.53% 
8.16% 

N o t e F — P r o p e r t y 

The property of the Bank—Ordinary Capital—consists of the fol
lowing (in thousands): 

December 31, 

Land, buildings, improvements and 
equipment, at cost 

Less, accumulated depreciation . . . . 

1992 1991 

$313,972 $300,008 
(62,043) (50,698) 

$251,929 $249,310 

N o t e G—Specia l R e s e r v e 

The amount of special commissions earned by the Bank on loans 
made out of the Ordinary Capital resources is segregated as a 
special reserve for meeting the Bank's obligations created by bor
rowing or by guaranteeing loans. On all loans gtanted to date the 
rate of commission is 1 % per annum. 
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December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

The following is a summary of changes in the Special Reserve 
(in thousands): 

Years ended 
December 31, 

1992 1991 

Balance beginning of year 
Allocation of special commissions 
Translation adjustments 

Balance end of year 

$1,197,239 $1,003,377 
195,101 193,210 

9,321 652 

$1,401,661 $1,197,239 

The Special Reserve assets consist of the following (in 
thousands): 

Decembet 31, 

1992 1991 

Investments 
Obligations of United States 

Government and its 
corporations and agencies, 
at amortized cost which 
approximates market . . . . 

Accrued loan commissions . . . 
$1,334,183 

67,478 
$1,139,841 

57,398 
$1,401,661 $1,197,239 

Note H—Borrowings 

The borrowings of the Bank consist of loans, notes and bonds 
issued in various regional and nonregional member currencies, at 
interest rates ranging from 4.25% to 14.15%. During 1992 and 
1991 the average cost of bortowings outstanding was 7.71% and 
7.99%, respectively, before swaps and 7.63% and 7.82%, respec
tively, after swaps. The Bank will from time to time borrow addi
tional amounts in the Ordinary Capital in the course of its 
ope tarions. 

Sinking fund requirements and maturities subsequent to 
December 31,1992 are as indicated in Appendix 1-2. 

Costs of $25,767,000 in 1992 and $370,000 in 1991 reflecting 
purchases of bonds pursuant to advance redemption provisions 
are recorded in other income. 

Borrowings at fair value at December 31, 1992 amounted to 
$22,448,000,000. 

Note I—Interest Rate and Currency Swaps 

The Bank has entered into currency swaps in which proceeds of a 
borrowing are exchanged for a different currency and simul
taneously, a forwatd exchange agreement is executed providing 
for a schedule of future exchanges of the two currencies in order 
to recover the currency exchanged. The combination of a bor
rowing and a currency swap produces the financial equivalent of 

substituting a borrowing in the currency obtained in the initial 
conversion for the original borrowing. The Bank also undertakes 
interest rate swaps, which transform a fixed-rate payment obliga
tion in a particular currency into a floating-tate obligation in that 
currency and vice-versa. The Bank incurs no risk as a result of the 
fluctuations of the exchange rates applicable to currency swap 
transactions because of its policy of holding and investing the 
corresponding proceeds in the same currencies. 

At December 31, 1992, the Bank had gross receivables from 
currency swaps at a book value of $1,500,529,000 (1991 — 
$1,066,746,000) and gross payables from currency swaps at a 
book value of $1,640,874,000 (1991—$1,130,802,000). In addi
tion, the Bank had interest rate swap contracts covering a notional 
principal amount of $851,802,000 on December 31,1992 ( 1991 — 
$850,361,000). 

At December 31, 1992, the Bank was exposed to credit loss in 
the event of nonperformance by its countetparties in an aggregate 
amount of $24,313,000 for outstanding currency swaps, and 
$17,679,000 for outstanding interest rate swaps, representing the 
estimated cost of replacing at current market rates all those out
standing swaps for which the Bank would incur a loss in replacing 
the contracts. The fair value of the liability arising from currency 
and interest rate swaps as of December 31. 1992 is $187,247,000 
and $20,020,000, respectively. 

The Bank follows guidelines regarding the counterparties 
with whom it will entet into swap agreements and establishes 
credit limits for each of those counterparties. The Bank does not 
anticipate nonperformance by any of its counterparties. The net 
liability for principal and interest on swap agreements at Decem
ber 31, 1992, amounting to the equivalent of $117,162,000 
(1991—$42,255,000), is shown in the balance sheet under 
"Accounts payable and accrued expenses". 

Note J—Capital Stock 

Composition 

The capital of the Bank consists of "paid-in" and "callable" shares. 
The subscribed "paid-in" capital has been or is to be paid in gold 
and/or United States dollars (see below) and in the currency of the 
respective member, which in some cases must be made freely 
convertible, in accordance with the terms for the respective 
increase in capital. Non-negotiable, non-interest bearing demand 
obligations have been or will be accepted in lieu of part of the 
membet's subscription to the "paid-in" capital. The subscribed 
"callable" portion of capital may only be called when required to 
meet obligations of the Bank created by bortowings of funds for 
inclusion in the Bank's Ordinary Capital resources or guarantees 
chatgeable to such resources and is payable at the option of the 
member either in gold, in United States dollars, in fully convert
ible currency of the member country, or in the currency required 
to discharge the obligations of the Bank for the purpose for which 
the call is made. 
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N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

Valuation 

The Agreement provides that the Ordinary Capital be expressed in 
terms of United States dollars of the weight and fineness in effect 
on January 1, 1959. The Second Amendment to the Articles of 
Agreement of the International Monetary Fund eliminated par 
values of currencies in terms of gold effective April 1, 1978, and 
consequently the General Counsel of the Bank has rendered an 
opinion that the Special Drawing Right (SDR) has become the 
successor to the 1959 United States dollar as the standard of value 
of the Bank's capital stock and for the purpose of maintaining the 
value of the Bank's cutrency holdings. The SDR has a value equal 
to the sum of the values of specific amounts of stated currencies, 
including the United States dollar. Pending a decision by the 
Bank's governing boards, and as suggested in the General Coun
sel's opinion, the Bank is continuing its practice of using the 1959 
United States dollar, which pursuant to the devaluations of the 
United States dollar in 1972 and 1973 is equal to approximately 
1.2063 current United States dollars, as the basis of valuation. 

In these terms, at December 31, 1992 the subscribed capital 
was $ 54,173,630,000 (4,490,731 shares of approximately $ 12,063 
each) consisting of $3,167,749,000 (262,591 shares) of "paid-in" 
capital and $51,005,881,000 (4,228,140 shares) of "callable" capi
tal. If the SDR were to have been substituted for the 1959 United 
States dollar on December 31, 1992, subscribed capital would 
have totalled $61,745,236,000, consisting of $3,610,491,000 of 
"paid-in" capital and $58,134,745,000 of "callable" capital. Such 
substitution would not have materially affected either the overall 
financial position or the results of operations of the Bank— 
Ordinaty Capital. For a statement of subscribed capital at Decem
ber 31, 1992 see Appendix 1-3. 

Changes for the period 

In January 1990 an increase in the capital stock of the Bank was 
approved in the amount of $26,500,007,000, consisting of 
$662,705,000 of "paid-in" capital and $25,837,302,000 of "call
able" capital. The first three of the four equal installments under 
this increase became effective on December 14, 1990, January 31, 
1992, and December 31, 1992, respectively. The final subscrip
tion will become effective on October 31, 1993-

The following tables summarize the changes in the sub
scribed capital and in amounts receivable from members for the 
years ended December 31,1992 and 1991 : 

Subscribed capital 

Amount (in thousands) 

Shares Paid-in Callable Total 

Balance at January 1, 
1991 3,398,244 $2,836,246 $38,158,241 $40,994,487 

Subscriptions to the 
increase of capital 
approved in 1990 . . . _ 5,709 1,869 6^,000 68,869 

Balance at December 
31,1991 ... 3,403,953 2,838,115 38,225,241 41,063,356 

Subscriptions to the 
increase of capital 
approved in 1990 .. . 1,086,778 329,634 12.780,640 13,110,274 

Balance at December 
31, 1992 4,490,731 $3,167,749 $51,005,881 $54,173,630 

Receivable from members 

Amount (in thousands) 

Non-
Regional United regional 
members States Canada members Total 

Balance at January 1, 
1991 $400,929 $120,956 $13,094 $ 21,191 Í 556,170 

Subscriptions and 
encashments (44,647) (47,880) (3,868) (6,861) (103,256) 

Balance at December 
31,1991 356,282 73,076 9,226 14,330 452,914 

Subscriptions and 
encashments 38,351 68,029 8,808 15,189 130,377 

Balance at December 
31, 1992 $394,633 $141,105 $18,034 $ 29,519 $ 583,291 

N o t e K—Genera l R e s e r v e 

In accordance with resolutions of the Board of Governors the net 
income from the Ordinary Capital resources of the Bank, after 
allocation to the Special Reserve (see Note G), has been added to a 
General Reserve to provide for possible future losses on loans or 
any annual excess of expenses over income. 

Beginning in 1981, the adjustments resulting from the transla
tion into United States dollars of assets and liabilities denominated 
in borrowed currencies have been made directly to the General 
Reserve. Such adjustments consist of the following (in thousands): 
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December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

Years ended 
December 31, 

1992 1991 

Cumulative adjustment, beginning 
of year $76,581 $70,674 

Translation adjustments for the year (92,832) 5,907 
Cumulative adjustment, end of year $(16,251) $76,581 

N o t e L — U n a l l o c a t e d Net I n c o m e 

In 1991, the Board of Governors resolved to maintain 
$50,000,000 of 1991 net income as Unallocated Net Income, to be 
allocated by the Board of Executive Directors to funding of eithet 
or both of the Intermediate Financing Facility Account or an 
account in the Fund for Special Operations for technical coopera
tion. In June 1992, the Board of Executive Directors made the 
allocation as follows: $35,000,000 to the Intermediate Financing 
Facility Account and $15,000,000 to the Fund for Special Opera
tions for the financing of technical coopetation. 

expenses and allocated to the Otdinary Capital and to the Fund 
for Special Operations as indicated in Note A. The portion of this 
cost that relates to the Ordinary Capital for the year ended Decem
ber 31, 1992 is $12,819,000 (1991—$12,025,000). The balance 
has been charged to the Fund for Special Operations. 

Components of pension costs 

Pension costs consist of the following (in thousands): 

Years ended 
December 31, 

1992 1991 

Service cost 
Interest cost on projected benefit 

obligation 
Amottization of prior service costs 
Net actuarial gain/(loss) deferred . . 
Actual return on Plan assets 

$ 22,292 $ 18,603 

52,153 
593 

(13,789) 
(39,849) 

50,374 
593 

42,497 
(91,789) 

$21,400 $20,278 

N o t e M—Ret irement P lans 

Description 

The Bank has one Staff Retirement Plan (Plan) for the benefit of its 
international employees and the employees of the IIC and one for 
the benefit of local employees in the country offices. Both plans 
are defined benefit plans. 

Funding policy 

The Plan is funded by employee and Bank contributions at the 
rates of 10% and 24% of payroll, respectively. In accordance with 
the provisions of the Plan, any and all contributions to the Plan by 
the Bank shall be irrevocable, and shall be held by the Bank sepa
rately in the Retirement Fund, to be used in accordance with the 
provisions of the Plan, and neither such contributions nor any 
income thereon shall be used for or diverted to purposes other 
than the exclusive benefit of participants and retired participants 
or their beneficiaries or estates under the Plan prior to the satisfac
tion of all liabilities with respect thereto. 

Types of assets 

The assets of the Retirement Fund are invested by several inde
pendent investment managers principally in government, corpo-
rate and other bonds, common stocks and real estate investment 
funds. 

Reconciliation of Plan assets based on December 31, 
valuation of the Plan (in thousands): 

1992 

Obligation at December 31, 1992 
Non-vested benefits 
Vested benefits 
Accumulated benefits 

Effect of future salary increases 
Projected benefit obligation at December 31, 

1992 
Plan assets at December 31,1992 
Projected benefit obligation in excess of Plan 

assets 
Remaining unrecognized net obligation at 

December 31, 1992 
Unrecognized loss 
Prepaid pension cost recognized in the Balance 

Sheet 

$ 70,493 
490,491 
560,984 
193,002 

753,986 
690,366 

(63,620) 

6,524 
57,096 

The unrecognized net transition obligation is being amortized 
over 15 years. 

Actuarial assumptions: 
Weighted average assumed discount rate 7.50% 
Weighted average expected long-term rate of return . . . . 8.25% 
Weighted average rate of salary increases 8.03% 

Pension costs 

Total pension costs for 1992 and 1991 were $21,400,000 and 
$20,278,000, respectively, and were charged to administrative 
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December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

N o t e N — N o n - P e n s i o n R e t i r e m e n t B e n e f i t s 

The Bank provides cettain health care and other benefits to 
retirees. All current staff who contribute to the Staff Retirement 
Plan while in active service and who meet cettain requirements 
will be eligible for postretirement benefits when they retire under 
the Bank's retirement plans. 

Funding policy and type of assets 

The postretirement benefits plan was funded by the Bank during 
1991. At December 31, 1992 the Plan's assets were invested pri
marily in trust and mutual funds which invest in government, 
corporate and other bonds and common stocks. 

Components of postretirement benefits costs 

Postretirement benefits costs consist of the following (in 
thousands): 

Years ended 
December 31, 

Reconciliation of Plan assets based on Decembet 31, 1992 
valuation of the Plan (in thousands): 

Service cost 
Interest cost 
Prior service cost 
Amortization of unrecognized 

obligation 
Net gain 
Actual return on assets 

1992 

$ 9,324 
17,976 

38 

3,223 
5,284 

(20,264) 
S 15,581 $ 14,937 

1991 

$ 7,757 
16,273 

2,039 

(11,132) 

Contributions to the Plan for the years ended December 31, 
1992 and 1991 amounted to $12,678,000 and $13,346,000, 
respectively. The portion of this cost that relates to the Ordinary 
Capital and is included in administrative expenses for the year 
ended December 31, 1992 is $7,594,000(1991—$7,914,000). The 
balance has been charged to the Fund for Special Operations. 

Obligation at December 31, 1992 
Accumulated postretirement benefits obligation: 

Retirees 
Fully eligible active plan participants 
Other active plan participants 

Plan assets at December 31,1992 
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation in 

excess of plan assets , 
Unrecognized items: 

Prior service cost 
Net loss '. 

Prepaid/(acctued) postretirement benefits cost . .. 

$108,848 
54,787 

101,455 
265,090 
206,844 

(58,246) 

390 
57,856 

Actuarial gains and losses which exceed ten percent of the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation are being amor
tized over the average remaining life of active participants, of 
approximately 11.5 years. 

Actuatial assumptions: 
Weighted average assumed discount rate 7.50% 
Weighted average expected long-term rate of return . . . .8.25% 
Weighted average rate of salary increases 8.03% 

For measurement purposes, an initial annual rate of increase 
in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits ranging from 
6.5% to 7.5% was used for those participants assumed to retire in 
the United States. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually 
over 30 years to an ultimate rate ranging from 5% to 6%. For 
those participants assumed to retire outside of the United States a 
2% increase was assumed. Increasing the assumed health care cost 
trend rates by one percentage point would increase the accumu
lated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 1992 
by $39,942,000 and the net periodic postretirement benefit cost 
fot the year then ended by $4,682,000. 

LNTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

132 



ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

APPENDIX I-1 

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF LOANS—NOTE E 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Membef in whose 
territory loans have 
been made 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

Total 1992 

Loans 
approved, 

less 
cancellations 

$ 5,511,075 
173,453 
160,078 
988,794 

7,118,005 
4,092,322 
4,386,558 
1,079,701 

394,880 
1,604,677 

641,678 
520,048 
107,835 
584,587 
726,223 

6,901,298 
188,872 
670,827 
462,450 

1,819,699 
18,407 

436,375 
1,001,084 
2,733,865 
1,482,584 

Ptincipal 
collected 

$1,524,300 
3,599 

16,514 
92,072 

2,437,980 
772,950 
644,978 
134,826 
65,328 

210,408 
146,375 
173,519 
10,115 
77,300 

145,788 
2,047,756 

46,601 
170,791 
46,949 

380,750 
890 
435 

121,995 
167,629 
327,767 

Loans 
sold ot 

agreed to 
be sold 

$118,188 

14,000 
59,740 

121,608 
172,705 

1,521 
200 

103,257 
15,251 
40,725 

18,060 

22,186 
1,794 

58,000 
429 

122,662 

13,951 
5,768 
1,000 

Currency in which 
outstanding portion of 

approved loans is 
collectible 

Undisbutsed Outstanding 

1,961,707 
64,275 
77,601 

341,598 
1,821,988 

810,461 
1,152,639 

520,945 
137,083 
477,324 
344,161 

47,842 
463 

243,947 
262,233 

1,282,447 
54,769 

205,015 
302,795 
474,880 

5,538 
315,872 
462,202 

1,355,218 
325,647 

1,906,880 
105,579 
65,963 

541,124 
2,798,297 
2,387,303 
2,416,236 

422,409 
192,269 
813,688 
135,891 
257,962 
97,257 

245,280 
318,202 

3,548,909 
85,708 

237,021 
112,277 
841,407 

11,979 
120,068 
402,936 

1,205,250 
828,170 

Freely 
convertible 
currencies 

$ 1,863,351 
105,579 
65,802 

534,906 
2,721,861 
2,370,600 
2,407,510 

422,409 
192,269 
812,453 
134,458 
256,801 
97,257 

245,280 
316,374 

3,529,811 
85,708 

236,634 
110,983 
836,384 

11,979 
120,068 
402,886 

1,205,250 
828,170 

Other 
currencies 

$ 43,529 

161 
6,218 

76,436 
16,703 
8,726 

1,235 
1,433 
1,161 

1,828 
19,098 

387 
1,294 
5,023 

50 

Outstanding 
1991 

$ 1,947,620 
79,814 
66,756 

434,866 
2,829,088 
2,345,540 
2,127,903 

379,213 
193,050 
792,195 
151,578 
272,651 

99,698 
234,458 
294,886 

3,517,970 
64,434 

319,494 
122,171 
835,692 

10,829 
67,981 

400,156 
820,193 
852,153 

$43,805,375 $9,767,615 $891,045 $13,048,650 $20,098,065 $19,914,783 $183,282 

Total 1991 $37,498,128 $8,569,976 $897,136 $8,770,627 $19,059,089 $201,300 $19,260,389 

The freely convertible currencies in which the outstanding portion of approved loans is collectible are as follows: 

Currencies 1992 
Austrian schillings 
British pounds sterling . . 
Canadian dollars 
European currency units 
French francs 
German marks 
Italian lire 
Japanese yen 

$13,043 
280,752 
71,412 
69,467 

2,075,933 

6,137,845 

1991 
$17,433 
395,649 
76,536 
81,902 

719 
2,393,191 

88 
5,481,134 

Currencies 
Netherlands guilders 
Spanish pesetas 
Swedish kronor 
Swiss francs 
Trinidad and Tobago dollars . 
United States dollars 
Venezuelan bolivars 
Yugoslav dinars 

1992 
$840,337 

49,110 
30 

3,509,210 
1,318 

6,862,353 
3,939 

34 

$19,914,783 

1991 
$931,098 

48,302 
378 

3,529,399 
1,567 

6,092,764 
8,896 

33 
$19,059,089 
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APPENDIX 1-2 

STATEMENT OF BORROWINGS—NOTE H 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Borrowings Swap agreements Net currency obligations 

Payable in: 

Weighted 
average 

Principal outstanding cost(%) 

Weighted 
Currency swap average cost 

payable (receivables) (return) (%) (a) 

Austrian schillings 
British pounds sterling 
Canadian dollars 
European currency units . . . 
German marks 
Japanese yen 
Netherlands guilders 
Portuguese escudos  
Spanish pesetas 
Swiss francs 
Trinidad and Tobago dollars 
United States dollars 

1992 1991 

t 88,075 
509,147 
353,941 
120,511 

2,875,849 
7,535,840 
1,154,936 

78,360 
261,233 

3,175,986 
1,896 

5,233,885 

629,910 
129,803 
134,084 

3,087,731 
6,416,828 
1,216,299 

85,703 
207,082 

2,969,075 
2,047 

4,777,371 

Total $21,389,659 «19,655,933 

1992 

7.84 
10.94 
9.39 

10.12 
7.51 
5.87 
7.94 

12.00 
12.05 
6.49 
8.34 
8.82 

7.33 

1992 1991 1992 1992 1991 

Due 
dates 

1992 

» (88,075) S — 
(105,836) (130,939) 
(353Í941) (129,803) 

(247,066) 
(120,240) 
(165,371) 

(78,360) 
(261,233) 
361,954 

(263,852) 
(119,808) 

(85,703) 
(207,082) 
367,711 

(80,407) (129,559) 
1,278,920 763,091 

(7.84) 
(10.49) 

(9.39) 

(8.75) 
(7.00) 
(8.29) 

(12.00) 
(12.05) 

5.75 

(13.38) 
7.18 

403,311 498,971 1995/15 

120,511 134,084 1993 
2,628,783 2,823,879 1993/02 
7,415,600 6,297,020 1994/17 

989,565 1,216,299 1993/00 

3,537,940 3,336,786 1993/05 
1,896 2,047 2002 

6,432,398 5,410,903 1993/11 

(a) The weighted average cost of borrowings outstanding at December 31, 1992, after adjustment for swap activities, was 7.19% (at December 31, 
1991-7.66%). 

Sinking fund requirements and maturities subsequent to December 31, 1992 are approximately equivalent to the 
following: 

Year 

1993 
1994 
1995 
1996 
1997 
1998/01 
2002/06 
2007/11 
2012/16 
2017 

Amount 

$ 1,390,701 
921,361 

2,141,708 
1,825,631 
2,815,854 
7,332,850 
3,207,045 
1,170,790 

423,399 
160,320 

$21,389,659 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

APPENDIX 1-3 

STATEMENT OF SUBSCRIPTIONS TO CAPITAL STOCK—NOTE J 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Paid-in portion of 
subscribed capital 

Members 
Argentina 
Austria . . . 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium . 
Belize 
Bolivia . . 
Brazil 
Canada . . . 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Denmark 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 
Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicatagua . . 
Norway 
Panama .",..'. 
Paraguay . . . 
Peru 
Portugal 
Spain 
Suriname  
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago 
United Kingdom 
United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Yugoslavia 

Total 1992 

Shares 
522,017 

3,565 
10,089 
6,244 
8,448 
1,989 

41,904 
522,017 
197,169 
143,335 
143,232 
20,947 

3,797 
27,964 
27,964 
20,947 

3,565 
43,399 
44,450 
27,964 

7,767 
13,300 
20,947 

3,514 
43,399 
27,964 
48,413 

335,560 
6,598 

20,947 
3,797 

20,947 
20,947 
69,951 

1,143 
43,399 

4,258 
7,391 
9,691 

20,947 
43,399 

,556,238 
55,967 

279,676 
3,565 

Freely 
convertible 
currencies 
$ 260,836 

2,485 
7,105 
3,649 
6,044 
2,389 

20,918 
260,836 
142,131 
71,560 
71,548 
10,483 
2,678 

13,957 
13,957 
10,483 
2,485 

30,425 
31,124 
13,957 
4,934 
8,167 

10,483 
2,473 

30,424 
13,957 
33,886 

167,694 
4,584 

10,483 
2,678 

10,484 
10,484 
34,984 

760 
30,424 

3,330 
5,260 
6,743 

10,483 
30,424 

1,090,341 
27,987 
64,129 

2,485 

Other 
currencies 
$104,059 

4,053 
1,755 

8,360 
104,059 

28,566 
28,554 

4,162 

5,573 
5,573 
4,162 

5,573 
2,570 
4,162 
4,162 

5,573 

66,904 

4,162 

4,162 
4,162 

13,957 

2,232 

4,162 

11,171 
138,790 

Callable 
portion of 
subscribed 

capital 
$ 5,932,422 

40,521 
110,549 
69,920 
95,867 
21,605 

476,228 
5,932,422 
2,236,403 
1,628,985 
1,627,767 
238,048 
43,126 

317,812 
317,812 
238,048 
40,521 

493,116 
505,096 
317,812 
86,194 
148,115 
238,048 
39,918 

493,116 
317,812 
550,141 

3,813,408 
75,010 

238,048 
43,126 

238,048 
238,048 
794,908 
13,029 

493,116 
45,805 
83,901 
110,163 
238,048 
493,116 

17,683,230 
635,997 

3,170,934 
40,522 

Total 1992 
$ 6,297,317 

43,006 
121,707 
75,324 
101,911 
23,994 
505,506 

6,297,317 
2,378,534 
1,729,111 
1,727,869 
252,693 
45,804 

337,342 
337,342 
252,693 
43,006 
523,541 
536,220 
337,342 
93,698 
160,444 
252,693 
42,391 

523,540 
337,342 
584,027 

4,048,006 
79,594 

252,693 
45,804 

252,694 
252,694 
843,849 
13,789 

523,540 
51,367 
89,161 
116,906 
252,693 
523,540 

18,773,571 
675,155 

3,373,853 
43,007 

Total 1991 
4,490,731 $2,597,131 $570,618 $51,005,881 $54,173,630 
3,403,953 $2,372,952 $465,163 $38,225,241 

Total 1991 
$ 4,764,947 

32,535 
92,080 
56,988 
77,109 

382,508 
4,764,947 
1,799,756 
1,308,364 
1,307,411 
191,193 
34,658 

255,262 
255,262 
191,193 
32,536 

396,151 
405,741 
255,262 
70,897 
160,444 
191,193 
32,065 

396,151 
255,262 
441,920 

3,062,978 
60,221 
191,193 
34,658 
191,193 
191,193 
638,505 
10,435 

396,151 
38,869 
67,471 
88,461 
191,193 
396,151 

14,256,576 
510,874 

2,552,864 
32,535 

$41,063,356 
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FUND FOR 
SPECIAL OPERATIONS 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 138 through 146 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Inter-American Development Bank—Fund for Special Operations at 
December 31, 1992 and 1991, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Bank's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 8, 1993 
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FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash 
Investments 

Loans ou t s t and ing 
Allowance for loan losses 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On investments 
On loans 

Receivable from members 
Contribution quotas 
Non-negotiable, non-interest bearing 

demand obligations 
Amounts required to maintain value 

of currency holdings 

P r o p e r t y and i m p r o v e m e n t s , 
at cost less accumula ted 
deprec ia t ion $871; (1991—S785) 

Other assets 

December 31, 

1992 

$1,228,685 
954 ,413 $2,183,098 

5,818,224 
(115,100) 5 ,703,124 

10,384 
35,561 

73 ,349 

1,338,444 

110,993 

45 ,945 

Total assets 

1,522,786 

1,123 
24 

$9 ,456,100 

1991 

«1,138,284 
849,998 $1,988,282 

5,716,183 
(115,100) 5,601,083 

9,714 
35,542 

153,619 

1,534,679 

110,993 

45,256 

1,799,291 

1,209 
23 

$9,435,144 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . . 
Undisbursed technical cooperation 

projects and other financings 
Advance payments of contribution quotas 

Fund balance 
Contribution quotas authorized and 

subscribed 
General Reserve 
Technical cooperation contribution 

29,825 

192,112 
205 

8,666,613 
552,345 

15,000 

$ 222,142 

Total liabilities and fund balance 

9 ,233,958 

$9 ,456,100 

6,729 

184,255 
694 

8,703,975 
539,491 

$ 191,678 

9,243,466 

$9,435,144 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND GENERAL RESERVE 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31 , 
1992 1991 

Income 
Loans 

Interest 
Credit commissions 
Service charges 
Supervision and inspection fees 

Investments 
Other 

Total income 

Expenses 
Administrative expenses 

Total expenses . . . . 

Income before technical cooperation expense 

Technical cooperation expense 

Net income 

General Reserve beginning of year . . . . 
Translation adjustments 
Allocation to Intermediate Financing 

Facility Account 
General Reserve end of year 

$115,374 
5,609 
2,543 
4,007 

127,533 

58,638 
535 

186,706 

101,699 
101,699 

85,007 

50,864 

34,143 

539,491 
(5,789) 

(15,500) 
$552,345 

$146,147 
4,778 
4,145 
2,581 

157,651 

61,190 
686 

219,527 

88,385 
88,385 

131,142 

115,910 

15,232 

538,583 
1,176 

(15,500) 
$539,491 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31, 

1992 1991 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Capital: 

Collections of receivables from members $249,790 $ 46,658 
Participations: 

Sales of loans to participants 19,730 13,594 
Repayments to participants (20,726) (18,513) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 248,794 41,739 
Cash flows from investing activities 

Lending: 
Loan disbursements (387,490) (295,741) 
Loan collections 299,257 339,968 

Net cash (used for) provided by lending activities (88,233) 44,227 
Miscellaneous assets and liabilities 12,982 (8,480) 
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities (75,251) 35,747 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 126,406 160,538 
Income from investments 57,852 62,457 
Other income 535 686 
Administrative expenses (103,223) (148,621) 
Technical cooperation and other financings (43,007) (53,181) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 38,563 21,879 

Allocation from the Ordinary Capital 15,000 — 
Transfer to the Intermediate Financing 

Facility Account (15,500) (15,500) 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash 

and inves tments (16,790) 1,103 
Net increase in cash and inves tments $ 194,816 $ 84,968 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash 
provided by operating activities: 
Net income $ 34,143 $ 15,232 
Difference between amounts accrued and 

amounts paid or collected for: 
Loan income (1,127) 2,887 
Investment income (786) 1,267 
Administrative expenses (1,524) (60,236) 
Technical cooperation and other 

financings 7,857 62,729 
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 38,563 $ 21,879 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities 
Decreases resulting from 

exchange rate fluctuations: 
Due from members S (35,393) $ (167) 
Contribution quotas (46,548) (46) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

N o t e A — S u m m a r y o f S igni f icant A c c o u n t i n g P o l i c i e s 

Translation of currencies 

The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars; 
however, the Inter-American Development Bank (Bank) conducts 
its operations in the currencies of all of its membets. Assets and 
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the United States 
dollar are generally translated at approximate market fates of 
exchange prevailing at the dates of the financial statements. 
Income and expenses in such currencies are generally translated at 
approximate market rates of exchange prevailing during each 
month. Fluctuations of rates of exchange generally do not have 
any effect on the United States dollar equivalents of such curren
cies because of the maintenance of value provisions described in 
Note B. The net adjustments resulting from the translation into 
United States dollars of assets, liabilities and contribution quotas 
which do not have maintenance of value protection, being 
derived from the 1983 and 1990 increases in contribution quotas 
(see Note F), are shown in the Statement of Income and General 
Reserve as ttanslation adjustments affecting the General Reserve 
directly. 

No representation is made that any currency held in the Fund 
for Special Operations (FSO) is convertible into any other cur
rency at any rate or rates. 

Fair values of financial Instruments 

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Bank 
in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments: 

Cash: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for 
cash approximates fair values. 

Inves tmen t s : Fair values for investment securities are based 
on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted market 
prices are not available, fair values are based on quoted mar
ket prices of comparable instruments. 

Loans : The Bank is one of very few lenders of development 
and structural adjustment loans to Latin American countries. 
There is no secondary market for development loans. Interest 
on all loans within the Fund is accrued at fixed rates. For all 
loans and related commitments, the Bank is of the opinion 
that due to its unique position in its lending operations and 
the absence of a secondary market it is not practicable to 
estimate a fair value for the Bank's lending portfolio at this 
time. 

Loans 

All the Bank's loans in the FSO are made to or guaranteed by 
members. Loans to borrowers other than members and central 
banks are in almost all cases guaranteed by members and/or other 
securities deemed appropriate. Under the loan contracts with the 

borrowers, the Bank may sell participations in the loans to com
mercial banks or other public or private organizations, but it 
reserves to itself the administration of the loans. The principal 
amounts of loans are repayable in the currencies lent. Interest on 
loans is accrued in the currencies lent. 

Direct costs associated with originating loans are considered 
immaterial and are expensed as incurred. 

The Bank does not reschedule interest and/or principal pay
ments on its loans or participate in debt rescheduling agreements 
with respect to its loans. It is the policy of the Bank to place in 
nonaccrual status all loans made to, or guaranteed by, a member of 
the Bank if principal, interest, or other charges with respect to any 
such loan are overdue by more than 180 days, unless the Bank 
management determines that the overdue amount will be col
lected in the immediate future. On the date a member's loans are 
placed in nonaccrual status, interest and other charges that had 
been accrued on loans outstanding to the member which 
remained unpaid are deducted from the income of the current 
period. In addition, if loans made by the Ordinary Capital to a 
member government are placed in nonaccrual status, all loans to 
that member government will also be placed in nonaccrual status 
in the FSO of the Bank. Interest and other charges on nonaccruing 
loans are included in income only to the extent that payments 
have actually been received by the Bank. 

The Bank follows the policy of reviewing the collectibility of 
loans on a continuous basis and records provision for loan losses 
in accordance with its assessment of the collectibility risk of the 
total loan portfolio. 

Property and improvements 

Property is recorded at cost. Majot improvements are capitalized 
while routine replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged 
to expense. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method 
over estimated useful lives (30 to 40 years for buildings). 

Administrative expenses 

Substantially all administrative expenses of the Bank, including 
depreciation of property capitalized in the Bank's Ordinary Capi
tal, are allocated to the funds pursuant to an allocation method 
approved by the Board of Executive Directors. During 1992, such 
expenses were charged 40.1 % to the Fund for Special Operations 
and 59.9% to the Ordinary Capital (1991—40.7% and 5 9 3 % , 
respectively). 

Technical cooperation 

All non-reimbursable technical cooperation projects as well as 
certain reimbursable financings which may not be fully recovered 
are charged to expense at the time of approval. 

Cancellations of the undisbursed balance of technical cooper
ations are recognized as a reduction of expenses in the period in 
which they occur. 
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FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

N o t e B — M a i n t e n a n c e o f Value N o t e D — I n v e s t m e n t s 

In accordance with the Agreement Establishing the Bank (Agree
ment), each member is required to maintain the value of its cur
rency held in the FSO to the extent established by the terms for 
the respective increases in contribution quotas. Likewise, and sub
ject to the same terms of contribution quota increases, the Bank is 
required to return to a member an amount of its currency equal to 
any significant increase in value of such member's currency which 
is held in the FSO. The standard of value for these purposes ranges 
from the United States dollar at its 1959 value to the United States 
dollar at its value in effect at any given time. Holdings derived 
from the 1983 and 1990 increases in contribution quotas (see Note 
F) do not have maintenance of value protection. 

The General Counsel of the Bank has rendered an opinion 
that since the effectiveness on April 1, 1978 of the Second Amend
ment to the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary 
Fund, which eliminated par values of currencies in terms of gold, 
the Special Drawing Right (SDR) has become the successor to the 
1959 United States dollar as the standard of value. The Bank's 
governing boards have not made a decision on this matter If the 
SDR were to have been substituted for the 1959 United States 
dollar on Decembet 31, 1992, the financial position and the 
results of operations of the Bank—Fund for Special Opetations 
would not have been materially affected. 

"Amounts required to maintain value of currency holdings" 
represent amounts due from member countries for maintenance 
of value adjustments resulting from the changes in the values of 
cutrencies in 1972 and 1973- Such amounts include Í5,387,000 
(1991—$5,387,000) for which payment responsibility has not 
been assigned as they relate to outstanding loans repayable at 
borrowers' options either in the currencies disbursed or in the 
borrowers' currencies. The obligation for payment of this amount 
is being allocated to individual members on the basis of the cur
rencies received in loan repayments. 

N o t e C — R e s t r i c t e d C u r r e n c i e s 

Cash includes $1,203,738,000 (1991—$1,125,705,000) in the 
non-convertible currencies of regional borrowing members, of 
which $128,543,000 (1991—$ 116,465,000) has been restricted by 
one of the members to be used for making payments for goods 
and services produced in its territory, in accordance with provi
sions of the Agreement. 

The investments of the Bank—Fund for Special Operations—are 
stated at amortized cost which approximates market and consist 
of the following (in thousands): 

December 31, 

1992 1991 
Obligations of governments 

or United States Government 
corporations and agencies 

Time deposits and other obligations 
of banks 

$354,231 $293,288 

600,182 556,710 

$954,413 $849,998 

The amortized cost and estimated market values of invest
ments in debt securities are as follows (in thousands): 

Amortized 
December 31,1992 cost 
Obligations of United 

States Government 
and its corporations 
and agencies $220,702 

Obligations of other 
governments 133,528 

Bankers' acceptances .. . 50,716 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$1,401 $ (2,517) $219,586 

91 
3 

(10,816) 122,803 
(8) 50,711 

$404,946 $1,495 $(13,341) $393,100 

Amortized 
cost December 31. 1991 

Obligations of United 
States Government 
and its corpotations 
and agencies $ 172,563 

Obligations of other 
governments 120,725 

Bankers' acceptances .. . 44,436 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

$2,804 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 

Estimated 
market 
value 

(91) $175,276 

120,670 
44,505 

$337,724 $3,270 $ (543) $340,451 

392 
74 

(447) 
(5) 
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FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

The amortized cost and estimated market value of the above 
debt securities by contractual maturity are as follows (in 
thousands): 

December 31, 1992 December 31, 1991 

Amortized 
cost 

Due in one year or 
less $163,687 

Due after one year 
through five years . 241,259 

Due after five years .. — 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$163,425 

229,675 

Amortized 
cost 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$235,770 $238,469 

24,238 
77,716 

24,768 
77,214 

$404,946 $393,100 $337,724 $340,451 

Proceeds from sales of investments in debt securities were 
$306,416,000 during 1992 and $291,975,000 during 1991. Gross 
gains of $2,205,000 (1991—$633,000) and gross losses of 
$1,000,000 were realized in those sales. There were no realized 
losses during 1991. 

The Bank limits its activities of investing in securities to a list 
of authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict credit limits have 
been established for each counterparty by type of instrument and 
maturity category. 

N o t e E—Loans O u t s t a n d i n g 

Approved loans are disbursed to borrowers in accordance with 
the requirements of the project being financed; however, dis
bursements do not begin until the borrower and guarantor, if any, 
take certain actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. Of 
the undisbursed balances, the Bank has entered into irrevocable 
commitments to disburse approximately $13,425,000 at Decem-
ber31 , 1992. 

The Board of Executive Directors has authorized participa
tions by the Social Progress Trust Fund (Trust Fund) in the United 
States dollar or local currency portions of loans made from the 
FSO provided that, with respect to such loans, the provisions of 
the Social Progress Trust Fund Agreement have in substance been 
complied with as fully as though the loans had been made initially 
from the Trust Fund. 

In March 1992, the Bank received payment of all amounts 
overdue on loans to borrowers in Panama, which came out of 
nonaccrual status. Putsuant to the policy described in Note A, in 
April 1992, loans made to or guaranteed by Haiti with an outstand
ing balance of $186,460,000 as of December 31, 1992, of which 
$5,721,000 was overdue, were placed in nonaccrual status. The 
net effect of the recovery of prior years' income from loans in 
Panama in the amount of $2,700,000 and the placing of Haiti in 
nonaccrual status has resulted in a decrease of $2,317,000 in 
income for the year ended December 31, 1992. For the year 
ended December 31, 1991, the increase in loan income due to 
loans to countries coming out of nonaccrual status during that 

year was $29,180,000. No changes to the "Allowance for loan 
losses" were deemed necessary for the year ended December 31, 
1992. 

The average maturity on loans undisbursed and outstanding 
and the average interest rate for loans outstanding at December 
31, 1992, is 14.31 years and 1.96%, respectively. 

N o t e F—Contr ibut ion Q u o t a s A u t h o r i z e d a n d 
S u b s c r i b e d 

Non-negotiable, non-interest bearing demand obligations have 
been or will be accepted in lieu of part of the payment of the 
members' contribution quotas. The Canadian contribution quota 
is being increased by collections of principal, interest and service 
charges after May 3, 1972 on loans extended from the Canadian 
Trust Fund administered by the Bank, which was originally estab
lished in the amount of CAD 74,000,000. 

In January 1990 the Board of Governors authorized an 
increase of contribution quotas in the equivalent of $200,000,000 
payable during the years 1990 to 1993 in freely convertible cur
rencies to be designated by each member country at the rates of 
exchange in effect on March 20, 1989. 

The following table summarizes the changes in contribution 
quotas subscribed for the years ended December 31, 1991 and 
1992 (in thousands): 

Contribution quotas 
subscribed 

Balance at January 1, 1991 
Contribution by Canada— 

Trust Fund collections 
Decrease in the U.S. dollar equivalents 

of contributions approved in 1983 
and 1990 due to exchange rate 
fluctuations 

$8,701,828 

2,193 

(46) 

Balance at December 31, 1991 
Contribution by Canada— 

Trust Fund collections 
Contributions by members 

approved in 1992 
Decrease in the U.S. dollar equivalents 

of contributions approved in 1983 
and 1990 due to exchange rate 
fluctuations 

Balance at December 31, 1992 

8,703,975 

1,986 

7,200 

(46,548) 

$8,666,613 

Certain currencies held by the Bank which are derived from 
authorized contributions in 1983 and 1990 are not subject to the 
maintenance of value provisions of the Agreement. 

At December 31, 1992 the cumulative increase in the United 
States dollar equivalents of contribution quotas because of 
exchange rate fluctuations was $49,786,000 (1991 — 
$96,334,000). 
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FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 3 1 , 1992 and 1991 

N o t e G — G e n e r a l R e s e r v e 

In accordance with resolutions of the Board of Governors, the net 
income of the FSO is to be added to a General Reserve to provide 
for possible future losses on loans or any annual excess of 
expenses over income. 

In both 1992 and 1991 the Board of Governors allocated the 
equivalent of $15,500,000 in convertible currencies from the 
General Reserve to the Intermediate Financing Facility Account 
(IFF) for the purpose of providing to certain borrowers part of the 
interest for which they are liable on loans from the capital 
resources of the Bank. In addition, the equivalent of $ 15,500,000 
in convertible cutrencies is to be allocated annually from the Gen
eral Reserve to the IFF during each of the years 1993 through 
1996, $23,500,000 from 1997 through 2001 and $30,000,000 
from 2002 through 2010, subject to adjustment by the Board of 
Governors. 

As indicated in Note A, the adjustments resulting from the 
translation of assets, liabilities and contribution quotas, which do 
not have maintenance of value protection, are shown as adjust
ments to the General Reserve. Such adjustments consist of the 
following (in thousands): 

Years ended 
December 31, 

Cumulative adjustments 
beginning of year . . . . 

Translation adjustments 
for the year 

Cumulative adjustments 
end of year 

1992 

$ 4,072 

(5,789) 

$(1,717) 

1991 

$2,896 

1,176 

$4,072 

N o t e H—Technica l C o o p e r a t i o n C o n t r i b u t i o n 

In June 1992, the Board of Executive Directors approved the 
allocation of $15,000,000 from the 1991 Ordinary Capital net 
income to a separate account in the FSO to be used solely for the 
financing of Technical Cooperation projects. 

N o t e I — A d m i n i s t r a t i v e E x p e n s e 

Pursuant to the policy described in Note A—Administrative 
Expenses, the FSO shares all of the expenses incurred by the Bank 
in the Ordinary Capital. Administrative expenses for the retire
ment plans and for non-pension retirement benefits charged to 
the FSO for the years ended December 31, 1992 and 1991, 
amounted to $8,581,000 and $5,084,000 (1991—$8,253,000 and 
$5,432,000), respectively. 

N o t e J — T e c h n i c a l C o o p e r a t i o n E x p e n s e 

Technical cooperation expense consists of the following (in 
thousands): 

December 31, 

Projects approved 
Cancellation of balances for 

overages or projects 
not executed 

Recuperations and adjustments 
Total 

1992 
$52,312 

(1,300) 
(148) 

$50,864 

1991 
$116,636 

(664) 
(62) 

$115,910 

LNTER-AMERLCAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

144 



FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

APPENDIX II-1 

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF LOANS—NOTE E 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Member in whose 
tettitoty loans have 
been made 

Argentina 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuadot 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 
Unallocated 

Loans 
approved, 

less 
cancellations 

$ 573,965 
41,232 

881,156 
1,472,990 

203,419 
705,699 
349,177 
654,353 
885,614 
705,227 
573,318 
310,094 
350,678 
812,968 
166,645 
558,986 
491,576 
286,372 
540,429 
395,096 

2,955 
31,314 

104,556 
101,393 
189,374 

Loans 
sold or 

Principal agreed to 
collected be sold 

$ 242,833 
9,122 

134,261 
710,633 
159,876 
304,910 
106,905 
111,710 
114,734 
62,194 
92,248 
10,132 
29,450 

106,956 
45,115 

395,840 
71,929 
97,325 

126,799 
186,134 

11,805 
40,582 
71,586 
76,779 

3,882 
44,974 

7,298 
7,043 
2,842 

17,096 
16,997 
11,563 
11,720 

400 
2,514 

18,887 

2,389 
27,027 
14,097 

1,173 
23,655 

2,062 
21,782 

164 

Undisbursed Outstanding 

$ 28,243 $ 72,032 

173,837 
296,517 

44,260 
4,042 

117,759 
234,157 
173,826 
133,211 
173,396 
132,285 
187,314 

5,021 
1,683 

60,974 
17,169 

135,848 

2,163 
7,720 
4,252 

7,394 
(164) 

230,857 
32,110 

569,176 
420,866 

36,245 
349,486 
235,388 
407,788 
519,726 
457,644 
336,139 
126,166 
186,429 
499,811 
116,509 
159,074 
331,646 
157,781 
276,609 
185,307 

792 
11,789 
57,660 
8,025 

105,201 

Currency in which 
outstanding portion of 

approved loans is 
collectible 

Freely 
convertible Other 
currencies currencies 

$ 10,518 
30,223 

450,543 
17,565 
9,402 

182,739 
208,019 
348,568 
453,148 
411,859 
286,376 
124,010 
158,858 
447,565 

98,774 
39,345 

314,657 
121,417 
207,084 
104,564 

4,688 
29,312 
8,025 

81,002 

$ 220,339 
1,887 

118,633 
403,301 

26,843 
166,747 
27,369 
59,220 
66,578 
45,785 
49,763 

2,156 
27,571 
52,246 
17,735 

119,729 
16,989 
36,364 
69,525 
80,743 

792 
7,101 

28,348 

24,199 

Outstanding 
1991 

$ 232,836 
33,114 

557,121 
435,384 

41,570 
354,805 
247,518 
419,666 
498,144 
414,439 
336,248 
102,578 
185,901 
436,649 
120,807 
176,652 
288,542 
191,846 
250,402 
205,762 

666 
10,201 
54,570 
9,363 

111,399 

Total 1992 

Total 1991 

$11,388,586 $3,319,858 $265,808 $1,984,696 $5,818,224 $4,148,261 $1,669,963 

$11,038,126 $3,030,404 $260,708 $2,030,831 $4,118,560 $1,597,623 $5,716,183 

The freely convertible currencies in which the outstanding portion of approved loans is collectible are as follows: 

Currencies 
Austrian schillings 
Belgian francs 
British pounds sterling. 
Canadian dollars 
Danish kroner 
Finnish markkas 
French francs 
German marks 
Israeli shekels 
Italian lire 

1992 
$ 8,019 

26,243 
111,420 
218,743 
11,719 
7,705 

106,372 
126,821 

30,493 

1991 
$ 7,734 

26,936 
115,573 
228,770 
11,896 
7,838 

109,493 
125,999 

30 
32,675 

Currencies 

Japanese yen 
Netherlands guilders 
Norwegian kroner. . . 
Portuguese escudos . 
Spanish pesetas 
Swedish kronor 
Swiss francs 
United States dollars . 
Venezuelan bolivars . 
Yugoslav dinars 

1992 
t 136,392 

17,634 
13,989 
2,922 

121,528 
23,427 
28,945 

3,118,722 
33,546 

3,621 

1991 
I 141,856 

18,153 
14,081 
3,028 

123,273 
23,706 
29,595 

3,040,297 
53,900 

3,727 
$4,148,261 $4,118,560 
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APPENDIX II-2 

STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION QUOTAS—NOTES B AND F 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Contribution quotas authorized and subscribed 

Subject to maintenance 
of value 

Members 
Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Canada 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Denmark 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 
Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicatagua 
Norway 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 
Spain 
Suriname  
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago 
United Kingdom 
United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Yugoslavia 
Total before unallocated 

amount 
Unallocated (see Note B) 

Total 1992 

Total 1991 

Before 
adjustments 

$ 402,819 
10,955 
8,800 
1,403 

27,098 

32,535 
402,819 
200,956 
111,440 
111,385 

16,215 
11,692 
21,721 
21,721 
16,215 
10,955 

133,396 
136,692 
21,721 

6,980 
16,215 
16,215 
10,794 

133,396 
21,721 

148,825 
259,249 

20,261 
16,215 
11,692 
16,215 
16,215 
54,492 

4,994 
133,396 

5,280 
23,729 
29,752 
16,215 

133,396 
4,100,000 

43,502 
250,060 

10,955 

7,200,302 

$7,200,302 

$7,198,315 

Adjustments 

$ 29,239 

42 

9,502 
61,754 
12,577 
22,565 
19,786 
3,818 

7,341 
4,151 
1,874 

6,312 

2,316 
6,569 

2,734 

15,041 

4,594 

5,871 
8,504 

13,803 

1,446 

243,574 
3,714 

12,109 

499,236 
5,387 

$504,623 

$504,623 

Not subject 
to 

maintenance 
of value 

$ 49,082 
3,638 
1,166 
159 

8,384 
7,200 
4,190 

51,352 
48,065 
14,430 
14,430 
2,069 
3,621 
2,809 
2,809 
2,069 
2,441 

38,216 
44,206 
2,809 
899 

2,069 
2,069 
2,944 

29,358 
2,809 
59,217 
35,947 
6,671 
2,061 
2,720 
2,069 
2,069 
7,107 
834 

34,592 
688 

5,412 
9,295 
2,069 

30,224 
372,304 
5,623 

35,947 
3,546 

961,688 

$ 961,688 
$1,001,037 

Total 1992 
$ 481,140 

14,593 
9,966 
1,604 

35,482 
7,200 

46,227 
515,925 
261,598 
148,435 
145,601 
22,102 
15,313 
31,871 
28,681 
20,158 
13,396 

171,612 
180,898 
30,842 
7,879 

20,600 
24,853 
13,738 

162,754 
27,264 

208,042 
310,237 
26,932 
22,870 
14,412 
24,155 
26,788 
75,402 
5,828 

167,988 
5,968 

29,141 
39,047 
19,730 

163,620 
4,715,878 

52,839 
298,116 
14,501 

8,661,226 
5,387 

$8,666,613 

Total 1991 
$ 491,861 

14,823 
9,966 
1,604 

35,994 

46,227 
515,925 
264,428 
148,435 
145,601 
22,102 
15,523 
31,871 
28,681 
20,158 
13,520 

174,020 
183,422 
30,842 
7,879 

20,600 
24,853 
14,009 

171,097 
27,264 

207,829 
310,237 
27,336 
22,870 
14,507 
24,155 
26,788 
75,402 
5,845 

174,529 
5,968 

30,646 
39,729 
19,730 

170,789 
4,715,878 

52,839 
298,116 
14,690 

8,698,588 
5,387 

$8,703,975 

1992 
Contribution 

quotas 
receivable from 

members 
$ 8,514 

331 
249 

17 
795 

4,800 
231 

2,838 
5,193 

798 
798 
114 
177 
155 
311 
229 
115 

1,989 
1,767 
155 
99 

457 
229 
123 

3,212 
311 

4,073 
1,987 
612 
114 
149 
114 
114 
393 
96 

3,508 
132 
531 
427 
114 

3,044 
21,185 

621 
1,987 
141 

73,349 

$ 73,349 
$153,619 
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INTERMEDIATE FINANCING 
FACILITY ACCOUNT 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 148 through 151 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Inter-American Development Bank—Intermediate Financing Facility 
Account at December 31, 1992 and 1991, and the changes in its fund balance for the years then ended in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Bank's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 8, 1993 
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INTERMEDIATE FINANCING FACILITY ACCOUNT 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash 

Investments, at amortized cost 
which approximates market 

Obligations issued or guaranteed 
by governments or issued by 
United States agencies 
Time deposits and other 
obligations of banks 
Total cash and investments 

Accrued income on investments 
Total assets 

December 31 , 

1992 1991 

$ 37,912 

272,000 

908 

309,912 
310,820 

2 ,276 
$313,096 

Ï 8,536 

262,133 270,669 
271,538 

4,842 
1276,380 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

Fund balance 
Total liabilities and fund balance 

$ 1,528 

311,568 
$313,096 

I — 
276,380 

$276,380 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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INTERMEDIATE FINANCING FACILITY ACCOUNT 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31 , 

Additions 
Allocation from Fund for Special 

Operations 
Allocation from Ordinary Capital 
Income from investments 

Total additions 

Deductions 
Interest paid on behalf of ordinary capital 

borrowers 

Increase for the year 

Fund balance beginning of the year 

Translation adjustments 

Fund balance end of year 

1992 

$ 15,500 
35 ,000 
18,276 
68 ,776 

21 ,364 

47,412 

276,380 

(12,224) 

$311,568 

1991 

$ 15,500 

20,457 
35,957 

19,434 
16,523 

258,054 

1,803 

$276,380 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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I N T E R M E D I A T E F I N A N C I N G FACILITY A C C O U N T 
I N T E R - A M E R I C A N D E V E L O P M E N T B A N K 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1 9 9 2 a n d 1 9 9 1 

N o t e A — N a t u r e o f t h e A c c o u n t 

In 1983 the Board of G o v e r n o r s of the Inter-American Develop
m e n t Bank (Bank) es tabl ished the In te rmedia te Financing Facility 
Account (IFF) for the p u r p o s e of p rov id ing to certain b o r r o w e r s 
par t of the interest p a y m e n t s fot wh ich they are liable o n loans 
from the capital resources of the Bank. For initial funding pur
poses , the equivalent of $61 ,000 ,000 in conver t ib le currencies of 
the General Reserve of the Fund for Special Opera t ions (FSO) was 
t ransferred t o the IFF o n D e c e m b e r 15, 1983. In addi t ion , the 
equivalent of $15 ,500 ,000 in conver t ib le cur renc ies of the Gen
eral Reserve of the FSO has been transferred annually beg inn ing in 
1984; a similar a m o u n t is to b e al located annually by the Board of 
G o v e r n o r s du r ing each of the years 1993 th rough 1996, 
$23 ,500 ,000 from 1997 t h rough 2001 and $30 ,000 ,000 from 2002 
th rough 2010 . These a m o u n t s are subject to adjustment for appro
priate reasons related to the availability of funding for the IFF. 

Additionally, in J u n e 1992, the Board of Execut ive Directors 
a p p r o v e d the al locat ion of $35 ,000 ,000 from the 1991 Ord inary 
Capital net i n c o m e . 

T h e IFF is also au thor ized to receive addi t ional con t r ibu t ions 
from any m e m b e r count ry . 

N o t e B — S u m m a r y o f S i g n i f i c a n t A c c o u n t i n g P o l i c i e s 

T r a n s l a t i o n o f c u r r e n c i e s 

T h e financial s t a t ements are expressed in United States dollars; 
however , the IFF c o n d u c t s its ope ra t ions in various conver t ib le 
cur renc ies , inc luding the Uni ted States dollar. Assets and liabilities 
d e n o m i n a t e d in cur renc ies o the r than the United States dollar are 
translated at app rox ima te market rates of exchange prevail ing at 
the dates of the financial s ta tements . I n c o m e and expenses in such 
cur renc ies are translated at the app rox ima te market rates of 
e x c h a n g e prevai l ing dur ing each m o n t h . T h e adjus tments result
ing from the translat ion of assets and liabilities are s h o w n in the 
Sta tement of Changes in Fund Balance as t ranslat ion adjus tments . 

No represen ta t ion is m a d e that any cu r r ency held in the IFF is 
conver t ib le in to any o t h e r cu r rency at any rate o r rates. 

Fair v a l u e s o f f i n a n c i a l i n s t r u m e n t s 

T h e fol lowing m e t h o d s and as sumpt ions w e r e used by the Bank 
in est imating its fair value disclosures for financial ins t ruments : 

C a s h : The carrying a m o u n t r epo r t ed in the balance sheet for 
cash app rox ima te s fair values. 

I n v e s t m e n t s : Fair values for inves tment securit ies are based 
o n q u o t e d market pr ices, w h e r e available. If q u o t e d market 
prices are no t available, fair values are based o n q u o t e d mar
ket pr ices of comparab l e ins t ruments . 

A d m i n i s t r a t i v e e x p e n s e s 

Administrat ive expenses of the IFF are paid and abso rbed by the 
Inter-American D e v e l o p m e n t Bank—Ordinary Capital and Fund 
for Special Opera t ions . 

N o t e C — I n v e s t m e n t s 

T h e inves tments of the Bank—Intermedia te Financing Facility 
Account—are stated at amor t ized cost wh ich app rox ima te s mar
ket. The amor t ized cost and es t imated market values of invest
m e n t s in debt secuti t ies are as follows (in thousands) : 

December 31, 1992 
Amortized 

cost 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 

Obligations of United 
States Government 
and its corporations 
and agencies $ 9,895 

Obligations of other 
governments 28,017 

$37,912 

December 31, 1991 
Obligations of United 

States Government 
and its cotporations 
and agencies 

Obligations of other 
governments 

Amortized 
cost 

$ 8,536 

$ 8,536 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

$34 

$34 

(34) 

$(34) 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 

$(20) 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$ 9,903 

27,983 

$37,886 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$ 8,550 

$(20) $ 8,550 

The amor t ized cost and es t imated marke t value of the above 
deb t securit ies by contrac tual matur i ty are as follows (in 
thousands) : 

Due in one year or less 
Due after one year 

through five years . . 

December 31, 1992 
Estimated 

market 
value 

$27,983 

9,903 

December 31, 1991 

Amortized 
cost 

$28,017 

9,895 

Amortized 
cost 

$4,779 

3,757 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$4,813 

3,737 
$37,912 $37,886 $8,536 $8,550 

T h e Bank limits its activities of invest ing in securi t ies to a list 
of au thor ized dealers and counterpar t ies . Strict credi t limits have 
b e e n established for each coun te rpa r ty by type of ins t rument and 
matur i ty category. 

N o t e D — T r a n s l a t i o n A d j u s t m e n t s 

As indicated in Note B, the adjus tments of assets and liabilities 
d e n o m i n a t e d in cur renc ies o the r than the United States dollar are 
s h o w n as translat ion adjustments in the Sta tement of Changes in 
Fund Balance. Such adjustments consist of credi ts as follows (in 
thousands) : 
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INTERMEDIATE FINANCING FACILITY ACCOUNT 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

Years ended December 31 
1992 

Cumulative adjustments beginning 
of year $47,809 

Translation adjustments for the year . (12,224) 
Cumulative adjustments end of year . $35,585 

1991 

$46,006 
1,803 

$47,809 

N o t e E — C o m m i t m e n t s 

The payment by the IFF of part of the interest due from borrowers 
is contingent on the availability of resources. At December 31, 
1992 the amounts disbursed and outstanding and undisbursed by 
the Bank under loans on which the IFF would pay part of the 
interest were classified by country as follows (in thousands): 

Country 
Barbados 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic . 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago. 
Uruguay 

Disbursed 
and 

outstanding 

$ 25,655 
56,702 
19,919 
41,919 
19,694 
11,726 
42,169 
16,658 
87,752 
19,390 
22,212 
41,320 
7,332 

36,682 
20,044 

Undisbursed 

$ 7,800 
78,309 
1,282 

640 

2,929 
189,672 
15,119 
73,450 
11,395 
5,538 

65,535 
127,165 

$469,174 1578,834 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS 
TRUST FUND 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Inter-American Development Bank 
Administrator of the Social Progress Trust Fund 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 154 through 159 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Social Progress Trust Fund, which is administered by the Inter-American 
Development Bank, at December 31, 1992 and 1991, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 8, 1993 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

December 31 , 

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash 
Investments, at amortized cost which approximates 

market 
United States Government and agencies 

obligations 
Time deposits and other obligations of banks . . . . 

Total cash and investments 

Participation in loans made from Fund for Special 
Operations 

Loans ou t s t and ing 

Allowance for losses on loans and participations 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On investments 
On participations 
On loans 

Other assets 
Total assets 

1992 

* 9,931 
2,518 

456 
106 

$ 3,751 

12,449 
16,200 

124,206 

39,151 

(7,300) 

562 

$172,819 

1991 

$ 8,112 
8,900 

11 
362 
156 

$ 9,327 

17,012 
26,339 

125,366 

46,627 

(7,300) 

529 
1̂  

$191,562 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 40 $ 997 
Undisbursed technical cooperation projects and other 

financings 27,492 $ 27,532 33,126 $ 34,123 
Fund balance 

Fund established by the United States Government . . . 525,000 525,000 
Accumulated excess of expenses over income (204,308) (202,510) 
Amounts returned to the United States Government . . . (175,405) 145,287 (165,051) 157,439 

Total l iabili t ies and fund ba lance $172,819 $191,562 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENSES 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Income 
Loans 
Participations and other 
Investments 

Total income 

Years ended December 31 , 
1992 

772 
1,847 

576 
3,195 

1991 

$ 1,131 
3,273 

971 
5,375 

Expenses 
Administrative expenses 

Direct expenses 
Indirect and overhead expenses charged by administrator 

Total administrative expenses 
Translation adjustments 

Total expenses 

279 
483 
762 

(714) 
48 

174 
563 
737 

2,237 
2,974 

Income before technical cooperation expense 

Technical cooperation expense 
Excess of income over expenses 

Accumulated excess of expenses over income beginning of year 
Accumulated excess of expenses over Income end of year 

3,147 

4,945 
(1,798) 

(202,510) 
$(204,308) 

2,401 

14,781 
(12,380) 

(190,130) 
$(202,510) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31 , 
1992 1991 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Lending 

Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 

Purchases of participations in loans . . 
Collections of participations 
Other assets and liabilities 
Net cash provided by investing activities 

$ — 
7,476 

(19,566) 
20 ,726 

1 
8,637 

11,631 
(13,594) 
18,513 

1 

16,551 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Income on participations 
Income from investments 
Administrative expenses 
Technical cooperation and other financings 
Net cash used for operating activities 

Refunded to the U.S. Government 

822 
1,753 

587 
(1,719) 

(10,579) 
(9,136) 

(10,354) 

1,309 
3,300 

975 
(335) 

(5,305) 

(56) 

(8,784) 

Effect of exchange r a t e fluctuations o n cash and inves tments 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and inves tments 

714 

$(10,139) 

(2,237) 

$ 5,474 

Reconciliation of excess of income over expenses to net cash used for 
operating activities 
Excess of income over expenses 
Difference between amounts accrued and amounts paid or collected for: 

Loan income 
Participation income 
Investment income 
Administrative expenses 
Technical cooperation and other financings 

Provision for losses on loans and participations 
Translation adjustments 

Net cash used for operating activities 

$ (1,798) 

50 
(94) 
11 

(957) 
(5,634) 

(714) 
$ (9,136) 

$(12,380) 

178 
27 

4 
402 

9,476 

2,237 
$ (56) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

N o t e A—Nature o f t h e F u n d 

In 1961 the United States of America and the Inter-American 
Development Bank (Bank) entered into an Agreement whereby 
the Bank became Administrator of the Social Progress Trust Fund 
(SPTF). Pursuant to the Agreement the Bank charges the SPTF for 
salary costs of certain of its professional staff, other direct 
expenses and the SPTF's share of allowable overhead expenses. At 
December 31, 1991, the Government of the United States and the 
Bank had agreed to final overhead rates for all years through 1990 
and the Bank has proposed the use of the rate of $3.36 per $ 1.00 
of salary cost on a provisional basis for 1991 and 1992, until such 
time as further overhead rate studies are completed. 

N o t e B — S u m m a r y o f Signif icant A c c o u n t i n g P o l i c i e s 

Translation of currencies 

The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars, the 
cuttency in which the SPTF was established and which continues 
to be its predominant currency. Assets and liabilities in currencies 
othet than United States dollars are translated generally at approx
imate market rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the finan
cial statements. Income and expenses in such currencies are trans
lated generally at the approximate market rates of exchange 
prevailing during each month. The adjustments resulting from the 
translation of the Latin American currencies held by the SPTF into 
United States dollars are shown in the Statement of Income and 
Expenses as translation adjustments. No representation is made 
that any cuttency held by the SPTF is convertible into any other 
currency at any rate or rates. 

Fair values of financial instruments 

The following methods and assumptions wete used by the Bank 
in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments: 

Cash. The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for 
cash approximates fair values. 

Inves tments . Fair values for investment securities are based 
on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted market 
prices are not available, fair values are based on quoted mar
ket prices of comparable instruments. 

Loans 

Loans from the resources of the Trust Fund have been made to 
developing members of the Inter-American Development Bank, 
agencies or political subdivisions of such members or to private 
enterprises located in their territories. For loans to borrowers 
other than members and central banks, the Bank as Administrator 
has received in all instances the member's guarantee. 

The Bank as Administrator has a policy of not rescheduling 
loan repayments. The Bank as Administratot follows the policy of 
reviewing the collectibility of loans on a continuous basis and 
tecotds provisions for loan and participations losses in 
accordance with its determination of collectibility risk of the total 
loan portfolio. 

The Bank as Administrator ceases to accrue income under all 
loans in a country when service under any loan to or guaranteed 
by a borrower in such country, made from any fund owned or 
administered by the Bank, is overdue for more than 180 days; 
income is recorded thereafter only as it is collected, until loan 
service is current under all loans. 

For all loans and participations, the Bank is of the opinion 
that due to its unique position and the absence of a secondary 
market, it is not practicable to estimate a fair value for the Bank's 
lending portfolio at this time. 

Technical cooperation 

All non-reimbursable technical cooperation projects as well as 
certain reimbursable financings which may not be fully recovered 
are charged to income at the time of approval. 

N o t e C — I n v e s t m e n t s 

The investments of the Bank—Social Progress Trust Fund—are 
stated at amortized cost which approximates market and consist 
of the following (in thousands): 

December 31, 

Obligations of governments or United 
States Government and its corporations 
and agencies 

Time deposits and other obligations of 
banks 

1992 

$ 9,931 

2,518 
S 12.449 

1991 

$ 8,112 

8,900 
$ 17,012 

The amortized cost and estimated market values of invest
ments in debt securities are as follows (in thousands): 

December 31, 1992 
Amortized 

cost 

Obligations of United 
States Government 
and its corporations 
and agencies $ 9,931 

December 31, 1991 
Amortized 

cost 

Obligations of United 
States Government 
and its corpotations 
and agencies $ 8,112 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

$ 5 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

$ 4 

Gross Estimated 
unrealized market 

losses value 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 

$ 9,936 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$ 8,116 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

The amortized cost and estimated market value of the above 
debt securities by contractual maturity are as follows (in 
thousands): 

December 31, 1992 December 31, 1991 

Amortized 
cost 

Estimated 
market 
value 

Estimated 
Amortized market 

cost value 

Due in one year or less .. $9,931 $9,936 $8,112 $8,116 

The Bank limits its activities of investing in securities to a list 
of authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict credit limits have 
been established for each counterparty by type of instrument and 
maturity categoty. 

N o t e D — P a r t i c i p a t i o n s in L o a n s Made f r o m F u n d 
f o r S p e c i a l O p e r a t i o n s 

The Board of Executive Directors has authorized the use of the 
resources of the SPTF to purchase participations in loans made 
from the Fund for Special Operations provided that, with respect 
to such loans, the provisions of the Social Progress Trust Fund 
Agreement have in substance been complied with as fully as 
though the loans had been made initially from the Trust Fund. 
Through the purchase of participations in the local currency com
ponents of loans made from the Fund for Special Operations, the 
value of which must be maintained by the tespective borrowers, it 
has been possible to substantially maintain the value of the SPTF 
resources so invested. 

N o t e E—Loans O u t s t a n d i n g 

Approved loans are disbursed to borrowers in accordance with 
the requirements of the project being financed; however, dis
bursements do not begin until the borrower and guarantor, if any, 
take cettain actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. 

Loan disbursements have been made principally in United 
States dollars although, in the case of certain loans, disbursements 
have been made in the national currencies of the borrowers or in 
the currencies of other members. In accordance with the provi
sions of practically all loan agreements, loans disbursed in United 
States dollars may be repaid in the national currency of the bor
rower at the market rate of exchange existing at the date of repay
ment or in United States dollars at the election of the borrower. 

In March 1992, the Bank received payment of all amounts 
overdue on loans to borrowers in Panama which came out of 
nonacctual status. Pursuant to the policy described in Note B, in 
April 1992, participations in loans made to or guaranteed by Haiti 
with an outstanding balance of $1,152,000 as of December 31, 
1992, of which $ 103,000 was overdue, were placed in nonaccrual 
status. The net effect of the recovery from loans in Panama was 
$97,000 and the placing of loans in Haiti in nonaccrual status has 
resulted in an increase of $87,000 in income for the year ended 
December 31, 1992. For the year ended December 31, 1991, the 

increase in loan income due to loans to countries coming out of 
nonaccrual status during that year was $1,473,000. 

The average maturity on loans undisbursed and outstanding 
and the average interest rates for loans outstanding at December 
31, 1992, are 11.05 years and 1.81%, respectively. The average 
maturity on loans undisbursed and outstanding and the average 
interest rate for patticipations at December 31, 1992, are 14.31 
years and 1.96%, respectively. 

The composition of the amounts outstanding by country, 
resulting from participations in loans of the FSO as of December 
31, 1992, is as follows (in thousands): 

Country 
Argentina 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

Total 

Outstanding 
participations 

$ 3,322 
3,135 

17,840 
43 

316 
13,544 
10,995 
6,792 
9,018 

400 
1,152 

11,985 
442 

18,488 
8,173 

811 
16,199 

330 
1,221 

$124,206 

N o t e F — A m o u n t s R e t u r n e d t o t h e U n i t e d S t a t e s 
G o v e r n m e n t 

The Bank as Administrator has returned to the Government of the 
United States the equivalent of $175,405,000 of the assets of the 
SPTF Fund during the years 1980—1992 (1992—$10,354,000; 
1991—$8,785,000) for use in financing social development proj
ects of the Inter-American Foundation, and will return up to tlr-
equivalent of $14,207,000 during 1993 and 1994. 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF LOANS—NOTE E 
December 31, 1992 and 1991 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Loans 
approved, less Principal Outstanding 

Countries in which loans have been made cancellations collected Outstanding 1991 

Argentina $ 45,900 $ 43,178 $ 2,722 $ 3,032 
Bolivia 20,648 14,798 5,850 6,116 
Brazil 61,510 60,706 804 2,215 
Chile 34,352 34,352 — — 
Colombia 49,008 49,008 — 548 

Costa Rica 11,700 11,700 
Dominican Republic 8,407 8,407 — — 
Ecuador 27,449 27,073 376 1,331 
El Salvador " 37,688 23,977 13,711 14,890 
Guatemala 28,313 17,352 10,961 11,692 

Honduras 7,602 7,602 — — 
Mexico 34,927 34,052 875 1,582 
Nicaragua 13,035 13,035 — — 
Panama 12,862 12,862 787 
Paraguay 7,799 7,299 500 660 

Peru 45,108 44,962 146 232 
Uruguay 10,350 10,350 — 
Venezuela 72,861 72,861 — 
Regional 8,367 5,161 3,206 3,542 

Total 1992 $537,886 $498,735 $39,151 

Total 1991 $537,886 $491,259 $46,627 
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VENEZUELAN 
TRUST FUND 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Inter-American Development Bank 
Administrator of the Venezuelan Trust Fund 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 162 through 167 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Venezuelan Trust Fund, which is administered by the Inter-American 
Development Bank, at December 31, 1992 and 1991, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 8, 1993 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

161 



VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

December 31 , 

ASSETS 

Cash and temporary investments 
Cash 
Temporary investments, at amortized cost which 

approximates market 
Time deposits and other obligations of banks.. 

Total cash and temporary investments 

1992 

Loans ou t s tand ing 
Allowance for loan losses 

Investment in equities, at cost 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On temporary investments 
On loans 

Total assets 

$168,797 
(11,000) 

399 
4,587 

$ 473 

125,754 
126,227 

157,797 

1,535 

4 ,986 
$290,545 

1991 

$ 204,831 
(11,000) 

1,509 
5,005 

t 41 

125,739 
125,780 

193,831 

1,535 

6,514 
$327,660 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 

Fund balance 
Fund established by the Venezuelan 

Investment Fund 
Accumulated earnings 
Translation adjustments 
Less amounts returned to the Venezuelan 

Investment Fund 
Total liabilities and fund balance 

$405,412 
578,987 

(8,752) 

(685,116) 

14 

290,531 
$290,545 

$ 406,981 
559,036 

(8,127) 

(630,554) 

324 

327,336 
$327,660 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND ACCUMULATED EARNINGS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31 , 

1992 1991 

Income 
Loans 
Temporary investments 

Total income 

$ 16,782 
4,483 

21,265 

$ 24,390 
6,102 

30,492 

Expenses 
Direct and indirect expenses 
Commission on temporary investments 

Total expenses 

1,274 
40 

1,314 

1,324 
42 

1,366 

Net income 
Accumulated earnings beginning of year 

19,951 
559,036 

29,126 
529,910 

Accumulated earnings end of year $578,987 $559,036 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31 , 

1992 1991 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Lending: 

Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 
Net cash provided by lending activities 

Other assets and liabilities 
Net cash provided by investing activities 

$(27,389) 
62 ,333 
34,944 

(227) 
34,717 

$(51,767) 
86,483 
34,716 

227 
34,943 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Income from temporary investments 
Administrative expenses 
Net cash provided by operating activities 

Refunded to the Venezuelan Investment Fund 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and investments 
Net increase in cash and temporary investments 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 
Net income 
Difference between amounts accrued and amounts paid or collected for: 

Loan income 
Investment income 
Administrative expenses 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

17,250 
5,586 

(1,397) 
21 ,439 

(55,260) 
(449) 

» 447 

$ 19,951 

468 
1,103 

(83) 
$ 21 ,439 

25,334 
5,414 

(1,351) 
29,397 

(42,277) 
(38) 

$ 22,025 

$ 29,126 

944 
(688) 

15 
S 29,397 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities: 
Decrease in loans outstanding resulting from exchange fluctuations $ 1,090 $ 540 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 

N o t e A—Nature o f t h e F u n d 

In 1975 the Venezuelan Investment Fund and the Intet-American 
Development Bank (Bank) entered into a Trust Agreement 
whereby the Bank became the Administrator of the Venezuelan 
Trust Fund (VTF). The initial resources of the VTF were 
$400,000,000 and 430,000,000 Venezuelan Bolivars (VEB), equiv
alent to $ 100,000,000 at the rate of exchange in effect at that time. 

The purpose of the VTF is to contribute to the financing of 
projects and programs having a significant effect on the develop
ment of member countries of the Bank which are relatively less 
developed or of limited market, or of intermediate size, through 
better utilization of their natural resources and the promotion of 
their industry and agroindustry and to expand the Bank's export 
financing program, with emphasis on the strengthening of the 
integration plans of Latin America, and to cooperate in the solu
tion of problems which may arise affecting national and regional 
economic and social development plans. 

In accordance with the Trust Agreement, the Bank charges 
the VTF for direct and indirect expenses and a commission on 
temporary investments. The direct and indirect expense charge is 
determined as a percentage of the VTF's assets at the end of the 
year, excluding certain assets not committed under loans. The 
Venezuelan Investment Fund may require the return of all sums 
received in payment of loans made from the VTF as well as all 
collections of income derived from VTF resources. Amounts 
returned to the Venezuelan Investment Fund in 1992 were 
$55,260,000, comprised of $54,340,000 and VEB 73,617,000 
(1991—$42,277,000, comprised of $40,776,000 and 
VEB 72,053,000). 

N o t e B — S u m m a r y o f S igni f icant A c c o u n t i n g P o l i c i e s 

Translation of currencies 

The accounting records are maintained and the financial state
ments are expressed in United States dollars. Assets, liabilities and 
fund balance denominated in Venezuelan bolivars, which is the 
only other currency of the VTF, are translated into United States 
dollars at the rates of exchange in effect at the dates of the finan
cial statements. Income and expenses in Venezuelan bolivars were 
translated at the approximate market rates of exchange prevailing 
during each month. 

The application of the above mentioned rates of exchange 
had the effect of reducing the United States dollat equivalent of 
the initial resources of the VTF by $1,569,000 in 1992 and 
$1,527,000 in 1991. The portion of amounts returned to the Ven
ezuelan Investment Fund representing refunds of principal col
lected was also reduced by $697,000 in 1992 and $563,000 in 
1991. The resulting net adjustment is shown in the Balance Sheet 
as translation adjustments under Fund balance, and consists of 
charges (credits) as follows (in thousands): 

Cumulative adjustments beginning of year 
Translation adjustments for the year 

December 31, 
1992 1991 

$8,127 $8,443 
625 (316) 

Cumulative adjustments end of year $8,752 $8,127 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments 

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Bank 
in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments: 

Cash. The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for 
cash approximates fair values. 

Inves tments : Fair values for investment securities are based 
on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted market 
prices are not available, fair values are based on quoted mar
ket prices of comparable instruments. 

Loans 

Loans from the resources of the Trust Fund have been made to 
developing members of the Inter-American Development Bank, 
agencies or political subdivisions of such members or to private 
enterprises located in their territories. For loans to borrowers 
other than members and central banks, the Bank as Administrator 
has received in all instances the member's guarantee. Loans 
approved are disbursed to borrowers in accordance with the 
requirements of the project being financed; however, disburse
ments do not begin until the borrower and guarantor take certain 
actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. 

The Bank as Administrator has a policy of not rescheduling 
loan repayments. The Bank as Administrator follows the policy of 
reviewing the collectibility of loans on a continuous basis and 
records provisions for loan losses in accordance with its deter
mination of collectibility risk of the total loan portfolio. 

The Bank as Administrator ceases to accrue income under all 
loans in a country when service under any loan to or guaranteed 
by a borrower in such country, made from any fund owned or 
administered by the Bank, is overdue for more than 180 days; 
income is recorded thereafter only as it is collected, until loan 
service is current under all loans. 

For all loans and related commitments, the Bank is of the 
opinion that due to its unique position and the absence of a sec
ondary market, it is not practicable to estimate a fair value for the 
Bank's lending portfolio at this time. 

N o t e C — I n v e s t m e n t s 

The investments of the Bank—Venezuelan Trust Fund—consist of 
time deposits and other obligations of banks and are stated at 
amortized cost which approximates market. 

The Bank as Administrator of the VTF limits its activities in 
securities to a list of authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict 
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VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 1992 and 1991 

credit limits have been established for each counterparty by type 
of investment and maturity category. 

Note D—Loans Outstanding 

In March 1992, the Bank received payment of all amounts over
due on loans to borrowers in Panama, which came out of nonac
crual status. Pursuant to the policy described in Note B, in April 
1992, loans made to or guaranteed by Haiti with an outstanding 
balance of $2,281,000 as of December 31, 1992, of which 
$228,000 was overdue, were placed in nonaccrual status. The net 
effect of the recovery of prior years' income from loans in Pan
ama, $1,595,000, and the placing of loans in Haiti in nonaccrual 
status has resulted in an increase of $1,238,000 in income for the 
year ended December 31, 1992. For the year ended December 31, 
1991, the increase in loan income due to loans to countries com
ing out of nonaccrual status during that year was $8,016,000. 

The average maturity on loans undisbursed and outstanding 
and the average interest rates for loans outstanding at December 
31, 1992, are 5.06 years and 8.08%, respectively. 
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VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

APPENDIX V-l 

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF LOANS—NOTE D 
December 31 , 1992 and 1991 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Countries in which loans have been made 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

Chile 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 

Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Nicaragua 

Panama 
Peru 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Regional 

Total 1992 

Total 1991 

Loans 
approved, less 
cancellations 

$ 2,577 
2,023 

19,598 
49,686 
51,721 

1,791 
120,900 
61,967 
52,201 
93,675 
33,035 

8,797 
6,615 

43,455 
127,822 
34,781 
20,274 
175,453 
11,320 
8,940 
3,359 

$929,990 
$905,684 

Principal 
collected 

$ 2,577 
1,175 

16,634 
31,965 
51,721 
1,791 

103,436 
29,198 
31,442 
83,577 
18,492 
4,011 
4,334 

23,702 
120,922 
14,512 
9,070 

175,453 
10,320 
8,940 
1,259 

$744,531 
$682,652 

Undisbursed 

1,479 
5,000 

3,900 
1,381 

1,000 

1,957 

1,945 

$16,662 

$18,201 

Outstanding 

848 
1,485 

12,721 

13,564 
31,388 
20,759 
10,098 
13,543 

2,829 
2,281 

17,808 
6,900 

20,269 

11,204 

1,000 

2,100 
$168,797 

Outstanding 
1991 

$ — 
980 

1,234 
14,474 

18,704 
33,691 
22,921 
11,162 
15,348 

3,455 
2,337 

22,214 
7,251 

22,079 

16,671 
9,000 
1,000 

2,310 

$204,831 

Loans approved, less cancellations, include short and medium term lines of credit for export financing to the following countries at 
December 31, 1992 (in thousands): 

Argentina 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Peru 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Regional 

$ 3 
18 
29 
52 

2 
102 

12 
74 

3 
3 
3 
9 

123 
1 

164 
11 
9 

$618 
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GOVERNORS AND ALTERNATE GOVERNORS 

Country 

ARGENTINA 
AUSTRIA 
BAHAMAS 
BARBADOS 
BELGIUM 

BELIZE 
BOLIVIA 
BRAZIL 
CANADA 
CHILE 

COLOMBIA 
COSTA RICA 
DENMARK 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 
ECUADOR 

Governor 

Domingo Cavallo 
Ferdinand Lacina 
William C. Alen 
L. Erskine Sandiford 
Ph. Maystadt 

Ralph Fonseca 
Samuel Doria Medina 
Yeda Rorato Crusius 
Barbara McDougall, P.C., M.P. 
Alejandro Foxley Rioseco 

Rudolf Hommes 
Rodolfo Méndez Mata 
HenrikWoehlk 
Luis F. Toral 
Mario Ribadeneira T. 

Alternate 

Roque Fernández 
Hans Dietmar Schweisgut 
Warren Rolle 
George Reid 
Jean-Pierre Arnoldi 

Said Musa 
Armando Méndez Morales 
Gustavo Jorge Laboissière Loyola 
Frederick W. Gorbet 
Jorge Rodríguez Grossi 

Armando Montenegro Trujillo 
Carlos Vargas Pagan 
Ellen Margrethe Loej 
Manuel E. Gómez Pieterz 
Pablo Lucio Paredes 

EL SALVADOR 
FINLAND 
FRANCE 
GERMANY 
GUATEMALA 

GUYANA 
HAITI 
HONDURAS 
ISRAEL 
ITALY 

Mima Liévano de Marques 
Mauri Eggert 
Michel Sapin 
Hans-Peter Repnik 
Richard Aitkenhead Castillo 

Asgar Ally 
Renaud Bernardin 

Jacob Frenkel 
Piero Barucci 

J. Roberto Orellana M. 
Anna-Liisa Korhonen 
Jean-Claude Trichet 
Gert Haller 
Lizardo Arturo Sosa López 

Michael Shree Chan 
Marie Michèle Rey 
Ricardo Maduro Joest 
Reuven Kokolevich 
Lamberto Dini 

JAMAICA 
JAPAN 
MEXICO 
NETHERLANDS 
NICARAGUA 

Hugh Small, Q.C. 
Yoshiro Hayashi 
Pedro Aspe 
W. Kok 
Pablo Pereira Gallardo 

Omar Davies 
Yasushi Mieno 
Guillermo Ortiz 
J. P. Pronk 
Emilio Pereira A. 

NORWAY 
PANAMA 
PARAGUAY 
PERU 
PORTUGAL 

SPAIN 
SURINAME 
SWEDEN 
SWITZERLAND 
TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 

UNITED KINGDOM 
UNITED STATES 
URUGUAY 
VENEZUELA 
YUGOSLAVIA 

As of February 17, 1993 

Asbjoern Mathisen 
Delia Cárdenas 
Juan José Díaz Pérez 
Jorge Carnet Dickmann 
Jorge Braga de Macedo 

José Claudio Aranzadi Martínez 
Humphrey Stanley Hildenberg 
Alf Samuelsson 
Nicolas Imboden 
Lenny Saith 

Baroness Chalker of Wallasey 
Lloyd Bentsen 
Ignacio de Posadas 
Ricardo Hausmann 
Branimir Zekan 

Torild Skard 
Luis H. Moreno 

Germán Suárez Ch. 
Manuel Pinho 

Miguel Angel Feito 
Stanley Ramsaran 
Lennart Baage 
Pietro Veglio 
Carlyle Greaves 

Peter David Mark Freeman 

Carlos Cat 
Antonio Juan Sosa 
Nikola Jelic 
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND AL TERNA TE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

Edgar Ayales 
COSTA RICA 
Arturo J. Cruz (Alternate) 
NICARAGUA 

Claude Cambray 
FRANCE 
Wolfgang Natich (Alternate) 
AUSTRIA 

Fernando Carpentieri 
ITALY 
Suzanne Rubow (Alternate) 
DENMARK 

Antonio Cervera Sandoval 
MEXICO 
Ruddy E. Pérez (Alternate) 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 

Eduatdo Feliciángeli 
PARAGUAY 
Raúl Boada R. (Alternate) 
BOLIVIA 

Oscar Marulanda Gómez 
COLOMBIA 
Raymundo A. Morales B. (Alternate) 
PERU 

William M. McWhinney 
CANADA 
William D. Gunn (Alternate) 
CANADA 

Larry K. Mellinger 
UNITED STATES 

Sonia Pérez R. 
VENEZUELA 
Juan Manuel Castulovich (Alternate) 
PANAMA 

A. Humberto Petrei 
ARGENTINA 
Bias Tomic (Alternate) 
CHILE 

Jagdeesh Siewrattan 
TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 
Clarence F. Ellis (Alternate) 
GUYANA 

Paulo Cesar Ximenes A. Ferreira 
BRAZIL 
Jacinto Vêlez (Alternate) 
ECUADOR 

As of February 15, 1993 

Elected by: 
Belize 
Costa Rica 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 

Elected by: 
Austria 
France 
Israel 
Japan 

Elected by: 
Belgium 
Denmark 
Finland 
Germany 
Italy 

Haiti 
Honduras 
Nicaragua 

Portugal 
Spain 
Switzerland 
Yugoslavia 

Netherlands 
Norway 
Sweden 
United 

Kingdom 

Elected by: 
Dominican Republic 
Mexico 

Elected by: 
Bolivia 
Paraguay 
Uruguay 

Elected by: 
Colombia 
Peru 

Elected by: 
Canada 

Appointed by: 
United States 

Elected by: 
Panama 
Venezuela 

Elected by: 
Argentina 
Chile 

Elected by: 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Guyana 

Elected by. 
Brazil 
Ecuador 
Suriname 

Jamaica 
Trinidad and 

Tobago 

Number 
of votes 

127,986 

157,769 

166,059 

363,794 

119,223 

213,453 

197,304 

1,556,373 

300,893 

665,622 

73,686 

554,644 

Percentage 
of voting power 

2.85 

3.51 

3.70 

8.09 

2.65 

4.75 

4.39 

34.61 

6.69 

14.80 

1.64 

12.33 

External Review and Evaluation Office 
Trevor DaCosta, Director a.i. 
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PRINCIPAL OFFICERS OF THE BANK 

President 
Executive Vice President 

Controller 
Deputy Controller 
Deputy Controller 

Auditor General 

External Relations Advisor 

Chief, Office of the Presidency 

Operations Department 
Manager 

Senior Deputy Manager 
Deputy Manager—Region I 
Deputy Manager—Region II 
Deputy Manager—Region III 
Deputy Manager—Special Programs 

Finance Department 
Manager 

Senior Deputy Manager—Treasurer 
Deputy Manager—Policy, Planning and Capital Markets 
Deputy Manager—Cashiers and Accounting 

Economic and Social Development Department 
Manager 

Deputy Manager—Development Studies 
Deputy Manager—Regional Cooperation 

Project Analysis Department 
Manager 

Deputy Manager—Infrastructure 
Deputy Manager—Productive Sectors and Environment 
Deputy Manager—Social Development 

Legal Department 
General Counsel 

Deputy General Counsel 

Plans and Programs Department 
Manager 

Deputy Manager—Programs 
Deputy Manager—Policies 

Administrative Department 
Manager 

Deputy Manager—Budget and Services 
Deputy Manager—Human Resources Administration 

Secretariat Department 
Secretary of the Bank 

Deputy Secretary 

Spécial Representative in Europe 

Enrique V. Iglesias 
James W. Conrow 

Alberto Pico 
Carlos Eduardo Guedes 
(Vacant) 

William L. Taylor 

Muni Figueres de Jiménez 

Andrés Bajuk 

Paulo Renato Souza 
Frederick W. Schieck 
Carlos Ferdinand 
William R. Large, Jr. 
Euric Alan Bobb 
Setsuko Ono 

Charles O. Sethness 
Carlos Santistevan 
Kiyoto Ido 
Stanley J. Perch 

Nohra Rey de Marulanda 
Willy Van Ryckeghem 
Rosa Olivia V. Lawson 

Lucio Graciano Reca 
Miguel A. Rivera 
Waldemar F. W. Wirsig 
Maritza Izaguirre 

John Marvin Niehuss 
Néstor H. Martínez Neira 

Ciro De Falco 
Richard Fletcher 
Sebastião Marcos Vital 

Richard J. Herring 
Emil Weinberg 
James A. Jones 

Pedro Luis Echeverría 
Oscar Rodriguez-Rozic 

Jorge C. Elena 

As of January 22, 1993 
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CHANNELS OF COMMUNICATIONS AND DEPOSITORIES 

Member Country 

ARGENTINA 
AUSTRIA 
BAHAMAS 
BARBADOS 
BELGIUM 

BELIZE 
BOLIVIA 
BRAZIL 
CANADA 
CHILE 

COLOMBIA 
COSTA RICA 
DENMARK 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 

ECUADOR 
EL SALVADOR 
FINLAND 
FRANCE 
GERMANY 
GUATEMALA 
GUYANA 
HAITI 
HONDURAS 
ISRAEL 
ITALY 
JAMAICA 
JAPAN 
MEXICO 
NETHERLANDS 
NICARAGUA 
NORWAY 

PANAMA 
PARAGUAY 
PERU 
PORTUGAL 
SPAIN 

SURINAME 
SWEDEN 

SWITZERLAND 

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 
UNITED KINGDOM 
UNITED STATES 
URUGUAY 
VENEZUELA 

YUGOSLAVIA 

As of October 8, 1992 

Channels of Communications 

Banco Central de la República Argentina 
Federal Ministry of Finance 
Ministry of Finance and Planning 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs 
Administration de la Trésorerie, 

Service des Relations Internationales 
Financial Secretary, Ministry of Finance 
Banco Central de Bolivia 
Banco Central do Brasil 
Canadian International Development Agency 
Ministerio de Hacienda, Dirección 

de Presupuestos 
Banco de la República 
Ministerio de Hacienda 
Danish International Development Agency 
Banco Central de la República Dominicana 

Ministerio de Finanzas y Crédito Público 
Banco Central de Reserva de El Salvador 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
Ministère de l'Économie et des Finances 
Federal Ministry for Economie Cooperation 
Banco de Guatemala 
Ministry of Finance 
Banque de la République d'Haïti 
Banco Central de Honduras 
Bank of Israel 
Ministry of the Treasury 
Ministry of Finance and Planning 
Ministry of Finance 
Secretaría de Hacienda y Crédito Público 
Ministry of Finance 
Ministerio de Economía y Desarrollo 
Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs 

Department of Multilateral Development 
Cooperation 

Ministerio de Planificación y Política Económica 
Banco Central de Paraguay 
Banco Central de Reserva del Perú 
Ministério das Finanças 
Subdirección General de Política Comercial 

Multilateral, Secretaría de Estado de Cometcio, 
Ministerio de Industria, Comercio y Turismo 

Central Bank van Suriname 
Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Department 

for International Development Co-operation 
Office Fédéral des Affaires Économiques 

Extérieures 
Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago 
Overseas Development Administration 
Treasury Department 
Ministerio de Economía y Finanzas 
Oficina de Cootdinación y Planificación de la 

Presidencia de la República 
Federal Secretariat for Finance 

Depository 

Banco Central de la República Argentina 
Osterreichische Nationalbank 
Central Bank of The Bahamas 
Central Bank of Barbados 
Banque Nationale de Belgique 

Central Bank of Belize 
Banco Central de Bolivia 
Banco Central do Brasil 
Bank of Canada 

Banco Central de Chile 
Banco de la República 
Banco Central de Costa Rica 
Danmatks Nationalbank 
Banco Central de la República 

Dominicana 
Banco Central de Ecuador 
Banco Central de Reserva de El Salvador 
Bank of Finland 
Banque de France 
Deutsche Bundesbank 
Banco de Guatemala 
Bank of Guyana 
Banque de la République d'Haiti 
Banco Central de Honduras 
Bank of Israel 
Banca d'Italia 
Bank of Jamaica 
Bank of Japan 
Banco de México, S.A. 
De Nederlandsche Bank N.V. 
Banco Central de Nicaragua 

Bank of Norway 
Banco Nacional de Panamá 
Banco Central de Paraguay 
Banco Central de Reserva del Perú 
Banco de Portugal 
Banco de España 

Central Bank van Suriname 
Sveriges Riksbank 

Banque nationale suisse 

Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago 
Bank of England 
Federal Reserve Bank of New York 
Banco Central del Uruguay 
Banco Central de Venezuela 

National Bank of Yugoslavia 
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COUNTRY OFFICES AND REPRESENTA TTVES 

ARGENTINA, José María Puppo 
Calle Esmeralda 130, Pisos 19 y 20 
(Casilla de Correo No. 181, Sucursal 1) 
Buenos Aires Tel: 334-1756 

BAHAMAS, Garnet R. Woodham 
IDB House, East Bay Street 
(P.O.Box N-3743) 
Nassau Tel: 393-7159 

BARBADOS, Pamela Mckell 
Maple Manor, Hastings 
(P.O. Box 402) 
Christchurch Tel: 427-3612 

BOLIVIA, Johann Schmálzle 
Edificio BISA, 5o Piso 
Avenida 16 de Julio, No. 1628 
(Casilla de correo 5872) 
La Paz Tel: 35-1221 

BRAZIL, David B. Atkinson 
Setor Comercial Sul (SCS) 
Quadra 3 - No. 40 
Edifício Planalto - 2o andar 
70300 Brasília, D.F. Tel: 321-7848 

CHILE, Paul Ernst Kohling 
Avenida Pedro de Valdivia 0193, 1 I o Piso 
(Casilla No. 16611, Correo 9, Providencia) 
Santiago Tel: 231-7986 

COLOMBIA, Alejandro Scopelli R. 
Avenida 40 A No. 13-09, 8o Piso 
(Apañado Aéreo 12037) 
Bogotá Tel: 288-0366 

COSTA RICA, Juan Manuel Corredor 
Edificio Centro Colón, Piso 12 
Paseo Colón entre Calles 38 y 40 
San José Tel: 33-3244 

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 
Leonardo A. da Silva 
Avenida Winston Churchill esquina 
Calle Luis F. Thomen, Torre BHD 
(Apartado Postal No. 1386) 
Santo Domingo Tel: 562-6400 

ECUADOR, Ronald P. Brousseau 
Avenida Amazonas 477 y Roca 
Edificio Banco de los Andes, 9o Piso 
(Apartado Postal No. 17-07-9041) 
Quito Tel: 56-2141 

EL SALVADOR 
Stephen E. McGaughey 
Condominio Torres del Bosque 
10° Piso, Colonia La Mascota 
[Apartado Postal No. (01) 199] 
San Salvador Tel: 23-8300 

GUATEMALA, Cario Binetti 
Edificio Géminis 10 
12 Calle 1-25, Zona 10, Nivel 19 
(Apartado Postal 935) 
Guatemala Tel: 35-2650 

GUYANA 
47 High Street, Kingston 
(P.O. Box 10867) 
Georgetown 

HAITI 
Bourdon 389 
(Boîte postale 1321) 
Port-au-Prince 

Tel: 5-7951 

Tel:45-5711 

HONDURAS, Charles T. Greenwood 
Edificio Los Castaños, 5° y 6° Pisos 
Colonia Los Castaños 
(Apartado Postal No. 3180) 
Tegucigalpa Tel: 32-8954 

JAMAICA, Jacques Cook 
40-46 Knutsford Boulevard, 6th floor 
(P.O. Box 429) 
Kingston 10 Tel: 926-2342 

MEXICO, Rodolfo Silva 
Avenida Horacio No. 1855 
6o. Piso (Esquina Periférico) 
Los Morales-Polanco 
11510 México, D.F. Tel: 580-2122 

NICARAGUA*, Joel A. Riley 
Edificio BID 
Km. 4-1/2 Carretera a Masaya 
(Apañado Postal 2512) 
Managua Tel: 67-0831 

As of January 21, 1993 

* Nicaragua also serves as country office for Belize. 

PANAMA, Luis A. Sánchez Masi 
Avenida Samuel Lewis 
Edificio Banco Unión, Piso 14 
(Apartado Postal 7297) 
Panamá 5 Tel: 63-6944 

PARAGUAY, José Agustín Riveras 
Edificio Aurora I, Pisos 2 y 3 
Calle Caballero esquina 
Eligió Ayala, (Casilla 1209) 
Asunción Tel: 49-2061 

PERU, Javier Gala Palacios 
Paseo de la República 3245, 14° Piso 
(Apartado Postal No. 3778) 
San Isidro, Lima 100 Tel: 42-3400 

SURINAME, Christian Will 
6th Floor Hakrinbank NV 
Dr. Sophie Redmondstraat 11-13 
Paramaribo Tel: 47-4317 

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO, 
Robert H. BellefeuiUe 
Tatil Building, 11 Maraval Rd. 
(P.O. Box 68) 
Pon of Spain Tel: 622-8367 

URUGUAY, Vladimir Radovic 
Andes 1365, Piso 13 
(Casilla de Correo 5029, Sucursal 1 ) 
Montevideo Tel: 92-0444 

VENEZUELA, Fernando A. Cossio 
Edificio Cremerca, Piso 3 
Avenida Venezuela, El Rosal 
Caracas 1060 Tel: 951-5533 

INSTITUTE FOR THE 
INTEGRATION 
OF LATIN AMERICA 

José María Puppo, Director a.i. 
Calle Esmeralda 130 - Pisos 16, 17, 18 
(Casilla de Correo No. 39, Sucursal 1 ) 
Buenos Ares Tel:394-2265 

SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE 
IN EUROPE 

Jorge C. Elena 
66, Avenue d'lcna 
75116 Paris, France Tel: 40 69 31 00 
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